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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 1 

Basic Principles Governing an Audit 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 1 issued by 
the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India on "Basic Principles 
Governing an Audit". This Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the 
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute1  

Introduction   

1. This Statement describes the basic principles which govern the auditor's professional 
responsibilities and which should be complied with whenever an audit is carried out.   

2. An audit is the independent examination of financial information of any entity, whether 
profit oriented or not, and irrespective of its size or legal form, when such an examination is 
conducted with a view to expressing an opinion thereon1. In this Statement the term 
"financial information" encompasses financial statements. 

 3. Other Statements on Standard Auditing Practices to be issued by the Institute will 
elaborate on the principles set out herein to give guidance on auditing procedures and 
reporting practices.  

4. Compliance with the basic principles requires the application of auditing procedures and 
reporting practices appropriate to the particular circumstances.   

Integrity, Objectivity and Independence 

 5. The auditor should be straightforward, honest and sincere in his approach to his 
professional work. He must be fair and must not allow prejudice or bias to override his 
objectivity. He should maintain an impartial attitude and both be and appear to be free of any 
interest which might be regarded, whatever its actual effect, as being incompatible with 
integrity and objectivity.  

Confidentiality 

 6. The auditor should respect the confidentiality of information acquired in the course of his 
work and should not disclose any such information to a third party without specific authority 
or unless there is a legal or professional duty to disclose.  

Skills and Competence  

7. The audit should be performed and the report prepared with due professional care by 
persons who have adequate training, experience and competence in auditing.  
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8. The auditor requires specialised skills and competence which are acquired through a 
combination of general education, technical knowledge obtained through study and formal 
courses concluded by a qualifying examination recognised for this purpose and practical 
experience under proper supervision. In addition, the auditor requires a continuing awareness 
of developments including pronouncements of ICAI on accounting and auditing matters, and 
relevant regulations and statutory requirements. 

Work Performed by Others  

9. When the auditor delegates work to assistants or uses work performed by other auditors 
and experts, he will continue to be responsible for forming and expressing his opinion on the 
financial information. However, he will be entitled to rely on work performed by others, 
provided he exercises adequate skill and care and is not aware of any reason to believe that 
he should not have so relied. In the case of any independent statutory appointment to perform 
the work on which the auditor has to rely in forming his opinion, such as in the case of the 
work of branch auditors appointed under the Companies Act, 1956 the auditor's report should 
expressly state the fact of such reliance.  

10. The auditor should carefully direct, supervise and review work delegated to assistants. 
The auditor should obtain reasonable assurance that work performed by other auditors or 
experts is adequate for his purpose. 

Documentation 

 11.9;The auditor should document matters which are important in providing evidence that 
the audit was carried out in accordance with the basic principles.  

 12. The auditor should plan his work to enable him to conduct an effective audit in an 
efficient and timely manner. Plans should be based on a knowledge of the client's business.  

13. Plans should be made to cover, among other things: 

(a) acquiring knowledge of the client's accounting system, policies and internal 
control procedures; 

(b) establishing the expected degree of reliance to be placed on internal control; 

(c) determining and programming the nature, timing, and extent of the audit 
procedures to be performed; and 

(d) coordinating the work to be performed. 

 14. Plans should be further developed and revised as necessary during the course of a audit.  

Audit Evidence 
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 15. The auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence through the performance 
of compliance and substantive procedures to enable him to draw reasonable conclusions 
therefrom on which to base his opinion on the financial information.   

16. Compliance procedures are tests designed to obtain reasonable assurance that those 
internal controls on which audit reliance is to be placed are in effect. 

 17. Substantive procedures are designed to obtain evidence as to the completeness, accuracy 
and validity of the data produced by the accounting system.  

They are of two types 

(i) tests of details of transactions and balances; 

(ii)analysis of significant ratios and trends including the resulting enquiry of unusual 
fluctuations and items. 

Accounting System and Internal Control 

 18. Management is responsible for maintaining an adequate accounting system incorporating 
various internal controls to the extent appropriate to the size and nature of the business. The 
auditor should reasonably assure himself that the accounting system is adequate and that all 
the accounting information which should be recorded has in fact been recorded. Internal 
controls normally contribute to such assurance.  

 19. The auditor should gain an understanding of the accounting system and related internal 
controls and should study and evaluate the operation of those internal controls upon which he 
wishes to rely in determining the nature, timing and extent of other audit procedures.   

20. Where the auditor concludes that he can rely on certain internal controls, his substantive 
procedures would normally be less extensive than would otherwise be required and may also 
differ as to their nature and timing. 

Audit Conclusions and Reporting 

 21. The auditor should review and assess the conclusions drawn from the audit evidence 
obtained and from his knowledge of business of the entity as the basis for the expression of 
his opinion on the financial information. This review and assessment involves forming an 
overall conclusion as to whether:  

(a) the financial information has been prepared using acceptable accounting policies, 
which have been consistently applied; 

(b) the financial information complies with relevant regulations and statutory 
requirements; 
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(c) there is adequate disclosure of all material matters relevant to the proper 
presentation of the financial information, subject to statutory requirements, where 
applicable. 

 22. The audit report should contain a clear written expression of opinion on the financial 
information and if the form or content of the report is laid down in or prescribed under any 
agreement or statute or regulation, the audit report should comply with such requirements. 
An unqualified opinion indicates the auditor's satisfaction in all material respects with the 
matters dealt with in paragraph 21 or as may be laid d own or prescribed under the relevant 
agreement or statute or regulation, as the case may be.  

 23. When a qualified opinion, adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion is to be given or 
reservation of opinion on any matter is to be made, the audit report should state the reasons 
therefor.  

Effective Date 

 24. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1985.  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 2 

Objective and Scope of the Audit of Financial Statements 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 2 issued by 
the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India on "Objective and Scope of the 
Audit of Financial Statements". This Statement should be read in conjunction with the 
"Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 2 issued 
by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India on "Objective and Scope of 
the Audit of Financial Statements". This Statement should be read in conjunction with the 
"Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute.  

Objective of an Audit  

2. The objective of an audit of financial statements, prepared within a framework of 
recognised accounting policies and practices and relevant statutory requirements, if any, is to 
enable an auditor to express an opinion on such financial statements.  

3. The auditor's opinion helps determination of the true and fair view of the financial position 
and operating results of an enterprise. The user, however, should not assume that the auditor's 
opinion is an assurance as to the future viability of the enterprise or the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which management has conducted the affairs of the enterprise.  

____________________________ 
*Issued in June, 1985  

Responsibility for the Financial Statements  

4. While the auditor is responsible for forming and expressing his opinion on the financial 
statements, the responsibility for their preparation is that of the management of the 
enterprise. Management's responsibilities include the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records and internal controls, the selection and application of accounting policies and the 
safeguarding of the assets of the enterprise. The audit of the financial statements does not 
relieve management of its responsibilities. 

Scope of an Audit  

5. The scope of an audit of financial statements will be determined by the auditor having 
regard to the terms of the engagement, the requirements of relevant legislation and the 
pronouncements of the Institute. The terms of engagement cannot, however, restrict the 
scope of an audit in relation to matters which are prescribed by legislation or by the 
pronouncements of the Institute.  
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6. The audit should be organised to cover adequately all aspects of the enterprise as far as 
they are relevant to the financial statements being audited. To form an opinion on the 
financial statements, the auditor should be reasonably satisfied as to whether the information 
contained in the underlying accounting records and other source data is reliable and sufficient 
as the basis for the preparation of the financial statements. In forming his opinion, the auditor 
should also decide whether the relevant information is properly disclosed in the financial 
statements subject to statutory requirements, where applicable.  

7. The auditor assesses the reliability and sufficiency of the information contained in the 
underlying accounting records and other source data by: 

(a) making a study and evaluation of accounting systems and internal controls on 
which he wishes to rely and testing those internal controls to determine the nature, 
extent and timing of other auditing procedures; and  

(b) carrying out such other tests, enquiries and other verification procedures of 
accounting transactions and account balances as he considers appropriate in the 
particular circumstances. 

8. The auditor determines whether the relevant information is properly disclosed in the 
financial statements by: 

 (a) comparing the financial statements with the underlying accounting records and 
other source data to see whether they properly summarise the transactions and events 
recorded therein; and  

 (b) considering the judgements that management has made in preparing the financial 
statements; accordingly, the auditor assesses the selection and consistent application 
of accounting policies, the manner in which the information has been classified, and 
the adequacy of disclosure. 

 9. The auditor's work involves exercise of judgement, for example, in deciding the extent of 
audit procedures and in assessing the reasonableness of the judgements and estimates made 
by management in preparing the financial statements. Furthermore, much of the evidence 
available to the auditor can enable him to draw only reasonable conclusions therefrom. 
Because of these factors, absolute certainty in auditing is rarely attainable.  

 10. In forming his opinion on the financial statements, the auditor follows procedures 
designed to satisfy himself that the financial statements reflect a true and fair view of the 
financial position and operating results of the enterprise. The auditor recognises that because 
of the test nature and other inherent limitations of an audit, together with the inherent 
limitations of any system of internal control, there is an unavoidable risk that some material 
misstatement may remain undiscovered. While in many situations the discovery of a material 
misstatement by management may often arise during the conduct of the audit, such discovery 
is not the main objective of audit nor is the auditor's programme of work specifically 
designed for such discovery. The audit cannot, therefore, be relied upon to ensure the 
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discovery of all frauds or errors but where the auditor has any indication that some fraud or 
error may have occurred which could result in material misstatement, the auditor should 
extend his procedures to confirm or dispel his suspicions.  

11. The auditor is primarily concerned with items which either individually or as a group are 
material in relation to the affairs of an enterprise. However, it is difficult to lay down any 
definite standard by which materiality can be judged. Material items are those which might 
influence the decisions of the user of the financial statements.* It is a matter in which a 
decision is arrived at on the basis of the auditor's professional experience and judgement. 

 12. The auditor is not expected to perform duties which fall outside the scope of his 
competence. For example, the professional skill required of an auditor does not include that 
of a technical expert for determining physical condition of certain assets.  

 13. Constraints on the scope of the audit of financial statements that impair the auditor's 
ability to express an unqualified opinion on such financial statements should be set out in his 
report, and a qualified opinion or disclaimer of opinion should be expressed as appropriate.  

Effective Date  

14. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1985. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 3 

Documentation   

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 3 issued by the Council of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India on "Documentation". This Statement should be read in conjunction 
with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction  

1. Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP 1), "Basic Principles Governing an Audit" (Paragraph 11), 
states: "The auditor should document matters which are important in providing evidence that the audit was 
carried out in accordance with the basic principles." The purpose of this Statement is to amplify the basic 
principle outlined above.  

2. Documentation, for purposes of this Statement, refers to the working papers prepared or obtained by the 
auditor and retained by him, in connection with the performance of his audit.  

3. Working papers: 

* aid in the planning and performance of the audit;  

* aid in the supervision and review of the audit work; and  

* provide evidence of the audit work performed to support the auditor's opinion. 

Form and Content 

 4. Working papers should record the audit plan, the nature, timing and extent of auditing procedures performed, 
and the conclusions drawn from the evidence obtained.   

5. The form and content of working papers are affected by matters such as: 

* The nature of the engagement.  

* The form of the auditor's report.  

* The nature and complexity of the client's business.  

* The nature and condition of the client's records and degree of reliance on internal controls.  

* The needs in particular circumstances for direction, supervision and review of work performed by 
assistants. 

6. Working papers should be designed and properly organised to meet the circumstances of each audit and the 
auditor's needs in respect thereof. The standardisation of working papers (for example checklists, specimen 
letters, standard organisation of working papers) improves the efficiency with which they are prepared and 
reviewed. It also facilitates the delegation of work while providing a means to control its quality.  

7. Working papers should be sufficiently complete and detailed for an auditor to obtain an overall understanding 
of the audit. The extent of documentation is a matter of professional judgement since it is neither necessary nor 
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practical that every observation, consideration or conclusion is documented by the auditor in his working 
papers.  

8. All significant matters which require the exercise of judgement, together with the auditor's conclusion 
thereon, should be included in the working papers.  

9. To improve audit efficiency, the auditor normally obtains and utilises schedules, analyses and other working 
papers prepared by the client. In such circumstances, the auditor should satisfy himself that these working 
papers have been properly prepared. Examples of such working papers are detailed analyses of important 
revenue accounts, receivables, etc.  

10. In the case of recurring audits, some working paper files may be classified as permanent audit files which 
are updated currently with information of continuing importance to succeeding audits, as distinct from current 
audit files which contain information relating primarily to the audit of a single period.  

11. A permanent audit file normally includes: 

* Information concerning the legal and organisational structure of the entity. In the case of a company, 
this includes the Memorandum and Articles of Association. In the case of a statutory corporation, this 
includes the Act and Regulations under which the corporation functions.  

* Extracts or copies of important legal documents, agreements and minutes relevant to the audit. 

 * A record of the study and evaluation of the internal controls related to the accounting system. This 
might be in the form of narrative descriptions, questionnaires or flow charts, or some combination 
thereof.  

 * Copies of audited financial statements for previous years.  

 * Analysis of significant ratios and trends.  

 * Copies of management letters issued by the auditor, if any.  

 * Record of communication with the retiring auditor, if any, before acceptance of the appointment as 
auditor.  

 * Notes regarding significant accounting policies.  

 * Significant audit observations of earlier years. 

 12. The current file normally includes:  

* Correspondence relating to acceptance of annual reappointment. 

* Extracts of important matters in the minutes of Board Meetings and General Meetings, as are 
relevant to audit. 

* Evidence of the planning process of the audit and audit programme. 

 * Analysis of transactions and balances.  

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 10 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

 * A record of the nature, timing and extent of auditing procedures performed, and the results of such 
procedures.  

 * Evidence that the work performed by assistants was supervised and reviewed.  

 * Copies of communications with other auditors, experts and other third parties.  

 * Copies of letters or notes concerning audit matters communicated to or discussed with the client, 
including the terms of the engagement and material weaknesses in relevant internal controls.  

 * Letters of representation or confirmation received from the client.  

 * Conclusions reached by the auditor concerning significant aspects of the audit, including the manner 
in which exceptions and unusual matters, if any, disclosed by the auditor's procedures were resolved or 
treated.  

 * Copies of the financial information being reported on and the related audit reports. 

Ownership and Custody of Working Papers  

13. Working papers are the property of the auditor. The auditor may, at his discretion, make portions of or 
extracts from his working papers available to his client.  

14. The auditor should adopt reasonable procedures for custody and confidentiality of his working papers and 
should retain them for a period of time sufficient to meet the needs of his practice and satisfy any pertinent legal 
or professional requirements of record retention. 

Effective Date  

15. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating to accounting 
periods beginning on or after July 1, 1985. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 4 (Revised)* 

The Auditor's Responsibility to Consider Fraud and Error in an Audit of 
Financial Statements 

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 4 (Revised), 
"The Auditor's Responsibility to Consider Fraud and Error in an Audit of Financial 
Statements" issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
This Standard should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute.1 From the date this AAS becomes 
effective, Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 4, "Fraud and Error" 2 shall 
stand withdrawn. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards on the auditor's responsibility to consider fraud and error in an audit of 
financial statements. While this SAP focuses on the auditor's responsibilities with 
respect to fraud and error, the primary responsibility for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and error rests with both those charged with governance and the 
management of an entity. In this Standard, the term 'financial information' 
encompasses 'financial statements'. In some circumstances, specific legislations 
and regulations may require the auditor to undertake procedures additional to those 
set out in this AAS. 3 

2. When planning and performing audit procedures and evaluating and 
reporting the results thereof, the auditor should consider the risk of 
material misstatements in the financial statements resulting from fraud or 
error. 

Fraud and Error and Their Characteristics 

3. Misstatements in the financial statements can arise from fraud or error. The term 
"error" refers to an unintentional misstatement in the financial statements, 
including the omission of an amount or a disclosure, such as:  

• A mistake in gathering or processing data from which financial statements 
are prepared. 
 
   

• An incorrect accounting estimate arising from oversight or misinterpretation 
of facts. 
 
   

• A mistake in the application of accounting principles relating to 
measurement, recognition, classification, presentation, or disclosure. 
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4. The term "fraud" refers to an intentional act by one or more individuals among 
management, those charged with governance, employees, or third parties, 
involving the use of deception to obtain an unjust or illegal advantage. Although 
fraud is a broad legal concept, the auditor is concerned with fraudulent acts that 
cause a material misstatement in the financial statements. Misstatement of the 
financial statements may not be the objective of some frauds. Auditors do not 
make legal determinations of whether fraud has actually occurred. Fraud involving 
one or more members of management or those charged with governance is 
referred to as "management fraud"; fraud involving only employees of the entity is 
referred to as "employee fraud". In either case, there may be collusion with third 
parties outside the entity. 

5. Two types of intentional misstatements are relevant to the auditor's consideration 
of fraud-misstatements resulting from fraudulent financial reporting and 
misstatements resulting from misappropriation of assets. 

6. Fraudulent financial reporting involves intentional misstatements or omissions of 
amounts or disclosures in financial statements to deceive financial statement users. 
Fraudulent financial reporting may involve:  

• Deception such as manipulation, falsification, or alteration of accounting 
records or supporting documents from which the financial statements are 
prepared. 
 
   

• Misrepresentation in, or intentional omission from, the financial statements 
of events, transactions or other significant information. 
 
   

• Intentional misapplication of accounting principles relating to measurement, 
recognition, classification, presentation, or disclosure.  

7. Misappropriation of assets involves the theft of an entity's assets. Misappropriation 
of assets can be accomplished in a variety of ways (including embezzling receipts, 
stealing physical or intangible assets, or causing an entity to pay for goods and 
services not received); it is often accompanied by false or misleading records or 
documents in order to conceal the fact that the assets are missing. 

8. Fraud involves motivation to commit fraud and a perceived opportunity to do so. 
Individuals might be motivated to misappropriate assets, for example, because the 
individuals are living beyond their means. Fraudulent financial reporting may be 
committed because management is under pressure, from sources outside or inside 
the entity, to achieve an expected (and perhaps unrealistic) earnings target 
particularly when the consequences to management of failing to meet financial 
goals can be significant. A perceived opportunity for fraudulent financial reporting 
or misappropriation of assets may exist when an individual believes internal control 
could be circumvented, for example, because the individual is in a position of trust 
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or has knowledge of specific weaknesses in the internal control system. 

9. The distinguishing factor between fraud and error is whether the underlying action 
that results in the misstatement in the financial statements is intentional or 
unintentional. Unlike error, fraud is intentional and usually involves deliberate 
concealment of the facts. While the auditor may be able to identify potential 
opportunities for fraud to be perpetrated, it is difficult, if not impossible, for the 
auditor to determine intent, particularly in matters involving management 
judgment, such as accounting estimates and the appropriate application of 
accounting principles. 

Responsibility of Those Charged With Governance and of Management 

10. The primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud and error 
rests with both those charged with the governance and the management of an 
entity. The respective responsibilities of those charged with governance and 
management may vary from entity to entity. Management, with the oversight of 
those charged with governance, needs to set the proper tone, create and maintain 
a culture of honesty and high ethics, and establish appropriate controls to prevent 
and detect fraud and error within the entity. 

11. It is the responsibility of those charged with governance of an entity to ensure, 
through oversight of management, the integrity of an entity's accounting and 
financial reporting systems and that appropriate controls are in place, including 
those for monitoring risk, financial control and compliance with the laws and 
regulations. 

12. It is the responsibility of the management of an entity to establish a control 
environment and maintain policies and procedures to assist in achieving the 
objective of ensuring, as far as possible, the orderly and efficient conduct of the 
entity's business. This responsibility includes implementing and ensuring the 
continued operation of accounting and internal control systems, which are 
designed to prevent and detect fraud and error. Such systems reduce but do not 
eliminate the risk of misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 
Accordingly, management assumes responsibility for any remaining risk. 

Responsibilities of the Auditor 

13. As described in AAS 2, 4 "Objective and Scope of the Audit of Financial 
Statements", the objective of an audit of financial statements, prepared within a 
framework of recognised accounting policies and practices and relevant statutory 
requirements, if any, is to enable an auditor to express an opinion on such 
financial statements. An audit conducted in accordance with the auditing 
standards generally accepted in India 5 is designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. The fact that an audit is carried 
out may act as a deterrent, but the auditor is not and cannot be held responsible 
for the prevention of fraud and error. 

Inherent Limitations of an Audit 
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14. An auditor cannot obtain absolute assurance that material misstatements in the 
financial statements will be detected. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, 
there is an unavoidable risk that some material misstatements of the financial 
statements will not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and 
performed in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
An audit does not guarantee that all material misstatements will be detected 
because of such factors as the use of judgment, the use of testing, the inherent 
limitations of internal control and the fact that much of the evidence available to 
the auditor is persuasive rather than conclusive in nature. For these reasons, the 
auditor is able to obtain only a reasonable assurance that material misstatements 
in the financial statements will be detected. 

15. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error 
because fraud, generally, involves sophisticated and carefully organized schemes 
designed to conceal it, such as forgery, deliberate failure to record transactions, or 
intentional misrepresentations being made to the auditor. Such attempts at 
concealment may be even more difficult to detect when accompanied by collusion. 
Collusion may cause the auditor to believe that evidence is persuasive when it is, 
in fact, false. The auditor's ability to detect a fraud depends on factors such as the 
skillfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the 
degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, 
and the seniority of those involved. Audit procedures that are effective for 
detecting an error may be ineffective for detecting fraud. 

16. Furthermore, the risk of the auditor not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from management fraud is greater than for employee fraud, because 
those charged with governance and management are often in a position that 
assumes their integrity and enables them to override the formally established 
control procedures. Certain levels of management may be in a position to override 
control procedures designed to prevent similar frauds by other employees, for 
example, by directing subordinates to record transactions incorrectly or to conceal 
them. Given its position of authority within an entity, management has the ability 
to either direct employees to do something or solicit their help to assist 
management in carrying out a fraud, with or without the employees' knowledge. 

17. The auditor's opinion on the financial statements is based on the concept of 
obtaining reasonable assurance; hence, in an audit, the auditor does not 
guarantee that material misstatements, whether from fraud or error, will be 
detected. Therefore, the subsequent discovery of a material misstatement of the 
financial statements resulting from fraud or error does not, in and of itself, 
indicate:  

a. failure to obtain reasonable assurance, 
 
   

b. inadequate planning, performance or judgment, 
 
   

c. absence of professional competence and due care, or, 
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d. failure to comply with auditing standards generally accepted in India.  

This is particularly the case for certain kinds of intentional misstatements, since 
auditing procedures may be ineffective for detecting an intentional misstatement 
that is concealed through collusion between or among one or more individuals 
among management, those charged with governance, employees, or third parties, 
or involves falsified documentation. Whether the auditor has performed an audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India is determined by 
the adequacy of the audit procedures performed in the circumstances and the 
suitability of the auditor's report based on the result of these procedures. 

Professional Skepticism 

18. The auditor plans and performs an audit with an attitude of professional 
skepticism. Such an attitude is necessary for the auditor to identify and properly 
evaluate, for example:  

• Matters that increase the risk of a material misstatement in the financial 
statements resulting from fraud or error (for instance, management's 
characteristics and influence over the control environment, industry 
conditions, and operating characteristics and financial stability). 
 
   

• Circumstances that make the auditor suspect that the financial statements 
are materially misstated. 
 
   

• Evidence obtained (including the auditor's knowledge from previous audits) 
that brings into question the reliability of management representations.  

19. However, unless the audit reveals evidence to the contrary, the auditor is entitled 
to accept records and documents as genuine. Accordingly, an audit performed in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India rarely contemplate 
authentication of documentation, nor are auditors trained as, or expected to be, 
experts in such authentication. 

Planning Discussions 

20. In planning the audit, the auditor should discuss with other members of 
the audit team, the susceptibility of the entity to material misstatements 
in the financial statements resulting from fraud or error. 

21. Such discussions would involve considering, for example, in the context of the 
particular entity, where errors may be more likely to occur or how fraud might be 
perpetrated. Based on these discussions, members of the audit team may gain a 
better understanding of the potential for material misstatements in the financial 
statements resulting from fraud or error in the specific areas of the audit assigned 
to them, and how the results of the audit procedures that they perform may affect 
other aspects of the audit. Decisions may also be made as to which members of 
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the audit team will conduct certain inquiries or audit procedures, and how the 
results of those inquiries and procedures will be shared. 

Inquiries of Management 

22. When planning the audit, the auditor should make inquiries of 
management:  

a. to obtain an understanding of: 
 
   

i. management's assessment of the risk that the financial 
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud; 
and 
 
   

ii. the accounting and internal control systems management 
has put in place to address such risk; 
 
   

b. to obtain knowledge of management's understanding regarding the 
accounting and internal control systems in place to prevent and 
detect error; 
 
   

c. to determine whether management is aware of any known fraud 
that has affected the entity or suspected fraud that the entity is 
investigating; and 
 
   

d. to determine whether management has discovered any material 
errors.  

23. The auditor supplements his own knowledge of the entity's business by making 
inquiries of management regarding management's own assessment of the risk of 
fraud and the systems in place to prevent and detect it. In addition, the auditor 
makes inquiries of management regarding the accounting and internal control 
systems in place to prevent and detect error. Since management is responsible for 
the entity's accounting and internal control systems and for the preparation of the 
financial statements, it is appropriate for the auditor to inquire of management 
how it is discharging these responsibilities. Matters that might be discussed as 
part of these inquiries include:  

a. whether there are particular subsidiary locations, business segments, types 
of transactions, account balances or financial statement categories where 
the possibility of error may be high, or where fraud risk factors may exist, 
and how they are being addressed by management; 
 
   

b. the work of the entity's internal audit function and whether internal audit 
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has identified fraud or any serious weaknesses in the system of internal 
control; and 
 
   

c. how management communicates to employees its view on responsible 
business practices and ethical behavior, such as through ethics policies or 
codes of conduct.  

24. The nature, extent and frequency of management's assessment of such systems 
and risk vary from entity to entity. In some entities, management may make 
detailed assessments on an annual basis or as part of continuous monitoring. In 
other entities, management's assessment may be less formal and less frequent. 
The nature, extent and frequency of management's assessment are relevant to 
the auditor's understanding of the entity's control environment. For example, the 
fact that management has not made an assessment of the risk of fraud may be 
indicative of the lack of importance that management places on internal control. 

25. It is also important that the auditor obtains an understanding of the design of the 
accounting and internal control systems within the entity. In designing such 
systems, management makes informed judgments on the nature and extent of 
the control procedures it chooses to implement and the nature and extent of the 
risks it chooses to assume. As a result of making these inquiries of management, 
the auditor may learn, for example, that management has consciously chosen to 
accept the risk associated with a lack of segregation of duties. Information from 
these inquiries may also be useful in identifying fraud risk factors that may affect 
the auditor's assessment of the risk that the financial statements may contain 
material misstatements caused by fraud. 

26. It is also important for the auditor to inquire about management's knowledge of 
frauds that have affected the entity, suspected frauds that are being investigated, 
and material errors that have been discovered. Such inquiries might indicate 
possible weaknesses in control procedures if, for example, a number of errors 
have been found in certain areas. Alternatively, such inquiries might indicate that 
control procedures are operating effectively because anomalies are being 
identified and investigated promptly. 

27. Although the auditor's inquiries of management may provide useful information 
concerning the risk of material misstatements in the financial statements resulting 
from employee fraud, such inquiries are unlikely to provide useful information 
regarding the risk of material misstatements in the financial statements resulting 
from management fraud. Accordingly, the auditor's follow-up of fraud risk factors, 
as discussed in paragraph 39, is of particular relevance in relation to management 
fraud. 

Discussions with Those Charged with Governance 

28. Those charged with governance of an entity have oversight responsibility for 
systems for monitoring risk, financial control and compliance with the law. In case 
of clients whose corporate governance practices are well developed and those 
charged with governance play an active role in oversight of how management has 
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discharged its responsibilities, auditors are encouraged to seek the views of those 
charged with governance on the adequacy of accounting and internal control 
systems in place to prevent and detect fraud and error, the risk of fraud and error, 
and the competence and integrity of management. Such inquiries may, for 
example, provide insights regarding the susceptibility of the entity to management 
fraud. The auditor may have an opportunity to seek the views of those charged 
with governance during, for example, a meeting with the audit committee to 
discuss the general approach and overall scope of the audit and eliciting views of 
independent directors. This discussion may also provide those charged with 
governance with the opportunity to bring matters of concern to the auditor's 
attention. 

29. Since the responsibilities of those charged with governance and management may 
vary by entity, it is important that the auditor understands the nature of these 
responsibilities within an entity to ensure that the inquiries and communications 
described above are directed to the appropriate individuals. 6 

30. In addition, following the inquiries of management described in paragraphs 22-27, 
the auditor considers whether there are any matters of governance interest to be 
discussed with those charged with governance of the entity 7. Such matters may 
include for example:  

• Concerns about the nature, extent and frequency of management's 
assessments of the accounting and control systems in place to prevent and 
detect fraud and error, and of the risk that the financial statements may be 
misstated. 
 
   

• A failure by management to address appropriately material weaknesses in 
internal control identified during the prior period's audit. 
 
   

• The auditor's evaluation of the entity's control environment, including 
questions regarding management's competence and integrity. 
 
   

• The effect of any matters, such as those above, on the general approach 
and overall scope of the audit, including additional procedures that the 
auditor may need to perform.  

Audit Risk 

31. SAP 8 6 (Revised), "Risk Assessments and Internal Control," paragraph 3, states 
that "audit risk" is the risk that the auditor gives an inappropriate audit opinion 
when the financial statements are materially misstated. Such misstatements can 
result from either fraud or error. AAS 6 (Revised) identifies the three components 
of audit risk i.e., inherent risk, control risk and detection risk, and also provides 
guidance on how to assess these risks. 

Inherent Risk and Control Risk 
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32. When assessing inherent risk and control risk in accordance with AAS 6 
(Revised), "Risk Assessments and Internal Control", the auditor should 
consider how the financial statements might be materially misstated as a 
result of fraud or error. In considering the risk of material misstatement 
resulting from fraud, the auditor should consider whether fraud risk 
factors are present that indicate the possibility of either fraudulent 
financial reporting or misappropriation of assets. 

33. AAS 6 (Revised), "Risk Assessments and Internal Control", describes the auditor's 
assessment of inherent risk and control risk, and how those assessments affect 
the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures. In making those 
assessments, the auditor considers how the financial statements might be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud or error. 

34. The fact that fraud is usually concealed can make it very difficult to detect. 
Nevertheless, using the auditor's knowledge of the business, the auditor may 
identify events or conditions that provide an opportunity, a motive or a means to 
commit fraud, or indicate that fraud may already have occurred. Such events or 
conditions are referred to as "fraud risk factors". For example, a document may be 
missing, a general ledger may be out of balance, or an analytical procedure may 
not make sense. However, these conditions may be the result of circumstances 
other than fraud. Therefore, fraud risk factors do not necessarily indicate the 
existence of fraud, however, they often have been present in circumstances where 
frauds have occurred. The presence of fraud risk factors may affect the auditor's 
assessment of inherent risk or control risk. Examples of fraud risk factors are set 
out in Appendix 1 to this AAS. 

35. Fraud risk factors cannot easily be ranked in order of importance or combined into 
effective predictive models. The significance of fraud risk factors varies widely. 
Some of these factors will be present in entities where the specific conditions do 
not present a risk of material misstatement. Accordingly, the auditor exercises 
professional judgment when considering fraud risk factors individually or in 
combination and whether there are specific controls that mitigate the risk. 

36. Although the fraud risk factors described in Appendix 1 cover a broad range of 
situations typically faced by auditors, they are only examples. Moreover, not all of 
these examples are relevant in all circumstances, and some may be of greater or 
lesser significance in entities of different size, with different ownership 
characteristics, in different industries, or because of other differing characteristics 
or circumstances. Accordingly, the auditor uses professional judgment when 
assessing the significance and relevance of fraud risk factors and determining the 
appropriate audit response. 

37. The size, complexity, and ownership characteristics of the entity have a significant 
influence on the consideration of relevant fraud risk factors. For example, in the 
case of a large entity, the auditor ordinarily considers factors that generally 
constrain improper conduct by management, such as the effectiveness of those 
charged with governance, and the internal audit function. The auditor also 
considers what steps have been taken to enforce a formal code of conduct, and 
the effectiveness of the budgeting system. In the case of a small entity, some or 
all of these considerations may be inapplicable or less important. For example, a 
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smaller entity might not have a written code of conduct but, instead, may have 
developed a culture that emphasizes the importance of integrity and ethical 
behavior through oral communication and by management example. Domination 
of management by a single individual in a small entity does not generally, in and 
of itself, indicate a failure by management to display and communicate an 
appropriate attitude regarding internal control and the financial reporting process. 
Furthermore, fraud risk factors considered at a business segment operating level 
may provide different insights than the consideration thereof at an entity-wide 
level. 

38. The presence of fraud risk factors may indicate that the auditor will be unable to 
assess control risk at less than high for certain financial statement assertions. On 
the other hand, the auditor may be able to identify internal controls designed to 
mitigate those fraud risk factors that the auditor can test to support a control risk 
assessment below high. 

Detection Risk 

39. Based on the auditor's assessment of inherent and control risks 
(including the results of any tests of controls), the auditor should design 
substantive procedures to reduce to an acceptably low level the risk that 
misstatements resulting from fraud and error that are material to the 
financial statements taken as a whole will not be detected. In designing 
the substantive procedures, the auditor should address the fraud risk 
factors that the auditor has identified as being present. 

40. AAS 6 (Revised) "Risk Assessments and Internal Control", explains that the 
auditor's control risk assessment, together with the inherent risk assessment, 
influences the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures to be 
performed to reduce detection risk to an acceptably low level. In designing 
substantive procedures, the auditor addresses fraud risk factors that the auditor 
has identified as being present. The auditor's response to those factors is 
influenced by their nature and significance. In some cases, even though fraud risk 
factors have been identified as being present, the auditor's judgment may be that 
the audit procedures, including both tests of control, and substantive procedures, 
already planned, are sufficient to respond to the fraud risk factors. 

41. In other circumstances, the auditor may conclude that there is a need to modify 
the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures to address fraud risk 
factors present. In these circumstances, the auditor considers whether the 
assessment of the risk of material misstatement calls for an overall response, a 
response that is specific to a particular account balance, class of transactions or 
assertion, or both types of response. The auditor considers whether changing the 
nature of audit procedures, rather than the extent of them, may be more effective 
in responding to identified fraud risk factors. Examples of response procedures are 
set out in Appendix 2 to this AAS, including examples of responses to the auditor's 
assessment of the risk of material misstatement resulting from both fraudulent 
financial reporting and misappropriation of assets. 

Procedures when Circumstances Indicate a Possible Misstatement 
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42. When the auditor encounters circumstances that may indicate that there 
is a material misstatement in the financial statements resulting from 
fraud or error, the auditor should perform procedures to determine 
whether the financial statements are materially misstated. 

43. During the course of the audit, the auditor may encounter circumstances that 
indicate that the financial statements may contain a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud or error. Examples of such circumstances that, individually or 
in combination, may make the auditor suspect that such a misstatement exists 
are set out in Appendix 3 to this AAS. 

44. When the auditor encounters such circumstances, the nature, timing and extent of 
the procedures to be performed depends on the auditor's judgment as to the type 
of fraud or error indicated, the likelihood of its occurrence, and the likelihood that 
a particular type of fraud or error could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. Ordinarily, the auditor is able to perform sufficient procedures to 
confirm or dispel a suspicion that the financial statements are materially misstated 
resulting from fraud or error. If not, the auditor considers the effect on the 
auditor's report, as discussed in paragraph 48. 

45. The auditor cannot assume that an instance of fraud or error is an isolated 
occurrence and therefore, before the conclusion of the audit, the auditor considers 
whether the assessment of the components of audit risk made during the planning 
of the audit may need to be revised and whether the nature, timing and extent of 
the auditor's other procedures may need to be reconsidered. {See AAS 6 
(Revised), "Risk Assessments and Internal Control," paragraphs 40 and 47} For 
example, the auditor would consider:  

• The nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures. 
 
   

• The assessment of the effectiveness of internal controls if control risk was 
assessed below high. 
 
   

• The assignment of audit team members that may be appropriate in the 
circumstances.  

Considering Whether an Identified Misstatement may be Indicative of Fraud 

46. When the auditor identifies a misstatement, the auditor should consider 
whether such a misstatement may be indicative of fraud and if there is 
such an indication, the auditor should consider the implications of the 
misstatement in relation to other aspects of the audit, particularly the 
reliability of management representations. 

47. If the auditor has determined that a misstatement is, or may be, the result of 
fraud, the auditor evaluates the implications, especially those dealing with the 
organizational position of the person or persons involved. For example, fraud 
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involving misappropriations of cash from a small petty cash fund is ordinarily of 
little significance to the auditor in assessing the risk of material misstatement due 
to fraud. This is because both the manner of operating the fund and its size tend 
to establish a limit on the amount of potential loss, and the custodianship of such 
funds is ordinarily entrusted to an employee with a low level of authority. 
Conversely, when the matter involves management with a higher level of 
authority, even though the amount itself is not material to the financial statement, 
it may be indicative of a more pervasive problem. In such circumstances, the 
auditor reconsiders the reliability of evidence previously obtained since there may 
be doubts about the completeness and truthfulness of representations made and 
about the genuineness of accounting records and documentation. The auditor also 
considers the possibility of collusion involving employees, management or third 
parties when reconsidering the reliability of evidence. If management, particularly 
at the highest level, is involved in fraud, the auditor may not be able to obtain the 
evidence necessary to complete the audit and report on the financial statements. 

Evaluation and Disposition of Misstatements, and the Effect on the Auditor's 
Report 

48. When the auditor confirms that, or is unable to conclude whether, the 
financial statements are materially misstated as a result of fraud or error, 
the auditor should consider the implications for the audit. AAS9 13, "Audit 
Materiality," paragraphs 12-16, and AAS 28, "The Auditor's Report on Financial 
Statements", paragraphs 37-47, provide guidance on the evaluation and 
disposition of misstatements and the effect on the auditor's report. Where a 
significant fraud has occurred or the fraud is committed by those charged with 
governance, the auditor should consider the necessity for a disclosure of the fraud 
in the financial statements. If adequate disclosure is not made the auditor should 
consider the necessity for a suitable disclosure in his report. 

Documentation 

49. The auditor should document fraud risk factors identified as being 
present during the auditor's assessment process (see paragraph 32) and 
document the auditor's response to any such factors (see paragraph 39). 
If during the performance of the audit, fraud risk factors are identified 
that cause the auditor to believe that additional audit procedures are 
necessary, the auditor should document the presence of such risk factors 
and the auditor's response to them. 

50. The auditor must document matters which are important in providing evidence to 
support the audit opinion, and the working papers must include the auditor's 
reasoning on all significant matters which require the auditor's judgment, together 
with the auditor's conclusion thereon. Because of the importance of fraud risk 
factors in the assessment of the inherent or control risk of material misstatement, 
the auditor documents fraud risk factors identified and the response considered 
appropriate by the auditor. (Reference may also be had to AAS 10 3, 
"Documentation"). 

Management Representations 
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51. The auditor should obtain written representations from management that:  

a. it acknowledges its responsibility for the implementation and operation of 
accounting and internal control systems that are designed to prevent and 
detect fraud and error; 
 
   

b. it believes the effects of those uncorrected financial statement 
misstatements aggregated by the auditor during the audit are immaterial, 
both individually and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as 
a whole. A summary of such items should be included in or attached to the 
written representation; 
 
   

c. it has disclosed to the auditor all significant facts relating to any frauds or 
suspected frauds known to management that may have affected the entity; 
and 
 
   

d. it has disclosed to the auditor the results of its assessment of the risk that 
the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.  

52. AAS11 11, "Representations by Management" provides guidance on obtaining 
appropriate representations from management in the audit. In addition to 
acknowledging its responsibility for the financial statements, it is important that 
management acknowledges its responsibility for the accounting and internal 
control systems designed to prevent and detect fraud and error. 

 

53. Because management is responsible for adjusting the financial statements to 
correct material misstatements, it is important that the auditor obtains written 
representation from management that any uncorrected misstatements resulting 
from either fraud or error are, in management's opinion, immaterial, both 
individually and in the aggregate. Such representations are not a substitute for 
obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence. In some circumstances, 
management may not believe that certain of the uncorrected financial statement 
misstatements aggregated by the auditor during the audit are misstatements. For 
that reason, management may want to add to their written representation words 
such as, "We do not agree that items .. and ... constitute misstatements because 
[description of reasons]." 

54. The auditor may designate an amount below which misstatements need not be 
accumulated because the auditor expects that the accumulation of such amounts 
clearly would not have a material effect on the financial statements. In so doing, 
the auditor considers the fact that the determination of materiality involves 
qualitative as well as quantitative considerations and that misstatements of a 
relatively small amount could nevertheless have a material effect on the financial 
statements. The summary of uncorrected misstatements included in or attached to 
the written representation need not include such misstatements. 
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55. Because of the nature of fraud and the difficulties encountered by auditors in 
detecting material misstatements in the financial statements resulting from fraud, 
it is important that the auditor obtains a written representation from management 
confirming that it has disclosed to the auditor all facts relating to any frauds or 
suspected frauds that it is aware of that may have affected the entity, and that 
management has disclosed to the auditor the results of management's assessment 
of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of 
fraud. 

Communication 

56. When the auditor identifies a misstatement resulting from fraud, or a 
suspected fraud, or error, the auditor should consider the auditor's 
responsibility to communicate that information to management, those 
charged with governance and, in some circumstances, when so required 
by the laws and regulations, to regulatory and enforcement authorities 
also. 

57. Communication of a misstatement resulting from fraud, or a suspected fraud, or 
error to the appropriate level of management on a timely basis is important 
because it enables management to take necessary action. The determination of 
which level of management is the appropriate one is a matter of professional 
judgment and is affected by such factors as the nature, magnitude and frequency 
of the misstatement or suspected fraud. Ordinarily, the appropriate level of 
management is at least one level above the persons who appear to be involved 
with the misstatement or suspected fraud. 

58. The determination of which matters are to be communicated by the auditor to 
those charged with governance is a matter of professional judgment and is also 
affected by any understanding between the parties as to which matters are to be 
communicated. Ordinarily, such matters include:  

• Questions regarding management competence and integrity. 
 
   

• Fraud involving management. 
 
   

• Other frauds which result in a material misstatement of the financial 
statements. 
 
   

• Material misstatements resulting from error. 
 
   

• Misstatements that indicate material weaknesses in internal control, 
including the design or operation of the entity's financial reporting process. 
 
   

• Misstatements that may cause future financial statements to be materially 
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misstated.  

Communication of Misstatements Resulting From Error to Management and to 
Those Charged With Governance 

59. If the auditor has identified a material misstatement resulting from error, 
the auditor should communicate the misstatement to the appropriate 
level of management on a timely basis, and consider the need to report it 
to those charged with governance. 

60. The auditor should inform those charged with governance of those 
uncorrected misstatements aggregated by the auditor during the audit 
that were determined by management to be immaterial, both individually 
and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

61. As noted in paragraph 55, the uncorrected misstatements communicated to those 
charged with governance need not include the misstatements below a designated 
amount. 

Communication of Misstatements Resulting From Fraud to Management and to 
Those Charged with Governance 

62. If the auditor has:  

a. identified a fraud, whether or not it results in a material 
misstatement in the financial statements; or 
 
   

b. obtained evidence that indicates that fraud may exist (even if the 
potential effect on the financial statements would not be material);  

the auditor should communicate these matters to the appropriate level of 
management on a timely basis, and consider the need to report such 
matters to those charged with governance. 

63. When the auditor has obtained evidence that fraud exists or may exist, it is 
important that the matter is brought to the attention of an appropriate level of 
management. This is so even if the matter might be considered inconsequential 
(for example, a minor defalcation by an employee at a low level in the entity's 
organization). The determination of which level of management is the appropriate 
one is also affected in these circumstances by the likelihood of collusion or the 
involvement of a member of management. 

64. If the auditor has determined that the misstatement is, or may be, the result of 
fraud, and either has determined that the effect could be material to the financial 
statements or has been unable to evaluate whether the effect is material, the 
auditor:  

a. discusses the matter and the approach to further investigation with an 
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appropriate level of management that is at least one level above those 
involved, and with management at the highest level; and 
 
   

b. if appropriate, suggests that management consult legal counsel.  

Communication of Material Weaknesses in Internal Control 

65. The auditor should communicate to management any material weaknesses in 
internal control related to the prevention or detection of fraud and error, which 
have come to the auditor's attention as a result of the performance of the audit. 
The auditor should also be satisfied that those charged with governance have 
been informed of any material weaknesses in internal control related to the 
prevention and detection of fraud that either have been brought to the auditor's 
attention by management or have been identified by the auditor during the audit. 

66. When the auditor has identified any material weaknesses in internal control 
related to the prevention or detection of fraud or error, the auditor communicates 
these material weaknesses in internal control to management. Because of the 
serious implications of material weaknesses in internal control related to the 
prevention and detection of fraud, it is also important that such deficiencies be 
brought to the attention of those charged with governance. 

67. If the integrity or honesty of management or those charged with governance are 
doubted, the auditor ordinarily considers seeking legal advice to assist in the 
determination of the appropriate course of action. 

Communication to Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities 

68. The auditor's professional duty to maintain the confidentiality of client information 
ordinarily precludes reporting fraud and error to a party outside the client entity. 
However, the auditor's legal responsibilities may vary and in certain 
circumstances, statute, the law or courts of law may override the duty of 
confidentiality. For example, under the regulatory framework for Non-Banking 
Financial Companies, an obligation is cast upon the auditor to report to the 
Reserve Bank of India any adverse or unfavourable remarks in his report. In such 
circumstances, the auditor may consider seeking legal advice. 

Auditor Unable to Complete the Engagement 

69. If the auditor concludes that it is not possible to continue performing the 
audit as a result of a misstatement resulting from fraud or suspected 
fraud, the auditor should:  

a. consider the professional and legal responsibilities applicable in the 
circumstances, including whether there is a requirement for the 
auditor to report to the person or persons who made the audit 
appointment or, in some cases, to regulatory authorities; 
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b. consider the possibility of withdrawing from the engagement; and 

 
   

c. if the auditor withdraws: 
 
   

i. discuss with the appropriate level of management and those 
charged with governance, the auditor's withdrawal from the 
engagement and the reasons for the withdrawal; and 
 
   

ii. consider whether there is a professional or legal requirement 
to report to the person or persons who made the audit 
appointment or, in some cases, to regulatory authorities, the 
auditor's withdrawal from the engagement and the reasons 
for the withdrawal.  

70. The auditor may encounter exceptional circumstances that bring into question the 
auditor's ability to continue performing the audit, for example, in circumstances 
where:  

a. the entity does not take the remedial action regarding fraud that the 
auditor considers necessary in the circumstances, even when the fraud is 
not material to the financial statements; 
 
   

b. the auditor's consideration of the risk of material misstatement resulting 
from fraud and the results of audit tests indicate a significant risk of 
material and pervasive fraud; or 
 
   

c. the auditor has significant concern about the competence or integrity of 
management or those charged with governance.  

71. Because of the variety of the circumstances that may arise, it is not possible to 
describe definitively when withdrawal from an engagement is appropriate. Factors 
that affect the auditor's conclusion include the implications of the involvement of a 
member of management or of those charged with governance (which may affect 
the reliability of management representations) and the effects on the auditor of 
continuing association with the entity. 

72. The auditor has professional and legal responsibilities in such circumstances and 
these responsibilities may vary in different circumstances. For example, the 
auditor may be entitled to, or required to, make a statement or report to the 
person or persons who made the audit appointment or, in some cases, to 
regulatory authorities. Given the exceptional nature of the circumstances and the 
need to consider the legal requirements, the auditor considers seeking legal 
advice when deciding whether to withdraw from an engagement and in 
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determining an appropriate course of action. 

Communication with an Incoming Auditor 

73. Clause 8 of Part I of the First Schedule to the Chartered Accountants Act 
1949 lays down that a Chartered Accountant in practice would be guilty of 
professional misconduct if he accepts a position as an auditor, previously 
held by another chartered accountant without first communicating to him 
in writing. On receipt of an inquiry from a incoming auditor, the existing 
auditor should advise whether there are any professional reasons why 
the incoming auditor should not accept the appointment. If the client 
denies the existing auditor permission to discuss its affairs with the 
incoming auditor or limits what the existing auditor may say, that fact 
should be disclosed to the incoming auditor. 

74. The auditor may be contacted by an incoming auditor inquiring whether there are 
any professional reasons why the incoming auditor should not accept the 
appointment. The responsibilities of existing and incoming auditor are set out in 
the Code of Ethics, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

75. The extent to which an existing auditor can discuss the affairs of a client with an 
incoming auditor will depend on whether the existing auditor has obtained the 
client's permission to do so, and on the professional and legal responsibilities 
relating to such disclosure. Subject to any constraints arising from these 
responsibilities, the existing auditor advises the incoming auditor whether there 
are any professional reasons not to accept the appointment, providing details of 
the information and discussing freely with the incoming auditor all matters 
relevant to the appointment. If fraud or suspected fraud was a factor in the 
existing auditor's withdrawal from the engagement, it is important that the 
existing auditor take care to state only the facts (not his or her conclusions) 
relating to these matters. 

Effective Date 

76. This AAS becomes operative for all audits relating to accounting periods 
commencing on or after 1st April 2003. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 240 

The auditing standards established in this Auditing and Assurance Standard are generally 
consistent in all material respects with those set out in International Standard on 
Auditing (ISA) 240 on The Auditor's Responsibility to Consider Fraud and Error in an 
Audit of Financial Statements. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 5 

Audit Evidence 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP)5 "Audit 
Evidence", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The 
Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 1, "Basic Principles Governing an 
Audit", states (paragraphs 15-17): 

"The auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence through the 
performance of compliance and substantive procedures to enable him to draw 
reasonable conclusions therefrom on which to base his opinion on the financial 
information. 

Compliance procedures are tests designed to obtain reasonable assurance that those 
internal controls on which audit reliance is to be placed are in effect. 

Substantive procedures are designed to obtain evidence as to the completeness, 
accuracy and validity of the data produced by the accounting system. 

They are of two types: 

(i) tests of details of transactions and balances; 

(ii) analysis of significant ratios and trends including the resulting enquiry of 
unusual fluctuations and items." 

The purpose of this Statement is to amplify the basic principle outlined above. In this 
Statement, the term "financial information" encompasses financial statements. 

Sufficient Appropriate Audit Evidence 

2. Sufficiency and appropriateness are interrelated and apply to evidence obtained from both 
compliance and substantive procedures. Sufficiency refers to the quantum of audit evidence 
obtained; appropriateness relates to its relevance and reliability. Normally, the auditor finds 
it necessary to rely on evidence that is persuasive rather than conclusive. He may often seek 
evidence from different sources or of different nature to support the same assertion (see 
paragraphs 5 and 6).  

3. The auditor should evaluate whether he has obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
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before he draws his conclusions therefrom. The audit evidence should, in total, enable the 
auditor to form an opinion on the financial information. In forming such an opinion, the 
auditor may obtain audit evidence on a selective basis by way of judgmental or statistical 
sampling procedures. For example, the auditor may select only certain accounts receivable 
for confirmation purposes, or make a selection of personnel records for the purpose of 
testing that changes in payroll rates have been properly authorised. 

4. The auditor's judgement as to what is sufficient appropriate audit evidence is influenced 
by such factors as: 

(a) The degree of risk of misstatement which may be affected by factors such as: 

(i) the nature of the item; 

(ii) the adequacy of internal control; 

(iii) the nature or size of the business carried on by the entity; 

(iv) situations which may exert an unusual influence on management; 

(v) the financial position of the entity. 

(b) The materiality of the item. 

(c) The experience gained during previous audits. 

(d) The results of auditing procedures, including fraud or error which may have been 
found. 

(e) The type of information available. 

(f) The trend indicated by accounting ratios and analysis. 

5. Obtaining audit evidence from compliance procedures is intended to reasonably assure 
the auditor in respect of the following assertions: 

Existence that the internal control exists. 

Effectiveness that the internal control is operating 
effectively. 

Continuity that the internal control has so operated 
throughout the period of intended reliance. 

6. Obtaining audit evidence from substantive procedures is intended to reasonably assure the 
auditor in respect of the following assertions: 
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Existence that an asset or a liability exists at a given 
date. 

Rights and 
Obligations 

that an asset is a right of the entity and a 
liability is an obligation of the entity at a 
given date. 

Occurrence that a transaction or event took place which 
pertains to the entity during the relevant 
period. 

Completeness that there are no unrecorded assets, 
liabilities or transactions. 

Valuation that an asset or liability is recorded at an 
appropriate carrying value. 

Measurement that a transaction is recorded in the proper 
amount and revenue or expense is 
allocated to the proper period. 

Presentation and 
Disclosure 

an item is disclosed, classified, and 
described in accordance with recognised 
accounting policies and practices and 
relevant statutory requirements, if any. 

The extent and nature of substantive procedures to be performed will vary with respect to 
each of the above assertions. 

Obtaining evidence relevant to one of the above assertions will not compensate for failure to 
do so with respect to another matter concerning the same item, e.g., existence of inventory 
and its valuation. 

7. The reliability of audit evidence depends on its source - internal or external, and on its 
nature - visual, documentary or oral. While the reliability of audit evidence is dependent on 
the circumstances under which it is obtained, the following generalisations may be useful in 
assessing the reliability of audit evidence: 

* External evidence (e.g. confirmation received from a third party) is usually more 
reliable than internal evidence. 

* Internal evidence is more reliable when related internal control is satisfactory. 

* Evidence in the form of documents and written representations is usually more 
reliable than oral representations. 

* Evidence obtained by the auditor himself is more reliable than that obtained 
through the entity. 

8. The auditor may gain increased assurance when audit evidence obtained from different 
sources or of different nature is consistent. In these circumstances, he may obtain a 
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cumulative degree of assurance higher than that which he attaches to the individual items of 
evidence by themselves. Conversely, when audit evidence obtained from one source is 
inconsistent with that obtained from another, further procedures may have to be performed 
to resolve the inconsistency. 

9. The auditor should be thorough in his efforts to obtain evidence and be objective in its 
evaluation. 

10. When the auditor is in reasonable doubt as to any assertion of material significance, he 
would attempt to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to remove such doubt. If he is 
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence he should not express an unqualified 
opinion. 

Obtaining Audit Evidence 

11. The auditor obtains evidence in performing compliance and substantive procedures by 
one or more of the following methods: 

* Inspection 

* Observation 

* Computation 

* Analytical review 

The timing of such procedures will be dependent, in part, upon the periods of time during 
which the audit evidence sought is available. 

Inspection 

12. Inspection consists of examining records, documents, or tangible assets. Inspection of 
records and documents provides evidence of varying degrees of reliability depending on 
their nature and source and the effectiveness of internal controls over their processing. Four 
major categories of documentary evidence, which provide different degrees of reliability to 
the auditor, are: 

* documentary evidence originating from and held by third parties; 

* documentary evidence originating from third parties and held by the entity; 

* documentary evidence originating from the entity and held by third parties; and 

* documentary evidence originating from and held by the entity. 

Inspection of tangible assets is one of the methods to obtain reliable evidence with respect to 
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their existence but not necessarily as to their ownership or value. 

Observation 

13. Observation consists of witnessing a process or procedure being performed by others. 
For example, the auditor may observe the counting of inventories by client personnel or the 
performance of internal control procedures that leave no audit trail. 

Inquiry and Confirmation 

14. Inquiry consists of seeking appropriate information from knowledgeable persons inside 
or outside the entity. Inquiries may range from formal written inquiries addressed to third 
parties to informal oral inquiries addressed to persons inside the entity. Responses to 
inquiries may provide the auditor with information which he did not previously possess or 
may provide him with corroborative evidence. 

15. Confirmation consists of the response to an inquiry to corroborate information contained 
in the accounting records. For example, the auditor requests confirmation of receivables by 
direct communication with debtors. 

Computation 

16. Computation consists of checking the arithmetical accuracy of source documents and 
accounting records or performing independent calculations. 

Analytical Review 

17. Analytical review consists of studying significant ratios and trends and investigating 
unusual fluctuations and items. 

Effective Date 

18. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 1989. 

______________________________ 
*Issued in May, 1988.  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 6 (REVISED)  

RISK ASSESSMENTS AND INTERNAL CONTROL 

The following is the text of the of the Revised Statement on Standard Auditing 
Practices (SAP) 6, on "Risk Assessments and Internal Control" issued by the Auditing 
Practices Committee of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This 
Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to 
establish standards on the procedures to be followed to obtain an 
understanding of the accounting and internal control systems and on audit risk 
and its components: inherent risk, control risk and detection risk. The 
principles laid down in the other SAPs, issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India, would be applicable, to the extent practicable, to this 
SAP also. In this Statement, the term 'financial information' encompasses 
'financial statements'. In some circumstances, specific legislations and 
regulations may require the auditor to undertake procedures additional to 
those set out in this SAP. 

2. The auditor should obtain an understanding of the accounting and 
internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an 
effective audit approach. The auditor should use professional 
judgement to assess audit risk and to design audit procedures to 
ensure that it is reduced to an acceptably low level. 

3. "Audit risk" means the risk that the auditor gives an inappropriate audit 
opinion when the financial statements are materially misstated. Audit risk has 
three components: inherent risk, control risk and detection risk. 

4. "Inherent risk" is the susceptibility of an account balance or class of 
transactions to misstatement that could be material, either individually or 
when aggregated with misstatements in other balances or classes, assuming 
that there were no related internal controls. 

5. "Control risk" is the risk that a misstatement, that could occur in an account 
balance or class of transactions and that could be material, either individually 
or when aggregated with misstatements in other balances or classes, will not 
be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis by the accounting 
and internal control systems. 

 

6. "Detection risk" is the risk that an auditor's substantive procedures will not 
detect a misstatement that exists in an account balance or class of 
transactions that could be material, either individually or when aggregated 
with misstatements in other balances or classes. 

7. "Accounting System" means the series of tasks and records of an entity by 
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which transactions are processed as a means of maintaining financial records. 
Such systems identify, assemble, analyse, calculate, classify, record, 
summarise and report transactions and other events. 

8. "Internal Control System" means all the policies and procedures (internal 
controls) adopted by the management of an entity to assist in achieving 
management's objective of ensuring, as far as practicable, the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to management policies, 
the safeguarding of assets, the prevention and detection of fraud and error, 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information. The internal audit function 
constitutes a separate component of internal control with the objective of 
determining whether other internal controls are well designed and properly 
operated. 

9. The system of internal control must be under continuing supervision by 
management to determine that it is functioning as prescribed and is modified, 
as appropriate, for changes in conditions. The internal control system extends 
beyond those matters which relate directly to the functions of the accounting 
system and comprises:  

a. "the control environment" which means the overall attitude, awareness 
and actions of directors and management regarding the internal control 
system and its importance in the entity. The control environment has 
an effect on the effectiveness of the specific control procedures and 
provides the background against which other controls are operated. A 
strong control environment, for example, one with tight budgetary 
controls and an effective internal audit function, can significantly 
complement specific control procedures. However, a strong control 
environment does not, by itself, ensure the effectiveness of the internal 
control system. Factors reflected in the control environment include: 
 
   

o The entity's organisational structure and methods of assigning 
authority and responsibility (including segregation of duties and 
supervisory functions). 
 
   

o The function of the board of directors and its committees in the 
case of a company or the corresponding governing body in case 
of any other entity. 
 
   

o Management's philosophy and operating style. 
 
   

o Management's control system including the internal audit 
function, personnel policies and procedures.  

b. "control procedures" which means those policies and procedures in 
addition to the control environment which management has established 
to achieve the entity's specific objectives. Specific control procedures 
include: 
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o Reporting and reviewing reconciliations. 
 
   

o Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the records.Controlling 
applications and environment of computer information 
environment systems, for example, by establishing controls 
over: 
 
   
§ changes to computer programs 

 
   

§ access to data files. 
 
   

o Maintaining and reviewing control accounts and related 
subsidiary ledgers. 
 
   

o Approving and controlling of documents. 
 
   

o Comparing internal data with external sources of information. 
 
   

o Comparing the results of physical verification of cash, fixed 
assets, investments and inventory with corresponding 
accounting records. 
 
   

o Restricting direct access to assets, records and information. 
 
   

o Comparing and analysing the financial results with corresponding 
budgeted figures.  

10. In the audit of financial statements, the auditor is concerned only with those 
policies and procedures within the accounting and internal control systems that 
are relevant to the assertions made in the financial statements. The 
understanding of relevant aspects of the accounting and internal control 
systems, together with the inherent and control risk assessments and other 
considerations, will enable the auditor to:  

a. assess the adequacy of the accounting system as a basis for preparing 
the financial statements; 
 
   

b. identify the types of potential material misstatements that could occur 
in the financial statements; 
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c. consider factors that affect the risk of material misstatements; and 
 
   

d. develop an appropriate audit plan and determine the nature, timing and 
extent of his audit procedures.  

11. When developing the audit approach, the auditor considers the preliminary 
assessment of control risk (in conjunction with the assessment of inherent 
risk) to determine the appropriate detection risk that may be accepted by the 
auditor for the assertions made in the financial statements and to determine 
the nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures for such assertions. 

Inherent Risk 

12. In developing the overall audit plan, the auditor should assess 
inherent risk at the level of financial statements. In developing the 
audit programme, the auditor should relate such assessment to 
material account balances and classes of transactions at the level of 
assertions made in the financial statements, or assume that inherent 
risk is high for the assertion, taking into account factors relevant both 
to the financial statements as a whole and to the specific assertions. 
When the auditor makes an assessment that the inherent risk is not 
high, he should document the reasons for such assessment. 

13. To assess inherent risk, the auditor would use professional judgement to 
evaluate numerous factors, having regard to his experience of the entity from 
previous audit engagements of the entity, any controls established by 
management to compensate for a high level of inherent risk, and his 
knowledge of any significant changes which might have taken place since his 
last assessment. Examples of such factors are: 
 
At the Level of Financial Statements 
 
  

• The integrity of the management. 
 
   

• Management's experience and knowledge and changes in management 
during the period, for example, the inexperience of management may 
affect the preparation of the financial statements of the entity. 
 
   

• Unusual pressures on management, for example, circumstances that 
might predispose management to misstate the financial statements, 
such as the industry experiencing a large number of business failures or 
an entity that lacks sufficient capital to continue operations. 
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• The nature of the entity's business, for example, the potential for 
technological obsolescence of its products and services, the complexity 
of its capital structure, the significance of related parties and the 
number of locations and geographical spread of its production facilities. 
 
   

• Factors affecting the industry in which the entity operates, for example, 
economic and competitive conditions as indicated by financial trends 
and ratios, and changes in technology, consumer demand and 
accounting practices common to the industry.  

At the Level of Account Balance and Class of Transactions  

• Quality of the accounting system. 
 
   

• Financial statements are likely to be susceptible to misstatement, for 
example, accounts which required adjustment in the prior period or 
which involve a high degree of estimation. 
 
   

• The complexity of underlying transactions and other events which might 
require using the work of an expert. 
 
   

• The degree of judgement involved in determining account balances. 
 
   

• Susceptibility of assets to loss or misappropriation, for example, assets 
which are highly desirable and movable such as cash. 
 
   

• The completion of unusual and complex transactions, particularly, at or 
near period end. 
 
   

• Transactions not subjected to ordinary processing. 
     

Accounting and Internal Control Systems 

14. Internal controls relating to the accounting system are concerned with 
achieving the following objectives :  

• Transactions are executed in accordance with management's general or 
specific authorisation. 
 
   

• All transactions and other events are promptly recorded in the correct 
amount, in the appropriate accounts and in the proper accounting 
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period so as to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable accounting standards, other recognised accounting 
policies and practices and relevant statutory requirements, if any, and 
to maintain accountability for assets. . 
 
   

• Assets and records are safeguarded from unauthorised access, use or 
disposition. 
 
   

• Recorded assets are compared with the existing assets at reasonable 
intervals and appropriate action is taken with regard to any differences.  

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls 

15. Accounting and internal control systems can provide only reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives stated above are achieved. This is 
because the internal control systems are subject to some inherent limitations, 
such as:  

• Management's consideration that the cost of an internal control does 
not exceed the expected benefits to be derived. 
 
   

• The fact that most internal controls do not tend to be directed at 
transactions of unusual nature. 
 
   

• The potential for human error, such as, due to carelessness, distraction, 
mistakes of judgement and the misunderstanding of instructions. 
 
   

• The possibility of circumvention of internal controls through the 
collusion with employees or with parties outside the entity. 
 
   

• The possibility that a person responsible for exercising an internal 
control could abuse that responsibility, for example, a member of 
management overriding an internal control. 
 
   

• The possibility that procedures may become inadequate due to changes 
in conditions and compliance with procedures may deteriorate. 
 
   

• Manipulations by management with respect to transactions or estimates 
and judgements required in the preparation of financial statements. 
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Understanding the Accounting and Internal Control Systems 

16. When obtaining an understanding of the accounting and internal control 
systems to plan the audit, the auditor obtains a knowledge of the design of the 
accounting and internal control systems, and their operation. For example, an 
auditor may perform a "walk-through" test, that is, tracing a few transactions 
through the accounting system. When the transactions selected are typical of 
those transactions that pass through the system, this procedure may be 
treated as part of the tests of control. The nature and extent of walk-through 
tests performed by the auditor are such that they alone would not provide 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support a control risk assessment 
which is less than high. 

17. The nature, timing and extent of the procedures performed by the auditor to 
obtain an understanding of the accounting and internal control systems will 
vary with, among other things:  

The size and complexity of the entity and of its information system. 
 
  

Materiality considerations. 
 
  

The type of internal controls involved. 
 
  

The nature of the entity's documentation of specific internal controls. 
 
  

The auditor's assessment of inherent risk. 

18. Ordinarily, the auditor's understanding of the accounting and internal control 
systems significant to the audit is obtained through previous experience with 
the entity and is supplemented by:  

a. inquiries of appropriate management, supervisory and other personnel 
at various organisational levels within the entity, together with 
reference to documentation, such as procedures manuals, job 
descriptions, systems descriptions and flow charts; 
 
   

b. inspection of documents and records produced by the accounting and 
internal control systems; and 
 
   

c. observation of the entity's activities and operations, including 
observation of the organisation of computer operations, personnel 
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performing control procedures and the nature of transaction processing.  

Accounting System 

19. The auditor should obtain an understanding of the accounting system 
sufficient to identify and understand:  

a. major classes of transactions in the entity's operations; 
 
   

b. how such transactions are initiated; 
 
   

c. significant accounting records, supporting documents and 
specific accounts in the financial statements; and 
 
   

d. the accounting and financial reporting process, from the 
initiation of significant transactions and other events to their 
inclusion in the financial statements.  

Control Environment 

20. The auditor should obtain an understanding of the control environment 
sufficient to assess management's attitudes, awareness and actions 
regarding internal controls and their importance in the entity. Such an 
understanding would also help the auditor to make a preliminary assessment 
of the adequacy of the accounting and internal control systems as a basis for 
the preparation of the financial statements, and of the likely nature, timing and 
extent of audit procedures. 

21. The auditor should obtain an understanding of the control procedures 
sufficient to develop the audit plan. In obtaining this understanding, the 
auditor would consider knowledge about the presence or absence of control 
procedures obtained from the understanding of the control environment and 
accounting system in determining whether any additional understanding of 
control procedures is necessary. Because control procedures are integrated 
with the control environment and the accounting system, as the auditor 
obtains an understanding of the control environment and the accounting 
system, some knowledge about control procedures is also likely to be obtained, 
for example, in obtaining an understanding of the accounting system 
pertaining to cash, the auditor ordinarily becomes aware of whether bank 
accounts are reconciled regularly. Ordinarily, development of the overall audit 
plan does not require an understanding of control procedures for every 
financial statement assertion in each account balance and transaction class. 

Control Risk 

22. After obtaining an understanding of the accounting system and 
internal control system, the auditor should make a preliminary 
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assessment of control risk, at the assertion level, for each material 
account balance or class of transactions. 

Preliminary Assessment of Control Risk 

23. The preliminary assessment of control risk is the process of evaluating the 
likely effectiveness of an entity's accounting and internal control systems in 
preventing or detecting and correcting material misstatements. The 
preliminary assessment of control risk is based on the assumption that the 
controls operate generally as described and that they operate effectively 
throughout the period of intended reliance. There will always be some control 
risk because of the inherent limitations of any accounting and internal control 
system. 

24. The auditor ordinarily assesses control risk at a high level for some or all 
assertions when:  

a. the entity's accounting and internal control systems are not effective; or 
 
   

b. evaluating the effectiveness of the entity's accounting and internal 
control systems would not be efficient.  

In the above circumstances, the auditor would obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence from substantive procedures and from any audit work carried 
out in the preparation of financial statements. 

25. The preliminary assessment of control risk for a financial statement 
assertion should be high unless the auditor:  

a. is able to identify internal controls relevant to the assertion 
which are likely to prevent or detect and correct a material 
misstatement; and 
 
   

b. plans to perform tests of control to support the assessment.  

Documentation of Understanding and Assessment of Control Risk 

26. The auditor should document in the audit working papers:  

a. the understanding obtained of the entity's accounting and 
internal control systems; and 
 
   

b. the assessment of control risk.  

When control risk is assessed at less than high, the auditor would also 
document the basis for the conclusions. 

27. Different techniques may be used to document information relating to 
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accounting and internal control systems. Selection of a particular technique is a 
matter for the auditor's judgement. Common techniques, used alone or in 
combination, are narrative descriptions, questionnaires, check lists and flow 
charts. The form and extent of this documentation is influenced by the size and 
complexity of the entity and the nature of the entity's accounting and internal 
control systems. Generally, the more complex the entity's accounting and 
internal control systems and the more extensive the auditor's procedures, the 
more extensive the auditor's documentation will need to be. 

Tests of Control 

28. Tests of control are performed to obtain audit evidence about the effectiveness 
of the:  

a. design of the accounting and internal control systems, that is, whether 
they are suitably designed to prevent or detect and correct material 
misstatements; and 
 
   

b. operation of the internal controls throughout the period.  

Tests of control include tests of elements of the control environment where 
strengths in the control environment are used by auditors to reduce control 
risk. 

29. Some of the procedures performed to obtain the understanding of the 
accounting and internal control systems may not have been specifically 
planned as tests of control but may provide audit evidence about the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of internal controls relevant to 
certain assertions and, consequently, serve as tests of control. For example, in 
obtaining the understanding of the accounting and internal control systems 
pertaining to cash, the auditor may have obtained audit evidence about the 
effectiveness of the bank reconciliation process through inquiry and 
observation. 

30. When the auditor concludes that procedures performed to obtain the 
understanding of the accounting and internal control systems also provide 
audit evidence about the suitability of design and operating effectiveness of 
policies and procedures relevant to a particular financial statement assertion, 
the auditor may use that audit evidence, provided it is sufficient to support a 
control risk assessment at less than a high level. 

31. Tests of control may include:  

Inspection of documents supporting transactions and other events to 
gain audit evidence that internal controls have operated properly, for 
example, verifying that a transaction has been authorised. 
 
  

Inquiries about, and observation of, internal controls which leave no 
audit trail, for example, determining who actually performs each 
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function and not merely who is supposed to perform it. 
 
  

Re-performance of internal controls, for example, reconciliation of bank 
accounts, to ensure they were correctly performed by the entity. 
 
  

Testing of internal control operating on specific computerised 
applications or over the overall information technology function, for 
example, access or program change controls. 

32. The auditor should obtain audit evidence through tests of control to 
support any assessment of control risk which is less than high. The 
lower the assessment of control risk, the more evidence the auditor 
should obtain that accounting and internal control systems are 
suitably designed and operating effectively. 

33. When obtaining audit evidence about the effective operation of internal 
controls, the auditor considers how they were applied, the consistency with 
which they were applied during the period and by whom they were applied. 
The concept of effective operation recognises that some deviations may have 
occurred. Deviations from prescribed controls may be caused by such factors 
as changes in key personnel, significant seasonal fluctuations in volume of 
transactions and human error. When deviations are detected the auditor 
makes specific inquiries regarding these matters, particularly, the timing of 
staff changes in key internal control functions. The auditor then ensures that 
the tests of control appropriately cover such a period of change or fluctuation. 

34. In a computer information systems environment, the objectives of tests of 
control do not change from those in a manual environment; however, some 
audit procedures may change. The auditor may find it necessary, or may 
prefer, to use computer-assisted audit techniques. The use of such techniques, 
for example, file interrogation tools or audit test data, may be appropriate 
when the accounting and internal control systems provide no visible evidence 
documenting the performance of internal controls which are programmed into 
a computerised accounting system. 

35. Based on the results of the tests of control, the auditor should 
evaluate whether the internal controls are designed and operating as 
contemplated in the preliminary assessment of control risk. The 
evaluation of deviations may result in the auditor concluding that the assessed 
level of control risk needs to be revised. In such cases, the auditor would 
modify the nature, timing and extent of planned substantive procedures. 

Quality and Timeliness of Audit Evidence 

36. Certain types of audit evidence obtained by the auditor are more reliable than 
others. Ordinarily, the auditor's observation provides more reliable audit 
evidence than merely making inquiries, for example, the auditor might obtain 
audit evidence about the proper segregation of duties by observing the 
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individual who applies a control procedure or by making inquiries of 
appropriate personnel. However, audit evidence obtained by some tests of 
control, such as observation, pertains only to the point in time at which the 
procedure was applied. The auditor may decide, therefore, to supplement 
these procedures with other tests of control capable of providing audit 
evidence about other periods of time. 

37. In determining the appropriate audit evidence to support a conclusion about 
control risk, the auditor may consider the audit evidence obtained in prior 
audits. In a continuing engagement, the auditor will be aware of the 
accounting and internal control systems through work carried out previously 
but will need to update the knowledge gained and consider the need to obtain 
further audit evidence of any changes in control. Before relying on 
procedures performed in prior audits, the auditor should obtain audit 
evidence which supports this reliance. The auditor would obtain audit 
evidence as to the nature, timing and extent of any changes in the entity's 
accounting and internal control systems since such procedures were performed 
and assess their impact on the auditor's intended reliance. The longer the time 
elapsed since the performance of such procedures the less assurance that may 
result. 

38. The auditor should consider whether the internal controls were in use 
throughout the period. If substantially different controls were used at 
different times during the period, the auditor would consider each separately. 
A breakdown in internal controls for a specific portion of the period requires 
separate consideration of the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures 
to be applied to the transactions and other events of that period. 

39. The auditor may decide to perform some tests of control during an interim visit 
in advance of the period end. However, the auditor cannot rely on the results 
of such tests without considering the need to obtain further audit evidence 
relating to the remainder of the period. Factors to be considered include:  

• The results of the interim tests.  
• The length of the remaining period.  
• Whether any changes have occurred in the accounting and internal 

control systems during the remaining period.  
• The nature and amount of the transactions and other events and the 

balances involved.  
• The control environment, especially supervisory controls.  
• The nature, timing and extent of substantive procedures which the 

auditor plans to carry out.  

Final Assessment of Control Risk 

40. Before the conclusion of the audit, based on the results of substantive 
procedures and other audit evidence obtained by the auditor, the 
auditor should consider whether the assessment of control risk is 
confirmed. In case of deviations from the prescribed accounting and 
internal control systems, the auditor would make specific inquiries to 
consider their implications. Where, on the basis of such inquiries, the 
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auditor concludes that the deviations are such that the preliminary 
assessment of control risk is not supported, he would amend the same 
unless the audit evidence obtained from other tests of control supports 
that assessment. Where the auditor concludes that the assessed level 
of control risk needs to be revised, he would modify the nature, timing 
and extent of his planned substantive procedures. 

Relationship between the Assessments of Inherent and Control Risks 

41. Management often reacts to inherent risk situations by designing accounting 
and internal control systems to prevent or detect and correct misstatements 
and therefore, in many cases, inherent risk and control risk are highly 
interrelated. In such situations, if the auditor attempts to assess inherent and 
control risks separately, there is a possibility of inappropriate risk assessment. 
As a result, audit risk may be more appropriately determined in such situations 
by making a combined assessment. 

Detection Risk 

42. The level of detection risk relates directly to the auditor's substantive 
procedures. The auditor's control risk assessment, together with the inherent 
risk assessment, influences the nature, timing and extent of substantive 
procedures to be performed to reduce detection risk, and therefore audit risk, 
to an acceptably low level. Some detection risk would always be present even 
if an auditor were to examine 100 percent of the account balances or class of 
transactions because, for example, most audit evidence is persuasive rather 
than conclusive. 

43. The auditor should consider the assessed levels of inherent and control 
risks in determining the nature, timing and extent of substantive 
procedures required to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level. In 
this regard the auditor would consider:  

a. the nature of substantive procedures, for example, using tests directed 
toward independent parties outside the entity rather than tests directed 
toward parties or documentation within the entity, or using tests of 
details for a particular audit objective in addition to analytical 
procedures; 
 
   

b. the timing of substantive procedures, for example, performing them at 
period end rather than at an earlier date; and 
 
   

c. the extent of substantive procedures, for example, using a larger 
sample size.  

44. There is an inverse relationship between detection risk and the combined level 
of inherent and control risks. For example, when inherent and control risks are 
high, acceptable detection risk needs to be low to reduce audit risk to an 
acceptably low level. On the other hand, when inherent and control risks are 
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low, an auditor can accept a higher detection risk and still reduce audit risk to 
an acceptably low level. Refer to the Appendix to this SAP for an illustration of 
the interrelationship of the components of audit risk. 

45. While tests of control and substantive procedures are distinguishable as to 
their purpose, the results of either type of procedure may contribute to the 
purpose of the other. Misstatements discovered in conducting substantive 
procedures may cause the auditor to modify the previous assessment of 
control risk. Refer to the Appendix to this SAP for an illustration of the 
interrelationship of the components of audit risk. 

46. The assessed levels of inherent and control risks cannot be sufficiently low to 
eliminate the need for the auditor to perform any substantive procedures. 
Regardless of the assessed levels of inherent and control risks, the 
auditor should perform some substantive procedures for material 
account balances and classes of transactions. 

47. The auditor's assessment of the components of audit risk may change during 
the course of an audit, for example, information may come to the auditor's 
attention when performing substantive procedures that differs significantly 
from the information on which the auditor originally assessed inherent and 
control risks. In such cases, the auditor would modify the planned substantive 
procedures based on a revision of the assessed levels of inherent and control 
risks. 

48. The higher the assessment of inherent and control risks, the more 
audit evidence the auditor should obtain from the performance of 
substantive procedures. When both inherent and control risks are assessed 
as high, the auditor needs to consider whether substantive procedures can 
provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence to reduce detection risk, and 
therefore audit risk, to an acceptably low level. When the auditor 
determines that detection risk regarding a financial statement 
assertion for a material account balance or class of transactions 
cannot be reduced to an acceptable level, the auditor should express a 
qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion as may be appropriate. 

Audit Risk in the Small Business 

49. The auditor needs to obtain the same level of assurance in order to express an 
unqualified opinion on the financial statements of both small and large entities. 
However, many internal controls which would be relevant to large entities are 
not practical in the small business. For example, in small businesses, 
accounting procedures may be performed by a few persons who may have 
both operating and custodial responsibilities, and therefore segregation of 
duties may be missing or severely limited. Inadequate segregation of duties 
may, in some cases, be offset by a strong management control system in 
which owner/manager supervisory controls exist because of direct personal 
knowledge of the entity and involvement in transactions. In circumstances 
where segregation of duties is limited and audit evidence of supervisory 
controls is lacking, the audit evidence necessary to support the auditor's 
opinion on the financial statements may have to be obtained entirely through 
the performance of substantive procedures. 
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Communication of Weaknesses 

50. As a result of obtaining an understanding of the accounting and internal control 
systems and tests of control, the auditor may become aware of weaknesses in 
the systems. The auditor should make management aware, as soon as 
practical and at an appropriate level of responsibility, of material 
weaknesses in the design or operation of the accounting and internal 
control systems, which have come to the auditor's attention. The 
communication to management of material weaknesses would ordinarily be in 
writing. However, if the auditor judges that oral communication is appropriate, 
such communication would be documented in the audit working papers. It is 
important to indicate in the communication that only weaknesses which have 
come to the auditor's attention as a result of the audit have been reported and 
that the examination has not been designed to determine the adequacy of 
internal control for management purposes. 

51. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits 
related to accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2002. 

Appendix 

Illustration of the Interrelationship of the Components of Audit Risk 

The following table shows how the acceptable level of detection risk may vary based 
on assessments of inherent and control risks. 

    Auditor's assessment of control risk is: 

    High Medium Low 

High Lowest Lower Medium 

Medium Lower Medium Higher 

Auditor's assessment 
of inherent risk 

Low Medium Higher Highest 

The shaded areas in this table relate to detection risk. 
 
There is an inverse relationship between detection risk and the combined level of inherent 
and control risks. For example, when inherent and control risks are high, acceptable levels 
of detection risk need to be low to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level. On the other 
hand, when inherent and control risks are low, an auditor can accept a higher detection risk 
and still reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 7  

Relying Upon the Work of an Internal Auditor 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 7, "Relying upon the Work of 
an Internal Auditor", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The Statement 
should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the 
Institute. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices supersedes the Guidance Note on "Co-ordination 
between the Internal Auditor and Statutory Auditors" issued by the Institute in 1979. 

Introduction 

1. Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 6, "Study and Evaluation of the Accounting System and 
Related Internal Controls in Connection with an Audit", states (paragraph 5): 

"The system of internal control is the plan of organisation and all the methods and procedures adopted 
by the management of an entity to assist in achieving management's objective of ensuring, as far as 
practicable, the orderly and efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to management 
policies, the safeguarding of assets, prevention and detection of fraud and error, the accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information. 
The system of internal control extends beyond those matters which relate directly to the functions of 
the accounting system. The internal audit function constitutes a separate component of internal control 
established with the objective of determining whether other internal controls are well designed and 
properly operated." 

2. The purpose of this Statement is to provide guidance as to the procedures which should be applied by the 
external auditor in assessing the work of the internal auditor for the purpose of placing reliance upon that work. 

3. With the introduction of the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 1988, internal 
audit function has acquired special significance as the statutory auditor is required to state, in relation to a 
company having a paid-up capital exceeding Rs. 25 lakhs or having an average annual turnover exceeding Rs. 2 
crore for a period of three consecutive financial years immediately preceding the financial year concerned to 
which the Order applies, whether the internal audit system is commensurate with the size and nature of its 
business.1 

______________________________ 

1 Reference may be made to the Institute's Statement on Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order for a study of various factors 
to be considered by the auditor in evaluating the adequacy of the internal audit system for the purposes of reporting under the Order.  

 Accounting System and Internal Control 

4. In this Statement, "financial information" encompasses financial statements. 

5. While the external auditor has sole responsibility for his report and for the determination of the nature, timing 
and extent of the auditing procedures, much of the work of the internal audit function may be useful to him in 
his examination of the financial information. 

Scope and Objectives of the Internal Audit Function 

6. The scope and objectives of internal audit vary widely and are dependent upon the size and structure of the 
entity and the requirements of its management. 
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Normally, however, internal audit operates in one or more of the following areas: 

(a) Review of accounting system and related internal controls: The establishment of an adequate 
accounting system and the related controls is the responsibility of management which demands proper 
attention on a continuous basis. The internal audit function is often assigned specific responsibility by 
management for reviewing the accounting system and related internal controls, monitoring their 
operation and recommending improvements thereto. 

(b) Examination for management of financial and operating information: This may include review of 
the means used to identify, measure, classify and report such information and specific inquiry into 
individual items including detailed testing of transactions, balances and procedures. 

(c) Examination of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of operations including non-financial 
controls of an organisation: Generally, the external auditor is interested in the results of such audit 
work only when it has an important bearing on the reliability of the financial records. 

(d) Physical examination and verification: This would generally include examination and verification 
of physical existence and condition of the tangible assets of the entity. 

Relationship between Internal and External Auditors 

7. The role of the internal audit function within an entity is determined by management and its prime objective 
differs from that of the external auditor who is appointed to report independently on financial information. 
Nevertheless, some of the means of achieving their respective objectives are often similar and thus much of the 
work of the internal auditor may be useful to the external auditor in determining the nature, timing and extent of 
his procedures. 

8. The external auditor should, as part of his audit, evaluate the internal audit function to the extent he considers 
that it will be relevant in determining the nature, timing and extent of his compliance and substantive 
procedures. Depending upon such evaluation, the external auditor may be able to adopt less extensive 
procedures than would otherwise be required. 

Inherent Limitations of Internal Control 

9. By its very nature, the internal audit function cannot be expected to have the same degree of independence as 
is essential when the external auditor expresses his opinion on the financial information. The report of the 
external auditor is his sole responsibility, and that responsibility is not by any means reduced because of the 
reliance he places on the internal auditor's work. 

General Evaluation of Internal Audit Function 

10. The external auditor's general evaluation of the internal audit function will assist him in determining the 
extent to which he can place reliance upon the work of the internal auditor. The external auditor should 
document his evaluation and conclusions in this respect. The important aspects to be considered in this context 
are : 

(a) Organisational Status. Whether internal audit is undertaken by an outside agency or by an internal 
audit department within the entity itself, the internal auditor reports to the management. In an ideal 
situation he reports to the highest level of management and is free of any other operating 
responsibility. Any constraints or restrictions placed upon his work by management should be carefully 
evaluated. In particular, the internal auditor should be free to communicate fully with the external 
auditor. 
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(b) Scope of Function. The external auditor should ascertain the nature and depth of coverage of the 
assignment which the internal auditor discharges for management. He should also ascertain to what 
extent the management considers, and where appropriate, acts upon internal audit recommendations. 

(c) Technical Competence. The external auditor should ascertain that internal audit work is performed 
by persons having adequate technical training and proficiency. This may be accomplished by 
reviewing the experience and professional qualifications of the persons undertaking the internal audit 
work. 

(d) Due Professional Care. The external auditor should ascertain whether internal audit work appears 
to be properly planned, supervised, reviewed and documented. An example of the exercise of due 
professional care by the internal auditor is the existence of adequate audit manuals, audit programmes, 
and working papers. 

Coordination 

11. Having decided in principle that he intends to rely upon the work of the internal auditor, it is desirable that 
the external auditor ascertains the internal auditor's tentative plan for the year and discusses it with him at as 
early a stage as possible to determine areas where he considers that he could rely upon the internal auditor's 
work. Where internal audit work is to be a factor in determining the nature, timing and extent of the external 
auditor's procedures, it is desirable to plan in advance the timing of such work, the extent of audit coverage, test 
levels and proposed methods of sample selection, documentation of the work performed, and review and 
reporting procedures. 

12. Coordination with the internal auditor is usually more effective when meetings are held at appropriate 
intervals during the year. It is desirable that the external auditor is advised of, and has access to, relevant 
internal audit reports and in addition is kept informed, along with management, of any significant matter that 
comes to the internal auditor's attention and which he believes may affect the work of the external auditor. 
Similarly, the external auditor should ordinarily inform the internal auditor of any significant matters which 
may affect his work. 

Evaluating Specific Internal Audit Work 

13. Where, following the general evaluation described in paragraph 10, the external auditor intends to rely upon 
specific internal audit work as a basis for modifying the nature, timing and extent of his procedures, he should 
review the internal auditor's work, taking into account the following factors : 

(a) The scope of work and related audit programmes are adequate for the external auditor's purpose. 

(b) The work was properly planned and the work of assistants was properly supervised, reviewed, and 
documented. 

(c) Sufficient appropriate evidence was obtained to afford a reasonable basis for the conclusions 
reached. 

(d) Conclusions reached are appropriate in the circumstances and any reports prepared are consistent 
with the results of the work performe 

(e) Any exceptions or unusual matters disclosed by the internal auditor's procedures have been 
properly resolved. 

The external auditor should document his conclusions in respect of the specific work which he has reviewed. 
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14. The external auditor should also test the work of the internal auditor on which he intends to rely. The nature, 
timing and extent of the external auditor's tests will depend upon his judgement as to the materiality of the area 
concerned to the financial statements taken as a whole and the results of his evaluation of the internal audit 
function and of the specific internal audit work. His tests may include examination of items already examined 
by the internal auditor, examination of other similar items, and observation of the internal auditor's procedures. 

Effective Date 

15. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating to accounting 
periods beginning on or after April 1, 1989. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 8 

Audit Planning 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 8, "Audit Planning", issued by 
the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The Statement should be read in conjunction 
with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. Statement on Standard Auditing Practices 1, "Basic Principles Governing an Audit", states (paragraphs 12-
14): 

"The auditor should plan his work to enable him to conduct an effective audit in an efficient and timely 
manner. Plans should be based on a knowledge of the client's business. 

Plans should be made to cover, among other things : 

(a) acquiring knowledge of the client's accounting systems, policies and internal control procedures; 

(b) establishing the expected degree of reliance to be placed on internal control; 

(c) determining and programming the nature, timing, and extent of the audit procedures to be 
performed; and 

(d) coordinating the work to be performed. 

Plans should be further developed and revised as necessary during the course of the audit." 

The purpose of this Statement is to amplify the basic principle outlined above. 

2. This Statement applies to the planning process of the audit of both financial statements and other financial 
information. The Statement is framed in the context of recurring audits. In a first audit the auditor may need to 
extend his planning process beyond the matters discussed herein. 

3. Planning should be continuous throughout the engagement and involves: 

* developing an overall plan for the expected scope and conduct of the audit; and 

* developing an audit programme showing the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures. 

Changes in conditions or unexpected results of audit procedures may cause revisions of the overall plan and of 
the audit programme. The reasons for significant changes may be documented. 

4. Adequate audit planning helps to : 

* ensure that appropriate attention is devoted to important areas of the audit; 

* ensure that potential problems are promptly identified; 

* ensure that the work is completed expeditiously; 
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* utilise the assistants properly; and 

* co-ordinate the work done by other auditors and experts. 

5. In planning his audit, the auditor will consider factors such as complexity of the audit, the environment in 
which the entity operates, his previous experience with the client and knowledge of the client's business. 

6. The auditor may wish to discuss elements of his overall plan and certain audit procedures with the client to 
improve the efficiency of the audit and to coordinate audit procedures with work of the client's personnel. The 
overall audit plan and the audit programme, however, remain the auditor's responsibility. 

Knowledge of the Client's Business 

Normally, however, internal audit operates in one or more of the following areas: 

7. The auditor needs to obtain a level of knowledge of the client's business that will enable him to identify the 
events, transactions and practices that, in his judgement, may have a significant effect on the financial 
information. Among other things, the auditor can obtain such knowledge from: 

* The client's annual reports to shareholders. 

* Minutes of meetings of shareholders, board of directors and important committees. 

* Internal financial management reports for current and previous periods, including budgets, if any. 

* The previous year's audit working papers, and other relevant files. 

* Firm personnel responsible for non-audit services to the client who may be able to provide 
information on matters that may affect the audit. 

* Discussions with client. 

* The client's policy and procedures manual. 

* Relevant publications of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and other professional 
bodies, industry publications, trade journals, magazines, newspapers or text books. 

* Consideration of the state of the economy and its effect on the client's business. 

* Visits to the client's premises and plant facilities. 

8. With respect to the previous year's audit working papers and other relevant files, the auditor should pay 
particular attention to matters that required special consideration and decide whether they might affect the work 
to be done in the current year. 

9. Discussions with the client might include such subjects as: 

* Changes in management, organisational structure, and activities of the client. 

* Current Government legislation, rules, regulations and directives affecting the client. 
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* Current business developments affecting the client. 

* Current or impending financial difficulties or accounting problems. 

* Existence of parties in whom directors or persons who are substantial owners of the entity are 
interested and with whom transactions are likely. 

* New or closed premises and plant facilities. 

* Recent or impending changes in technology, type of products or services and production or 
distribution methods. 

* Significant matters arising from previous year's financial statements, audit report and management 
letters, if any. 

* Changes in the accounting practices and procedures and in the system of internal control. 

* Scope and timing of the examination. 

* Assistance of client personnel in data preparation. 

* Relevance of any work to be carried out by the client's internal auditors. 

10. In addition to the importance of knowledge of the client's business in establishing the overall audit plan, 
such knowledge helps the auditor to identify areas of special audit consideration, to evaluate the reasonableness 
both of accounting estimates and management representations, and to make judgements regarding the 
appropriateness of accounting policies and disclosures. 

Development of an Overall Plan 

11. The auditor should consider the following matters in developing his overall plan for the expected scope and 
conduct of the audit: 

* The terms of his engagement and any statutory responsibilities. 

* The nature and timing of reports or other communication. 

* The applicable legal or statutory requirements. 

* The accounting policies adopted by the client and changes in those policies. 

* The effect of new accounting or auditing pronouncements on the audit. 

* The identification of significant audit areas. 

* The setting of materiality levels for audit purposes. 

* Conditions requiring special attention, such as the possibility of material error or fraud or the 
involvement of parties in whom directors or persons who are substantial owners of the entity are 
interested and with whom transactions are likely. 
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* The degree of reliance he expects to be able to place on accounting system and internal control. 

* Possible rotation of emphasis on specific audit areas. 

* The nature and extent of audit evidence to be obtained. 

* The work of internal auditors and the extent of their involvement, if any, in the audit. 

* The involvement of other auditors in the audit of subsidiaries or branches of the client. 

* The involvement of experts. 

* The allocation of work to be undertaken between joint auditors and the procedures for its control and 
review. 

* Establishing and coordinating staffing requirements. 

12. The auditor should document his overall plan. The form and extent of the documentation will vary 
depending on the size and complexity of the audit. A time budget, in which hours are budgeted for the various 
audit areas or procedures, can be an effective planning too 

Developing the Audit Programme 

13. The auditor should prepare a written audit programme setting forth the procedures that are needed to 
implement the audit plan. The programme may also contain the audit objectives for each area and should have 
sufficient details to serve as a set of instructions to the assistants involved in the audit and as a means to control 
the proper execution of the work. 

14. In preparing the audit programme, the auditor, having an understanding of the accounting system and 
related internal controls, may wish to rely on certain internal controls in determining the nature, timing and 
extent of required auditing procedures. The auditor may conclude that relying on certain internal controls is an 
effective and efficient way to conduct his audit. However, the auditor may decide not to rely on internal controls 
when there are other more efficient ways of obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence. The auditor should 
also consider the timing of the procedures, the coordination of any assistance expected from the client, the 
availability of assistants, and the involvement of other auditors or experts. 

15. The auditor normally has flexibility in deciding when to perform audit procedures. However, in some cases, 
the auditor may have no discretion as to timing, for example, when observing the taking of inventories by client 
personnel or verifying the securities and cash balances at the year-end. 

16. The audit planning ideally commences at the conclusion of the previous year's audit, and along with the 
related programme, it should be reconsidered for modification as the audit progresses. Such consideration is 
based on the auditor's review of the internal control, his preliminary evaluation thereof, and the results of his 
compliance and substantive procedures. 

Effective Date 

17. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative in respect of all audits relating to 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1.4.1989. 
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   Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 9 

Using the Work of an Expert 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 9, "Using 
the Work of an Expert", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. The Statement should be read in conjunction with the 'Preface to the Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices' issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 1, Basic Principles Governing an Audit, 
states (paragraphs 9-10): 

"When the auditor delegates work to assistants, or uses work performed by other 
auditors and experts, he will continue to be responsible for forming and expressing 
his opinion on the financial information. However, he will be entitled to rely on 
work performed by others, provided he exercises adequate skill and care and is not 
aware of any reason to believe that he should not have so relied. In the case of any 
independent statutory appointment to perform the work on which the auditor has to 
rely in forming his opinion, such as in the case of the work of branch auditors 
appointed under the Companies Act, 1956 the auditor's report should expressly state 
the fact of such reliance. 

"The auditor should carefully direct, supervise and review work delegated to 
assistants. The auditor should obtain reasonable assurance that work performed by 
other auditors or experts is adequate for his purpose." 

(This Statement discusses the auditor's responsibility in relation to, and the 
procedures the auditor should consider in, using the work of an expert as audit 
evidence.1 In this Statement, the term 'financial information' encompasses financial 
statements. 

2. The auditor's education and experience enable him to be knowledgeable about business 
matters in general, but he is not expected to have the expertise of a person trained for, or 
qualified to engage in, the practice of another profession or occupation, such as an actuary 
or engineer. 

______________________________  

1A subsequent Statement will deal with the auditor's responsibility in relation to, and the 
procedures the auditor should consider in, using the work of another auditor as audit 
evidence.  
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3. An expert (or a specialist), for the purpose of this Statement, is a person, firm or other 
association of persons possessing special skill, knowledge and experience in a particular 
field other than accounting and auditing. An 'expert' may be: 

* engaged by the client, 

* engaged by the auditor, 

* employed by the client, or 

* employed by the auditor. 

4. When the auditor uses the work of an expert employed by him, he is using that work in 
the employee's capacity as an expert rather than delegating the work to an assistant on the 
audit. Accordingly, in such circumstances, he should apply relevant procedures described in 
this Statement in satisfying himself as to his employee's work and findings. 

Determining the Need to Use the Work of an Expert 

5. During the audit the auditor may seek to obtain, in conjunction with the client or 
independently, audit evidence in the form of reports, opinions, valuations and statements of 
an expert. Examples are: 

* Valuations of certain types of assets, for example, land and buildings, plant and 
machinery, works of art, and precious stones. 

* Determination of quantities or physical condition of assets, for example, minerals 
stored in stockpiles, mineral and petroleum reserves, and the remaining useful life of 
plant and machinery. 

* Determination of amounts using specialised techniques or methods, for example, 
an actuarial valuation. 

* The measurement of work completed and to be completed on contracts in progress 
for the purpose of revenue recognition. 

* Legal opinions concerning interpretations of agreements, statutes, regulations, 
notifications, circulars, etc. 

6. When determining whether to use the work of an expert or not, the auditor should 
consider: 

* the materiality of the item being examined in relation to the financial information 
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as a whole, 

* the nature and complexity of the item including the risk of error therein, and 

* the other audit evidence available with respect to the item. 

Skills and Competence of the Expert 

7. When the auditor plans to use the expert's work as audit evidence, he should satisfy 
himself as to the expert's skills and competence by considering the expert's : 

* professional qualifications, licence or membership in an appropriate professional 
body, and 

* experience and reputation in the field in which the evidence is sought. 

However, when the auditor uses the work of an expert employed by him, he will not need to 
inquire into his skills and competence. 

Objectivity of the Expert 

8. The auditor should also consider the objectivity of the expert. The risk that an expert's 
objectivity will be impaired increases when the expert is: 

* employed by the client, or 

* related in some other manner to the client. 

Accordingly, in these circumstances, the auditor should (after taking into account 
the factors in paragraphs 6 and 7) consider performing more extensive procedures 
than would otherwise have been planned, or he might consider engaging another 
expert. 

Evaluating the Work of an Expert 

9. When the auditor intends to use the work of an expert, he should examine evidence to 
gain knowledge regarding the terms of the expert's engagement and such other matters as : 

* the objectives and scope of the expert's work, 

* a general outline as to the specific items in the expert's report, 

* confidentiality of the expert's work, including the possibility of its communication 
to third parties, 
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* the expert's relationship with the client, if any, 

* confidentiality of the client's information used by the expert. 

10. The auditor should seek reasonable assurance that the expert's work constitutes 
appropriate audit evidence in support of the financial information, by considering:- 

* the source data used, 

* the assumptions and methods used and, if appropriate, their consistency with the 
prior period, and 

* the results of the expert's work in the light of the auditor's overall knowledge of 
the business and of the results of his audit procedures. 

* The auditor should also satisfy himself that the substance of the expert's findings 
is properly reflected in the financial information. 

11. The auditor should consider whether the expert has used source data which are 
appropriate in the circumstances. The procedures to be applied by the auditor should inclu 

* making inquiries of the expert to determine how he has satisfied himself that the 
source data are sufficient, relevant and reliable, and 

* conducting audit procedures on the data provided by the client to the expert to 
obtain reasonable assurance that the data are appropriate. 

12. The appropriateness and reasonableness of assumptions and methods used and their 
application are the responsibility of the expert. The auditor does not have the same 
expertise and, therefore, cannot always challenge the expert's assumptions and methods. 
However, the auditor should obtain an understanding of those assumptions and methods to 
determine that they are reasonable based on the auditor's knowledge of the client's business 
and on the results of his audit procedures. 

13. Normally, completion of the above procedures will provide the auditor with reasonable 
assurance that he has obtained appropriate audit evidence in support of the financial 
information. In exceptional cases where the work of an expert does not support the related 
representations in the financial information, the auditor should attempt to resolve the 
inconsistency by discussions with the client and the expert. Applying additional procedures, 
including possibly engaging another expert, may also assist the auditor in resolving the 
inconsistency. 

14. If, after performing these procedures, the auditor concludes that: 

* the work of the expert is inconsistent with the information in the financial 
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statements, or that 

* the work of the expert does not constitute sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
(e.g., where the work of the expert involves highly technical matters or where, on 
grounds of confidentiality, the expert refuses to make available to the auditor the 
source data used by him), 

he should express a qualified opinion, a disclaimer of opinion or an adverse opinion, as may 
be appropriate. 

Reference to an Expert in the Auditor's Report 

15. When expressing an unqualified opinion, the auditor should not refer to the work of an 
expert in his report. If, as a result of the work of an expert, the auditor decides to express 
other than an unqualified opinion, it may in some circumstances benefit the reader of his 
report if the auditor, in explaining the nature of his reservation, refers to or describes the 
work of the expert. Where, in doing so, the auditor considers it appropriate to disclose the 
identity of the expert, he should obtain prior consent of the expert for such disclosure if 
such consent has not already been obtained. 

Effective Date 

16. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1991. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 10 

Using the Work of Another Auditor* 

{The following is the text of the Exposure Draft of the Statement on Standard Auditing 
Practices (SAP) 10 (Revised), "Using the Work of Another Auditor " issued by the Auditing 
Practices Committee of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Statement 
should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing 
Practices", issued by the Institute.  

Introduction 

1. The Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 1, Basic Principles Governing an 
Audit, states (paragraph 9):  

"When the auditor delegates work to assistants or uses work performed by 
other auditors and experts, he will continue to be responsible for forming and 
expressing his opinion on the financial information. However, he will be 
entitled to rely on work performed by others, provided he exercises adequate 
skill and care and is not aware of any reason to believe that he should not 
have so relied. In the case of any independent statutory appointment to 
perform the work on which the auditor has to rely in forming his opinion, 
such as in the case of the work of branch auditors appointed under the 
Companies Act, 1956 the auditor's report should expressly state the fact of 
such reliance." 

2. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards to be applied in situations where an auditor (referred to herein as the 
principal auditor), reporting on the financial information of an entity, uses the work 
of another auditor (referred to herein as the other auditor) with respect to the 
financial information of one or more components included in the financial information 
of the entity. This Statement also discusses the principal auditor's responsibility in 
relation to his use of the work of the other auditor. In this Statement, the term 
'financial information' encompasses 'financial statements'. 

3. The Statement does not deal with those instances where two or more auditors are 
appointed as joint auditors2 nor does it deal with the auditor's relationship with a 
predecessor auditor. 

4. When the principal auditor concludes that the financial statements of a component 
are immaterial, the procedures outlined in this Statement do not apply. When 
several components, immaterial in themselves, are together material in relation to 
the financial statements of the entity as a whole, the procedures outlined in this 
Statement should be considered. 

5. When the principal auditor uses the work of another auditor, the principal 
auditor should determine how the work of the other auditor will affect the 
audit. 
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6. "Principal auditor" means the auditor with responsibility for reporting on the financial 
information of an entity when those financial statements include the financial 
information of one or more components audited by another auditor. 

7. "Other auditor" means an auditor, other than the principal auditor, with 
responsibility for reporting on the financial information of a component which is 
included in the financial information audited by the principal auditor. 

8. "Component" means a division, branch, subsidiary, joint venture, associated 
enterprises or other entity whose financial information is included in the financial 
information audited by the principal auditor. 

Acceptance as Principal Auditor 

9. The auditor should consider whether the auditor's own participation is 
sufficient to be able to act as the principal auditor. For this purpose the auditor 
would consider:  

a. the materiality of the portion of the financial statements which the principal 
auditor audits; 
   

b. the principal auditor's degree of knowledge regarding the business of the 
components; 
   

c. the risk of material misstatements in the financial statements of the 
components audited by the other auditor; and 
   

d. the performance of additional procedures as set out in this SAP regarding the 
components audited by other auditor resulting in the principal auditor having 
significant participation in such audit.  

The Principal Auditor's Procedures 

10. In certain situations, the statute governing the entity may confer a right on the 
principal auditor to visit a component and examine the books of account and other 
records of the said component, if he thinks it necessary to do so. Where another 
auditor has been appointed for the component, the principal auditor would normally 
be entitled to rely upon the work of such auditor unless there are special 
circumstances to make it essential for him to visit the component and/or to examine 
the books of account and other records of the said component. 

11. When planning to use the work of another auditor, the principal auditor 
should consider the professional competence of the other auditor in the 
context of specific assignment if the other auditor is not a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
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12. The principal auditor should perform procedures to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence, that the work of the other auditor is adequate 
for the principal auditor's purposes, in the context of the specific 
assignment. When using the work of another auditor, the principal auditor should 
ordinarily perform the following procedures:  

a. advise the other auditor of the use that is to be made of the other auditor's 
work and report and make sufficient arrangements for co-ordination of their 
efforts at the planning stage of the audit. The principal auditor would inform 
the other auditor of matters such as areas requiring special consideration, 
procedures for the identification of inter-component transactions that may 
require disclosure and the timetable for completion of audit; and 
   

b. advise the other auditor of the significant accounting, auditing and reporting 
requirements and obtain representation as to compliance with them.  

13. The principal auditor might discuss with the other auditor the audit procedures 
applied or review a written summary of the other auditor's procedures and findings 
which may be in the form of a completed questionnaire or check-list. The principal 
auditor may also wish to visit the other auditor. The nature, timing and extent of 
procedures will depend on the circumstances of the engagement and the principal 
auditor's knowledge of the professional competence of the other auditor. This 
knowledge may have been enhanced from the review of the previous audit work of 
the other auditor. 

14. The principal auditor may conclude that it is not necessary to apply procedures such 
as those described in paragraph 13 because sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
previously obtained that acceptable quality control policies and procedures are 
complied with in the conduct of other auditor's practice. 

15. The principal auditor should consider the significant findings of the other 
auditor. 

16. The principal auditor may consider it appropriate to discuss with the other auditor 
and the management of the component the audit findings or other matters affecting 
the financial information of the components. He may also decide that supplemental 
tests of the records or the financial statements of the component are necessary. 
Such tests may, depending upon the circumstances, be performed by the principal 
auditor or the other auditor. 

17. In certain circumstances, the other auditor may happen to be a person other than a 
professionally qualified auditor. This may happen, for instance, where a component 
is situated in a foreign country and the applicable laws permit a person other than a 
professionally qualified auditor to audit the financial statements of such component. 
In such circumstances, the procedures outlined in paragraphs 10 to 16 assume 
added importance. 
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18. The principal auditor should document in his working papers the components whose 
financial statements were audited by other auditors; their significance to the 
financial statements of the entity as a whole; the names of the other auditors; and 
any conclusions reached that individual components are not material. The principal 
auditor should also document the procedures performed and the conclusions 
reached. For example, the auditor would document the results of discussions with 
the other auditor and review of the written summary of the other auditor's 
procedures. However, the principal auditor need not document the reasons for 
limiting the procedures in the circumstances described at 14 above, provided those 
reasons are summarised elsewhere in the documentation maintained by the principal 
auditor. Where the other auditor's report is other than unmodified , the principal 
auditor should also document how he has dealt with the qualifications or adverse 
remarks contained in the other auditor's report in framing his own report. 

Co-ordination Between Auditors 

19. There should be sufficient liaison between the principal auditor and the 
other auditor. For this purpose, the principal auditor may find it necessary to issue 
written communication(s) to the other auditor. 

20. The other auditor, knowing the context in which his work is to be used by 
the principal auditor, should co-ordinate with the principal auditor. For 
example, by bringing to the principal auditor's immediate attention any significant 
findings requiring to be dealt with at entity level, adhering to the time-table for audit 
of the component, etc. He should ensure compliance with the relevant statutory 
requirements. Similarly, the principal auditor should advise the other auditor of any 
matters that come to his attention that he thinks may have an important bearing on 
the other auditor's work. 

21. When considered necessary by him, the principal auditor may require the other 
auditor to answer a detailed questionnaire regarding matters on which the principal 
auditor requires information for discharging his duties. The other auditor should 
respond to such questionnaire on a timely basis. 

Reporting Considerations 

22. When the principal auditor concludes, based on his procedures, that the 
work of the other auditor cannot be used and the principal auditor has not 
been able to perform sufficient additional procedures regarding the 
financial information of the component audited by the other auditor, the 
principal auditor should express a qualified opinion or disclaimer of opinion 
because there is a limitation on the scope of audit. 

23. In all circumstances, if the other auditor issues, or intends to issue, a modified 
auditor's report, the principal auditor should consider whether the subject of the 
modification is of such nature and significance, in relation to the financial information 
of the entity on which the principal auditor is reporting, that it requires a 
modification of the principal auditor's report. . 

Division of Responsibility 
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24. The principal auditor would not be responsible in respect of the work entrusted to 
the other auditors, except in circumstances which should have aroused his suspicion 
about the reliability of the work performed by the other auditors. 

25. When the principal auditor has to base his opinion on the financial 
information of the entity as a whole relying upon the statements and 
reports of the other auditors, his report should state clearly the division of 
responsibility for the financial information of the entity by indicating the 
extent to which the financial information of components audited by the 
other auditors have been included in the financial information of the entity, 
e.g., the number of divisions/ branches/subsidiaries or other components 
audited by other auditors. 

Effective Date 

26. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits 
relating to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 2002 . 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 600 

   The auditing standards established in this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices 
are generally consistent, in all material respects, with those set out in ISA 600 
"Using the Work of Another Auditor". 

 

   * Issued in April, 1995. Revised in September, 2002. 

   1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the 
Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices 
(SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay down the principles governing 
an audit. These principles apply whenever an independent audit is carried out. 
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the dates 
specified in the respective SAPs. Their mandatory status implies that, while 
discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute 
to ensure that the SAPs are followed in the audit of financial information covered by 
their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform an 
audit in accordance with the SAPs, his report should draw attention to the material 
departures therefrom. 

   2 Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 12, Responsibility of Joint Auditors 
deals with the audit procedures to be employed where two or more auditors are 
appointed as joint auditors. 
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   Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 11  

Representations by Management 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 11, "Representations by 
Management", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The Statement should 
be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the 
Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement is to establish standards on the use of management representations as audit 
evidence, the procedures to be applied in evaluating and documenting management representations, and the 
action to be taken if management refuses to provide appropriate representations. 

2. The auditor should obtain representations from management, where considered appropriate. 

Acknowledgement by Management of its Responsibility for the Financial Information 

3. The auditor should obtain evidence that management acknowledges its responsibility for the appropriate 
preparation and presentation of financial information and that management has approved the financial 
information. 

Representations by Management as Audit Evidence 

4. The auditor should exercise his professional judgement in determining the matters on which he wishes to 
obtain representations from management. Similarly, the matters on which the auditor wishes to obtain such 
representations in writing should also be determined by the auditor using his professional judgement. However,
representations should be obtained from management invariably in writing on matters material to financial 
information, either individually or collectively, when other sufficient appropriate audit evidence cannot 
reasonably be expected to exist. Matters which might be included in a representation letter from management 
in an audit of financial statements are contained in the example of a management representation letter in the 
Appendix. 

5. During the course of an audit, management makes many representations to the auditor, either unsolicited or 
in response to specific enquiries. When such representations relate to matters which are material to the 
financial information, the auditor should: 

(a) seek corroborative audit evidence from sources inside or outside the entity; 

(b) evaluate whether the representations made by management appear reasonable and consistent with 
other audit evidence obtained, including other representations; and 

(c) consider whether the individuals making the representations can be expected to be well-informed 
on the matter. 

6. Representations by management cannot be a substitute for other audit evidence that the auditor could 
reasonably expect to be available. For example, a representation by management as to the quantity, existence 
and cost of inventories is no substitute for adopting normal audit procedures regarding verification and 
valuation of inventories. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that he believes 
would be available regarding a matter which has or may have a material effect on the financial information, 
this will constitute a limitation on the scope of his examination even if he has obtained a representation from 
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management on the matter. 

7. In certain instances such as where knowledge of the facts is confined to management or where the matter is 
principally one of intention, a representation by management may be the only audit evidence which can 
reasonably be expected to be available; for example, intention of management to hold a specific investment for 
long-term appreciation. 

8. If a representation by management is contradicted by other evidence, the auditor should examine the 
circumstances and, when necessary, reconsider the reliability of other representations made by management. 

Documentation of Representations by Management 

9. The auditor should document in his working papers evidence of management's representations. 

10. A written representation is better audit evidence than an oral representation and can take the form of: 

(a) a representation letter from management; 

(b) a letter from the auditor outlining the auditor's understanding of management's representations, 
duly acknowledged and confirmed by management; 

(c) a duly authenticated copy of relevant minutes of meetings of the board of directors or similar 
body. 

Basic Elements of a Management Representation Letter 

11. A management representation letter should be addressed to the auditor containing the relevant information 
and be appropriately dated and signed. 

12. A management representation letter would normally be dated the same date as the auditor's report on the 
financial information or a date prior thereto. However, in certain circumstances, in respect to specific 
transactions or events, separate representation letters may also be obtained during the course of audit. 

13. A management representation letter should ordinarily be signed by the members of management who have 
primary responsibility for the entity and its financial aspects, e.g., managing director, finance director. 

14. If management refuses to provide representations on any matter that the auditor considers necessary, this 
will constitute a limitation on the scope of his examination. In such circumstances, the auditor should evaluate 
any reliance he has placed on other representations made by management during the course of his examination 
and consider if the refusal may have any additional effect on his report. 

15. In case management is not willing to give in writing the representations made by it during the course of 
audit, the auditor should himself prepare a letter in writing setting out his understanding of management's 
representations that have been made to him during the course of audit and send it to management with a 
request to acknowledge and confirm that his understanding of the representations is correct. If the management 
refuses to acknowledge or confirm the letter sent by the auditor, this will constitute a limitation on the scope of 
his examination. In such circumstances, the auditor should evaluate any reliance on those representations and 
consider if the refusal may have any additional effect on his report. 

Effective Date 

16. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating to accounting 
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periods beginning on or after April 1, 1995. 

APPENDIX 
EXAMPLE OF A MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER IN AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

(Ref. Paragraph 4) 

The following letter is for use as a general guide in conjunction with the considerations set forth in this 
statement. Representations by management will vary from one entity to another, and from one year to the next. 
Therefore, this letter is not intended to be a standard letter and should be adapted in the light of individual 
requirements and circumstances. 

[Letterhead of Entity] 

[Dated]

[Name and Address of the Auditor] 

Dear Sir 

   

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of ................ for 
the year ended ...... for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of ................ as of ...... and of the results of operations for the year then 
ended. We acknowledge our responsibility for preparation of financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 19561 and recognised accounting policies and practices, including the 
Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

   

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations: 

______________________________  

1 or other relevant statute.  

  

ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1. The accounting policies which are material or critical in determining the results of operations for the year or 
financial position are set out in the financial statements and are consistent with those adopted in the financial 
statements for the previous year. The financial statements are prepared on accrual basis. 

ASSETS 

2. The company has a satisfactory title to all assets and there are no liens or encumbrances on the company's 
assets, except for those that are disclosed in Note X to the financial statements. 

Fixed Assets 
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3. The net book values at which fixed assets are stated in the balance sheet are arrived at: 

(a) after taking into account all capital expenditure on additions thereto, but no expenditure properly 
chargeable to revenue; 

(b) after eliminating the cost and accumulated depreciation relating to items sold, discarded, 
demolished or destroyed; 

(c) after providing adequate depreciation on fixed assets during the period. 

Capital Commitments 

4. At the balance sheet date, there were no outstanding commitments for capital expenditure excepting those 
disclosed in Note X to the financial statements. 

Investments 

5. The current investments as appearing in the balance sheet consist of only such investments as are by their 
nature readily realisable and intended to be held for not more than one year from the respective dates on which 
they were made. All other investments have been shown in the balance sheet as 'long-term investments'. 

6. Current investments have been valued at the lower of cost and fair value. Long-term investments have been 
valued at cost, except that any permanent diminution in their value has been provided for in ascertaining their 
carrying amount. 

7. In respect of offers of right issues received during the year, the rights have been either been subscribed to, or 
renunciated, or allowed to lapse. In no case have they been renunciated in favour of third parties without 
consideration which has been properly accounted for in the books of account. 

8. All the investments produced to you for physical verification belong to the entity and they do not include 
any investments held on behalf of any other person. 

9. The entity has clear title to all its investments including such investments which are in the process of being 
registered in the name of the entity or which are not held in the name of the entity and there are no charges 
against the investments of the entity except those appearing in the records of the entity. 

Inventories 

10. Inventories at the year-end consisted of the following: 

Raw Materials (including components) Rs ......... 

Work-in-Process Rs ......... 

Finished Goods (including by-products) Rs ......... 

Maintenance supplies and Stores and Spare Parts Rs ......... 

Loose Tools Rs ......... 

Others (specify each major head separately) Rs ......... 

 ------------- 

 Total Rs ......... 

 ------------- 
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11. All quantities were determined by actual physical count or weight or measurement that was taken
under our supervision and in accordance with written instructions, on ............ (date/dates of physical 
verification), except as follows:1 

............... 

............... 

______________________________  

1 Where physical verification of inventories is carried out at a date other than the closing date, this paragraph may be modified as below: Inventories 
recorded in the books as at ...........(date of balance sheet) aggregating to Rs. ......... are based upon the physical inventories taken as at .......... (date of 
physical verification) by actual count, weight or measurement. The material discrepancies noticed on physical verification of stocks as compared to 
book records have been properly dealt with in the books of account and subsequent transactions recorded in the accounts fairly reflect the changes 
in the inventories up to ........... (balance sheet date).  

   

12. All goods included in the inventory are the property of the entity, none of the goods are held as consignee 
for others or as bailee, and, except as set out below, none of the goods are subject to any charge. 

............... 

............... 

13. All inventories owned by the entity, wherever located, have been recorded, including goods sent on 
consignment. 

14. Inventories do not include goods sold to customers for which delivery is yet to be made. 

15. Inventories have been valued on the following basis/bases: 

Raw Materials (including components) 

Work-in-Process 

Finished Goods (including by-products) 

Maintenance supplies and Stores and Spare Parts 

Loose Tools 

Others (specify each major head separately) 

(In describing the basis/bases of valuation, the method of ascertaining the cost (e.g. FIFO, Average 
Cost or LIFO) should also be stated. Similarly, the extent to which overheads have been included in 
the cost should also be stated.) 

16. The following provisions have been made in respect of excess, slow-moving, damaged, or obsolete 
inventories and these, in our view, are adequate. 

............... 
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............... 

17. No item of inventories has a net realisable value in the ordinary course of business which is less than the 
amount at which it is included in inventories. 

18. The basis/bases of valuation is/are the same as that/those used in the previous year, except as set out below: 

Class of 
inventory 

Basis of 
Valuation 

Effect of change 
in Basis of 
Valuation 

........ ........ ........ ........ 

........ ........ ........ ........ 

Debtors, Loans and Advances 

19. The following items appearing in the books as at .......(date of the Balance Sheet) are considered 
good and fully recoverable with the exception of those specifically shown as "doubtful" in the 
Balance Sheet. 

Sundry Debtors Rs ......... 

Loans and Advances Rs ......... 

Other Current Assets 

20. In the opinion of the Board of Directors, other current assets have a value on realisation in the 
ordinary course of the company's business which is atleast equal to the amount at which they are 
stated in the balance sheet, except as stated in Note X to the financial statements. 

LIABILITIES 

21. We have recorded all known liabilities in the financial statements. 

22. We have disclosed in notes to the financial statements all guarantees that we have given to third 
parties and all other contingent liabilities. 

23. Contingent liabilities disclosed in the notes to the financial statements do not include any 
contingencies which are likely to result in a loss and which, therefore, require adjustment of assets or 
liabilities. 

Provisions for Claims and Losses 

24. Provision has been made in the accounts for all known losses and claims of material amounts. 

25. There have been no events subsequent to the balance sheet date which require adjustment of, 
or disclosure in, the financial statements or notes thereto. 

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT 

26. Except as disclosed in the financial statements, the results for the year were not materially 
affected by: 
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(a) transactions of a nature not usually undertaken by the company; 

(b) circumstances of an exceptional or non-recurring nature; 

(c) charges or credits relating to prior years; 

(d) changes in accounting policies. 

GENERAL 

27. The following have been properly recorded and, when appropriate, adequately disclosed in the 
financial statements: 

(a) Losses arising from sale and purchase commitments. 

(b) Agreements and options to buy back assets previously sold. 

(c) Assets pledged as collateral. 

28. There have been no irregularities involving management or employees who have a significant 
role in the system of internal control that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

29. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

30. The company has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has been no non-
compliance with requirements of regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements in the event of non-compliance. 

31. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of 
assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 12 

Responsibility of Joint Auditors 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 12, 
"Responsibility of Joint Auditors" issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. The Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the 
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

The Statement on the Responsibility of Joint Auditors issued by the Institute earlier shall 
stand completely withdrawn in respect of all audits relating to accounting periods beginning 
on or after April 1, 1996.1 

Introduction 

1. The practice of appointing more than one auditor to conduct the audit of large entities is in 
vogue these days. Such auditors, known as joint auditors, conduct the audit jointly and report 
on the financial statements of the entity. This statement deals with the professional 
responsibilities which the auditors undertake in accepting such appointments as joint 
auditors. The statement does not deal with the relationship between a principal auditor who is 
appointed to report on the financial statements of an entity and another auditor who is 
appointed to report on the financial statements of one or more divisions or branches included 
in the financial statements of the entity, e.g., the relationship between a company auditor 
appointed under section 224 of the Companies Act, 1956 and a branch auditor appointed 
under section 228 of the said Act.2 

Division of Work 

2. Where joint auditors are appointed, they should, by mutual discussion, divide the audit 
work among themselves. The division of work would usually be in terms of audit of 
identifiable units or specified areas. In some cases, due to the nature of the business of the 
entity under audit, such a division of work may not be possible. In such situations, the 
division of work may be with reference to items of assets or liabilities or income or 
expenditure or with reference to periods of time. Certain areas of work, owing to their 
importance or owing to the nature of the work involved, would often not be divided and 
would be covered by all the joint auditors. 

3. The division of work among joint auditors as well as the areas of work to be covered by all 
of them should be adequately documented and preferably communicated to the entity. 

Coordination 

4. Where, in the course of his work, a joint auditor comes across matters which are relevant 
to the areas of responsibility of other joint auditors and which deserve their attention, or 
which require disclosure or require discussion with, or application of judgement by, other 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 75 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

joint auditors, he should communicate the same to all the other joint auditors in writing. This 
should be done by the submission of a report or note prior to the finalisation of the audit. 

Relationship among joint auditors 

5. In respect of audit work divided among the joint auditors, each joint auditor is responsible 
only for the work allocated to him, whether or not he has prepared a separate report on the 
work performed by him. On the other hand, all the joint auditors are jointly and severally 
responsible - 

(a) in respect of the audit work which is not divided among the joint auditors and is 
carried out by all of them; 

(b) in respect of decisions taken by all the joint auditors concerning the nature, timing 
or extent of the audit procedures to be performed by any of the joint auditors. It may, 
however, be clarified that all the joint auditors are responsible only in respect of the 
appropriateness of the decisions concerning the nature, timing or extent of the audit 
procedures agreed upon among them; proper execution of these audit procedures is 
the separate and specific responsibility of the joint auditor concerned; 

(c) in respect of matters which are brought to the notice of the joint auditors by any 
one of them and on which there is an agreement among the joint auditors 

(d) for examining that the financial statements of the entity comply with the 
disclosure requirements of the relevant statute; and 

(e) for ensuring that the audit report complies with the requirements of the relevant 
statute. 

6. If any matters of the nature referred to in paragraph 4 above are brought to the attention of 
the entity or other joint auditors by an auditor after the audit report has been submitted, the 
other joint auditors would not be responsible for those matters. 

7. Subject to paragraph 5(b) above, it is the responsibility of each joint auditor to determine 
the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures to be applied in relation to the area of work 
allocated to him. The issues such as appropriateness of using test checks or sampling should 
be decided by each joint auditor in relation to his own area of work. This responsibility is not 
shared by the other joint auditors. Thus, it is the separate and specific responsibility of each 
joint auditor to study and evaluate the prevailing system of internal control relating to the 
work allocated to him. Similarly, the nature, timing and extent of the enquiries to be made in 
the course of audit as well as the other audit procedures to be applied are solely the 
responsibility of each joint auditor. 

8. In the case of audit of a large entity with several branches, including those required to be 
audited by branch auditors, the branch audit reports/returns may be required to be scrutinised 
by different joint auditors in accordance with the allocation of work. In such cases, it is the 
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specific and separate responsibility of each joint auditor to review the audit reports/returns of 
the divisions/branches allocated to him and to ensure that they are properly incorporated into 
the accounts of the entity. In respect of the branches which do not fall within any divisions or 
zones which are separately assigned to the various joint auditors, they may agree among 
themselves as regards the division of work relating to the review of such branch returns. It is 
also the separate and specific responsibility of each joint auditor to exercise his judgement 
with regard to the necessity of visiting such divisions/branches in respect of which the work 
is allocated to him. 

9. A significant part of the audit work involves obtaining and evaluating information and 
explanations from the management. This responsibility is shared by all the joint auditors 
unless they agree upon a specific pattern of distribution of this responsibility. In cases where 
specific divisions, zones or units are allocated to different joint auditors, it is the separate and 
specific responsibility of each joint auditor to obtain appropriate information and 
explanations from the management in respect of such divisions/zones/units and to evaluate 
the information and explanations so obtained by him. 

10. Each joint auditor is entitled to assume that the other joint auditors have carried out their 
part of the audit work in accordance with the generally accepted audit procedures.3 It is not 
necessary for a joint auditor to review the work performed by other joint auditors or perform 
any tests in order to ascertain whether the work has actually been performed in such a 
manner. Each joint auditor is entitled to rely upon the other joint auditors for bringing to his 
notice any departure from generally accepted accounting principles or any material error 
noticed in the course of the audit. 

11. Where separate financial statements of a division/branch are audited by one of the joint 
auditors, the other joint auditors are entitled to proceed on the basis that such financial 
statements comply with all the legal and professional requirements regarding the disclosures 
to be made and present a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of the working results 
of the division/branch concerned, subject to such observations as may be communicated by 
the joint auditor concerned. 

Reporting Responsibilities 

12. Normally, the joint auditors are able to arrive at an agreed report. However, where the 
joint auditors are in disagreement with regard to any matters to be covered by the report, each 
one of them should express his own opinion through a separate report. A joint auditor is not 
bound by the views of the majority of the joint auditors regarding matters to be covered in 
the report and should express his opinion in a separate report in case of a disagreement. 

Effective Date 

13. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative in respect of all audits 
relating to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1996. 
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1Paragraphs 17-29 of the Statement on the Responsibility of Joint Auditors already stand withdrawn in respect of all audits relating to accounting 
periods beginning on or after April 1, 1995, pursuant to the issuance of SAP 10, Using the Work of Another Auditor.  
2 These aspects have been dealt with in Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 10, Using the Work of Another Auditor. It may also be 
mentioned that presently, there is no legal requirement under the Companies Act, 1956 to prepare consolidated accounts or group accounts. Section 
212 of the Companies Act, 1956 requires that the accounts of a holding company shall have attached thereto the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss 
Account, Directors' Report and Auditors' Report of each subsidiary company. Certain additional information is also required. In view of the fact that 
a subsidiary is a separate legal entity, the Council of the Institute is of the opinion that no responsibility is cast upon the auditors of a holding 
company in respect of the work performed by the auditors of the subsidiary.  
3Reference may be made in this regard to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and other mandatory Statements relating to auditing matters 
issued by the Council of the Institute from time to time.  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 12 

Responsibility of Joint Auditors 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 12, 
"Responsibility of Joint Auditors" issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. The Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the 
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

The Statement on the Responsibility of Joint Auditors issued by the Institute earlier shall 
stand completely withdrawn in respect of all audits relating to accounting periods beginning 
on or after April 1, 1996.1 

Introduction 

1. The practice of appointing more than one auditor to conduct the audit of large entities is in 
vogue these days. Such auditors, known as joint auditors, conduct the audit jointly and report 
on the financial statements of the entity. This statement deals with the professional 
responsibilities which the auditors undertake in accepting such appointments as joint 
auditors. The statement does not deal with the relationship between a principal auditor who is 
appointed to report on the financial statements of an entity and another auditor who is 
appointed to report on the financial statements of one or more divisions or branches included 
in the financial statements of the entity, e.g., the relationship between a company auditor 
appointed under section 224 of the Companies Act, 1956 and a branch auditor appointed 
under section 228 of the said Act.2 

Division of Work 

2. Where joint auditors are appointed, they should, by mutual discussion, divide the audit 
work among themselves. The division of work would usually be in terms of audit of 
identifiable units or specified areas. In some cases, due to the nature of the business of the 
entity under audit, such a division of work may not be possible. In such situations, the 
division of work may be with reference to items of assets or liabilities or income or 
expenditure or with reference to periods of time. Certain areas of work, owing to their 
importance or owing to the nature of the work involved, would often not be divided and 
would be covered by all the joint auditors. 

3. The division of work among joint auditors as well as the areas of work to be covered by all 
of them should be adequately documented and preferably communicated to the entity. 

Coordination 

4. Where, in the course of his work, a joint auditor comes across matters which are relevant 
to the areas of responsibility of other joint auditors and which deserve their attention, or 
which require disclosure or require discussion with, or application of judgement by, other 
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joint auditors, he should communicate the same to all the other joint auditors in writing. This 
should be done by the submission of a report or note prior to the finalisation of the audit. 

Relationship among joint auditors 

5. In respect of audit work divided among the joint auditors, each joint auditor is responsible 
only for the work allocated to him, whether or not he has prepared a separate report on the 
work performed by him. On the other hand, all the joint auditors are jointly and severally 
responsible - 

(a) in respect of the audit work which is not divided among the joint auditors and is 
carried out by all of them; 

(b) in respect of decisions taken by all the joint auditors concerning the nature, timing 
or extent of the audit procedures to be performed by any of the joint auditors. It may, 
however, be clarified that all the joint auditors are responsible only in respect of the 
appropriateness of the decisions concerning the nature, timing or extent of the audit 
procedures agreed upon among them; proper execution of these audit procedures is 
the separate and specific responsibility of the joint auditor concerned; 

(c) in respect of matters which are brought to the notice of the joint auditors by any 
one of them and on which there is an agreement among the joint auditors 

(d) for examining that the financial statements of the entity comply with the 
disclosure requirements of the relevant statute; and 

(e) for ensuring that the audit report complies with the requirements of the relevant 
statute. 

6. If any matters of the nature referred to in paragraph 4 above are brought to the attention of 
the entity or other joint auditors by an auditor after the audit report has been submitted, the 
other joint auditors would not be responsible for those matters. 

7. Subject to paragraph 5(b) above, it is the responsibility of each joint auditor to determine 
the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures to be applied in relation to the area of work 
allocated to him. The issues such as appropriateness of using test checks or sampling should 
be decided by each joint auditor in relation to his own area of work. This responsibility is not 
shared by the other joint auditors. Thus, it is the separate and specific responsibility of each 
joint auditor to study and evaluate the prevailing system of internal control relating to the 
work allocated to him. Similarly, the nature, timing and extent of the enquiries to be made in 
the course of audit as well as the other audit procedures to be applied are solely the 
responsibility of each joint auditor. 

8. In the case of audit of a large entity with several branches, including those required to be 
audited by branch auditors, the branch audit reports/returns may be required to be scrutinised 
by different joint auditors in accordance with the allocation of work. In such cases, it is the 
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specific and separate responsibility of each joint auditor to review the audit reports/returns of 
the divisions/branches allocated to him and to ensure that they are properly incorporated into 
the accounts of the entity. In respect of the branches which do not fall within any divisions or 
zones which are separately assigned to the various joint auditors, they may agree among 
themselves as regards the division of work relating to the review of such branch returns. It is 
also the separate and specific responsibility of each joint auditor to exercise his judgement 
with regard to the necessity of visiting such divisions/branches in respect of which the work 
is allocated to him. 

9. A significant part of the audit work involves obtaining and evaluating information and 
explanations from the management. This responsibility is shared by all the joint auditors 
unless they agree upon a specific pattern of distribution of this responsibility. In cases where 
specific divisions, zones or units are allocated to different joint auditors, it is the separate and 
specific responsibility of each joint auditor to obtain appropriate information and 
explanations from the management in respect of such divisions/zones/units and to evaluate 
the information and explanations so obtained by him. 

10. Each joint auditor is entitled to assume that the other joint auditors have carried out their 
part of the audit work in accordance with the generally accepted audit procedures.3 It is not 
necessary for a joint auditor to review the work performed by other joint auditors or perform 
any tests in order to ascertain whether the work has actually been performed in such a 
manner. Each joint auditor is entitled to rely upon the other joint auditors for bringing to his 
notice any departure from generally accepted accounting principles or any material error 
noticed in the course of the audit. 

11. Where separate financial statements of a division/branch are audited by one of the joint 
auditors, the other joint auditors are entitled to proceed on the basis that such financial 
statements comply with all the legal and professional requirements regarding the disclosures 
to be made and present a true and fair view of the state of affairs and of the working results 
of the division/branch concerned, subject to such observations as may be communicated by 
the joint auditor concerned. 

Reporting Responsibilities 

12. Normally, the joint auditors are able to arrive at an agreed report. However, where the 
joint auditors are in disagreement with regard to any matters to be covered by the report, each 
one of them should express his own opinion through a separate report. A joint auditor is not 
bound by the views of the majority of the joint auditors regarding matters to be covered in 
the report and should express his opinion in a separate report in case of a disagreement. 

Effective Date 

13. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative in respect of all audits 
relating to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1996. 
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1Paragraphs 17-29 of the Statement on the Responsibility of Joint Auditors already stand withdrawn in respect of all audits relating to accounting 
periods beginning on or after April 1, 1995, pursuant to the issuance of SAP 10, Using the Work of Another Auditor.  
2 These aspects have been dealt with in Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 10, Using the Work of Another Auditor. It may also be 
mentioned that presently, there is no legal requirement under the Companies Act, 1956 to prepare consolidated accounts or group accounts. Section 
212 of the Companies Act, 1956 requires that the accounts of a holding company shall have attached thereto the Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss 
Account, Directors' Report and Auditors' Report of each subsidiary company. Certain additional information is also required. In view of the fact that 
a subsidiary is a separate legal entity, the Council of the Institute is of the opinion that no responsibility is cast upon the auditors of a holding 
company in respect of the work performed by the auditors of the subsidiary.  
3Reference may be made in this regard to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and other mandatory Statements relating to auditing matters 
issued by the Council of the Institute from time to time.  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 14 

Analytical Procedures 

The following is the text of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 14, "Analytical 
Procedures", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The 
Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards on the application of analytical procedures during an audit. 

2. The auditor should apply analytical procedures at the planning and overall review 
stages of the audit. Analytical procedures may also be applied at other stages. 

3. "Analytical procedures" means the analysis of significant ratios and trends including the 
resulting investigation of fluctuations and relationships that are inconsistent with other 
relevant information or which deviate from predicted amounts. 

Nature and Purpose of Analytical Procedures 

4. Analytical procedures include the consideration of comparisons of the entity's financial 
information with, for example: 

* Comparable information for prior periods. 

* Anticipated results of the entity, such as budgets or forecasts. 

* Predictive estimates prepared by the auditor, such as an estimation of depreciation 
charge for the year. 

* Similar industry information, such as a comparison of the entity's ratio of sales to 
trade debtors with industry averages, or with other entities of comparable size in the 
same industry. 

5. Analytical procedures also include consideration of relationships: 

* Among elements of financial information that would be expected to conform to a 
predictable pattern based on the entity's experience, such as gross margin percentages. 

* Between financial information and relevant non-financial information, such as 
payroll costs to number of employees. 
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6. Various methods may be used in performing the above procedures. These range from 
simple comparisons to complex analyses using advanced statistical techniques. Analytical 
procedures may be applied to consolidated financial statements, financial statements of 
components (such as subsidiaries, divisions or segments) and individual elements of financial 
information. The auditor's choice of procedures, methods and level of application is a matter 
of professional judgement. 

7. Analytical procedures are used for the following purposes: 

(a) to assist the auditor in planning the nature, timing and extent of other audit 
procedures; 

(b) as substantive procedures when their use can be more effective or efficient than 
tests of details in reducing detection risk for specific financial statement assertions; 
and 

(c) as an overall review of the financial statements in the final review stage of the 
audit. 

Analytical Procedures in Planning the Audit 

8. The auditor should apply analytical procedures at the planning stage to assist in 
understanding the business and in identifying areas of potential risk. Application of 
analytical procedures may indicate aspects of the business of which the auditor was unaware 
and will assist in determining the nature, timing and extent of other audit procedures. 

9. Analytical procedures in planning the audit use both financial and non-financial 
information, for example, the relationship between sales and square footage of selling space 
or volume of goods sold. 

Analytical Procedures as Substantive Procedures 

10. The auditor's reliance on substantive procedures to reduce detection risk relating to 
specific financial statement assertions may be derived from tests of details, from analytical 
procedures, or from a combination of both. The decision about which procedures to use to 
achieve a particular audit objective is based on the auditor's judgement about the expected 
effectiveness and efficiency of the available procedures in reducing detection risk for specific 
financial statement assertions. 

11. The auditor will ordinarily inquire of management as to the availability and reliability of 
information needed to apply analytical procedures and the results of any such procedures 
performed by the entity. It may be efficient to use analytical data prepared by the entity, 
provided the auditor is satisfied that such data is properly prepared. 

12. When intending to perform analytical procedures as substantive procedures, the auditor 
will need to consider a number of factors such as the: 
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* Objectives of the analytical procedures and the extent to which their results can be 
relied upon (paragraphs 14-16). 

* Nature of the entity and the degree to which information can be disaggregated, for 
example, analytical procedures may be more effective when applied to financial 
information on individual sections of an operation or to financial statements of 
components of a diversified entity, than when applied to the financial statements of 
the entity as a whole. 

* Availability of information, both financial, such as budgets or forecasts, and non-
financial, such as the number of units produced or sold. 

* Reliability of the information available, for example, whether budgets are prepared 
with sufficient care. 

* Relevance of the information available, for example, whether budgets have been 
established as results to be expected rather than as goals to be achieved. 

* Source of the information available, for example, sources independent of the entity 
are ordinarily more reliable than internal sources. 

* Comparability of the information available, for example, broad industry data may 
need to be supplemented to be comparable to that of an entity that produces and sells 
specialised products. 

* Knowledge gained during previous audits, together with the auditor's understanding 
of the effectiveness of the accounting and internal control systems and the types of 
problems that in prior periods have given rise to accounting adjustments. 

Analytical Procedures in the Overall Review at the End of the Audit 

13. The auditor should apply analytical procedures at or near the end of the audit when 
forming an overall conclusion as to whether the financial statements as a whole are 
consistent with the auditor's knowledge of the business. The conclusions drawn from the 
results of such procedures are intended to corroborate conclusions formed during the audit of 
individual components or elements of the financial statements and assist in arriving at the 
overall conclusion as to the reasonableness of the financial statements. However, in some 
cases, as a result of application of analytical procedures, the auditor may identify areas where 
further procedures need to be applied before the auditor can form an overall conclusion about 
the financial statements. 

Extent of Reliance on Analytical Procedures 

14. The application of analytical procedures is based on the expectation that relationships 
among data exist and continue in the absence of known conditions to the contrary. The 
presence of these relationships provides audit evidence as to the completeness, accuracy and 
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validity of the data produced by the accounting system. However, reliance on the results of 
analytical procedures will depend on the auditor's assessment of the risk that the analytical 
procedures may identify relationships as expected when, in fact, a material misstatement 
exists. 

15. The extent of reliance that the auditor places on the results of analytical procedures 
depends on the following factors: 

(a) materiality of the items involved, for example, when inventory balances are 
material, the auditor does not rely only on analytical procedures in forming 
conclusions. However, the auditor may rely solely on analytical procedures for 
certain income and expense items when they are not individually material; 

(b) other audit procedures directed toward the same audit objectives, for example, 
other procedures performed by the auditor in reviewing the collectibility of accounts 
receivable, such as the review of subsequent cash receipts, might confirm or dispel 
questions raised from the application of analytical procedures to an aging schedule of 
customers' accounts; 

(c) accuracy with which the expected results of analytical procedures can be 
predicted. For example, the auditor will ordinarily expect greater consistency in 
comparing gross profit margins from one period to another than in comparing 
discretionary expenses, such as research or advertising; and 

(d) assessments of inherent and control risks, for example, if internal control over 
sales order processing is weak and, therefore, control risk is high, more reliance on 
tests of details of transactions and balances than on analytical procedures in drawing 
conclusions on receivables may be required. 

16. The auditor will need to consider testing the controls, if any, over the preparation of 
information used in applying analytical procedures. When such controls are effective, the 
auditor will have greater confidence in the reliability of the information and, therefore, in the 
results of analytical procedures. The controls over non-financial information can often be 
tested in conjunction with tests of accounting-related controls. For example, an entity in 
establishing controls over the processing of sales invoices may include controls over the 
recording of unit sales. In these circumstances, the auditor could test the controls over the 
recording of unit sales in conjunction with tests of the controls over the processing of sales 
invoices. 

Investigating Unusual Items 

17. When analytical procedures identify significant fluctuations or relationships that 
are inconsistent with other relevant information or that deviate from predicted 
amounts, the auditor should investigate and obtain adequate explanations and 
appropriate corroborative evidence. 
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18. The investigation of unusual fluctuations and relationships ordinarily begins with 
inquiries of management, followed by: 

(a) corroboration of management's responses, for example, by comparing them with 
the auditor's knowledge of the business and other evidence obtained during the course 
of the audit; and 

(b) consideration of the need to apply other audit procedures based on the results of 
such inquiries, if management is unable to provide an explanation or if the 
explanation is not considered adequate. 

Effective Date 

19. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1997. 
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Audit Sampling 

The following is the text of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 15, "Audit 
Sampling", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The 
Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards on the design and selection of an audit sample and the evaluation of the sample 
results. This SAP applies equally to both statistical and non-statistical sampling methods. 
Either method, when properly applied, can provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence. 

2. When using either statistical or non-statistical sampling methods, the auditor should 
design and select an audit sample, perform audit procedures thereon, and evaluate 
sample results so as to provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence. 

3. "Audit sampling" means the application of audit procedures to less than 100% of the items 
within an account balance or class of transactions to enable the auditor to obtain and evaluate 
audit evidence about some characteristic of the items selected in order to form or assist in 
forming a conclusion concerning the population. 

4. It is important to recognise that certain testing procedures do not come within the 
definition of sampling. Tests performed on 100% of the items within a population do not 
involve sampling. Likewise, applying audit procedures to all items within a population which 
have a particular characteristic (for example, all items over a certain amount) does not 
qualify as audit sampling with respect to the portion of the population examined, nor with 
regard to the population as a whole, since the items were not selected from the total 
population on a basis that was expected to be representative. Such items might imply some 
characteristic of the remaining portion of the population but would not necessarily be the 
basis for a valid conclusion about the remaining portion of the population. 

Design of the Sample 

5. When designing an audit sample, the auditor should consider the specific audit 
objectives, the population from which the auditor wishes to sample, and the sample size. 

Audit Objectives 

6. The auditor would first consider the specific audit objectives to be achieved and the audit 
procedures which are likely to best achieve those objectives. In addition, when audit 
sampling is appropriate, consideration of the nature of the audit evidence sought and possible 
error conditions or other characteristics relating to that audit evidence will assist the auditor 
in defining what constitutes an error and what population to use for sampling. For example, 
when performing tests of control over an entity's purchasing procedures, the auditor will be 
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concerned with matters such as whether an invoice was clerically checked and properly 
approved. On the other hand, when performing substantive procedures on invoices processed 
during the period, the auditor will be concerned with matters such as the proper reflection of 
the monetary amounts of such invoices in the financial statements. 

Population 

7. The population is the entire set of data from which the auditor wishes to sample in order to 
reach a conclusion. The auditor will need to determine that the population from which the 
sample is drawn is appropriate for the specific audit objective. For example, if the auditor's 
objective were to test for overstatement of accounts receivable, the population could be 
defined as the accounts receivable listing. On the other hand, when testing for understatement 
of accounts payable, the population would not be the accounts payable listing, but rather 
subsequent disbursements, unpaid invoices, suppliers' statements, unmatched receiving 
reports, or other populations that would provide audit evidence of understatement of accounts 
payable. 

Audit Evidence 

8. The individual items that make up the population are known as sampling units. The 
population can be divided into sampling units in a variety of ways. For example, if the 
auditor's objective were to test the validity of accounts receivables, the sampling unit could 
be defined as customer balances or individual customer invoices. The auditor defines the 
sampling unit in order to obtain an efficient and effective sample to achieve the particular 
audit objectives. 

Stratification 

9. To assist in the efficient and effective design of the sample, stratification may be 
appropriate. Stratification is the process of dividing a population into sub-populations, each 
of which is a group of sampling units, which have similar characteristics (often monetary 
value). The strata need to be explicitly defined so that each sampling unit can belong to only 
one stratum. This process reduces the variability of the items within each stratum. 
Stratification therefore, enables the auditor to direct audit efforts towards the items which, for 
example, contain the greatest potential monetary error. For example, the auditor may direct 
attention to larger value items for accounts receivable to detect overstated material 
misstatements. In addition, stratification may result in a smaller sample size. 

Sample Size 

10. When determining the sample size, the auditor should consider sampling risk, the 
tolerable error, and the expected error. Examples of some factors affecting sample size 
are contained in Appendix 1 and Appendix 2. 
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11. Sampling risk1 arises from the possibility that the auditor's conclusion, based on a 
sample, may be different from the conclusion that would be reached if the entire population 
were subjected to the same audit procedure. 

12. The auditor is faced with sampling risk in both tests of control and substantive procedures 
as follows: 

(a) Tests of Control: 

(i) Risk of Under Reliance: The risk that, although the sample result does not 
support the auditor's assessment of control risk, the actual compliance rate would 
support such an assessment. 

(ii) Risk of Over Reliance: The risk that, although the sample result supports the 
auditor's assessment of control risk, the actual compliance rate would not support 
such an assessment. 

(b) Substantive Procedures: 

(i) Risk of Incorrect Rejection: The risk that, although the sample result supports 
the conclusion that a recorded account balance or class of transactions is materially 
mis-stated, in fact it is not materially misstated. 

(ii)Risk of Incorrect Acceptance: The risk that, although the sample result supports 
the conclusion that a recorded account balance or class of transactions is not 
materially misstated, in fact it is materially misstated. 

  

13. The risk of under reliance and the risk of incorrect rejection affect audit efficiency as they 
would ordinarily lead to additional work being performed by the auditor, or the entity, which 
would establish that the initial conclusions were incorrect. The risk of over reliance and the 
risk of incorrect acceptance affect audit effectiveness and are more likely to lead to an 
erroneous opinion on the financial statements than either the risk of under reliance or the risk 
of incorrect rejection. 

14. Sample size is affected by the level of sampling risk the auditor is willing to accept from 
the results of the sample. The lower the risk the auditor is willing to accept, the greater the 
sample size will need to be. 

Tolerable Error 

15. Tolerable error is the maximum error in the population that the auditor would be willing 
to accept and still conclude that the result from the sample has achieved the audit objective. 
Tolerable error is considered during the planning stage and, for substantive procedures, is 
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related to the auditor's judgement about materiality. The smaller the tolerable error, the 
greater the sample size will need to be. 

16. In tests of control, the tolerable error is the maximum rate of deviation from a prescribed 
control procedure that the auditor would be willing to accept, based on the preliminary 
assessment of control risk. In substantive procedures, the tolerable error is the maximum 
monetary error in an account balance or class of transactions that the auditor would be 
willing to accept so that when the results of all audit procedures are considered, the auditor is 
able to conclude, with reasonable assurance, that the financial statements are not materially 
mis-stated. 

Expected Error 

17. If the auditor expects error to be present in the population, a larger sample than when no 
error is expected ordinarily needs to be examined to conclude that the actual error in the 
population is not greater than the planned tolerable error. Smaller sample sizes are justified 
when the population is expected to be error free. In determining the expected error in a 
population, the auditor would consider such matters as error levels identified in previous 
audits, changes in the entity's procedures, and evidence available from other procedures. 

Selection of the Sample 

18. The auditor should select sample items in such a way that the sample can be 
expected to be representative of the population. This requires that all items in the 
population have an opportunity of being selected. 

19. While there are a number of selection methods, three methods commonly used are: 

* Random selection, which ensures that all items in the population have an equal 
chance of selection, for example, by use of random number tables. 

* Systematic selection, which involves selecting items using a constant interval 
between selections, the first interval having a random start. The interval might be 
based on a certain number of items (for example, every 20th voucher number) or on 
monetary totals (for example, every Rs 1,000 increase in the cumulative value of the 
population). When using systematic selection, the auditor would need to determine 
that the population is not structured in such a manner that the sampling interval 
corresponds with a particular pattern in the population. For example, if in a 
population of branch sales, a particular branch's sales occur only as every 100th item 
and the sampling interval selected is 50, the result would be that the auditor would 
have selected all, or none, of the sales of that particular branch. 

* Haphazard selection, which may be an acceptable alternative to random selection, 
provided the auditor attempts to draw a representative sample from the entire 
population with no intention to either include or exclude specific units. When the 
auditor uses this method, care needs to be taken to guard against making a selection 
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that is biased, for example, towards items which are easily located, as they may not be 
representative. 

Evaluation of Sample Results 

20. Having carried out, on each sample item, those audit procedures that are 
appropriate to the particular audit objective, the auditor should: 

(a) analyse any errors detected in the sample; 

(b) project the errors found in the sample to the population; and 

(c) reassess the sampling risk. 

Analysis of Errors in the Sample 

21. In analysing the errors detected in the sample, the auditor will first need to determine that 
an item in question is in fact an error. In designing the sample, the auditor will have defined 
those conditions that constitute an error by reference to the audit objectives. For example, in 
a substantive procedure relating to the recording of accounts receivable, a mis-posting 
between customer accounts does not affect the total accounts receivable. Therefore, it may be 
inappropriate to consider this an error in evaluating the sample results of this particular 
procedure, even though it may have an effect on other areas of the audit such as the 
assessment of doubtful accounts. 

22. When the expected audit evidence regarding a specific sample item cannot be obtained, 
the auditor may be able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence through performing 
alternative procedures. For example, if a positive account receivable confirmation has been 
requested and no reply was received, the auditor may be able to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence that the receivable is valid by reviewing subsequent payments from the 
customer. If the auditor does not, or is unable to, perform satisfactory alternative procedures, 
or if the procedures performed do not enable the auditor to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence the item would be treated as an error. 

23. The auditor would also consider the qualitative aspects of the errors. These include the 
nature and cause of the error and the possible effect of the error on other phases of the audit. 

24. In analysing the errors discovered, the auditor may observe that many have a common 
feature, for example, type of transaction, location, product line, or period of time. In such 
circumstances, the auditor may decide to identify all items in the population which possess 
the common feature, thereby producing a sub-population, and extend audit procedures in this 
area. The auditor would then perform a separate analysis based on the items examined for 
each sub-population. 

Projection of Errors 
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25. The auditor projects the error results of the sample to the population from which the 
sample was selected. There are several acceptable methods of projecting error results. 
However, in all the cases, the method of projection will need to be consistent with the 
method used to select the sampling unit. When projecting error results, the auditor needs to 
keep in mind the qualitative aspects of the errors found. When the population has been 
divided into sub-population, the projection of errors is done separately for each sub-
population and the results are combined. 

Reassessing Sampling Risk 

26. The auditor needs to consider whether errors in the population might exceed the tolerable 
error. To accomplish this, the auditor compares the projected population error to the tolerable 
error taking into account the results of other audit procedures relevant to the specific control 
or financial statement assertion. The projected population error used for this comparison in 
the case of substantive procedures is net of adjustments made by the entity. When the 
projected error exceeds tolerable error, the auditor reassesses the sampling risk and if that 
risk is unacceptable, would consider extending the audit procedure or performing alternative 
audit procedures. 

Effective Date 

27. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1998. 

APPENDIX 1 

FACTORS INFLUENCE SAMPLE SIZE FOR TESTS OF CONTROL 

Conditions Leading To 

Factor Smaller Sample 
Size 

Larger Sample Size 

Assessment of 
control risk 

Higher preliminary 
assessment of 
control risk 

Lower preliminary 
assessment of 
control risk 

Tolerable error Higher acceptable 
rate of deviation 

Lower acceptable 
rate of deviation 

Allowable risk of over 
reliance 

Higher risk of over 
reliance 

Lower risk of over 
reliance 

Expected error Lower expected rate 
of deviation in 
population 

Higher expected rate 
of deviation in 
population* 

Number of items in 
population 

Virtually no effect on 
sample size unless 
population is small 
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*High expected deviation rates ordinarily warrant little, if any, reduction of control risk and, therefore, tests of controls might be omitted. 

APPENDIX 2 

EXAMPLES OF FACTORS INFLUENCING SAMPLE SIZE FOR SUBSTANTIVE 
PROCEDURES 

Conditions Leading To 

Factor Smaller Sample 
Size 

Higher Sample 
Size 

Assessment of 
control risk 

Lower control risk Higher control risk 

Reduction in 
detection risk 
because of other 
substantive tests 
related to the same 
financial statement 
assertions 

Greater use of other 
substantive tests 

Reduced use of other 
substantive tests 

Tolerable error Large measure of 
tolerable error 

Smaller measure of 
tolerable error 

Expected error Smaller errors or 
lower frequency 

Larger errors or 
higher frequency 

Population value Smaller monetary 
significance to the 
financial statements 

Larger monetary 
significance to the 
financial statements 

Number of items in 
population 

Virtually no effect on 
sample size unless 
population is small 

 

Acceptable level of 
detection risk 

Higher acceptable 
level of detection risk 

Lower acceptable 
level of detection risk 

Stratification Stratification of the 
population, if 
appropriate 

No stratification of 
the population 

 
1Sampling risk can be contrasted with non-sampling risk which arises when the auditor uses any audit procedures. Non-sampling risk 
arises because, for example, most audit evidence is persuasive rather than conclusive, the auditor might use inappropriate procedures 
or might mis-interpret evidence and, thus, fail to recognise an error. The auditor attempts to reduce non-sampling risk to a negligible 
degree by appropriate planning, direction, supervision and review.  

   

Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 16 

Going Concern 
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The following is the text of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 16, "Going 
Concern", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The 
Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards on the auditor's responsibilities in the audit of financial statements regarding the 
appropriateness of the going concern assumption as a basis for the preparation of the 
financial statements. 

2. When planning and performing audit procedures and in evaluating the results 
thereof, the auditor should consider the appropriateness of the going concern 
assumption underlying the preparation of the financial statements. 

3. The auditor's report helps establish the credibility of the financial statements. However, the 
auditor's report is not a guarantee as to the future viability of the entity. 

4. An entity's continuance as a going concern for the foreseeable future, generally a period 
not to exceed one year after the balance sheet date, is assumed in the preparation of financial 
statements in the absence of information to the contrary. Accordingly, assets and liabilities 
are recorded on the basis that the entity will be able to realise its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business. If this assumption is unjustified, the entity may 
not be able to realize its assets at the recorded amounts and there may be changes in the 
amounts and maturity dates of liabilities. As a consequence, the amounts and classification of 
assets and liabilities in the financial statements may need to be adjusted. 

Appropriateness of the Going Concern Assumption 

5. The auditor should consider the risk that the going concern assumption may no 
longer be appropriate. 

6. Indications of risk that continuance as a going concern may be questionable could come 
from the financial statements or from other sources. Examples of such indications that would 
be considered by the auditor are listed below. This listing is not all-inclusive nor does the 
existence of one or more always signify that the going concern assumption needs to be 
questioned. 

Financial Indications 

* Negative net worth or negative working capital. 

* Fixed-term borrowings approaching maturity without realistic prospects of renewal 
or repayment, or excessive reliance on short-term borrowings to finance long-term 
assets. 
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* Adverse key financial ratios. 

* Substantial operating losses. 

* Substantial negative cash flows from operations. 

* Arrears or discontinuance of dividends. 

* Inability to pay creditors on due dates. 

* Difficulty in complying with the terms of loan agreements. 

* Change from credit to cash-on-delivery transactions with suppliers. 

* Inability to obtain financing for essential new product development or other 
essential investments. 

* Entering into a scheme of arrangement with creditors for reduction of liability. 

Operating Indications 

* Loss of key management without replacement. 

* Loss of a major market, franchise, licence, or principal supplier. 

* Labour difficulties or shortages of important supplies. 

Other Indications 

* Non-compliance with capital or other statutory requirements. 

* Pending legal proceedings against the entity that may, if successful, result in 
judgments that could not be met. 

* Changes in legislation or government policy. 

* Sickness of the entity under any statutory definition. 

7. The significance of such indications can often be mitigated by other factors. For example, 
the effect of an entity being unable to make its normal debt repayments may be 
counterbalanced by management's plans to maintain adequate cash flows by alternative 
means, such as by disposal of assets, rescheduling of loan repayments, obtaining additional 
capital or having funding arrangements backed by government. Similarly, the loss of a 
principal supplier may be mitigated by the availability of a suitable alternative source of 
supply. 
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Audit Evidence 

8. When a question arises regarding the appropriateness of the going concern 
assumption, the auditor should gather sufficient appropriate audit evidence to attempt 
to resolve, to the auditor's satisfaction, the question regarding the entity's ability to 
continue in operation for the foreseeable future. 

9. During the course of the audit, the auditor carries out audit procedures designed to obtain 
audit evidence as the basis for the expression of an opinion on the financial statements. When 
a question arises regarding the going concern assumption, certain of these procedures may 
take on additional significance or it may be necessary to perform additional procedures or to 
update information obtained earlier. Procedures that are relevant in this connection may 
include: 

* Analyse and discuss cash flow, profit and other relevant forecasts with 
management. 

* Review events after the balance sheet date for items affecting the entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

* Analyse and discuss the entity's latest available interim financial statements. 

* Review the terms of debentures and loan agreements and determine whether any 
have been breached. 

* Read minutes of the meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and important 
committees for reference to financing difficulties. 

* Review the status of matters under litigation and claims. 

* Confirm the existence, legality and enforceability of arrangements to provide or 
maintain financial support with related and third parties and assess the financial 
ability of such parties to provide additional funds. 

* Consider the entity's position concerning unfilled customer orders. 

10. When analysing cash flow, profit and other relevant forecasts, the auditor would consider 
the reliability of the entity's system for generating such information. The auditor would also 
consider whether the assumptions underlying the forecast appear appropriate in the 
circumstances. In addition, the auditor would compare the prospective data for recent prior 
periods with historical results, and would compare the prospective data for the current period 
with results achieved to date. 

11. The auditor would also consider and discuss with management its plans for future action, 
such as plans to liquidate assets, borrow money or restructure debt, reduce or delay 
expenditure, or increase capital. The relevance of such plans to an auditor generally 
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decreases as the time period for planned actions and anticipated events increases. Particular 
emphasis is ordinarily placed on plans that might have a significant effect on the entity's 
solvency within the foreseeable future. The auditor would obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence that these plans are feasible, are likely to be implemented and that the outcome of 
these plans will improve the situation. The auditor would ordinarily seek written 
representations from management regarding these plans. 

Audit Conclusions and Reporting 

12. After the procedures considered necessary have been carried out, all the information 
required has been obtained, and the effect of any plans of management and other mitigating 
factors have been considered, the auditor would decide whether the question raised regarding 
the going concern assumption has been satisfactorily resolved. 

Going Concern Assumption Considered Appropriate 

13. If, in the auditor's judgement, sufficient appropriate audit evidence has been obtained to 
support the going concern assumption, the auditor would not qualify his report on this 
account. 

14. If, in the auditor's judgement, the going concern assumption is appropriate because 
of mitigating factors, in particular management's plans for future action, the auditor 
should consider whether such plans or other factors need to be disclosed in the financial 
statements. Where the auditor concludes that such plans or other factors need to be 
disclosed, but have not been adequately disclosed, the auditor should express a qualified 
or adverse opinion, as appropriate. 

Going Concern Question not Resolved 

15. If, in the auditor's judgement, the going concern question is not satisfactorily resolved, 
the auditor would consider whether the financial statements: 

(a) adequately describe the principal conditions that raise substantial doubt about the 
entity's ability to continue in operation for the foreseeable future; 

(b) state that there is significant uncertainty that the entity will be able to continue as 
a going concern and, therefore, may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business; and 

(c) state that the financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the 
recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts, or to amounts and 
classification of liabilities that may be necessary if the entity is unable to continue as 
a going concern. 

Provided the disclosure is considered adequate, the auditor would not express a qualified or 
adverse opinion. 
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16. If adequate disclosure is made in the financial statements, the auditor should 
ordinarily express an unqualified opinion. However, he should, in his report, add a 
paragraph that highlights the going concern problem by drawing attention to the note 
in the financial statements that discloses the matters set out in paragraph 15. The 
following is an example of such a paragraph: 

"We draw attention to Note X in the financial statements. The Company incurred a net loss 
of XXX during the year ended March 31, 19X1 and, as of that date, the Company's current 
liabilities exceeded its current assets by XXX and its total liabilities exceeded its total assets 
by XXX. These factors, along with other matters as set forth in Note X, raise substantial 
doubt that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern." 

The auditor is not precluded from expressing a disclaimer of opinion for a going concern 
uncertainty. 

17. If adequate disclosure is not made in the financial statements, the auditor should 
express a qualified or adverse opinion, as appropriate. The following is an example of 
the explanation and opinion paragraphs when a qualified opinion is to be expressed: 

"The Company has been unable to renegotiate its borrowings from its bankers. 
Without such financial support there is substantial doubt that it will be able to 
continue as a going concern. Consequently, adjustments may be required to the 
recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities. The financial statements (and 
notes thereto) do not disclose this fact. 

In our opinion, subject to the omission of the information dealt with in the preceding 
paragraph, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company at March 31, 19X1 and the results of its operations for the year then 
ended." 

Going Concern Assumption Considered Inappropriate 

18. If, on the basis of the additional procedures carried out and the information obtained, 
including the effect of mitigating circumstances, the auditor's judgment is that the entity will 
not be able to continue in operation for the foreseeable future, the auditor would conclude 
that the going concern assumption used in the preparation of the financial statements is 
inappropriate. If the result of the inappropriate assumption used in the preparation of 
the financial statements is so material and pervasive as to make the financial statements 
misleading, the auditor should express an adverse opinion. 

Effective Date 

19. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1999. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 17 

Quality Control for Audit Work 

The following is the text of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 17, "Quality 
Control for Audit Work", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. The Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. From the date this Statement on 
Standard Auditing Practices becomes effective, the Guidance Note on Control of the Quality 
of Audit Work issued by the Institute shall stand withdrawn. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards on the quality control: 

(a) policies and procedures of an audit firm regarding audit work generally; and 

(b) procedures regarding the work delegated to assistants on an individual audit. 

2. Quality control policies and procedures should be implemented at both the level of 
the audit firm and on individual audits. 

3. In this SAP the following terms have the meaning attributed below: 

(a) "the auditor" means the person with final responsibility for the audit; 

(b) "audit firm" means either the partners of a firm providing audit services or a sole 
practitioner providing audit services, as appropriate; 

(a) "personnel" means all partners and professional staff engaged in the audit practice 
of the firm; and 

(b) "assistants" means personnel involved in an individual audit other than the 
auditor. 

Audit Firm 

4. The audit firm should implement quality control policies and procedures designed to 
ensure that all audits are conducted in accordance with Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices (SAPs). 

5. Compliance with Statements on Standard Auditing Practices is essential whenever an audit 
is carried out and requires the application of auditing procedures and reporting practices 
appropriate to the particular circumstances. An audit firm needs to implement appropriate 
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quality control policies and procedures to ensure that all audits are carried out in accordance 
with Statements on Standard Auditing Practices. 

6. The objectives of the quality control policies to be adopted by an audit firm will ordinarily 
incorporate the following: 

a) Professional Requirements: 

Personnel in the firm are to adhere to the principles of Independence, Integrity, 
Objectivity, Confidentiality and Professional Behavior. 

(b) Skills and Competence1: 

The firm is to be staffed by personnel who have attained and maintain the Technical 
Standards and Professional Competence required to enable them to fulfil their 
responsibilities with Due Care. 

(c) Assignment: 

Audit work is to be assigned to personnel who have the degree of technical training 
and proficiency required in the circumstances. 

(d) Delegation: 

There is to be sufficient direction, supervision and review of work at all levels to 
provide reasonable assurance that the work performed meets appropriate standards of 
quality. 

(e) Consultation: 

Whenever necessary, consultation within or outside the firm is to occur with those 
who have appropriate expertise. 

(f) Acceptance and Retention of Clients: 

An evaluation of prospective clients and a review, on an ongoing basis, of existing 
clients is to be conducted. In making a decision to accept or retain a client, the firm's 
independence and ability to serve the client properly are to be considered. 

(g) Monitoring: 

The continued adequacy and operational effectiveness of quality control policies and 
procedures is to be monitored. 
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7. The firm's general quality control policies and procedures should be communicated 
to its personnel in a manner that provides reasonable assurance that the policies and 
procedures are understood and implemented. 

Individual Audits 

8. The auditor should implement those quality control procedures which are, in the 
context of the policies and procedures of the firm, appropriate to the individual audit. 

9. The auditor, and assistants with supervisory responsibilities, will consider the professional 
competence of assistants performing work delegated to them when deciding the extent of 
direction, supervision and review appropriate for each assistant. 

10. Any delegation of work to assistants would be in a manner that provides reasonable 
assurance that such work will be performed with due care by persons having the degree of 
professional competence required in the circumstances. 

Direction 

11. Assistants to whom work is delegated need appropriate direction. Direction involves 
informing assistants of their responsibilities and the objectives of the procedures they are to 
perform. It also involves informing them of matters, such as the nature of the entity's 
business and possible accounting or auditing problems that may affect the nature, timing and 
extent of audit procedures with which they are involved. 

Audit Conclusions and Reporting 

12. The audit programme is an important tool for the communication of audit directions. 
Time budgets and the overall audit plan are also helpful in communicating audit directions. 

Supervision 

13. Supervision is closely related to both direction and review and may involve elements of 
both. 

14. Personnel carrying out supervisory responsibilities perform the following functions 
during the audit: 

(a) monitor the progress of the audit to consider whether: 

(i) assistants have the necessary skills and competence to carry out their 
assigned tasks; 

(ii) assistants understand the audit directions; and 
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(iii) the work is being carried out in accordance with the overall audit plan and 
the audit programme; 

(b) become informed of and address significant accounting and auditing questions 
raised during the audit, by assessing their significance and modifying the overall audit 
plan and the audit programme as appropriate; and 

(c) resolve any differences of professional judgement between personnel and consider 
the level of consultation that is appropriate. 

Review 

15. The work performed by each assistant needs to be reviewed by personnel of at least equal 
competence to consider whether: 

(a) the work has been performed in accordance with the audit programme; 

(b) the work performed and the results obtained have been adequately documented; 

(c) all significant audit matters have been resolved or are reflected in audit 
conclusions; 

(d) the objectives of the audit procedures have been achieved; and 

(e) the conclusions expressed are consistent with the results of the work performed 
and support the audit opinion. 

16. The following need to be reviewed on a timely basis: 

(a) overall audit plan and the audit programme; 

(b) assessments of inherent and control risks, including the results of tests of control 
and the modifications, if any, made to the overall audit plan and the audit programme 
as a result of tests of control; 

(c) documentation of the audit evidence obtained from substantive procedures and the 
conclusions drawn therefrom, including the results of consultations; and 

(d) financial statements, proposed adjustments in financial statements arising out of 
the auditor's examination, and the auditor's proposed observations/report. 

17. The process of reviewing an audit may include, particularly in the case of large complex 
audits, requesting personnel not otherwise involved in the audit to perform certain additional 
procedures before issuing the auditor's report. 

Effective Date 
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18. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 1999. 

______________________________  

1Refer to SAP 1, `Basic Principles Governing an Audit  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 18 

Audit of Accounting Estimates 

The following is the text of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 18, "Audit of Accounting 
Estimates", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The Statement should be 
read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practice (SAP) is to establish standards on 
the audit of accounting estimates contained in financial statements. This SAP is not intended to be 
applicable to the examination of prospective financial information2. 

2. The auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding accounting 
estimates. 

3. "Accounting estimate" means an approximation of the amount of an item in the absence of a 
precise means of measurement. Examples are: 

• Allowances to reduce inventory and accounts receivable to their estimated realisable value.  
• Provisions to allocate the cost of fixed assets over their estimated useful lives.  
• Accrued revenue.  
• Provision for taxation.  
• Provision for a loss from a lawsuit.  
• Insurer's liability for outstanding claims.  
• Losses on construction contracts in progress.  
• Amortisation of certain items like goodwill and deferred revenue expenditure.  
• Provision to meet warranty claims.  
• Provision to meet warranty claims.  
• Provision for retirement benefits in the financial statements of employers.  

4. Management is responsible for making accounting estimates included in financial statements. 
These estimates are often made in conditions of uncertainty regarding the outcome of events that 
have occurred or are likely to occur and involve the use of judgment. As a result, the risk of material 
misstatement is greater when accounting estimates are involved. 

THE NATURE OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

5. The determination of an accounting estimate may be simple or complex, depending upon the 
nature of the item. For example, accruing a charge for rent may be a simple calculation, whereas 
estimating a provision for slow-moving or surplus inventory may involve considerable analysis of 
current data and a forecast of future sales. In complex estimates, a high degree of special knowledge 
and judgment may be required. 

6. Accounting estimates may be determined as part of the routine accounting system operating on a 
continuing basis, or may be non-routine, operating only at the end of the period. In many cases, 
accounting estimates are made by using a formula based on experience, such as the use of standard 
rates for depreciating each category of fixed assets or a standard percentage of sales revenue for 
computing a warranty provision. In such cases, the formula needs to be reviewed regularly by 
management, for example, by reassessing the remaining useful lives of assets or by comparing 
actual results with the estimate and adjusting the formula when necessary. 
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7. The uncertainty associated with an item, or the lack of objective data may make it incapable of 
reasonable estimation, in which case, the auditor needs to consider the same while expressing his 
opinion on the financial statements. 

AUDIT PROCEDURES 

8. The auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to whether an accounting 
estimate is reasonable in the circumstances and, when required, is appropriately disclosed in 
the financial statements. The evidence available to support an accounting estimate will often be 
more difficult to obtain and less conclusive than evidence available to support other items in the 
financial statements. 

9. An understanding of the procedures and methods, including the accounting and internal control 
systems, used by management in making the accounting estimates is often important for the auditor 
to plan the nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures. 

10. The auditor should adopt one or a combination of the following approaches in the audit of 
an accounting estimate: 

a. review and test the process used by management to develop the estimate;  
b. use an independent estimate for comparison with that prepared by management; or  
c. review subsequent events which confirm the estimate made.  

Reviewing and Testing the Process Used by Management 

11. The steps ordinarily involved in reviewing and testing of the process used by management are: 

a. evaluation of the data and consideration of assumptions on which the estimate is based;  
b. testing of the calculations involved in the estimate;  
c. comparison, when possible, of estimates made for prior periods with actual results of those 

periods; and  
d. consideration of management's approval procedures.  

Evaluation of Data and Consideration of Assumptions 

12. The auditor would evaluate whether the data on which the estimate is based is accurate, 
complete and relevant. When accounting data is used, it will need to be consistent with the 
data processed through the accounting system. For example, in substantiating a warranty 
provision, the auditor would obtain audit evidence that the data relating to products still within 
the warranty period, at period end, agree with the sales information within the accounting 
system. 

13. External evidence is, usually, more reliable for the purpose of an audit than internal 
evidence. Accordingly, obtaining external evidence may be warranted in certain 
circumstances. For example, where there may be uncertainties with regard to the anticipated 
future sales of products requiring provision for obsolescence of inventories, the auditor in 
addition to examining internal data such as past levels of sales, orders on hand etc., may seek 
external evidence to corroborate the requirement for inventory obsolescence provision. 
Similarly, in respect of claims against the entity arising out of litigation, internal evidence may 
be required to be corroborated by making a reference to entity's lawyers, if so required. 
Internal evidence relating to provision for gratuity, pension or other terminal benefits for the 
staff, where funded by external agencies, may sought to be corroborated by external 
evidence. 
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14. The auditor would evaluate whether the data collected is appropriately analysed to form a 
reasonable basis for determining the accounting estimate. For example, the analysis of the 
age of accounts receivable to estimate the provision for doubtful debts and advances. 

15. The assumptions used in the accounting estimate will be specific to the entity and would 
be based on internally generated data, while in other cases, the assumptions may be based on 
industry or government statistics. The auditor would evaluate whether the entity has an 
appropriate base for the principal assumptions used in the accounting estimate. 

16. In evaluating the assumptions on which the estimate is based, the auditor would consider, 
among other things, whether they are: 

• Reasonable in light of actual results in prior periods.  
• Consistent with those used for other accounting estimates.  
• Consistent with management's plans which appear appropriate.  

The auditor would need to pay particular attention to assumptions which are sensitive to 
variation, subjective or susceptible to material misstatement. 

17. In the case of complex estimating processes involving specialised techniques, it may be 
necessary for the auditor to use the work of an expert, for example, engineers for estimating 
quantities in stock piles of mineral ores. Requirements as to how to use the work of an expert 
are prescribed in SAP 9, "Using the Work of an Expert." 

18. The auditor would review the continuing appropriateness of formulae used by 
management in the preparation of accounting estimates. For this purpose, the auditor's 
knowledge of the financial results of the entity in prior periods, practices used by other 
entities in the industry and the future plans of management as disclosed to the auditor would 
be useful. 

Testing of Calculations 

19. The auditor would test the calculation procedures used by management. The nature, 
timing and extent of the auditor's testing will depend on such factors as the complexity 
involved in calculating the accounting estimate, the auditor's evaluation of the procedures and 
methods used by the entity in producing the estimate and the materiality of the estimate in the 
context of the financial statements. 

Comparison of Previous Estimates with Actual Results 

20. When possible, the auditor would compare accounting estimates made for prior periods with actual 
results of those periods to assist in: 

a. obtaining evidence about the general reliability of the entity's estimating procedures;  
b. considering whether adjustments to estimating formulae may be required; and  
c. evaluating whether differences between actual results and previous estimates have been quantified 

and that, where necessary, appropriate adjustments or disclosures have been made.  

Consideration of Management's Approval Procedures 

21. Material accounting estimates are ordinarily reviewed and approved by management. The 
auditor would consider whether such review and approval is performed by the appropriate 
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level of management and that it is evidenced in the documentation supporting the 
determination of the accounting estimate. 

Use of an Independent Estimate 

22. The auditor may make or obtain an independent estimate and compare it with the 
accounting estimate prepared by management. When using an independent estimate the 
auditor would ordinarily evaluate the data, consider the assumptions and test the calculation 
procedures used in its development. It may also be appropriate to compare accounting 
estimates so made for prior periods with actual results of those periods. 

Review of Subsequent Events 

23. Transactions and events which occur after period end, but prior to completion of the audit, 
may provide audit evidence regarding an accounting estimate made by management. The 
auditor's review of such transactions and events may reduce, or even remove, the need for the 
auditor to review and test the process used by management to develop the accounting 
estimate or to use an independent estimate in assessing the reasonableness of the 
accounting estimate. 

EVALUATION OF RESULTS OF AUDIT PROCEDURES 

24. The auditor should make a final assessment of the reasonableness of the estimate based 
on the auditor's knowledge of the business and whether the estimate is consistent with other 
audit evidence obtained during the audit. 

25. The auditor would consider whether there are any significant subsequent transactions or 
events which affect the data and the assumptions used in determining the accounting 
estimate. 

26. Because of the uncertainties inherent in accounting estimates, evaluating differences can 
be more difficult than in other areas of the audit. When there is a difference between the 
auditor's estimate of the amount best supported by the available audit evidence and the 
estimated amount included in the financial statements, the auditor would determine whether 
such a difference requires adjustment. If the difference is reasonable, for example, because 
the amount in the financial statements falls within a range of acceptable results, it may not 
require adjustment. However, if the auditor believes the difference is unreasonable, 
management would be requested to revise the estimate. If management refuses to revise the 
estimate, the difference would be considered a misstatement and would be considered with all 
other misstatements in assessing whether the effect on the financial statements is material. 
However, the auditor would also consider whether individual differences which have been 
accepted as reasonable are biased in one direction, so that, on a cumulative basis, they may 
have a material effect on the financial statements. In such circumstances, the auditor would 
evaluate the accounting estimates taken as a whole. 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

27. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits 
commencing on or after 1st April, 2000. 

 
1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices (SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever 
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an independent audit is carried out. Statements on Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective SAPs. 
Their mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to ensure that the SAPs 
are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member 

2 In this regard, it may be noted that the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India has issued a Guidance Note on Accountant's Report on Profit 
Forecasts and/or Financial Forecasts. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 19 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The following is the text of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 19, "Subsequent Events", issued 
by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The Statement should be read in conjunction 
with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish standards on 
the auditor's responsibility regarding subsequent events. In this SAP, the term "subsequent events" is 
used to refer to significant events occurring between the balance sheet date and the date of the 
auditor's report. In the context of audit of a component, such as a branch or division, of an entity 
"subsequent events" would refer to significant events upto the date of the report of the auditor of that 
component of the entity. 

2. The auditor should consider the effect of subsequent events on the financial statements and on the 
auditor's report. 

3. Accounting Standard (AS) 4, "Contingencies and Events Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date", 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, deals with the treatment in financial 
statements of events, both favourable and unfavourable, occurring between the balance sheet date 
and the date on which the financial statements are approved by the Board of Directors in the case of 
a company, and, by the corresponding approving authority in the case of any other entity. AS 4 
identifies two types of events: 

a. (a) those which provide further evidence of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date; 
and  

b. those which are indicative of conditions that arose subsequent to the balance sheet date.  

Audit Procedures 

4. The auditor should perform procedures designed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence that all events up to the date of the auditor's report that may require adjustment of, 
or disclosure in, the financial statements have been identified. These procedures are in addition 
to routine procedures which may be applied to specified transactions occurring after the balance 
sheet date to obtain audit evidence as to account balances as at the balance sheet date, for example, 
the testing of inventory cutoff and payments to creditors. The auditor is not, however, expected to 
conduct a continuing review of all matters to which previously applied procedures have provided 
satisfactory conclusions. 

5. The procedures to identify events that may require adjustment of, or disclosure in, the financial 
statements would be performed as near as practicable to the date of the auditor's report and 
ordinarily include the following: 

• Reviewing procedures that the management has established to ensure that subsequent 
events are identified.  

• Reading minutes of the meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and audit and 
executive committees held after the balance sheet date and inquiring about matters 
discussed at meetings for which minutes are not yet recorded.  
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• Reading the entity's latest available interim financial statements and, as considered 
necessary and appropriate, budgets, cash flow forecasts and other related management 
reports.  

• Inquiring, or extending previous oral or written inquiries, of the entity's lawyers concerning 
litigation and claims.  

• Inquiring of management as to whether any subsequent events have occurred after the 
balance sheet date which might affect the financial statements. Examples of inquiries of 
management on specific matters are:  

§ The current status of items that were accounted for on the basis of preliminary or 
inconclusive data.  

§ Whether there have been any developments regarding risk areas and contingencies.  
§ Whether any unusual accounting adjustments have been made or are contemplated.  
§ Whether any events have occurred or are likely to occur which will bring into question the 

appropriateness of accounting policies used in the financial statements as would be the case, 
for example, if such events call into question the validity of the going concern assumption.  

6. When a component, such as a division or a branch, of an entity, has already been audited by 
another auditor, the principal auditor would make similar enquiries as set out in para 5 in respect of 
events, occurring between the date of signing of the report of the auditor of the component of the 
entity and signing of his report. 

7. When the auditor becomes aware of events which materially affect the financial statements, 
the auditor should consider whether such events are properly accounted for in the financial 
statements. When the management does not account for such events that the auditor believes 
should be accounted for, the auditor should express a qualified opinion or an adverse opinion 
as appropriate. 

Effective Date 

8. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits commencing on or 
after 1st April, 2000. 

 

With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay down the principles governing an audit. These 
principles apply whenever an independent audit is carried out. Statements on Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the 
dates specified in the respective SAPs. Their mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of 
the members of the Institute to ensure that the SAPs are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, 
for any reason, a member has not been able to perform an audit in accordance with the SAPs, his report should draw attention to the 
material departures therefrom. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 20 

Knowledge of the Business 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 20, "Knowledge of 
the Business", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This 
Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing 
Practices", issued by the Institute. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement is to establish standards on what is knowledge of the business, why 
it is important to the auditor and to members of the audit staff working on an engagement, why it is 
relevant to all phases of an audit, and how the auditor obtains and uses that knowledge. 

2.In performing an audit of financial statements, the auditor should have or obtain knowledge 
of the business sufficient to enable the auditor to identify and understand the events, 
transactions and practices that, in the auditor's judgment, may have a significant effect on the 
financial statements or on the examination or audit report. Such knowledge is used by the 
auditor in assessing inherent and control risks and in determining the nature, timing and extent of 
audit procedures. 

3. The auditor's level of knowledge for an engagement would include a general knowledge of the 
economy and the industry within which the entity operates, and a more particular knowledge of how 
the entity operates. The level of knowledge required by the auditor would, however, ordinarily be less 
than that possessed by management. A list of matters to be considered in a specific engagement is 
set out in the Appendix. 

Obtaining the Knowledge 

4. Prior to accepting an engagement, the auditor would obtain a preliminary knowledge of the industry 
and of the nature of ownership, management and operations of the entity to be audited, and would 
consider whether a level of knowledge of the business adequate to perform the audit can be 
obtained. 

5. Following acceptance of the engagement, further and more detailed information would be obtained. 
To the extent practicable, the auditor would obtain the required knowledge at the start of the 
engagement. As the audit progresses, that information would be assessed and updated and more 
information would be obtained. 

Obtaining the required knowledge of the business is a continuous and cumulative process of 
gathering and assessing the information and relating the resulting knowledge to audit evidence and 
information at all stages of the audit. For example, although information is gathered at the planning 
stage, it is ordinarily refined and added to in later stages of the audit as the auditor and the members 
of his audit staff learn more about the business. 

7. For continuing engagements, the auditor would update and re-evaluate information gathered 
previously, including information in the prior year's working papers. The auditor would also perform 
procedures designed to identify significant changes that have taken place since the last audit. 

8. The auditor can obtain knowledge of the industry and the entity from a number of sources. For 
example: 
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• Previous experience with the entity and its industry.  
• Discussion with people with the entity (for example, directors and senior operating 

personnel).  
• Discussion with internal audit personnel and review of internal audit reports.  
• Discussion with other auditors and with legal and other advisors who have provided services 

to the entity or within the industry.  
• Discussion with knowledgeable people outside the entity (for example, industry economists, 

industry regulators, customers and suppliers).  
• Publications related to the industry (for example, government statistics, surveys, texts, trade 

journals, reports prepared by banks and institutions and financial newspapers).  
• Legislation and regulations that significantly affect the entity.  
• Visits to the entity premises and plant facilities.  
• Documents produced by the entity (for example, minutes of meetings, material sent to 

shareholders or furnished to regulatory authorities, promotional literature, prior years' annual 
and financial reports, budgets, internal management reports, interim financial reports, 
management policy manual, manuals of accounting and internal control systems, chart of 
accounts, job descriptions, marketing and sales plans).  

Using the Knowledge 

9. Knowledge of the business is a frame of reference within which the auditor exercises professional 
judgment. Understanding the business and using this information appropriately assists the auditor in: 

• Assessing risks and identifying problems.  
• Planning and performing the audit effectively and efficiently.  
• Evaluating audit evidence.  
• Providing better service to the client.  

10. The auditor makes judgments about many matters throughout the course of the audit where 
knowledge of the business is important. For example: 

• Assessing inherent risk and control risk.  
• Considering business risks and management's response thereto.  
• Developing the overall audit plan and the audit programme.  
• Determining a materiality level and assessing whether the materiality level chosen remains 

appropriate.  
• Assessing audit evidence to establish its appropriateness and the validity of the related 

financial statement assertions.  
• Evaluating accounting estimates and management representations.  
• Identifying areas where special audit consideration and skills may be necessary.  
• Identifying related parties and related party transactions.  
• Recognising conflicting information (for example, contradictory representations).  
• Recognising unusual circumstances (for example, fraud and non-compliance with laws and 

regulations, unexpected relationships of statistical operating data with reported financial 
results).  

• Making informed inquiries and assessing the reasonableness of answers.  
• Considering the appropriateness of accounting policies and financial statement disclosures.  

11. The auditor should ensure that the audit staff assigned to an audit engagement obtain 
sufficient knowledge of the business to enable them to carry out the audit work delegated to 
them. The auditor would also ensure that the audit staff understand the need to be alert for additional 
information and the need to share that information with the auditor and other audit staff. 
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12. To make effective use of knowledge about the business, the auditor should consider how 
it affects the financial statements taken as a whole and whether the assertions in the financial 
statements are consistent with the auditor's knowledge of the business.  

Effective Date 

13. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits 
commencing on or after 1st April, 2000. 

APPENDIX 

Knowledge of the Business - Matters to Consider 

This list covers a broad range of matters applicable to many engagements; however, 
not all matters will be relevant to every engagement and the listing is only illustrative. 

A. General economic factors 

General level of economic activity (for example, recession, growth) 

• Interest rates and availability of finance  
• Inflation, currency revaluation  
• Government policies :-  

- monetary  

- fiscal  

- taxation-corporate and other  

- financial incentives (for example, government grants and subsidies)  

- tariffs, trade restrictions  

• Foreign currency rates and controls  

B. The industry - important conditions affecting the client's business 

• The market and competition  
• Cyclical or seasonal activity .  
• Changes in product technology  
• Business risk (for example, high technology, high fashion, ease of entry for 

competition)  
• Declining or expanding operations  
• Adverse conditions (for example, declining demand, excess capacity, serious 

price competition)  
• Key ratios and operating statistics  
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• Specific accounting practices and problems  
• Environmental requirements and problems  
• Legislation and Regulatory framework  
• Energy supply and cost  
• Specific or unique practices (for example, relating to labour contracts, 

financing methods, accounting methods)  

C The entity 

1. Management and ownership - important characteristics  

• Structure of entity (corporate and non-corporate) - private, public, government 
(including any recent or planned changes)  

• Beneficial owners and related parties (local, foreign, business reputation and 
experience)  

• Capital structure (including any recent or planned changes)  
• Organizational structure  
• Management objectives, philosophy, strategic plans  
• Business restructuring - Acquisitions, mergers or disposals of business 

activities (planned or recently executed)  
• Sources and methods of financing (current, historical)  
• Board of directors - Corporate form  

- composition  

- business reputation and experience of individuals  

- independence from and control over operating management  

- frequency of meetings  

- existence of audit committee and scope of its activities  

- existence of policy on corporate conduct  

• Members of the Managing Committee (by whatever name called) - non-
corporate entities  

- composition and election of members  

- business reputation and experience of individuals  

- independence from and control over operating management  

- frequency of meetings  
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- existence of policy on conduct of business by the enterprise  

• Operating Management  

- experience and reputation  

- turnover  

- key financial personnel and their status in the organization  

- staffing of accounting department  

- incentive or bonus plans as part of remuneration (for example, based 
on profit)  

- use of forecasts and budgets  

- pressures on management (for example, over-extended dominance 
by one individual, , unreasonable deadlines for announcing results)  

- management information systems  

• Internal audit function (existence, quality)  
• Attitude to internal control environment  

2. The entity's business - products, markets, suppliers, expenses, operations. 

• Nature of business(es) (for example, manufacturer, wholesaler, financial 
services, import/export)  

• Location of production facilities, warehouses, offices  
• Employment (for example, by location, supply, wage levels, union contracts, 

pension commitments, government regulation)  
• Products or services and markets (for example, major customers and 

contracts, terms of payment, profit margins, market share, competitors, 
exports, pricing policies, reputation of products, warranties, order book, 
trends, marketing strategy and objectives, manufacturing processes)  

• Important suppliers of goods and services (for example, long-term contracts, 
stability of supply, terms of payment, imports, methods of delivery such as 
"just-in-time")  

• Inventories (for example, locations, quantities)  
• Franchises, licenses, patents  
• Important expense categories  
• Research and development  
• Foreign currency assets, liabilities and transactions - by currency hedging  
• Legislation and regulation that significantly affect the entity  
• Information systems - current, plans to change  
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3. Financial performance - factors concerning the entity's financial condition and 
profitability 

• Key ratios and operating statistics  
• Trends  
• Debt structure, including covenants and restrictions  

4. Reporting environment - external influences which affect management in the 
preparation of the financial statements 

5. Legislation 

• Regulatory environment and requirements  
• Taxation, both direct and indirect  
• Measurement and disclosure issues peculiar to the business  
• Audit reporting requirements  
• Users of the financial statements.  

 

With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices (SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever 
an independent audit is carried out. Statements on Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective SAPs. 
Their mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to ensure that the SAPs 
are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform an sudit in 
accordance with the SAPs, his report should draw attention to the material departures therefrom. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 21   

Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements  

   

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 21, 
"Consideration of Laws and Regulations in an Audit of Financial Statements", issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Statement should be read in conjunction 
with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute1.  

 INTRODUCTION 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards on the auditor's responsibility regarding consideration of laws and 
regulations in an audit of financial statements. 
 
   

2. When planning and performing audit procedures and in evaluating and 
reporting the results thereof, the auditor should recognize that non-compliance 
by the entity with the laws and regulations may materially affect the financial 
statements. However, an audit cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all 
laws and regulations. Detection of non-compliance, regardless of materiality, requires 
consideration of the implications for the integrity of management or employees and 
the possible effect on other aspects of the audit. 
 
   

3. The term "non-compliance" as used in the SAP refers to acts of omission or 
commission by the entity being audited, either intentional or unintentional, which are 
contrary to the prevailing laws or regulations. Such acts include transactions entered 
into by, or in the name of, the entity or on its behalf by its management or employees. 
For the purpose of this SAP, non-compliance does not include personal misconduct 
(unrelated to the business activities of the entity) by the entity's management or 
employees. 
 
   

4. Whether an act constitutes non-compliance is a legal determination that is ordinarily 
beyond the auditor's professional competence. The auditor's training, experience and 
understanding of the entity and its industry may provide a basis for recognition that 
some acts coming to the auditor's attention may constitute non-compliance is 
generally based on the advice of an informed expert qualified to practise law but 
ultimately can only be determined by a court of law. 
 
   

5. Laws and regulations vary considerably in their relation to the financial statements. 
Some laws or regulations determine the form or content of an entity's financial 
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statements or the amounts to be recorded or disclosures to be made in financial 
statements. Other laws or regulations are to be complied with by management or 
prescribe the provisions under which entity is allowed to conduct its business. Some 
entities operate in heavily regulated industries (such as banks, sugar and 
pharmaceuticals industries). Others are only subject to the many laws and regulations 
that generally relate to the operating aspects of the business (such as those related to 
occupational safety and health). Non-compliance with laws and regulations could 
result in financial consequences for the entity such as fines, litigations, etc. Generally, 
the further removed non-compliance is from the events and transactions ordinarily 
reflected in financial statements, the less likely the auditor is to become aware of it or 
recognize its possible non-compliance. 
 
   

6. This SAP applies to audits of financial statements and does not apply to other 
engagements in which the auditor is specifically engaged to test and report separately 
on compliance with specific laws or regulations. 
 
   

7. The auditor's responsibility to consider fraud and errors in an audit of financial 
statements is provided in SAP 4, "Fraud and Error." 
 
 
RESPONSIBILITY OF MANAGEMENT FOR THE COMPLIANCE WITH 
LAWS AND REGULATIONS 
   

8. It is management's responsibility to ensure that the entity's operations are conducted 
in accordance with laws and regulations. The responsibility for the prevention and 
detection of non-compliance rests with management. 
 
   

9. The following policies and procedures, among others, may assist management in 
discharging its responsibilities for the prevention and detection of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations: 
   
§ Monitoring legal requirements and ensuring that operating procedures are 

designed to meet these requirements. 
   

§ Instituting and operating appropriate systems of internal control. 
   

§ Developing, publicising and following a Code of Conduct2. 
   

§ Ensuring employees are properly trained and understand the Code of Conduct. 
   

§ Monitoring compliance with the Code of Conduct and acting appropriately to 
discipline employees who fail to comply with it. 
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§ Establishing a legal department and/or engaging legal advisors to assist in 
monitoring legal requirements. 
   

§ Maintaining a register of significant laws with which the entity has to comply 
within its particular industry and a record of complaints in respect of non-
compliance. 
   

§ In larger entities, these policies and procedures may be supplemented by 
assigning responsibilities to: 
   

§ An internal audit function. 
   

§ An audit committee.  

   

THE AUDITOR'S CONSIDERATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND 
REGULATIONS 

10. The auditor is not, and cannot be held responsible for preventing non-compliance. 
The fact that an audit is carried out may, however, act as a deterrent. 
   

11.  An audit is subject to the unavoidable risk that some material misstatements of the 
financial statements will not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned 
and performed in accordance with SAPs and other generally accepted audit 
procedures. This risk is higher with regard to material misstatements resulting from 
non-compliance with laws and regulations due to factors such as: 
   
§ Existence of laws and regulations, relating to the operating aspects of the 

entity, that do not have a material effect on the financial statements and are 
not captured by the accounting and internal control systems. 
   

§ The inherent limitations of the accounting and internal control systems and the 
testing procedures. 
   

§ Persuasive rather than conclusive nature of audit evidence, in general. 
   

§ Deliberate designs, such as collusion, forgery, deliberate failure to record 
transactions, senior management override of controls or intentional 
misrepresentations being made to the auditor, to conceal non-compliance. 
 
   

12. The auditor should plan and perform the audit recognizing that the audit may 
reveal conditions or events that would  lead to questioning whether an entity is 
complying with laws and regulations. 
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13. In accordance with specific statutory requirements, the auditor may be specifically 
required to report as part of the audit of the financial statements whether the entity 
complies with certain provisions of laws or regulations. In these circumstances, the 
auditor would plan to test for compliance with these provisions of the laws and 
regulations. 
 
   

14. In order to plan the audit, the auditor should obtain a general understanding of 
the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the entity and how the entity is 
complying with that framework. 
 
   

15.  In obtaining this general understanding, the auditor would particularly recognize that 
non-compliance of some laws and regulations may have a fundamental effect on the 
operations of the entity and may even cause the entity to cease operations, or call into 
question the entity's continuance as a going concern. For example, a Non-Banking 
Financial Company might have to cease to carry on the business of a non-banking 
financial institution if it fails to obtain a certificate of registration issued under 
Chapter IIIB of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 and if its Net Owned Funds are 
less than the amount specified by the RBI in this regard. 
 
   

16.  To obtain the general understanding of laws and regulations, the auditor would 
ordinarily: 
   
§ Use the existing knowledge of the entity's industry and business. 

   
§ Inquire of management as to the laws and regulations that may be expected to 

have a fundamental effect on the operations of the entity. 
   

§ Inquire of management concerning the entity's policies and procedures 
regarding compliance with laws and regulations. 
   

§ Discuss with management the policies or procedures adopted for identifying, 
evaluating and accounting for litigation claims and assessments. 
 
   

17.  After obtaining the general understanding, the auditor should perform 
procedures to identify instances of non-compliance with these laws and 
regulations where non-compliance should be considered when preparing 
financial statements, specifically: 
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§ Inquiring of management as to whether the entity is in compliance with 
such laws and regulations. 
   

§ Inspecting correspondence with the relevant licensing or regulatory 
authorities. 
 
   

18.  Further, the auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about 
compliance with those laws and regulations generally recognised by the auditor 
to have an effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in 
financial statements. The auditor should have a sufficient understanding of these 
laws and regulations in order to consider them when auditing the assertions 
related to the determination of the amounts to be recorded and the disclosures to 
be made. 
 
   

19. Such laws and regulations would be well established and known to the entity and 
within the industry; they would be considered on a recurring basis each time financial 
statements are issued. These laws and regulations may relate, for example, to the form 
and content of financial statements, including industry specific requirements or the 
accrual or recognition of expenses for retirement benefits etc. 
 
   

20. Other than as described in paragraphs 17, 18, and 19, the auditor need not test or 
perform other procedures on the entity's compliance with laws and regulations since 
this would be outside the scope of an audit of financial statements. 
 
   

21. The auditor should be conscious that procedures applied for the purpose of 
forming an opinion on the financial statements may bring instances of possible 
non-compliance with laws and regulations to the auditor's attention. For 
example, such procedures include reading minutes; inquiring of the entity's 
management and legal counsel concerning litigation, claims and assessments; and 
performing substantive tests of details of transactions or balances. 
 
   

22. The auditor should obtain written representations that management has 
disclosed to the auditor all known actual or possible non-compliance with laws 
and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial 
statements. 
 
   

23. In absence of evidence to the contrary, the auditor is entitled to assume the entity is in 
compliance with these laws and regulations.  
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PROCEDURES WHEN NON-COMPLIANCE IS DISCOVERED 

24. The Appendix to this SAP sets out examples of the type of information that 
might come to the auditor's attention that may indicate non-compliance. 
 
   

25. When the auditor becomes aware of information concerning a possible 
instances of non-compliance, the auditor should obtain an 
understanding of the nature of the act and the circumstances in which it 
has occurred, and sufficient other information to evaluate the possible 
effect on the financial statements. 
 
   

26.  When evaluating the possible effect on the financial statements, the auditor 
considers: 
 
   
§ The potential financial consequences, such as fines, penalties, 

damages, litigation, threat of expropriation of assets and enforced 
discontinuation of operations, including vitiation of going concern 
assumption. 
   

§ Whether the potential financial consequences require disclosure. 
   

§ Whether the potential financial consequences are so serious as to call 
into question the true and fair view given by the financial statements. 
 
   

27. When the auditor believes there may be non-compliance, the auditor 
should document the findings and discuss them with management. 
Documentation of findings would include copies of records and documents 
and making minutes of conversations, if appropriate. 
 
   

28. If management does not provide satisfactory information that it is in fact in 
compliance, the auditor would consult with the entity's lawyer about 
application of the laws and regulations to the circumstances and the possible 
effects on the financial statements. When it is not considered appropriate to 
consult with the entity's lawyer or when the auditor is not satisfied with the 
opinion, the auditor would consider consulting some other lawyer as to 
whether a violation of a laws and regulations is involved, the possible legal 
consequences and what further action, if any, the auditor would take. 
 
   

29. When adequate information about the suspected non-compliance 
cannot be obtained, the auditor should consider the effect of the lack of 
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audit evidence on the auditor's report. 
 
   

30. The auditor should consider the implications of non-compliance in 
relation to other aspects of the audit, particularly the reliability of 
management representations. In this regard, the auditor reconsiders the 
risk assessment and the validity of management representations, in case of 
non-compliance not detected by internal controls or not included in 
management representations. The implications of particular instances of non-
compliance discovered by the auditor will depend on the relationship of the 
perpetration and concealment, if any, of the act to specific control procedures 
and the level of management or employees involved.  

   

COMMUNICATION / REPORTING OF NON-COMPLIANCE 

To Management 

31. The auditor should, as soon as possible, either communicate with the 
audit committee, the board of directors and senior management, or 
obtain evidence that they are appropriately informed, regarding non-
compliance that comes to the auditors' attention. However, the auditor 
need not do so for matters that are clearly inconsequential or trivial and may 
reach agreement in advance on the nature of such matters to be 
communicated. 
 
   

32. If in the auditor's judgement the non-compliance is believed to be 
intentional and / or material, the auditor should communicate the finding 
without delay. 
 
   

33. If the auditor suspects that members of senior management, including 
members of the board of directors, are involved in non-compliance, the 
auditor should communicate the matter to the next higher level of 
authority at the entity, such as an audit committee or board of directors. 
Where no higher authority exists, or if the auditor believes that the 
communication may not be acted upon or is unsure as to the person to whom 
to report, the auditor may consider seeking legal advice.  

   

To the Users of the Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements 
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34. If the auditor concludes that the non-compliance has a material effect on the 
financial statements, the auditor should express a qualified or an adverse 
opinion. 
 
   

35. If the auditor is precluded by the entity from obtaining sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence to evaluate whether non-compliance that may be material to the 
financial statements, has, or is likely to have, occurred, the auditor should 
express a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion on the financial statements 
on the basis of a limitation on the scope of the audit.  
 
   

36. If the auditor is unable to determine whether non-compliance has occurred 
because of limitations imposed by the circumstances rather than by the entity, 
the auditor should consider the effect on the auditor's report.  

   

To Regulatory and Enforcement Authorities 

37. The auditor's duty of confidentiality would ordinarily preclude reporting non-
compliance to a third party. However, in certain circumstances, that duty of 
confidentiality is overridden by statute, law or by courts of law (for example, 
the auditor is required to report certain matters of non-compliance to the 
Reserve Bank of India as per the requirements of Non-Banking Financial 
companies Auditor's Report (Reserve Bank) Directions, 1988, issued by the 
Reserve Bank of India.)  

   

WITHDRAWAL FROM THE ENGAGEMENT 

38. The auditor may conclude that withdrawal from the engagement is necessary 
when the entity does not take the remedial action that the auditor considers 
necessary in the circumstances, even when the non-compliance is not 
material to the financial statements. Factors that would affect the auditor's 
conclusion include within the implications of the involvement of the highest 
authority within the entity which may affect the reliability of management 
representations, and the effects on the auditor of continuing association with 
the entity. In appropriate circumstances, the auditor may consider seeking 
legal advice. 
 
   

39. An outgoing auditor, on receiving communication from the incoming 
auditor, should send a reply to him as soon as possible, setting out in 
detail the reasons, which according to him had given rise to the 
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attendant circumstances but without disclosing any information as 
regards the affairs of the client which he is not competent to do. 
However, with the permission of the client he may disclose information 
regarding affairs of the client to the incoming auditor.  

   

EFFECTIVE DATE 

40. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all 
audits commencing on or after 1st July, 2001.  

   

APPENDIX 

Indications That Non-compliance May Have Occurred  

Examples of the type of information that may come to the auditor's attention that 
may indicate that non-compliance with laws and regulations has occurred are listed 
below: 

§ Investigation by government departments or payment of fines, additional 
taxes or penalties. 
   

§ Payment for unspecified services or loans to consultants, related parties, 
employees or government employees. 
   

§ Sales commission or agent's fees that appear excessive in relation to those 
ordinarily paid by the entity or in its industry or to those ordinarily paid by the 
entity or in its industry or to the services actually received. 
   

§ Purchases at prices significantly above or below market price. 
   

§ Unusual payments in cash and other unusual transactions. 
   

§ Unusual transactions with companies registered in tax havens. 
   

§ Payments for goods or services made other than to the country from which 
the goods or services originated. 
   

§ Payments without proper exchange control documentation. 
   

§ Existence of an accounting system which fails, whether by design or by 
accident, to provide an adequate audit trail or sufficient evidence. 
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§ Unauthorized transactions or improperly recorded transactions. 
   

§ Media comment.  

   

1. With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices (SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever 
an independent audit is carried out. Statements on Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective SAPs. The 
mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to ensure that SAPs are 
following in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform an audit in 
accordance with the SAPs, his report should draw attention to the material departures therefrom.  

 2. Code of Conduct in this context means a document containing standard instructions to be followed by employees for ensuring compliance with 
laws and regulations.  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 22 

 Initial Engagements - Opening Balance 

  

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 22, "Initial 
Engagements - Opening Balance", issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
This Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute1.  

   

INTRODUCTION 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards regarding audit of opening balances in case of initial engagement, i.e. when 
the financial statements are audited for the first time or when the financial statements 
for the preceding period were audited by another auditor. This Statement would also 
be considered by the auditor so that he may become aware of contingencies and 
commitments existing at the beginning of the current period. 
 
   

2. "Opening balances" means those account balances which exist at the beginning of the 
period. Opening balances are the closing balances of the preceding period brought 
forward to the current period and reflect the effect of: 
 
(a) transactions and other events of the preceding periods; and 
 
(b) accounting policies applied in the preceding period. 
 
   

3. For initial audit engagements, the auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence that: 
 
(a) the closing balances of the preceding period have been correctly brought 
forward to the current period; 
 
(b) the opening balances do not contain misstatements that materially affect the 
financial statements for the current period; and 
 
(c) appropriate accounting policies are consistently applied. 
 
   

4. In an initial audit engagement, the auditor will not have previously obtained audit 
evidence supporting the opening balances  
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AUDIT PROCEDURES 

5. For the purpose of the Statement, the sufficiency and appropriateness of the audit 
evidence the auditor will need to obtain regarding opening balances would depend on 
the following matters: 
   
§ The accounting policies followed by the entity. 

   
§ Whether the auditor's report, contained an unqualified opinion, a qualified 

opinion, adverse opinion or disclaimer of opinion where the financial 
statements for the preceding period were audited. 
   

§ The nature of the opening balances, including the risk of their misstatement in 
the financial statements for the current period. 
   

§ The materiality of the opening balances relative to the financial statements for 
the current period. 
 
   

6. The auditor will need to consider whether the accounting policies followed in the 
preceding period, as per which the opening balances have been arrived at, were 
appropriate and that those policies are consistently applied in the financial statements 
for the current period and where such accounting policies are inappropriate, the same 
have been changed in the current period and adequately disclosed. 
 
   

7. When the financial statements for the preceding period were audited by another 
auditor, the current auditor may be able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding opening balances by perusing the copies of the audited financial statements. 
Ordinarily, the current auditor can place reliance on the closing balances contained in 
the financial statements for the preceding period, except when during the performance 
of audit procedures for the current period the possibility of misstatements in the 
opening balances is indicated. 
 
   

8. When the financial statements of the preceding period were not audited or the auditor 
is not satisfied by using the procedures described in paragraph 7, the auditor will need 
to perform other procedures such as those disclosed in paragraphs 9 and 10. 
 
   

9. For the current assets and liabilities, some audit evidence can ordinarily be obtained 
as part of the audit procedures performed during the current period. For example, the 
collection / payment of opening accounts receivable / accounts payable during the 
current period will provide some audit evidence as to their existence, rights and 
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obligations, completeness and valuation at the beginning of the period. 
 
   

10. For other assets and liabilities, such as fixed assets, investments and long-term debt, 
the auditor will ordinarily examine the records underlying the opening balances. In 
certain cases, the auditor may be able to obtain confirmation of opening balances 
from third parties, for example, for long-term debt and investments.  

   

AUDIT CONCLUSIONS AND REPORTING 

11. If, after performing procedures including those set out above, the auditor is 
unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning opening 
balances, the auditor should, as appropriate, express: 
 
(a) a qualified opinion, or 
 
(b) a disclaimer of opinion. 
 
The auditor may also express an opinion which is qualified or disclaimed regarding 
state of affairs, as appropriate. 
  

12.  If the opening balances contain misstatements which materially affect the 
financial statements for the current period and the effect of the same is not 
properly accounted for and adequately disclosed, the auditor should express 
a qualified opinion or an adverse opinion, as appropriate. 

   

EFFECTIVE DATE  

13. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all 
audits commencing on or after 1st July, 2001.  

1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices (SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever 
an independent audit is carried out. Statements on Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective SAPs. The 
mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to ensure that SAPs are 
following in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform an audit in 
accordance with the SAPs, his report should draw attention to the material departures therefrom. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 23 

Related Parties  

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) 23, "Related 
Parties", issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Statement should be 
read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices", 
issued by the Institute1.  

   

 INTRODUCTION 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards on the auditor's responsibilities and audit procedures regarding related 
parties and transactions with such parties. 
 
   

2. The auditor should perform audit procedures designed to obtain sufficient appropriate 
audit evidence regarding the identification and disclosure by management of related 
parties and the related party transactions that are material to the financial statements. 
However, an audit cannot be expected to detect all related party transactions. 
 
   

3. In certain circumstances there are limitations that may affect the persuasiveness of 
evidence available to the auditor to draw conclusions on particular financial statement 
assertions. Because of the degree of uncertainty associated with the financial 
statement assertions regarding the completeness of information of related parties, the 
procedures identified in this SAP will provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding those assertions in the absence of any circumstance identified by the auditor 
that : 
 
(a) increases the risk of misstatement beyond that which would ordinarily be 
expected; or 
 
(b) indicates that a material misstatement regarding related parties has occurred. 
 
Where there is any indication that such circumstances exist, the auditor should 
perform modified, extended or additional procedures as are appropriate in the 
circumstances. 
 
   

4. Definitions regarding related parties are given in AS 18 and are adopted for the 
purposes of this SAP.2 
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5. Management is responsible for the identification and disclosure of related parties and 
transactions with such parties. This responsibility requires management to implement 
adequate accounting and internal control systems to ensure that transactions with 
related parties are appropriately identified in the accounting records and disclosed in 
the financial statements. 
 
   

6. The auditor needs to have a level of knowledge of the entity's business and industry 
that will enable identification of the events, transactions and practices that may have a 
material effect on the financial statements. While the existence of related parties and 
transactions between such parties are considered ordinary features of business, the 
auditor needs to be aware of them because: 
 
(a) the financial reporting framework may require disclosure in the financial 
statements of certain related party relationships and transactions, such as those 
required by AS 18; 
 
(b) the existence of related parties or related party transactions may affect the 
financial statements. For example, the entity's tax liability and expense may be 
affected by the tax laws in various jurisdictions which require special consideration 
when related parties exist; 
 
(c) the source of audit evidence affects the auditor's assessment of its reliability. A 
greater degree of reliance may be placed on audit evidence that is obtained from or 
created by unrelated third parties; and 
 
(d) a related party transaction may be motivated by other than ordinary business 
considerations, for example, profit sharing or even fraud.  

   

Existence and Disclosure of Related Parties  

7.  The auditor should review information provided by the directors and 
management identifying the names of all known related parties and 
should perform the following procedures in respect of the completeness 
of this information : 
 
(a) review his working papers for the prior years for names of known 
related parties; 
 
(b) review the entity's procedures for identification of related parties; 
 
(c) inquire as to the affiliation of directors and key management 
personnel3,  officers with other entities; 
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(d) review shareholder records to determine the names of principal 
shareholders or, if appropriate, obtain a list of principal shareholders 
from the share register; 
 
(e) review memorandum and articles of association, minutes of the 
meetings of shareholders and the board of directors and other relevant 
statutory records such as the register of directors' interests; 
 
(f) inquire of other auditors4 of the entity as to their knowledge of 
additional related parties and review the report of the predecessor 
auditors; 
 
(g) review the entity's income tax returns and other information supplied 
to regulatory agencies; and 
 
(h) review the joint venture and other relevant agreements entered into 
by the entity. 
 
If, in the auditor's judgement, the risk of significant related parties 
remaining undetected is low, these procedures may be modified as 
appropriate. 
 
  

8.  Where the financial reporting framework requires disclosure of related 
party relationships, the auditor should satisfy himself that the 
disclosure is adequate.  

   

Transactions with Related Parties  

9.  The auditor should review information provided by the directors and 
key management personnel identifying related party transactions and 
should be alert for other material related party transactions. 
  

10. When obtaining an understanding of the accounting and internal control systems and 
making a preliminary assessment of control risk, the auditor should consider the 
adequacy of control procedures over the authorisation and recording of related party 
transactions. 
  

11. During the course of the audit, the auditor needs to be alert for transactions which appear 
unusual in the circumstances and may indicate the existence of previously unidentified 
related parties. Examples include:  
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§  Transactions which have abnormal terms of trade, such as unusual prices, interest rates, 
guarantees, and repayment terms.  

§  Transactions which lack an apparent logical business reason for their 
occurrence.  

§  Transactions in which substance differs from form.  

§  Transactions processed in an unusual manner.  

§  High volume or significant transactions with certain customers or suppliers as 
compared with others.  

§  Rendition of services without receipt or provision of management services at no 
charge. 
  

12. During the course of the audit, the auditor carries out procedures which may 
identify the existence of transactions with related parties. Examples include: 

§  Performing detailed tests of transactions and balances. 

§  Reviewing minutes of meetings of shareholders and directors.  

§  Reviewing accounting records for large or unusual transactions or balances, 
paying particular attention to transactions recognised at or near the end of the 
reporting period.  

§  Reviewing the entity's income tax returns and other information supplied to regulatory 
agencies.  

§  Reviewing confirmations of loans receivable and payable and confirmations from banks. 
Such a review may indicate guarantor relationship and other related party transactions.  

§  Reviewing investment transactions, for example, purchase or sale of an equity 
interest in a joint venture or other entity.  
  

Examining Identified Related party Transactions  

13. In examining the identified related party transactions, the auditor should obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to whether these transactions have been 
properly recorded and disclosed. 
  

14.  Given the nature of related party relationships, evidence of a related party transactions may be limited, 
for example, regarding the existence of inventory held by a related party on consignment or an 
instruction from a parent company to a subsidiary to record a royalty expense. Because of the limited 
availability of appropriate evidence about such transactions, the auditor would consider performing 
procedures such as: 
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§  Confirming the terms and amount of the transaction with the related party.  

§  Obtaining confirmation from persons associated with the transaction, such as 
banks, lawyers, guarantors and agents.  
  

Management Representations  

15. The auditor should obtain a written representation from management concerning : 
 
(a) the completeness of information provided regarding the identification of related 
parties; and 
 
(b) the adequacy of related party disclosures in the financial statements. 
  

16.  An example of a written representation to be obtained from management is given as an 
Appendix to this Statement. 
  

Audit Conclusions and Reporting  

17. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning 
related parties and transactions with such parties or concludes that their disclosure in 
the financial statements is not adequate, the auditor should express a qualified 
opinion or a disclaimer of opinion in the audit report, as may be appropriate. 
  

EFFECTIVE DATE 

18. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits related to 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2001.  

   

   

Footnotes  

   

1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing 
a series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay 
down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever an independent audit is carried out. 
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective SAPs. 
The mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of 
the Institute to ensure that SAPs are following in the audit of financial information covered by their audit 
reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform an audit in accordance with the SAPs, his 
report should draw attention to the material departures therefrom.  
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2 Definitions of "Related Party" and "Related Party Transactions" from Accounting Standard (AS) 18, 'Related 
Party Disclosures'  are:  

§  Related Party - parties are considered to be related if at any time during the reporting 
period one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over 
party in making financial and / or operating decisions.  

§  Related Party Transactions - a transfer of resources or obligations between related 
parties, regardless of whether or not a price is charged.  

   

3 Definition of "Key Management Personnel" from AS 18 is:  

§  Key Management Personnel - those persons who have the authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the reporting enterprises.  

   

4 The term "Other Auditors" include internal auditor, special auditors appointed under any stature, cost auditors, 
concurrent auditors.  

   

APPENDIX  

   

EXAMPLE OF A MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATION LETTER  

REGARDING RELATED PARTIES  

(Refer Paragraph 18)  

   

The following letter is for use as a general guide in conjunction with the considerations set 
forth in this Statement. Representations by management will vary from one entity to another, 
and from one year to the next. Therefore, this letter is not intended to be a standard letter and 
should be adapted in the light of individual requirements and circumstances.  

   

[Letterhead of Entity]  

   

[Date]  
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[Name and Address of the Auditor]  

   

   

Dear Sir,  

   

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial 
statements of ____________ for the year ended _______. We acknowledge our responsibility 
for preparing of financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the Companies 
Act, 1956 and recognised accounting policies and practices, including the Accounting 
Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  

   

We confirm the following representations in respect of related parties:  

1.  We have identified all the related parties and transactions with all such 
parties. The information provided to you is complete in all respects.  

2.  The disclosures made in the financial statements are adequate having 
regard to the framework under which the financial statements have been 
drawn.  

3.  The financial statements are free from material misstatements, including omissions with regard to 
related parties and transactions with related parties.  

     

{Signature of the Authorised Person(s) of the entity}  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 24  

Audit Considerations Relating to Entities Using Service 
Organisations 

The following is the text of the Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP)24 on 
"Audit Considerations Relating to Entities Using Service Organisations" issued by the 
Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Statement should be 
read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices", 
issued by the Institute. 1 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices (SAP) is to establish 
standards for an auditor whose client uses a service organisation. This SAP also 
describes the reports of the auditors of the service organisation which may be 
obtained by the auditor of the client. 

2. The auditor should consider how a service organisation affects the client's 
accounting and internal control systems so as to plan the audit and develop 
an effective audit approach. 

3. Service organisations undertake a wide range of activities, for example, information 
processing, maintenance of accounting records, facilities management, maintenance 
of safe custody of assets such as investments, and initiation or execution of 
transactions on behalf of the other enterprise. Not all the activities undertaken by 
the service organisations are likely, by themselves, to have a significant effect on a 
user enterprise's financial statements. A client may use a service organisation such 
as one that executes transactions and maintains related accountability or records 
transactions and processes related data (e.g., a computer systems service 
organisation). If a client uses a service organisation, certain policies, procedures 
and records maintained by the service organisation might be relevant to the audit of 
the financial statements of the client. Consequently, the auditor would consider the 
nature and extent of activities undertaken by service organisations so as to 
determine whether those activities are relevant to the audit and, if so, to assess 
their effect on audit risk. 

Considerations for the Auditor of the Client 

4. A service organisation may establish and execute policies and procedures that affect 
a client organisation's accounting and internal control systems. These policies and 
procedures are physically and operationally separate from the client's organisation. 
When the services provided by the service organisation are limited to recording and 
processing transactions of the client and the client retains authorisation and 
maintenance of accountability, the client might be able to implement effective 
policies and procedures within its organisation. When the service organisation 
executes the client's transactions and maintains accountability, the client may deem 
it necessary to rely on policies and procedures at the service organisation. 

5. While planning the audit, the auditor of the client should determine the 
significance of the activities of the service organisation to the client and 
their relevance to the audit. In doing so, the auditor of the client would need to 
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consider the following, as appropriate:  

• Nature of the services provided by the service organisation. 
 
   

• Terms of contract and relationship between the client and the service 
organisation. 
 
   

• The material financial statement assertions that are affected by the use of 
the service organisation. 
 
   

• Inherent risk associated with those assertions. 
 
   

• Extent to which the client's accounting and internal control systems interact 
with the systems at the service organisation. 
 
   

• Client's internal controls that are applied to the transactions processed by 
the service organisation. 
 
   

• Service organisation's capability and financial strength, including the possible 
effect of the failure of the service organisation on the client. 
 
   

• Information about the service organisation such as that reflected in user and 
technical manuals, if any. 
 
   

• Information available on general controls and computer systems controls 
relevant to the client's applications.  

6. The auditor of the client would also consider the availability of third-party reports 
from service organisation's auditors, internal auditors, or regulatory agencies as a 
means of providing information about the accounting and internal control systems of 
the service organisation and about its operation and effectiveness. 
 
Consideration of the above may lead the auditor to decide that the control risk 
assessment will not be affected by controls at the service organisation; if so, further 
consideration of this SAP is unnecessary. 

7. If the auditor of the client concludes that the activities of the service 
organisation are significant to the entity and relevant to the audit, the 
auditor should obtain sufficient information to understand the accounting 
and internal control systems of the service organisation and to assess 
control risk at either the maximum, or a lower level if tests of control are 
performed. 

8. If the information is insufficient, the auditor of the client would consider the need to 
request the service organisation to have its auditor perform such procedures as to 
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supply the necessary information in the forms of reports mentioned at paragraph 
12. If such reports are not made available within a reasonable time, the auditor of 
the client would consider the need to visit the service organisation to obtain the 
relevant information. An auditor of the client wishing to visit a service organisation 
may advise the client to request the service organisation to give the auditor of the 
client access to the necessary information. 

9. The auditor of the client may be able to obtain an understanding of the accounting 
and internal control systems affected by the service organisation by reading the 
third-party report of the service organisation's auditor. In addition, when assessing 
control risk for assertions affected by the systems, controls of the service 
organisation, the auditor of the client may also use the service organisation 
auditor's report. When the auditor of the client uses the report of a service 
organisation's auditor, the auditor of the client should consider the 
professional competence of the other auditor in the context of specific 
assignment if the other auditor is not a member of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. 

10. The auditor of the client may conclude that it would be appropriate to obtain audit 
evidence from tests of control to support an assessment of control risk at a lower 
level. 

Service Organisation Auditor's Reports 

11. When using a service organisation auditor's report, the auditor of the client 
should consider the nature of and content of that report. 

12. The report of the service organisation's auditor will ordinarily be one of two types as 
follows: 

Type A - Report on Suitability of Design 

(a) a description of the service organisation's accounting and internal control systems, 
ordinarily prepared by the management of the service organisation; and 

(b) an opinion by the service organisation's auditor that:  

i. the above description is accurate; 
 
   

ii. the systems' controls have been placed in operation; and 
 
   

iii. the accounting and internal control systems are suitably designed to achieve 
their stated objectives. 
 
   

Type B - Report on Suitability of Design and Operating Effectiveness 

(a) a description of the service organisation's accounting and internal control systems, 
ordinarily prepared by the management of the service organisation; and 

(b) an opinion by the service organisation's auditor that:  

i. the above description is accurate; 
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ii. the systems' controls have been placed in operation; 
 
   

iii. the accounting and internal control systems are suitably designed to achieve 
their stated objectives; and 
 
   

iv. the accounting and internal control systems are operating effectively based 
on the results from the tests of control. In addition to the opinion on 
operating effectiveness, the service organisation's auditor would identify the 
tests of control performed and related results. 
 
   

The report of the service organisation's auditor will ordinarily contain restrictions as to 
its use (generally to management of the service organisation and its customers, and the 
specified client's auditor). 

13. The auditor should consider the scope of work performed by the service 
organisation's auditor and should assess the usefulness and 
appropriateness of reports issued by the service organisation's auditor. 

14. While Type A reports may be useful to an auditor of the client in gaining the 
required understanding of the accounting and internal control systems, an auditor 
would not use such reports as a basis for reducing the assessment of control risk. 

15. In contrast, Type B reports may provide such a basis since tests of control have 
been performed. When a Type B report is to be used as evidence to support a lower 
control risk assessment, the auditor of the client would consider whether the 
controls tested by the service organisation's auditor are relevant to the client's 
transactions (significant assertions in the client's financial statements) and whether 
the service organisation auditor's tests of control and the results are adequate. With 
respect to the latter, two key considerations are the length of the period covered by 
the service organisation auditor's tests and the time since the performance of those 
tests. 

16. For those specific tests of control and results that are relevant, the auditor 
of the client should consider whether the nature, timing and extent of such 
tests provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the effectiveness 
of the accounting and internal control systems to support the client 
auditor's assessed level of control risk. 

17. The auditor of a service organisation may be engaged to perform substantive 
procedures that are of use to auditor of the client. Such engagements may involve 
the performance of procedures agreed upon by the client and its auditor and by the 
service organisation and its auditor. 

18. When the auditor of the client uses a report from the auditor of a service 
organisation, no reference should be made in the client auditor's report to 
the service organisation's auditor's report. 

Effective Date 

19. This Statement on Standard Auditing Practices becomes operative for all audits 
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related to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 2003. This means that 
the SAP will become effective w.e.f. April, 2004. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 402 

The auditing standards established in this Statement on Standard Auditing Practices are 
generally consistent in all material respects with those set out in ISA 402 "Audit 
Considerations Related to Entities Using Service Organisations" 
1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a 
series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs). Statements on Standard Auditing Practices lay down the 
principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever an independent audit is carried out. Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective SAPs. Their mandatory status 
implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to ensure that 
the SAPs are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member 
has not been able to perform an audit in accordance with the SAPs, his report should draw attention to the material 
departures therefrom. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS)  25 

Comparatives * 

{The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 25, 
"Comparatives", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. This Auditing and Assurance Standard should be read in conjunction with the 
"Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute. 
1 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish 
standards on the auditor's responsibilities regarding comparatives. It does not 
deal with situations when summarized financial statements or data are 
presented with the audited financial statements. 

2. The auditor should determine whether the comparatives comply, in all 
material respects, with the financial reporting framework relevant to 
the financial statements being audited. 

3. The existence of differences in financial reporting frameworks results in 
comparative financial information being presented differently in each 
framework. Comparatives in financial statements, for example, may present 
amounts (such as financial position, results of operations, cash flows) and 
appropriate disclosures of an entity for more than one period, depending on 
the framework. The frameworks and methods of presentation that are referred 
to in this AAS are as follows:  

a. Corresponding Figures where amounts and other disclosures for the 
preceding period are included as part of the current period financial 
statements, and are intended to be read in relation to the amounts and 
other disclosures relating to the current period (referred to as "current 
period figures" for the purpose of this AAS). These corresponding 
figures are not presented as complete financial statements capable of 
standing alone, but are an integral part of the current period financial 
statements intended to be read only in relationship to the current 
period figures; and 
 
   

b. Comparative Financial Statements where amounts and other 
disclosures for the preceding period are included for comparison with 
the financial statements of the current period, but do not form part of 
the current period financial statements.  

4. Comparatives are presented in compliance with the relevant financial reporting 
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framework. The essential audit reporting differences are that:  

a. for corresponding figures, the auditor's report only refers to the 
financial statements of the current period; whereas 
 
   

b. for comparative financial statements, the auditor's report refers to each 
period that financial statements are presented.  

5. This AAS establishes standard on the auditor's responsibilities for comparatives 
and for reporting on them under the 'corresponding figures' framework. This 
AAS does not establish standards on the auditor's responsibilities when the 
'comparative financial statements' framework is used for presentation of 
comparative financial information. It is recognised that such framework for 
presentation of comparative financial information is not widely prevalent in 
India. Appendix 1 to this AAS discusses these different reporting frameworks. 

Auditor's Responsibilities 

6. The auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that 
the corresponding figures meet the requirements of the relevant 
financial reporting framework. The extent of audit procedures performed 
on the corresponding figures is significantly less than for the audit of the 
current period figures and is ordinarily limited to ensuring that the 
corresponding figures have been correctly reported and are appropriately 
classified. This involves the audit or assessing whether:  

a. accounting policies used for the corresponding figures are consistent 
with those of the current period or whether appropriate adjustments 
and/or disclosures have been made; and 
 
   

b. corresponding figures agree with the amounts and other disclosures 
presented in the prior period or whether appropriate adjustments 
and/or disclosures have been made.  

7. When the financial statements of the prior period have been audited by 
another auditor, the incoming auditor should assess whether the corresponding 
figures meet the conditions specified in paragraph 6 above. The auditor should 
also comply with the requirements of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices 
(SAP) 22, "Initial Engagements-Opening Balances". 

8. When the financial statements of the prior period have not been audited, the 
incoming auditor nonetheless should assess whether the corresponding figures 
meet the conditions specified in paragraph 6 above. The auditor should also 
comply with the requirements of Statement on Standard Auditing Practices 
(SAP) 22, "Initial Engagements-Opening Balances" 
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9. If the auditor becomes aware of a possible material misstatement in the 
corresponding figures when performing the current period audit, the auditor 
should perform such additional procedures as are appropriate in the 
circumstances. 

Reporting 

10. When the comparatives are presented as corresponding figures, the 
auditor's report should not specifically identify comparatives because 
the auditor's opinion is on the current period financial statements as 
a whole, including the corresponding figures. However, the auditor's 
report would make specific reference to the corresponding figures in the 
circumstances described in paragraphs 11, 12, 14(b), 15 and 16. 

11. When the auditor's report on the prior period, as previously issued, 
included a qualified opinion, disclaimer of opinion, or adverse opinion 
and the matter which gave rise to the modification in the audit report 
2 is:  

a. unresolved, and results in a modification of the auditor's report 
regarding the current period figures, the auditor's report 
should also be modified regarding the corresponding figures; or 
 
   

b. unresolved, but does not result in a modification of the 
auditor's report regarding the current period figures, the 
auditor's report should be modified regarding the 
corresponding figures.  

12. When the auditor's report on the prior period, as previously issued, included a 
qualified opinion, disclaimer of opinion, or adverse opinion and the matter 
which gave rise to the modification is resolved and properly dealt with in the 
financial statements, the current report does not ordinarily refer to the 
previous modification. However, if the matter is material to the current 
period, the auditor may include an emphasis of matter paragraph dealing with 
the situation. 

13. In performing the audit of the current period financial statements, the auditor, 
in certain unusual circumstances, may become aware of a material 
misstatement that affects the prior period financial statements on which an 
unmodified report has been previously issued. 

14. In such circumstances, the auditor should examine that:  

a. appropriate disclosures have been made; or 
 
   

b. if appropriate disclosures have not been made, the auditor 
should issue a modified report on the current period financials 
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modified with respect to the corresponding figures included 
therein.  

15. If, in the circumstances described in paragraph 13, appropriate disclosures 
have been made in the current period financial statements, the auditor may 
include an emphasis of matter paragraph describing the circumstances and 
referencing to the appropriate disclosures. Appropriate disclosures could be in 
the form of proforma comparative information being presented in the notes to 
the financial statements. Proforma comparative information would help the 
reader of the financial statements to clearly perceive the effect of 
misstatement on the corresponding figures. 

Incoming Auditor-Additional Requirements 

Prior Period Financial Statements Not Audited 

16. When the prior period financial statements are not audited, the 
incoming auditor should state in the auditor's report that the 
corresponding figures are unaudited. Such a statement does not, 
however, relieve the auditor of the requirement to perform appropriate 
procedures regarding opening balances of the current period. Disclosure in the 
financial statements that the corresponding figures are unaudited is 
encouraged. 

Effective Date 

17. This Auditing and Assurance Standard becomes operative for all audits relating 
to accounting periods beginning on or after April 1, 2003. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 710 

Comparative Financial Statements Framework 

This Auditing and Assurance Standard does not establish standards on the auditor's 
responsibilities when the 'comparative financial statements' framework is used for 
presentation of comparative financial information. This is a material departure from 
the standards set out in ISA 710 "Comparatives". It is recognised that such 
framework for presentation of comparative financial information is not widely 
prevalent in India. 

Incoming Auditor-Additional Requirements 

ISA 710 requires that in situations where the incoming auditor identifies that the 
corresponding figures are materially misstated, the auditor should request 
management to revise the corresponding figures or if management refuses to do so, 
the auditor appropriately modifies the audit report. This requirement of ISA does not 
find a place in AAS 25 in view of the current legal position prevailing in the Country 
under which the auditor is not expected to request the management to revise the 
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corresponding figures. 

ISA 710 recognises that in some reporting frameworks the incoming auditor is 
permitted to refer to the predecessor auditor's report on the corresponding figures in 
the incoming auditor's report for the current period. According to the ISA, when the 
auditor decides to refer to another auditor, the incoming auditor's report should 
indicate:  

a. that the financial statements of the prior period were audited by another 
auditor; 
 
   

b. the type of report issued by the predecessor auditor and, if the report was 
modified, the reasons therefor; and 
 
   

c. the date of that report.  

In India, the incoming auditor is not permitted to refer to the predecessor auditor's 
report on the corresponding figures in his audit report. Therefore, this requirement of 
ISA has not been made part of AAS 25. 

The other auditing standards established in this AAS are generally consistent in all 
material respects with those set out in ISA 710 "Comparatives". 

Appendix 1 

Discussion of Financial Reporting Frameworks for Comparatives 

1. Comparatives covering one or more preceding periods provide the users of 
financial statements with information necessary to identify trends and changes 
affecting an entity over a period of time. 

2. Under financial reporting frameworks (both implicit and explicit), comparability 
and consistency are desirable qualities for financial information. Defined in 
broadest terms, comparability is the quality of having certain characteristics in 
common and comparison is normally a quantitative assessment of the common 
characteristics. Consistency is a quality of the relationship between two 
accounting numbers. Consistency (for example, consistency in the use of 
accounting principles from one period to another, the consistency of the length of 
the reporting period, etc.) is a prerequisite for true comparability. 

3. There are two broad financial reporting frameworks for comparatives: the 
corresponding figures and the comparative financial statements. 

4. Under the corresponding figures framework, the corresponding figures for the 
prior period(s) are an integral part of the current period financial statements and 
have to be read in conjunction with the amounts and other disclosures relating to 
the current period. The level of detail presented in the corresponding amounts 
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and disclosures is dictated primarily by its relevance to the current period 
figures. 

5. Under the comparative financial statements framework, the comparative financial 
statements for the prior period(s) are considered separate financial statements. 
Accordingly, the level of information included in those comparative financial 
statements (including all statement amounts, disclosures, footnotes and other 
explanatory statements to the extent that they continue to be of significance) 
approximates that of the financial statements of the current period. 

Appendix 2 

Illustrative Auditor's Report 

Illustration 
1. 

Illustrative Audit Report for the circumstances described in 
Paragraph 11(a). (Prepared under the reporting framework of 
Section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956) 

Auditor's Report to the Members of ......(name of the Company) 

1. We have audited the attached balance sheet of.......(name of the Company), as 
at 31st March, 20X1 and also the profit and loss account for the year ended on 
that date annexed thereto. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in India. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

3. As required by the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 
1988 issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (4A) of 
section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956, we enclose in the Annexure 3 a 
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order. 

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to above, we report that:  

i. We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit; 
 
   

ii. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been 
kept by the company so far as appears from our examination of those 
books (and proper returns adequate for the purposes of our audit have 
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been received from the branches not visited by us. The Branch Auditor's 
Report(s) have been forwarded to us and have been appropriately dealt 
with); 
 
   

iii. The balance sheet and profit and loss account dealt with by this report 
are in agreement with the books of account (and with the audited returns 
from the branches); 
 
   

iv. On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on 
31st March, 20X1, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, we 
report that none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March 20X1 
from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956; 
 
   

v. As discussed in Note YY of Schedule ZZ to the financial statements, no 
depreciation has been provided in the financial statements which practice, 
in our opinion, is not in accordance with Accounting Standard 6 on 
Depreciation issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
This is the result of a decision taken by management at the start of the 
preceding financial year and caused us to qualify our audit opinion on the 
financial statements relating to that year. Based on the straight-line 
method of depreciation and annual rates of 5% for the building and 20% 
for the equipment, the loss for the period ended 31st March 20X1 should 
be increased by Rs.XXXX and the loss for the previous period ended 31st 
March 20X0 should be increased by Rs.XXXX. The fixed assets as at 31st 
March 20X1 should be reduced by accumulated depreciation of Rs.XXXX 
and the fixed assets for the previous period ended 31st March 20X0 
should be reduced by accumulated depreciation of Rs.XXXX. The 
accumulated loss should be increased by Rs.XXXX for the period ended 
31st March 20X1 and by Rs.XXXX for the previous period ended 31st 
March 20X0. 
 
   

vi. Except for non-provision of depreciation referred to the preceding 
paragraph in our opinion, the balance sheet and profit and loss account 
comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-section (3C) of 
section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956.  

5. In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to the 
explanations given to us, except for the effect on the financial statements of 
non-provision of depreciation referred to in paragraph 4(vi) foregoing, the said 
financial statements, read together with the other notes thereon give the 
information required by the Companies Act, 1956 in the manner so required and 
give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting principles generally 
accepted in India:  

a. In the case of the balance sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company, 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 149 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

as at 31st March 20X1, and 
 
   

b. in the case of the profit and loss account, of the loss for the year ended 
on that date.  

For ABC and Co. 
Chartered Accountants 

Signature 
Name of the Member Signing the Audit Report 

Designation 4 

Address: 
 
Date: 

Illustration 
2. 

Illustrative Report for the circumstances described in 
Paragraph 11(b). (Prepared under the reporting framework of 
Section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956) 

Auditor's Report to the Members of ......(name of the Company) 

1. We have audited the attached balance sheet of.......(name of the Company), as 
at 31st March, 20X1 and also the profit and loss account for the year ended on 
that date annexed thereto. These financial statements are the responsibility of 
the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in India. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

3. As required by the Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 
1988 issued by the Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (4A) of 
section 227 of the Companies Act, 1956, we enclose in the Annexure 5 a 
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 4 and 5 of the said Order. 

4. Further to our comments in the Annexure referred to above, we report that:  

i. We have obtained all the information and explanations, which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit; 
 
   

ii. In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept 
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by the company so far as appears from our examination of those books 
(and proper returns adequate for the purposes of our audit have been 
received from the branches not visited by us. The Branch Auditor's 
Report(s) have been forwarded to us and have been appropriately dealt 
with); 
 
   

iii. The balance sheet and profit and loss account dealt with by this report are 
in agreement with the books of account (and with the audited returns 
from the branches); 
 
   

iv. It was not possible for us to obtain external confirmations about accounts 
receivable balances amounting to Rs. XXXXXX as at 31st March 20X0. 
Owing to the nature of company's records, we were unable to satisfy 
ourselves about the valuation and existence of accounts receivable and 
provisioning thereon. Since provisioning on accounts receivable enter into 
the determination of the results of operations and the balances are 
included in determination of state of affairs, we were unable to determine 
the effect of valuation and provisioning on the financial statements for the 
period ended 31st March 20X0. Our audit report on the financial 
statements for the period ended 31st March 20X0 was modified 
accordingly. 
 
   

v. In our opinion, the Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account dealt with 
by this report comply with the accounting standards referred to in sub-
section (3C) of section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956; 
 
   

vi. On the basis of written representations received from the directors, as on 
31st March 20X1, and taken on record by the Board of Directors, we 
report that none of the directors is disqualified as on 31st March 20X1 
from being appointed as a director in terms of clause (g) of sub-section 
(1) of section 274 of the Companies Act, 1956;  

5. In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to the 
explanations given to us, except for the effect on the corresponding figures for 
period ended 31st March 20X0 of the adjustments, if any, to the results of 
operations for the ended 31st March 20X0 and to the state of affairs as on that 
date, which we might have determined to be necessary had we been able to 
obtain external confirmations about accounts receivable balances amounting to 
Rs. XXXXXX as at 31st March 20X0, the said financial statements, read together 
with the other notes thereon give the information required by the Companies Act, 
1956 in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with 
the accounting principles generally accepted in India:  

a. In the case of the balance sheet, of the state of affairs of the Company, as 
at 31 March, 20X1, and 
 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 151 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

   
b. in the case of the profit and loss account, of the loss for the year ended on 

that date.  

For ABC and Co. 
Chartered Accountants 

Signature 
Name of the Member Signing the Audit Report 

Designation 6 

Address: 
Date: 

   

*Issued in September, 2002. 
 
1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee {now known as the Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board} in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices 
(SAPs). SAPs have recently been renamed as Auditing and Assurance Standards (AASs). Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices (now AASs) lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever an 
independent audit is carried out. Auditing and Assurance Standards become mandatory on the dates specified in 
the respective AAS. Their mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty 
of the members of the Institute to ensure that the AASs are followed in the audit of financial information covered 
by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform an audit in accordance with the 
AASs, his report should draw attention to the material departures therefrom. The Auditing and Assurance 
Standards have the same authority as that is attached to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices. 

2 A separate Auditing and Assurance Standard on "The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements", which is being 
formulated, would deal with the concept of "modified audit report". An auditor's report is considered to be modified 
in the following situations: Matters That Do Not Affect the Auditor 's Opinion 
 
(a) emphasis of matter 
Matters That Do Affect the Auditor 's Opinion 
(a) qualified opinion, 
(b) disclaimer of opinion, or 
(c) adverse opinion. 

3 Alternatively, instead of giving the comments on Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 
1988 in an Annexure, the comments may be contained in the body of the main report. Members' attention in this 
regard is invited to the Statement on Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 1988 [issued 
under Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956] , issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

4 Partner or Proprietor, as the case may be. 

5 Alternatively, instead of giving the comments on Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 
1988 in an Annexure, the comments may be contained in the body of the main report. Members' attention in this 
regard is invited to the Statement on Manufacturing and Other Companies (Auditor's Report) Order, 1988 [issued 
under Section 227(4A) of the Companies Act, 1956] , issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

6 Partner or Proprietor, as the case may be. 

   

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 152 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

Auditing And Assurance Standard (AAS) 26 * 
 

Terms of Audit Engagement 

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 26, "Terms of 
Audit Engagement" issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. This Standard should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements 
on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 1 
 
From the date this Auditing and Assurance Standard becomes effective, the Guidance 
Note on Audit Engagement Letters issued by the Institute shall stand withdrawn. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards 
on:  

a. agreeing the terms of the engagement with the client; and 
 
   

b. the auditor's response to a request by a client to change the terms of an 
engagement to one that provides a lower level of assurance. 2  

2. The auditor and the client should agree on the terms of the engagement. 
The agreed terms would need to be recorded in an audit engagement letter or other 
suitable form of contract. 

3. This AAS is intended to assist the auditor in the preparation of engagement letters 
relating to audits of financial statements. The Standard is also applicable to related 
services. When other services such as tax, accounting, or management consultancy 
and other services 3 are to be provided, separate letters may be appropriate. 

4. Though the objective and scope of an audit and the auditor's obligations are, 
normally, laid down in the applicable statute or regulations and the pronouncements 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, the audit engagement letters 
would be informative for the clients. 

Audit Engagement Letters 

5. In the interest of both client and auditor, the auditor should send an 
engagement letter, preferably before the commencement of the 
engagement, to help avoid any misunderstandings with respect to the 
engagement. The engagement letter documents and confirms the auditor's 
acceptance of the appointment, the objective and scope of the audit and the extent 
of the auditor's responsibilities to the client. 

Principal Contents 
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6. The form and content of audit engagement letter may vary for each client, but it 
would generally include reference to:  

• The objective of the audit of financial statements. 
 
   

• Management's responsibility for the financial statements. 
 
   

• Management's responsibility for selection and consistent application of 
appropriate accounting policies, including implementation of the applicable 
accounting standards alongwith proper explanation relating to material 
departures from those accounting standards. 
 
   

• Management's responsibility for preparation of the financial statements on a 
going concern basis. 
 
   

• Management's responsibility for making judgements and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the entity at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the 
entity for that period. 
 
   

• Management's responsibility for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records and internal controls for safeguarding the assets of the company and 
for preventing and detecting fraud or other irregularities. 
 
   

• The scope of the audit, including reference to the applicable legislation, 
regulations, and the pronouncements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India. 
 
   

• The fact that having regard to the test nature of an audit, persuasive rather 
than conclusive nature of audit evidence together with inherent limitations of 
any accounting and internal control system, there is an unavoidable risk that 
even some material misstatements, resulting from fraud, and to a lesser 
extent error, if either exists, may remain undetected. 
 
   

• Unrestricted access to whatever records, documentation and other information 
requested in connection with the audit. 
 
   

• The fact that the audit process may be subjected to a peer review under the 
Chartered Accountants Act, 1949.  
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7. The auditor may also include the following matters in the engagement letter:  

• Arrangements regarding the planning of the audit. 
 
   

• Expectation of receiving from management written confirmation concerning 
representations made in connection with the audit. 
 
   

• Request for the client to confirm the terms of the engagement by 
acknowledging receipt of the engagement letter. 
 
   

• Description of any other letters or reports the auditor expects to issue to the 
client. 
 
   

• Basis on which fees are computed and any billing arrangements.  

8. When relevant, the following points could also be included in the engagement letter:  

• Arrangements concerning the involvement of other auditors and experts in 
some aspects of the audit. 
 
   

• Arrangements concerning the involvement of internal auditors and other staff 
of the client. 
 
   

• Arrangements to be made with the predecessor auditor, if any, in the case of 
an initial audit, i.e., when the financial statements for the preceding period 
were audited by another auditor. 
 
   

• Any restriction of the auditor's liability when such possibility exists. 
 
   

• A reference to any further agreements between the auditor and the client.  

An example of an engagement letter for audit under a statute is set out in the 
Appendix. 4 

Audit of Components 

9. When the auditor of a parent entity is also the auditor of its subsidiary, branch or 
division (component), the factors that influence the decision whether to send a 
separate engagement letter to the component include:  

• Who appoints the auditor of the component. 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 155 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

 
   

• Whether a separate audit report is to be issued on the component. 
 
   

• Legal requirements. 
 
   

• The extent of any work performed by other auditors. 
 
   

• Degree of ownership by parent. 
 
   

• Degree of independence of the management of the component.  

Recurring Audits 

10. On recurring audits, the auditor should consider whether circumstances 
require the terms of the engagement to be revised and whether there is a 
need to remind the client of the existing terms of the engagement. 

11. The auditor may decide not to send a new engagement letter each period. However, 
the following factors may make it appropriate to send a new letter:  

• Any indication that the client misunderstands the objective and scope of the 
audit. 
 
   

• Any revised or special terms of the engagement. 
 
   

• A recent change of senior management, board of directors or ownership. 
 
   

• A significant change in nature or size of the client's business. 
 
   

• Legal requirements or pronouncements of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India, or changes in the existing ones.  

Acceptance of a Change in Engagement 

12. An auditor who, before the completion of the engagement, is requested to 
change the engagement to one which provides a lower level of assurance, 
should consider the appropriateness of doing so. 

13. A request from the client for the auditor to change the engagement may result from 
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a change in circumstances affecting the need for the service, a misunderstanding as 
to the nature of an audit or related service originally requested or a restriction on 
the scope of the engagement, whether imposed by management or caused by 
circumstances. The auditor would consider carefully the reason given for the 
request, particularly the implications of a restriction on the scope of the 
engagement. 

14. A change in circumstances that affects the entity's requirements or a 
misunderstanding concerning the nature of service originally requested would 
ordinarily be considered a reasonable basis for requesting a change in the 
engagement. In contrast, a change would not be considered reasonable if it appears 
that the change relates to information that is incorrect, incomplete or otherwise 
unsatisfactory. 

15. Before agreeing to change an audit engagement to a related service, an auditor who 
was engaged to perform an audit in accordance with AASs 5 would consider, in 
addition to the above matters, any legal or contractual implications of the change. 

16. If the auditor concludes that there is reasonable justification to change the 
engagement and if the audit work performed complies with the AASs 6 applicable to 
the changed engagement, the report issued would be that appropriate for the 
revised terms of engagement. In order to avoid confusion, the report would not 
include reference to:  

a. the original engagement; or 
 
   

b. any procedures that may have been performed in the original engagement, 
except where the engagement is changed to an engagement to undertake 
agreed-upon procedures and thus reference to the procedures performed is a 
normal part of the report.  

17. Where the terms of the engagement are changed, the auditor and the client 
should agree on the new terms. 

18. The auditor should not agree to a change of engagement where there is no 
reasonable justification for doing so. An example might be an audit 
engagement where the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding receivables and the client asks for the engagement to be 
changed to a review engagement to avoid a qualified, adverse or a disclaimer of 
opinion. 

19. If the auditor is unable to agree to a change of the engagement and is not 
permitted to continue the original engagement, the auditor should 
withdraw and consider whether there is any obligation, either contractual 
or otherwise, to report the circumstances necessitating the withdrawal to 
other parties, such as the board of directors or shareholders. 

Effective Date 
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20. This Auditing and Assurance Standard becomes operative for all audits relating to 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2003. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 210 

The auditing standards established in this AAS are generally consistent in all material 
respects with those set out in ISA 210 "Terms of Audit Engagements". 

Appendix 

Example of an Engagement Letter for an Audit under a Statute 7  

 

{The following letter is for use as a guide in conjunction with the considerations outlined in 
this AAS and will need to be varied according to individual requirements and circumstances 
relevant to the engagement. This Appendix does not form part of the Standard.} 
 
To the Board of Directors (or the appropriate representative of senior management :) 

You have requested that we audit the balance sheet of (Name of the Company) as at 31st 
March, 2XXX and the related profit and loss account and the (cash flow statement) 8 for the 
year ended on that date. We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and our understanding of 
this engagement by means of this letter. Our audit will be conducted with the objective of 
our expressing an opinion on the financial statements. 

We will conduct our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in 
India and with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1956. Those Standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 

However, having regard to the test nature of an audit, persuasive rather than conclusive 
nature of audit evidence together with inherent limitations of any accounting and internal 
control system, there is an unavoidable risk that even some material misstatements of 
financial statements, resulting from fraud, and to a lesser extent error, if either exists, may 
remain undetected. 

In addition to our report on the financial statements, we expect to provide you with a 
separate letter concerning any material weaknesses in accounting and internal control 
systems which might come to our notice. 

The responsibility for the preparation of financial statements on a going concern basis is that 
of the management. The management is also responsible for selection and consistent 
application of appropriate accounting policies, including implementation of applicable 
accounting standards along with proper explanation relating to any material departures from 
those accounting standards. The management is also responsible for making judgements and 
estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the entity at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the entity for 
that period. 

The responsibility of the management also includes the maintenance of adequate accounting 
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records and internal controls for safeguarding of the assets of the company and for the 
preventing and detecting fraud or other irregularities. As part of our audit process, we will 
request from management written confirmation concerning representations made to us in 
connection with the audit. 

We also wish to invite your attention to the fact that our audit process is subject to 'peer 
review' under the Chartered Accountants Act, 1949. The reviewer may examine our working 
papers during the course of the peer review. 

We look forward to full cooperation with your staff and we trust that they will make available 
to us whatever records; documentation and other information are requested in connection 
with our audit. 

Our fees will be billed as the work progresses. 

This letter will be effective for future years unless it is terminated, amended or superseded. 

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate that it is in accordance with 
your understanding of the arrangements for our audit of the financial statements. 

XYZ & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 

.......... 
 

(Signature) 
(Name of the Member) 

(Designation) 9 

Acknowledged on behalf of 
ABC Company by 
.......... 
 
(Signature) 
Name and Designation 
Date 
 
  

* Issued in January, 2003. 
1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee {now known as the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board} in 
1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs). SAPs have 
recently been renamed as Auditing and Assurance Standards (AASs). Auditing and Assurance Standards (hitherto known as 
SAPs) lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever an independent audit is carried out. 
Auditing and Assurance Standards become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective AAS. Their mandatory status 
implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to ensure that the 
AASs are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not 
been able to perform an audit in accordance with the AASs, his report should draw attention to the material departures 
therefrom. The Auditing and Assurance Standards have the same authority as that is attached to the Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices. 
2 Refer to Framework of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and Guidance Notes on Related Services for the 
meaning of the term "assurance" and the type of engagements that provide a lower level of assurance than an audit. 
3 Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India defines the term "management consultancy and 
other services". 
4 The formats of the engagement letters to be issued in case of compilation, review or agreed upon procedures are given in 
the Guidance Note on Members' Duties regarding Engagements involving Compilation of Financial Statements, Guidance 
Note on Engagements to Review Financial Statements and Guidance Note on Engagements to Perform Agreed upon 
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Procedures, respectively. 
5 Hitherto known as SAPs. 
6 ibid. 
7 In this illustration, the Companies Act, 1956. 
8 Only in cases where relevant. 
9 Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 27 * 
 

Communications of Audit Matters with Those Charged with 
Governance 

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 27, 
"Communications of Audit Matters with Those Charged with Governance" issued by the 
Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. This Standard should be read in 
conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by 
the Institute. 1 

1 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee {now known as the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board} 
in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs). SAPs 
have recently been renamed as Auditing and Assurance Standards (AASs). Auditing and Assurance Standards (hitherto 
known as SAPs) lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever an independent audit is 
carried out. Auditing and Assurance Standards become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective AAS. Their 
mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute 
to ensure that the AASs are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any 
reason, a member has not been able to perform an audit in accordance with the AASs, his report should draw attention 
to the material departures therefrom. The Auditing and Assurance Standards have the same authority as that is attached 
to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards 
on communications of audit matters arising from the audit of financial statements 
between the auditor and those charged with governance of an entity. These 
communications relate to audit matters of governance interest as defined in this AAS. 
This AAS does not provide guidance on communications by the auditor to parties 
outside the entity, for example, external regulatory or supervisory agencies. 

2. The auditor should communicate audit matters of governance interest 
arising from the audit of financial statement with those charged with 
governance of an entity. 

3. For the purpose of this AAS, the term "governance" is used to describe the role of 
persons entrusted with the supervision, control and direction of an entity. Those 
charged with governance are, ordinarily, accountable for ensuring that the entity 
achieves its objectives, financial reporting, and reporting to interested parties. Those 
charged with governance include management only when it performs such functions. 

4. For the purpose of this AAS, "audit matters of governance interest" are those matters 
that arise from the audit of financial statements and are, in the opinion of the 
auditor, both important and relevant to those charged with governance in overseeing 
the financial reporting and disclosure process. Audit matters of governance interest 
include only those matters that have come to the attention of the auditor as a result 
of the performance of the audit. The auditor is not required, in an audit in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in India,2 to design procedures for the 
specific purpose of identifying matters of governance interest. 

Relevant Persons 
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5. The auditor should determine the relevant persons who are charged with 
governance and with whom audit matters of governance interest are to be 
communicated. 

6. The structure of governance may vary from entity to entity, depending upon size 
and legal constitution. For example, in case of companies, the Board of Directors 
and the committees constituted under the Board like the audit committee, ethics 
committee; in case of trusts, societies etc., the board of trustees or the 
management committee; etc. 

7. The auditor uses judgement to determine those persons with whom audit matters 
of governance interest are communicated, taking into account, the governance 
structure of the entity, the circumstances of the engagement and relevant 
legislation, if any. The auditor also considers the legal responsibilities of those 
persons. The auditor also considers the importance and sensitivity of the audit 
matters of governance interest to be communicated. For example, in case of a 
company where the board of directors has established an audit committee under it, 
the auditor may decide to communicate with the audit committee, or with the 
whole board, depending on the importance of the audit matters of governance 
interest. 

8. When the entity's governance structure is not well defined, or those charged with 
governance are not clearly identified by the circumstances of the engagement, or 
by legislation, the auditor comes to an agreement with the entity about with whom 
the audit matters of governance interest are to be communicated. Examples include 
some owner-managed entities, not for profit organisations, government agencies, 
etc. 

9. To avoid misunderstandings, an audit engagement letter 3 may explain that the 
auditor will communicate only those matters of governance interest that come to 
attention as a result of the performance of an audit and that the auditor is not 
required to design procedures for the specific purpose of identifying matters of 
governance interest. The engagement letter may also:  

• Describe the form in which any communication on audit matters of 
governance interest will be made; 
 
   

• Identify the relevant persons with whom such communications will be made; 
 
   

• Identify any specific audit matters of governance interest which it has been 
agreed are to be communicated.  

10. The effectiveness of communications is enhanced by developing a constructive 
working relationship between the auditor and those charged with governance. This 
relationship is developed while maintaining an attitude of professional 
independence and objectivity. 
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Audit Matters of Governance Interest to be Communicated 

11. The auditor should consider audit matters of governance interest that arise 
from the audit of financial statements and communicate them with those 
charged with governance. Such matters may include:  

• The general approach and overall scope of the audit, including any expected 
limitations thereon, or any additional requirements; 
 
   

• The selection of or changes in, significant accounting policies and practices 
that have, or could have, a material effect on the entity's financial 
statements; 
 
   

• The potential effect on the financial statements of any significant risks and 
exposures, such as pending litigation, that are required to be disclosed in the 
financial statements; 
 
   

• Adjustments to financial statements arising out of audit that have, or could 
have, a significant effect on the entity's financial statements; 
 
   

• Material uncertainties related to events and conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the entity's ability to continue as a going concern; 
 
   

• Disagreements with management about matters that, individually or in 
aggregate, could be significant to the entity's financial statements or the 
auditor's report. These communications include consideration of whether the 
matter has, or has not, been resolved and the significance of the matter; 
 
   

• Expected modifications to the auditor's report; 
 
   

• Other matters warranting attention by those charged with governance, such 
as material weaknesses in internal control, questions regarding management 
integrity, and fraud involving management; 
 
   

• Any other matters agreed upon in the terms of the audit engagement.  

12. As part of the auditor's communications, those charged with governance are 
informed that:  

• The auditor's communications of matters include only those audit matters of 
governance interest that have come to the attention of the auditor as a 
result of the performance of the audit; 
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• An audit of financial statements is not designed to identify all matters that 
may be relevant to those charged with governance. Accordingly, the audit 
does not ordinarily identify all such matters.  

13. The auditor should communicate audit matters of governance interest on a 
timely basis. This enables those charged with governance to take appropriate 
action. 

14. In order to achieve timely communications, the auditor discusses with those 
charged with governance the basis and timing of such communications. In certain 
cases, because of the nature of the matter, the auditor may communicate that 
matter sooner than previously agreed. 

Forms of Communication 

15. The auditor's communication with those charged with governance may be 
made orally or in writing. The auditor's decision whether to communicate orally 
or in writing is affected by factors such as:  

• The size, operating structure, legal structure, and communications processes 
of the entity being audited; 
 
   

• The nature, sensitivity and significance of the audit matters of governance 
interest to be communicated; 
 
   

• The arrangements made with respect to periodic meetings or reporting of 
audit matters of governance interest; 
 
   

• The amount of on-going contact and dialogue the auditor has with those 
charged with governance.  

16. When audit matters of governance interest are communicated orally, the 
auditor should document in the working papers the matters communicated 
and any responses to those matters. This document may take the form of 
minutes of the auditor's discussion with those charged with governance. In certain 
circumstances, depending on the nature, sensitivity, and significance of the matter, 
it may be advisable for the auditor to confirm in writing with those charged with 
governance any oral communication on audit matters of governance interest. 

17. Ordinarily, the auditor initially discusses audit matters of governance interest with 
management, except those matters relating to questions related to management's 
competence or integrity. In case of matters relating to questions related to 
management's competence or integrity, the auditor discusses the audit matters 
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with those charged with governance. These initial discussions with management are 
important in order to clarify facts and issues, and to give management an 
opportunity to provide further information. If management agrees to communicate 
a matter of governance interest with those charged with governance, the auditor 
may not need to repeat the communications, provided that the auditor is satisfied 
that such communications have effectively and appropriately been made. 

Other Matters 

18. If the auditor considers that having regard to the facts and circumstances 
of the case a modification 4 of the auditor's report on financial statements 
is required, as described in AAS 28, "The Auditor's Report in Financial 
Statements communications between the auditor and those charged with 
governance cannot be regarded as a substitute. 

 

19. The auditor considers whether audit matters of governance interest previously 
communicated may have an effect on the current year's financial statements. The 
auditor considers whether the point continues to be a matter of governance interest 
and whether to communicate the matter again with those charged with governance. 

Confidentiality 

20. The requirements of professional pronouncements, legislation or regulation may 
impose obligations of confidentiality that restrict the auditor's communications of 
audit matters of governance interest. The auditor refers to such requirements before 
communicating with those charged with governance. In some circumstances, the 
potential conflicts with the auditor's ethical and legal obligations of confidentiality 
and reporting may be complex. In these cases, the auditor may wish to consult a 
legal counsel. 

Laws and Regulations 

21. The requirements of professional pronouncements, legislation or regulation may 
impose obligation on the auditor to make communications on governance related 
matters. These additional communication requirements are not covered by this AAS; 
however, they may affect the content, form and timing of communications with 
those charged with governance. 

22. The requirements of regulators, such as report under Section 619 (3) of the 
Companies Act, 1956, in case of Public Sector Undertakings and Long Form Audit 
Report in the case of Public Sector Banks, may impose obligation on the auditor to 
make communications on governance related matters. These additional 
communications requirements are not covered by this Standard; however they may 
affect the content, form and timing of communications with those charged with 
governance. 
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Effective Date 

23. This Auditing and Assurance Standard is effective for all audits relating to accounting 
periods of beginning on or after 1st April, 2003. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 

The auditing standards established in this AAS are generally consistent in all material 
respects with those set out in ISA 260 "Communications of Audit Matters with Those 
Charged with Governance". 

* Issued in January 2003. 

2 Paragraph 15 of AAS 28, "The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements" describes auditing standards generally 
accepted in India. 

3 Refer Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 26, "Terms of Audit Engagement" issued by the Council of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. 

4 Paragraph 31 of AAS 28, "The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements" deals with the concept of"modified audit 
report". 

   

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 166 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

 

Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 28  

The Auditor's Report on Financial Statements 

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 28, "The Auditor's 
Report on Financial Statements" issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. 1 This Statement should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to 
the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute.2 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards 
on the form and content of the auditor's report issued as a result of an audit 
performed by an auditor of the financial statements of an entity. Much of the 
standards laid down by this AAS can be adapted to auditor's reports on financial 
information other than financial statements. 

2. The auditor should review and assess the conclusions drawn from the audit 
evidence obtained as the basis for the expression of an opinion on the 
financial statements. 

3. This review and assessment involves considering whether the financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with an acceptable financial reporting framework 
applicable to the entity under audit. It is also necessary to consider whether the 
financial statements comply with the relevant statutory requirements. 

4. The auditor's report should contain a clear written expression of opinion on 
the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Basic Elements of the Auditor's Report 

5. The auditor's report includes the following basic elements, ordinarily, in the following 
layout:  

a. Title;  
b. Addressee;  
c. Opening or introductory paragraph 

   
i. identification of the financial statements audited;  
ii. a statement of the responsibility of the entity's management and the 

responsibility of the auditor; 
   

d. Scope paragraph (describing the nature of an audit) 
   

i. a reference to the auditing standards generally accepted in India;  
ii. a description of the work performed by the auditor; 

   
e. Opinion paragraph containing 
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i. a reference to the financial reporting framework used to prepare the 
financial statements; and  

ii. an expression of opinion on the financial statements; 
   

f. Date of the report; 
   

g. Place of signature; and 
   

h. Auditor's signature.  

A measure of uniformity in the form and content of the auditor's report is desirable 
because it helps to promote the reader's understanding of the auditor's report and to 
identify unusual circumstances when they occur. 

6. A statute governing the entity or a regulator may require the auditor to include 
certain matters in the audit report or prescribe the form in which the auditor should 
issue his report. In such a case, the auditor should incorporate in his audit report, 
the matters specified by the statute or regulator and/or report in the form prescribed 
by them in addition to the requirements of this AAS. 

Title 

7. The auditor's report should have an appropriate title. It may be appropriate to 
use the term "Auditor's Report" in the title to distinguish the auditor's report from 
reports that might be issued by others, such as by the officers of the entity, the 
board of directors, or from the reports of others. 

Addressee 

8. The auditor's report should be appropriately addressed as required by the 
circumstances of the engagement and applicable laws and regulations. 
Ordinarily, the auditor's report is addressed to the authority appointing the auditor. 

Opening or Introductory Paragraph 

9. The auditor's report should identify the financial statements 3 of the entity 
that have been audited, including the date of and period covered by the 
financial statements. 

10. The report should include a statement that the financial statements are the 
responsibility of the entity's management and a statement that the 
responsibility of the auditor is to express an opinion on the financial 
statements based on the audit. 

11. Financial statements are the representations of management. The preparation of 
such statements requires management to make significant accounting estimates 
and judgments, as well as to determine the appropriate accounting principles and 
methods used in preparation of the financial statements. This determination will be 
made in the context of the financial reporting framework that management chooses, 
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or is required to use. In contrast, the auditor's responsibility is to audit these 
financial statements in order to express an opinion thereon. 

12. An illustration of these matters in an opening (introductory) paragraph is: 
  

"We have audited the attached balance sheet of .... (Name of the entity) as 
at 31st March 2XXX and also the profit and loss account for the year ended 
on that date annexed thereto. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the entity's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit." 

Scope Paragraph 

13. The auditor's report should describe the scope of the audit by stating that 
the audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in India. The reader needs this as an assurance that the audit has been 
carried out in accordance with established standards. 

14. "Scope" refers to the auditor's ability to perform audit procedures deemed necessary 
in the circumstances. Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 2, "Objective and 
Scope of the Audit of Financial Statements", with regard to the determination of the 
"scope" states (paragraph 5):  

"The scope of an audit of financial statements will be determined by the 
auditor having regard to the terms of the engagement, the requirements of 
relevant legislation and the pronouncements of the Institute. The terms of 
engagement cannot, however, restrict the scope of an audit in relation to 
matters which are prescribed by legislation or by the pronouncements of the 
Institute." 

15. The Auditing and Assurance Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India establish the auditing standards generally accepted in India. 

16. The report should include a statement that the audit was planned and 
performed to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 
are free of material misstatement. 

17. The auditor's report should describe the audit as including:  

• examining, on a test basis, evidence to support the amounts and 
disclosures in financial statements; 
 
   

• assessing the accounting principles used in the preparation of the 
financial statements; 
 
   

• assessing the significant estimates made by management in the 
preparation of the financial statements; and 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 169 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

 
   

• evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  

18. The report should include a statement by the auditor that the audit provides 
a reasonable basis for his opinion. 

19. An illustration of these matters in a scope paragraph is:  

"We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards generally 
accepted in India. Those Standards require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion." 

Opinion Paragraph 

20. The opinion paragraph of the auditor's report should clearly indicate the 
financial reporting framework used to prepare the financial statements and 
state the auditor's opinion as to whether the financial statements give a 
true and fair view in accordance with that financial reporting framework 
and, where appropriate, whether the financial statements comply with the 
statutory requirements. 

21. The term used to express the auditor's opinion, "give a true and fair view", 
indicates, amongst other things, that the auditor considers only those matters that 
are material to the financial statements. 

22. Paragraph 3 of Framework of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and 
Guidance Notes on Related Services, issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India, discusses the financial reporting framework. The paragraph 
reads as under:  

"Financial Reporting Framework 
 
Financial statements are ordinarily prepared and presented annually and are 
directed towards the common information needs of a wide range of users. 
Many of those users rely on financial statements as their major source of 
information because they do not have the power to obtain additional 
information to meet their specific information needs. Thus, financial 
statements need to be prepared in accordance with one, or a combination of: 

• relevant statutory requirements, e.g., the Companies Act, 1956, for 
companies; 
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• accounting standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 

India; and 
 
   

• other recognised accounting principles and practices, e.g., those 
recommended in the Guidance Notes issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India."  

23. An illustration of these matters in an opinion paragraph is: 
 
"In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations 
given to us, the financial statements give a true and fair view in conformity with the 
accounting principles generally accepted in India:  

• in the case of the balance sheet, of the state of affairs of the .... (name of the 
entity) as at 31st March 2XXX; and 
 
   

• in the case of the profit and loss account, of the profit/loss for the year ended 
on that date.  

24. In addition to an opinion on the true and fair view, the auditor's report may need to 
include an opinion as to whether the financial statements comply with other 
requirements specified by relevant statutes or law. For example, in the case of 
companies incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956, section 227(2) of the said 
Act requires that the auditor's report should state in his audit report, whether in the 
auditor's opinion and to the best of his information and according to the 
explanations given to the auditor, the financial statements give the information 
required by the Companies Act, 1956 in the manner so required. 4 

Date of Report 

25. The date of an auditor's report on the financial statements is the date on 
which the auditor signs the report expressing an opinion on the financial 
statements. The date of report informs the reader that the auditor has considered 
the effect on the financial statements and on the report of the events and 
transactions of which the auditor became aware and that occurred up to that date. 

26. Since the auditor's responsibility is to report on the financial statements as 
prepared and presented by management, the auditor should not date the 
report earlier than the date on which the financial statements are signed or 
approved by management. 

Place of Signature 

27. The report should name specific location, which is ordinarily the city where 
the audit report is signed. 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 171 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

Auditor's Signature 

28. The report should be signed by the auditor in his personal name. Where the 
firm is appointed as the auditor, the report should be signed in the personal 
name of the auditor and in the name of the audit firm. The 
partner/proprietor signing the audit report should also mention the 
membership number assigned by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. 

The Auditor's Report 

29. An unqualified opinion should be expressed when the auditor concludes that 
the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
financial reporting framework used for the preparation and presentation of 
the financial statements. An unqualified opinion indicates, implicitly, that any 
changes in the accounting principles or in the method of their application, and the 
effects thereof, have been properly determined and disclosed in the financial 
statements. An unqualified opinion also indicates that:  

a. the financial statements have been prepared using the generally accepted 
accounting principles, which have been consistently applied; 
 
   

b. the financial statements comply with relevant statutory requirements and 
regulations; and 
 
   

c. there is adequate disclosure of all material matters relevant to the proper 
presentation of the financial information, subject to statutory requirements, 
where applicable.  

30. The following is an illustration of a complete auditor's report incorporating the basic 
elements set forth and illustrated above. This report illustrates the expression of an 
unqualified opinion. 

"Auditor's Report 

(Appropriate Addressee) 
 
We have audited the attached balance sheet of ...... (Name of the entity) as at 31st March 
2XXX and also the profit and loss account for the year ended on that date annexed thereto 
5. These financial statements are the responsibility of the entity's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in India. 
Those Standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
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and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 
us, the financial statements give a true and fair view in conformity with the accounting 
principles generally accepted in India: 6  

a. in the case of the balance sheet, of the state of affairs of ..... (Name of the entity) 
as at 31st March 2XXX; and 
 
   

b. in the case of the profit and loss account, of the profit/loss for the year ended on 
that date.  

For ABC and Co., 
Chartered Accountants 

 
Auditor's Signature 

(Name of Member signing the Audit Report) 
(Designation 7) 

(Membership Number) 
  

Place of Signature 
Date 

An illustration of Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements in the case of a company 
incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956 to which AS 3 is applicable is given in 
Appendix. 

Modified Reports 8 

31. An auditor's report is considered to be modified when it includes:  

a. Matters That Do Not Affect the Auditor's Opinion 
   

o emphasis of matter 
   

b. Matters That Do Affect the Auditor's Opinion 
   

o qualified opinion 
   

o disclaimer of opinion 
   

o adverse opinion  

Uniformity in the form and content of each type of modified report will enhance the 
user's understanding of such reports. Accordingly, this AAS includes suggested 
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wordings to express an unqualified opinion as well as examples of modifying phrases 
for use when issuing modified reports. 

Matters That Do Not Affect the Auditor's Opinion 

32. In certain circumstances, an auditor's report may be modified by adding an emphasis 
of matter paragraph to highlight a matter affecting the financial statements which is 
included in a note to the financial statements that more extensively discusses the 
matter. The addition of such an emphasis of matter paragraph does not affect the 
auditor's opinion. The paragraph would preferably be included preceding the opinion 
paragraph and would ordinarily refer to the fact that the auditor's opinion is not 
qualified in this respect. 

33. The auditor should modify the auditor's report by adding a paragraph to 
highlight a material matter regarding a going concern problem where the 
going concern question is not resolved and adequate disclosures have been 
made in the financial statements. 

34. The auditor should consider modifying the auditor's report by adding a 
paragraph if there is a significant uncertainty (other than going concern 
problem), the resolution of which is dependent upon future events and which 
may affect the financial statements. An uncertainty is a matter whose outcome 
depends on future actions or events not under the direct control of the entity but that 
may affect the financial statements. 

35. An illustration of an emphasis of matter paragraph for a significant uncertainty in an 
auditor's report is as follows:  

"Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note X of Schedule .. to 
the financial statements. The entity is the defendant in a lawsuit alleging 
infringement of certain patent rights and claiming royalties and punitive 
damages. The entity has filed a counter action, and preliminary hearings and 
discovery proceedings on both actions are in progress. The ultimate outcome 
of the matter cannot presently be determined, and no provision for any liability 
that may result has been made in the financial statements. 
 
In our opinion ..... (remaining words are the same as illustrated in the opinion 
paragraph--paragraph 30 above). " 
 
(An illustration of an emphasis of matter paragraph relating to going concern is 
set out in AAS 16, "Going Concern.") 

36. The addition of a paragraph emphasising a going concern problem or significant 
uncertainty is ordinarily adequate to meet the auditor's reporting responsibilities 
regarding such matters. However, in extreme cases, such as situations involving 
multiple uncertainties that are significant to the financial statements, the auditor may 
consider it appropriate to express a disclaimer of opinion instead of adding an 
emphasis of matter paragraph. 

Matters that Do Affect the Auditor's Opinion 
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37. An auditor may not be able to express an unqualified opinion when either of the 
following circumstances exists and, in the auditor's judgment, the effect of the matter 
is or may be material to the financial statements:  

a. there is a limitation on the scope of the auditor's work; or 
 
   

b. there is a disagreement with management regarding the acceptability of the 
accounting policies selected, the method of their application or the adequacy of 
financial statement disclosures.  

The circumstances described in (a) could lead to a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of 
opinion. The circumstances described in (b) could lead to a qualified opinion or an 
adverse opinion. These circumstances are discussed in paragraphs 42-47. 

38. A qualified opinion should be expressed when the auditor concludes that an 
unqualified opinion cannot be expressed but that the effect of any 
disagreement with management is not so material and pervasive as to 
require an adverse opinion, or limitation on scope is not so material and 
pervasive as to require a disclaimer of opinion. A qualified opinion should be 
expressed as being 'subject to' or 'except for' the effects of the matter to 
which the qualification relates. 

39. A disclaimer of opinion should be expressed when the possible effect of a 
limitation on scope is so material and pervasive that the auditor has not been 
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and is, accordingly, 
unable to express an opinion on the financial statements. 

40. An adverse opinion should be expressed when the effect of a disagreement is 
so material and pervasive to the financial statements that the auditor 
concludes that a qualification of the report is not adequate to disclose the 
misleading or incomplete nature of the financial statements. 

41. Whenever the auditor expresses an opinion that is other than unqualified, a 
clear description of all the substantive reasons should be included in the 
report and, unless impracticable, a quantification of the possible effect(s), 
individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements should be 
mentioned in the auditor's report. In circumstances where it is not practicable to 
quantify the effect of modifications made in the audit report accurately, the auditor 
may do so on the basis of estimates made by the management after carrying out such 
audit tests as are possible and clearly indicate the fact that the figures are based on 
management estimates. Ordinarily, this information would be set out in a separate 
paragraph preceding the opinion or disclaimer of opinion and may include a reference 
to a more extensive discussion, if any, in a note to the financial statements. 

1 Issued in January, 2003. From the date this AAS becomes, effective, the Format of Audit Report (Revised), published in 
April 2002 issue of the 'The Chartered Accountant', p.1229, and the Announcement regarding revision of Format of Audit 
Report, published in December 2002 issue of the 'The Chartered Accountant', p.616, shall stand withdrawn. 
 
2With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee {now known as the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board} in 
1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs). SAPs 
have been renamed as Auditing and Assurance Standards (AASs). The Auditing and Assurance Standards (hitherto known 
as SAPs) lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever an independent audit is carried out. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standards become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective AAS. Their mandatory status 
implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the Institute to ensure that the 
AASs are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not 
been able to perform an audit in accordance with the AASs, his report should draw attention to the material departures 
therefrom. The Auditing and Assurance Standards have the same authority as that attached to the Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices. 

3 The Council of the Institute has made Accounting Standard (AS) 3, Cash Flow Statements, mandatory for certain entities 
in respect of accounting periods commencing on or after 1.4.2001. Further, the Council has also decided that AS 3 should 
also be treated as a "specified" accounting standard for the purpose of section 211 of the Companies Act, 1956 and 
thereby making the cash flow statements a part of the balance sheet and profit and loss account. However, irrespective of 
the fact that the cash flow statement is considered to be a part of the balance sheet and profit and loss account, the 
opening or the introductory paragraph of the auditor's report on financial statements of such companies and other entities 
for which AS 3 has been made mandatory, would also identify the cash flow statement as a part of the financial statements 
audited apart from the balance sheet and profit and loss account. Similar reporting considerations would also apply to the 
entities which, though not required to comply with AS 3 in view of its not being mandatory for them, voluntarily prepare 
the cash flow statements. Further, in the above mentioned cases, the auditor's report on financial statements would also 
contain an expression of opinion on the true and fair view of the cash flows for the period under audit (refer Appendix for 
an illustrative Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements in the case of a company for which AS 3 has been made 
mandatory). 

4Refer Appendix for an illustration of the opinion paragraph in the case of a company incorporated under the Companies 
Act, 1956. Also refer footnote 3 for applicability of AS 3 to an entity and the auditor's duties and responsibilities in this 
regard. 

5 Refer footnote 3. 
 
6 ibid.. 

7 Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 

8 This AAS lays down the basic principles that govern the auditor's report on financial statements. The reporting 
requirements contained in other AASs issued by the Council of the Institute would also be applicable. 

Next 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 29 

Auditing in a Computer Information Systems Environment 

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 29, "Auditing in a 
Computer Information Systems Environment" issued by the Council of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India 1. This Standard should be read in conjunction with the 
"Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices" issued by the Institute. 2 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards 
on procedures to be followed when an audit is conducted in a computer information 
systems (CIS) environment. For the purposes of this AAS, a CIS environment exists 
when one or more computer(s) of any type or size is (are) involved in the processing 
of financial information, including quantitative data, of significance to the audit, 
whether those computers are operated by the entity or by a third party. 

2. The overall objective and scope of an audit does not change in a CIS environment. 
However, the use of a computer changes the processing, storage, retrieval and 
communication of financial information and may affect the accounting and internal 
control systems employed by the entity. Accordingly, a CIS environment may affect:  

• the procedures followed by the auditor in obtaining a sufficient understanding 
of the accounting and internal control system. 
 
   

• the auditor's evaluation of inherent risk and control risk through which the 
auditor assesses the audit risk. 
 
   

• the auditor's design and performance of tests of control and substantive 
procedures appropriate to meet the audit objective.  

3. The auditor should consider the effect of a CIS environment on the audit. The auditor 
should evaluate, inter alia, the following factors to determine the effect of CIS 
environment on the audit:  

a. the extent to which the CIS environment is used to record, compile and 
analyse accounting information; 
   

b. the system of internal control in existence in the entity with regard to: 
 
   

i. flow of authorised, correct and complete data to the processing center; 
   

ii. processing, analysis and reporting tasks undertaken in the installation; 
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and 
   

c. the impact of computer-based accounting system on the audit trail that could 
otherwise be expected to exist in an entirely manual system.  

Skills and Competence 

4. The auditor should have sufficient knowledge of the computer information 
systems to plan, direct, supervise, control and review the work performed. 
The sufficiency of knowledge would depend on the nature and extent of the CIS 
environment. The auditor should consider whether any specialised CIS skills 
are needed in the conduct of the audit. Specialised skills may be needed, inter 
alia, to:  

• obtain sufficient understanding of the effect of the CIS environment on 
accounting and internal control systems; 
   

• determine the effect of the CIS environment on the assessment of overall 
audit risk and of risk at the account balance and class of transactions level; 
and 
   

• design and perform appropriate tests of control and substantive procedures.  

If specialised skills are needed, the auditor would seek the assistance of an expert 
possessing such skills, who may either be the auditor's staff or an outside 
professional. If the use of such a professional is planned, the auditor should, 
in accordance with AAS 9, "Using the Work of an Expert", obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence that the work performed by the expert is 
adequate for the purposes of the audit. 

Planning 

5. In accordance with the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 6 (Revised), 
"Risk Assessments and Internal Control", the auditor should obtain an 
understanding of the accounting and internal control systems sufficient to 
plan the audit and to determine the nature, timing and extent of the audit 
procedures. Such an understanding would help the auditor to develop an effective 
audit approach. 

6. In planning the portions of the audit which may be affected by the CIS 
environment, the auditor should obtain an understanding of the significance 
and complexity of the CIS activities and the availability of the data for use in 
the audit. This understanding would include such matters as:  

a. the computer information systems infrastructure [hardware, operating 
system(s), etc., and application software(s) used by the entity, including 
changes, if any, therein since last audit]. 
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b. the significance and complexity of computerised processing in each significant 
accounting application. Significance relates to materiality of the financial 
statement assertions affected by the computerised processing. An application 
may be considered to be complex when, for example: 
 
   

o the volume of transactions is such that users would find it difficult to 
identify and correct errors in processing. 
 
   

o the computer automatically generates material transactions or entries 
directly to another application. 
 
   

o the computer performs complicated computations of financial 
information and/or automatically generates material transactions or 
entries that cannot be (or are not) validated independently. 
 
   

o transactions are exchanged electronically with other organisations [as 
in electronic data interchange (EDI) systems] without manual review 
for propriety or reasonableness. 
 
   

c. determination of the organisational structure of the client's CIS activities and 
the extent of concentration or distribution of computer processing throughout 
the entity, particularly, as they may affect segregation of duties. 
 
   

d. determination of the availability of data. Source documents, computer files, 
and other evidential matter that may be required by the auditor may exist for 
only a short period or only in machine-readable form. Computer information 
systems may generate reports that might be useful in performing substantive 
tests (particularly analytical procedures). The potential for use of computer-
assisted audit techniques may permit increased efficiency in the performance 
of audit procedures, or may enable the auditor to economically apply certain 
procedures to the entire population of accounts or transactions.  

7. When the computer information systems are significant, the auditor should 
also obtain an understanding of the CIS environment and whether it may 
influence the assessment of inherent and control risks. The nature of the risks 
and the internal control characteristics in CIS environments include the following:  

• Lack of transaction trails : Some computer information systems are designed 
so that a complete transaction trail that is useful for audit purposes might 
exist for only a short period of time or only in computer readable form. Where 
a complex application system performs a large number of processing steps, 
there may not be a complete trail. Accordingly, errors embedded in an 
application's program logic may be difficult to detect on a timely basis by 
manual (user) procedures. 
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• Uniform processing of transactions: Computer processing uniformly processes 
like transactions with the same processing instructions. Thus, the clerical 
errors ordinarily associated with manual processing are virtually eliminated. 
Conversely, programming errors (or other systemic errors in hardware or 
software) will ordinarily result in all transactions being processed incorrectly. 
 
   

• Lack of segregation of functions: Many control procedures that would 
ordinarily be performed by separate individuals in manual systems may 
become concentrated in a CIS environment. Thus, an individual who has 
access to computer programs, processing or data may be in a position to 
perform incompatible functions. 
 
   

• Potential for errors and irregularities : The potential for human error in the 
development, maintenance and execution of computer information systems 
may be greater than in manual systems, partially because of the level of detail 
inherent in these activities. Also, the potential for individuals to gain 
unauthorised access to data or to alter data without visible evidence may be 
greater in CIS than in manual systems. 
 
In addition, decreased human involvement in handling transactions processed 
by computer information systems can reduce the potential for observing 
errors and irregularities. Errors or irregularities occurring during the design or 
modification of application programs or systems software can remain 
undetected for long periods of time.  

• Initiation or execution of transactions: Computer information systems may 
include the capability to initiate or cause the execution of certain types of 
transactions, automatically. The authorisation of these transactions or 
procedures may not be documented in the same way as that in a manual 
system, and management's authorisation of these transactions may be 
implicit in its acceptance of the design of the computer information systems 
and subsequent modification. 
 
   

• Dependence of other controls over computer processing: Computer processing 
may produce reports and other output that are used in performing manual 
control procedures. The effectiveness of these manual control procedures can 
be dependent on the effectiveness of controls over the completeness and 
accuracy of computer processing. In turn, the effectiveness and consistent 
operation of transaction processing controls in computer applications is often 
dependent on the effectiveness of general computer information systems 
controls. 
 
   

• Potential for increased management supervision: Computer information 
systems can offer management a variety of analytical tools that may be used 
to review and supervise the operations of the entity. The availability of these 
analytical tools, if used, may serve to enhance the entire internal control 
structure. 
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• Potential for the use of computer-assisted audit techniques: The case of 
processing and analysing large quantities of data using computers may 
require the auditor to apply general or specialised computer audit techniques 
and tools in the execution of audit tests. 
 
   

Both the risks and the controls introduced as a result of these characteristics of 
computer information systems have a potential impact on the auditor's assessment of 
risk, and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures. 

8. While evaluating the reliability of the accounting and internal control systems, the 
auditor would consider whether these systems, inter alia:  

a. ensure that authorised, correct and complete data is made available for 
processing; 
   

b. provide for timely detection and correction of errors; 
   

c. ensure that in case of interruption in the working of the CIS environment due 
to power, mechanical or processing failures, the system restarts without 
distorting the completion of the entries and records; 
   

d. ensure the accuracy and completeness of output; 
   

e. provide adequate data security against fire and other calamities, wrong 
processing, frauds etc.; 
   

f. prevent unauthorised amendments to the programs; and 
   

g. provide for safe custody of source code of application software and data files.  

Assessment of Risk 

9. The auditor should make an assessment of inherent and control risks for 
material financial statement assertions, in accordance with AAS 6 
(Revised), "Risk Assessments and Internal Control". 

10. The inherent risks and control risks in a CIS environment may have both a pervasive 
effect and an account-specific effect on the likelihood of material misstatements, as 
follows:  

• The risks may result from deficiencies in pervasive CIS activities such as 
program development and maintenance, system software support, 
operations, physical CIS security, and control over access to special-privilege 
utility programs. These deficiencies would tend to have a pervasive impact on 
all application systems that are processed on the computer. 
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• The risks may increase the potential for errors or fraudulent activities in 

specific applications, in specific databases or master files, or in specific 
processing activities. For example, errors are not uncommon in systems that 
perform complex logic or calculations, or that must deal with many different 
exception conditions. Systems that control cash disbursements or other liquid 
assets are susceptible to fraudulent actions by users or by CIS personnel.  

11. As new CIS technologies emerge for data processing, they are frequently employed 
by clients to build increasingly complex computer systems that may include micro-
to-mainframe links, distributed data bases, end-user processing, and business 
management systems that feed information directly into the accounting systems. 
Such systems increase the overall sophistication of computer information systems 
and the complexity of the specific applications that they affect. As a result, they may 
increase risk and require further consideration. 

Audit Procedures 

12. In accordance with AAS 6 (Revised) "Risk Assessments and Internal 
Control", the auditor should consider the CIS environment in designing 
audit procedures to reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level. He should 
make enquiries and particularly satisfy himself whether:  

a. adequate procedures exist to ensure that the data transmitted is correct and 
complete; and 
 
   

b. cross-verification of records, reconciliation statements and control systems 
between primary and subsidiary ledgers do exist and are operative and that 
accuracy of computer compiled records are not assumed.  

13. The auditor's specific audit objectives do not change whether accounting data is 
processed manually or by computer. However, the methods of applying audit 
procedures to gather evidence may be influenced by the methods of computer 
processing. The auditor can use manual audit procedures, or computer-assisted 
audit techniques, or a combination of both to obtain sufficient evidential matter. 
However, in some accounting systems that use a computer for processing significant 
applications, it may be difficult or impossible for the auditor to obtain certain data 
for inspection, inquiry, or confirmation without computer assistance. 

Documentation 

14. The auditor should document the audit plan, the nature, timing and extent 
of audit procedures performed and the conclusions drawn from the 
evidence obtained. In an audit in CIS environment, some of the audit 
evidence may be in the electronic form. The auditor should satisfy himself 
that such evidence is adequately and safely stored and is retrievable in its 
entirety as and when required. 
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Effective Date 

15. This Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) becomes operative for all audits 
related to accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2003. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 401 

The auditing standards established in this Auditing and Assurance Standard are generally 
consistent in all material respects with those set out in International Standard on 
Auditing (ISA) 401 on Auditing in a Computer Information Systems Environment except 
for the additional requirement related to "Documentation" [see paragraph 14]. ISA 401 
does not contain any requirement related to documentation. 

1Issued in January 2003. 
 
2 With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee {now known as the Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board} in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices 
(SAPs). SAPs have been renamed as Auditing and Assurance Standards (AASs). Auditing an d Assurance Standards 
(hitherto SAPs) lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles apply whenever an independent audit is 
carried out. Auditing and Assurance Standards become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective AAS. Their 
mandatory status implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of the 
Institute to ensure that the AASs are followed in the audit of financial information covered by their audit reports. If, for 
any reason, a member has not been able to perform an audit in accordance with the AASs, his report should draw 
attention to the material departures therefrom. The Auditing and Assurance Standards have the same authority as 
that attached to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 30 

External Confirmations 

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 30 * , "External 
Confirmations", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 
This Standard should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on 
Standard Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute. 1 

* Issued in August, 2003. 
 
1With the formation of the Auditing Practices Committee {now known as the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board} in 1982, the Council of the Institute has been issuing a 
series of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices (SAPs). SAPs have been renamed as 
Auditing and Assurance Standards (AASs). The Auditing and Assurance Standards 
(hitherto known as SAPs) lay down the principles governing an audit. These principles 
apply whenever an independent audit is carried out. Auditing and Assurance Standards 
become mandatory on the dates specified in the respective AAS. Their mandatory status 
implies that, while discharging their attest function, it will be the duty of the members of 
the Institute to ensure that the AASs are followed in the audit of financial information 
covered by their audit reports. If, for any reason, a member has not been able to perform 
an audit in accordance with the AASs, his report should draw attention to the material 
departures therefrom. The Auditing and Assurance Standards have the same authority as 
that attached to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish 
standards on the auditor's use of external confirmations as a means of obtaining 
audit evidence. 

2. The auditor should determine whether the use of external confirmations is 
necessary to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to support 
certain financial statement assertions. In making this determination, the 
auditor should consider materiality, the assessed level of inherent and 
control risk, and how the evidence from other planned audit procedures 
will reduce audit risk to an acceptably low level for the applicable financial 
statement assertions. The auditor should employ external confirmation 
procedures in consultation with the management. 

3. Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 5, "Audit Evidence" states that the 
reliability of audit evidence is influenced by its source and nature. It indicates that, 
in general, audit evidence from external sources is more reliable than audit 
evidence generated internally, and that written (documentary) audit evidence is 
more reliable than audit evidence in oral form. Accordingly, audit evidence in the 
form of written responses to confirmation requests received directly by the auditor 
from third parties who are not related to the entity being audited, when considered 
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individually or cumulatively with audit evidence from other procedures, may assist 
in reducing audit risk for the related financial statement assertions to an acceptably 
low level. 

4. External confirmation is the process of obtaining and evaluating audit evidence 
through a direct communication from a third party in response to a request for 
information about a particular item affecting assertions made by management in 
the financial statements. In deciding to what extent to use external confirmations, 
the auditor considers the characteristics of the environment in which the entity 
being audited operates and the practice of potential respondents in dealing with 
requests for direct confirmation. 

5. The process of external confirmations, ordinarily, consists of the following:  

• Selecting the items for which confirmations are needed. 
 
   

• Designing the form of the confirmation request. 
 
   

• Communicating the confirmation request to the appropriate third party. 
 
   

• Obtaining response from the third party. 
 
   

• Evaluating the information or absence thereof.  

6. External confirmations are frequently used in relation to account balances and their 
components, but need not be restricted to these items. For example, the auditor 
may request external confirmation of the terms of agreements or transactions an 
entity has with third parties. The confirmation request is designed to ask if any 
modifications have been made to the agreement, and if so, the relevant details 
thereof. Other examples of situations where external confirmations may be used 
include the following:  

• Bank balances and other information from bankers. 
 
   

• Accounts receivable balances. 
 
   

• Stocks held by third parties. 
 
   

• Property title deeds held by third parties. 
 
   

• Investments purchased but delivery not taken. 
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• Loans from lenders. 
 
   

• Accounts payable balances. 
 
   

• Long outstanding share application money.  

7. The reliability of the evidence obtained by external confirmations depends, among 
other factors, upon the application of appropriate procedures by the auditor in 
designing the external confirmation request, performing the external confirmation 
procedures, and evaluating the results of the external confirmation procedures. 
Factors affecting the reliability of confirmations include the control which the 
auditor exercises over confirmation requests and responses, the characteristics of 
the respondents, and any restrictions included in the response or imposed by 
management. 

Relationship of External Confirmation Procedures to the Auditor's Assessments 
of Inherent Risk and Control Risk 

8. Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 6 (Revised), "Risk Assessments and 
Internal Control" discusses audit risk and the relationship between its components: 
inherent risk, control risk, and detection risk. It outlines the process of assessing 
inherent and control risk to determine the nature, timing, and extent of substantive 
procedures to reduce detection risk, and therefore, audit risk, to an acceptable 
level. 

9. AAS 6 (Revised) also indicates that the nature and extent of evidence to be 
obtained from the performance of substantive procedures varies depending on the 
assessment of inherent and control risks, and that the assessed levels of inherent 
and control risk cannot be sufficiently low to eliminate the need to perform any 
substantive procedures. These substantive procedures may include the use of 
external confirmations for specific financial statement assertions. 

10. Paragraph 48 of AAS 6 (Revised) indicates that the higher the assessment of 
inherent and control risk, the more audit evidence the auditor needs to obtain from 
the performance of substantive procedures. Consequently, as the assessed level of 
inherent and control risk increases, the auditor designs substantive procedures to 
obtain more evidence, or more persuasive evidence, about a financial statement 
assertion. In these situations, the use of confirmation procedures may be effective 
in providing sufficient appropriate audit evidence. 

11. The auditor should assess whether the evidence provided by the 
confirmations reduces audit risks for the related assertions to an 
acceptably low level. In making that assessment, the auditor should 
consider the materiality of the account balance and the auditor's 
assessment of the inherent and control risk. If the auditor concludes that 
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the evidence provided by the confirmations alone is not sufficient, he 
should perform additional procedures. 

12. The lower the assessed level of inherent and control risk, the less assurance the 
auditor needs from substantive procedures to form a conclusion about a financial 
statement assertion. For example, an entity may have a loan that it is repaying 
according to an agreed repayment schedule, the terms of which the auditor has 
confirmed in previous years. If the other work carried out by the auditor (including 
such tests of controls as are necessary) indicates that the terms of the loan have 
not changed and has lead to the level of inherent and control risk over the balance 
of the loan outstanding being assessed as low, the auditor might limit substantive 
procedures to testing details of the payments made, rather than again confirming 
the balance directly with the lender. 

13. Unusual or complex transactions may be associated with higher levels of inherent 
or control risk than simple transactions. If the entity has entered into an unusual or 
complex transaction and the level of inherent and control risk is assessed as high, 
the auditor considers confirming the terms of transaction with the other parties in 
addition to examining documentation held by the entity. 

Assertions Addressed by External Confirmations 

14. AAS 5, "Audit Evidence", categorises the assertions contained in the financial 
statements as existence, rights and obligations, occurrence, completeness, 
valuation, measurement, and presentation and disclosure. While external 
confirmations may provide audit evidence regarding these assertions, the ability of 
an external confirmation to provide evidence relevant to a particular financial 
statement assertion varies. 

15. External confirmation of an account receivable provides strong evidence regarding 
the existence of the account as at a certain date. Confirmation also provides 
evidence regarding the operation of cut-off procedures. However, such 
confirmation does not ordinarily provide all the necessary audit evidence relating to 
the assertion regarding valuation, since it is not practicable to ask the debtor to 
confirm detailed information relating to its ability to pay the account. 

16. Similarly, in the case of goods held on consignment, external confirmation is likely 
to provide strong evidence to support the assertions related to existence and the 
rights and obligations, but might not provide evidence that supports the assertions 
related to valuation. 

17. The relevance of external confirmations to auditing a particular financial statement 
assertion is also affected by the objective of the auditor in selecting information for 
confirmation. For example, when auditing the assertion regarding the completeness 
of accounts payable, the auditor also needs to obtain evidence that there is no 
material unrecorded liability. Accordingly, sending confirmation requests to an 
entity's principal suppliers, asking them to provide copies of their statements of 
account directly to the auditor, even if the entity's records show no amount 
currently owing to them, will usually be more effective in detecting unrecorded 
liabilities than selecting accounts for confirmation based on the larger amounts 
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recorded in the accounts payable subsidiary ledger. 

18. When obtaining evidence for assertions not adequately addressed by confirmations, 
the auditor considers other audit procedures to complement confirmation 
procedures or to be used instead of confirmation procedures. 

Timing of External Confirmations 

19. The auditor may request external confirmations either as at the date of the 
financial statements or as at any other selected date which is reasonably close to 
the date of financial statements. The date may be, alternatively, settled by the 
auditor in consultation with the management. Where the auditor decides to request 
for confirmations as at date which is other than the date of the financial 
statements, the auditor would need to examine the movement in the concerned 
account(s) that occur between the date of the confirmations and the date of the 
financial statements. For example, when the auditor uses confirmation as at a date 
prior to the balance sheet to obtain evidence to support a financial statement 
assertion, the auditor would obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence that 
transactions relevant to the assertions in the intervening period have not been 
materially misstated. For practical reasons, when the level of inherent and control 
risk is assessed at less than high, the auditor may decide to confirm balances at a 
date other than the period end, for example, when the audit is to be completed 
within a short time after the balance sheet date. As with all types of pre-year-end 
work, the auditor would consider the need to obtain further audit evidence relating 
to the remainder of the period also. 

Design of the External Confirmation Request 

20. The auditor should design external confirmation requests to the specific 
audit objective. When designing the request, the auditor considers the assertions 
being addressed and the factors that are likely to affect the reliability of the 
confirmations. Factors such as the form of the external confirmation request, prior 
experience on the audit or similar engagements, the nature of the information 
being confirmed, and the intended respondent, affect the design of the requests 
because these factors have a direct effect on the reliability of the evidence 
obtained through external confirmation procedures. The other factors which have 
an effect on the design of an external confirmation request include effectiveness of 
the internal control system of the entity, apparent possibility of disputes, 
inaccuracies and irregularities in the accounts, the possibility that the request will 
receive a consideration and the materiality of the amount involved. 

Nature of Information Being Confirmed 

21. In designing the request, the auditor considers the type of information respondents 
will be able to confirm readily since this may affect the response rate and the 
nature of the evidence obtained. For example, certain respondents' accounting 
systems may facilitate the external confirmation of single transactions rather than 
of entire account balances. In addition, respondents may not always be able to 
confirm certain types of information, such as the overall accounts receivable 
balance, but may be able to confirm individual invoice amounts within the total 
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balance. 

22. The auditor's understanding of the client's arrangements and transactions with the 
third parties is important in determining the information to be confirmed. The 
auditor should obtain an understanding of the substance of such 
transactions and arrangements to decide about the information to be 
included in the request for confirmation. The auditor also considers the 
possibility of oral modifications in the arrangements and transactions and, 
accordingly, requests the management to provide him the details thereof. 

23. Confirmation requests ordinarily include authorization of the entity's management 
to the respondent to disclose the information to the auditor. Respondents may be 
more willing to respond to a confirmation request containing management's 
authorization, and in some cases may be unable to respond unless the request 
contains such authorization. 

Prior Experience 

24. The auditor should consider the information from audits of earlier years. 
This information would, normally, include the misstatements, inaccuracies or 
irregularities identified by the auditor or those pointed out by the third parties in 
the earlier years, the response rate etc. 

Form of Confirmation Request-Use of Positive and Negative Confirmations 

25. The auditor may use positive or negative external confirmation requests or a 
combination of both. 

26. A positive external confirmation request asks the respondent to reply to the auditor 
in all cases either by indicating the respondent's agreement with the given 
information, or by asking the respondent to fill in information. The use of a positive 
confirmation is preferable when individual account balances are large, or where the 
internal controls are weak, or where the auditor has reasons to believe that there 
may be a substantial number of accounts in dispute or inaccurate or irregular. A 
response to a positive confirmation request is ordinarily expected to provide 
reliable audit evidence. There is a risk, however, that a respondent may reply to 
the confirmation request without verifying that the information is correct. The 
auditor is not ordinarily able to detect whether this has occurred. The auditor may 
reduce this risk, however, by using positive confirmation requests that do not state 
the amount (or other information) on the confirmation request, but ask the 
respondent to fill in the amount or furnish other information. On the other hand, 
use of this type of "blank" confirmation request may result in lower response rates 
because additional effort is required of the respondents. 

27. A negative external confirmation request asks the respondent to reply only in the 
event of disagreement with the information provided in the request. However, 
when no response has been received to a negative confirmation request, the 
auditor remains aware that there will be no explicit evidence that intended third 
parties have received the confirmation requests and verified that the information 
contained therein is correct or that the confirmation was sent by the respondent 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 189 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

but not received by him. Accordingly, the use of negative confirmation requests 
ordinarily provides less reliable evidence than the use of positive confirmation 
requests, and the auditor considers performing other substantive procedures to 
supplement the use of negative confirmations. 

28. Negative confirmation requests may be used to reduce audit risk to an acceptable 
level when:  

a. the assessed level of inherent and control risk is low; 
 
   

b. a large number of small balances is involved; 
 
   

c. a substantial number of errors is not expected; and 
 
   

d. the auditor has no reason to believe that respondents will disregard these 
requests.  

29. A combination of positive and negative external confirmations may be used. For 
example, where the total accounts receivable balance comprises a small number of 
large balances and a large number of small balances, the auditor may decide that it 
is appropriate to confirm all or a sample of the large balances with positive 
confirmation requests and a sample of the small balances using negative 
confirmation requests. 

Characteristics of Respondents 

30. The reliability of evidence provided by a confirmation is affected by the 
respondent's competence, independence, authority to respond, knowledge of the 
matter being confirmed, and objectivity. For this reason, the auditor attempts to 
ensure, where practicable, that the confirmation request is directed to an 
appropriate individual. For example, when confirming that a covenant related to an 
entity's long-term debt has been waived, the auditor directs the request to an 
official of the creditor who has knowledge about the waiver and has the authority 
to provide the information. 

31. The auditor also assesses whether certain parties may not provide an objective or 
unbiased response to a confirmation request. Information about the respondent's 
competence, knowledge, motivation, ability or willingness to respond may come to 
the auditor's attention. The auditor considers the effect of such information on 
designing the confirmation request and evaluating the results, including 
determining whether additional procedures are necessary. The auditor also 
considers whether there is sufficient basis for concluding that the confirmation 
request is being sent to a respondent from whom the auditor can expect a 
response that will provide sufficient appropriate evidence. For example, the auditor 
may encounter significant unusual year-end transactions that have a material 
effect on the financial statements, the transactions being with a third party that is 
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economically dependent upon the entity. In such circumstances, the auditor 
considers whether the third party may be motivated to provide an inaccurate 
response. 

The External Confirmation Process 

32. When performing confirmation procedures, the auditor should maintain 
control over the process of selecting those to whom a request will be sent, 
the preparation and sending of confirmation requests, and the responses 
to those requests. Maintaining control means maintaining direct communications 
between the intended recipients and the auditor to minimize the possibility that the 
results of the confirmation process will be biased because of the interception and 
alteration of confirmation requests or responses. The auditor may give a list of 
accounts selected for confirmation to the management for preparing requests for 
confirmations, which should be properly addressed and stamped, alternatively, the 
auditor may request the management to furnish duly authorised confirmation 
letters and fill in the names, addresses and other relevant details relating to the 
accounts selected by him. The auditor should, however, ensure that it is the 
auditor who sends out the confirmation requests, that the requests are 
properly addressed, and that it is requested that all replies and the 
undelivered confirmations are delivered directly to the auditor. The auditor 
considers whether replies have come from the purported senders. 

No Response to a Positive Confirmation Request 

33. The auditor should perform alternative procedures where no response is 
received to a positive external confirmation request. The alternative audit 
procedures should be such as to provide the evidence about the financial 
statement assertions that the confirmation request was intended to 
provide. 

34. When using a confirmation request other than a negative confirmation request, the 
auditor, generally, follows up with a second and sometimes third request to those 
parties from whom replies have not been received or, alternatively, contact the 
recipient of the request to elicit a response. Where the auditor is unable to obtain a 
response, the auditor would need to use alternative audit procedures. The nature 
of alternative procedures varies according to the account and assertion in question. 
In the examination of accounts receivable, alternative procedures may include 
examination of subsequent cash receipts, examination of shipping documentation 
or other client documentation to provide evidence for the existence assertion, and 
sales cut-off tests to provide evidence for the assertion related to completeness. In 
the examination of accounts payable, alternative procedures may include 
examination of subsequent cash disbursements or correspondence from third 
parties to provide evidence of the existence assertion, and examination of other 
records, such as goods received notes, to provide evidence of the assertion 
regarding completeness. 

Reliability of Responses Received 

35. The auditor should consider whether there is any indication that external 
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confirmations received may not be reliable. The auditor should also 
consider the authenticity of the response and perform appropriate 
procedures to dispel any doubts. The auditor may choose to verify the source 
and contents of a response in a telephone call to the purported sender. In addition, 
the auditor would also request the purported sender to mail the original 
confirmation directly to the auditor. With ever-increasing use of technology, the 
auditor needs to consider validating the source of replies received in electronic 
format (for example, fax or electronic mail). Oral confirmations should be 
documented in the work papers. If the information in the oral confirmations or 
that received though a fax is significant, the auditor requests the parties involved 
to submit written confirmation of the specific information directly to the auditor 
since in such cases it is difficult to ascertain the source of the response. 

Causes and Frequency of Exceptions 

36. When the auditor forms a conclusion that the confirmation process and 
alternative procedures have not provided sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding an assertion, the auditor should undertake additional 
procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. In forming the 
conclusion, the auditor considers the:  

a. reliability of the confirmations and alternative procedures; 
 
   

b. nature of any exceptions, including the implications, both quantitative and 
qualitative of those exceptions; and 
 
   

c. evidence provided by other procedures.  

Based on this evaluation, the auditor would determine whether additional audit 
procedures are needed to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence. 

37. Any discrepancies revealed by the external confirmations received or by the 
additional procedures carried out by the auditor might have a bearing on the 
assertions and the accounts within the given assertion not selected for external 
confirmation. The auditor, in such a case, should request the management 
to verify and reconcile the discrepancies. The auditor should also consider 
what further tests can be carried out to satisfy himself as to the 
correctness of related assertion. 

38. The auditor should also consider the causes and frequency of exceptions 
reported by respondents. An exception might indicate a misstatement in the 
entity's records, in which case, the auditor determines the reasons for the 
misstatement and assesses whether it has a material effect on the financial 
statements. If an exception indicates a misstatement, the auditor would reconsider 
the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to provide the 
evidence required. If the responses received indicate a pattern of 
misstatements, the auditor should reconsider his assessment of inherent 
and control risk and also consider the effect on his audit procedures. 
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Evaluating the Results of the Confirmation Process 

39. The auditor should evaluate whether the results of the external 
confirmation process together with the results from any other procedures 
performed, provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial statement assertion being audited. In conducting this evaluation, the 
auditor considers the guidance provided by AAS 15, "Audit Sampling". 

Management Requests 

40. When the auditor seeks to confirm certain balances or other information, 
and management requests the auditor not to do so, the auditor should 
consider whether there are valid grounds for such a request and obtain 
evidence to support the validity of management's requests. The auditor 
should also ask the management to submit its request in a written form, 
detailing therein the reasons for such request. The management, for 
example, might make such a request on the grounds that due to a dispute with the 
particular debtor, the request for confirmation might aggravate the sensitive 
negotiations between the entity and the debtor. The auditor, in such a case, would 
examine any available evidence to support management's request, say, examining 
the correspondence between the management and the debtor. If the auditor 
agrees to management's request not to seek external confirmation 
regarding a particular matter, the auditor should document the reasons for 
acceding to the management's request and should apply alternative 
procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence regarding that 
matter. 

41. If the auditor does not accept the validity of management's request and is 
prevented from carrying out the confirmations, there has been a limitation 
on the scope of the auditor's work and the auditor should consider the 
possible impact on the auditor's report. The auditor should, however, in 
this case also, document the request made by the management along with 
the reasons given by the management therefor as well as his own reasons 
for not acceding to the management's request. 

42. When considering the reasons provided by management, the auditor would apply 
professional skepticism and consider whether the request has any implications 
regarding management's integrity. The auditor would also consider whether 
management's request might indicate the possible existence of fraud or error. If 
the auditor believes that fraud or error exists, the auditor would consider the 
requirements of AAS 4, "The Auditor's Responsibility to Consider Fraud and Error in 
an Audit of Financial Statements". The auditor would also need to consider whether 
the alternative procedures will provide sufficient appropriate evidence regarding 
that matter. 

Effective Date 

43. This Auditing and Assurance Standard is effective for audits related to accounting 
periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2003. 
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Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 505 

The auditing standards established in this AAS are generally consistent in all material 
respects with the International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 505, "External Confirmations", 
except the following:  

a. The AAS requires the auditor to obtain an understanding of the substance of 
transactions and agreement with the third parties to decide about the information 
to be included in the request for confirmation (see paragraph 22). ISA 505 does 
not contain any requirements in this regard. 
 
   

b. The AAS requires the auditor to consider the information from audits of earlier 
years (see paragraph 24). This requirement is not present in ISA 505. 
 
   

c. The AAS requires the auditor to request the management to verify and reconcile 
the discrepancies revealed by the external confirmations received or by the 
additional procedures carried out by the auditor. The AAS further requires the 
auditor to consider what further tests can be carried out to satisfy him self as to 
the correctness of related assertions (see paragraph 37). This requirement is not 
present in ISA 505.  
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 31 

Engagements to Compile Financial Statements [1] 

  

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 31, "Engagements to 
Compile Financial Statements", issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  
This Standard should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard 
Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute.  

  Introduction  

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards on 
the professional responsibilities of the accountant [2] , when an engagement to compile 
financial statements or other financial information is undertaken and the form and content of 
the report issued in connection with such a compilation so that the association of the name of 
the accountant with the financial statements is not misconstrued by a user of those statements 
or information as having been audited by him.  

2. This AAS is directed toward the compilation of financial information.  However, it should 
be applied, to the extent practicable, to engagements to compile non-financial information, 
provided the accountant has adequate knowledge of the subject matter in question.  
Engagements to provide limited assistance to a client in the preparation of financial 
statements (for example, selection of an appropriate accounting policy), do not constitute 
engagements to compile financial statements. This AAS should be read in conjunction with 
the "Framework of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and Guidance Notes on 
Related Services". 

Objective of a Compilation Engagement  

3. The objective of a compilation engagement is for an accountant to use accounting 
expertise, as opposed to auditing expertise, to collect, classify and summarise financial 
information. This ordinarily entails reducing detailed data to a manageable and 
understandable form without the requirement to test the assertions underlying that 
information. The procedures employed are not designed and do not enable the accountant to 
express any assurance on the financial information.  However, users of the compiled 
financial information derive some benefit as a result of the accountant's involvement because 
the service has been performed with professional competence and due care. 

4. A compilation engagement would ordinarily include the preparation of financial 
statements (which may or may not be a complete set of financial statements) but may also 
include the collection, classification and summarisation of other financial information, for 
example, preparation of quarterly results, restatement of financial statements in accordance 
with a financial reporting framework other than in accordance with which the financial 
statements to be restated are already prepared and presented.  
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General Principles of a Compilation Engagement  

5.  The accountant should comply with the "Code of Ethics", issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India.  The ethical principles governing the accountant's 
professional responsibilities for this type of engagement are: 

(a)  Integrity; 

(b)  Objectivity; 

(c)  Professional competence and due care; 

(d)  Confidentiality; 

(e)  Professional conduct; and 

(f)  Technical standards 

Independence is not a requirement for a compilation engagement.  However, where the 
accountant is not independent, a statement to that effect should be made in the 
accountant's report. 

6. In all circumstances when an accountant's name is associated with financial 
information compiled by him, the accountant should issue a report. 

Responsibility of Management  

7.  The management is responsible for taking reasonable steps to prevent and detect errors, 
fraud or other irregularities. This includes: 

(a)  Ensuring that the financial information generated in the entity is correct, complete and 
reliable; 

(b)  Maintaining adequate accounting and other records and internal controls and selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; 

(c)  Establishing controls designed to safeguard the assets of the entity and also to deter 
fraudulent or other dishonest conduct and to detect any fraud that occurs; 

(d)  Establishing controls to provide reasonable assurance that the entity complies with laws 
and regulations applicable to its activities, or for detecting any non compliance with laws or 
regulations that occurs. 

8.  A compilation engagement cannot be regarded as providing assurance on the adequacy of 
the client's internal control systems or on the actual incidence of fraud or non compliance 
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with laws and regulations.  A compilation engagement carried out by the accountant does not 
relieve the management of these responsibilities. 

9.  The management is also responsible for preparation and presentation of financial 
statements in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, if any. The accountant 
should, accordingly, obtain an acknowledgement from the management of its 
responsibility for the appropriate preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements or other information and of its approval of such information to be complied. 
The accountant should also obtain an acknowledgement from management of its 
responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the underlying accounting data and 
the complete disclosure of all material and relevant information to the accountant. 

  

Defining the Terms of the Engagement  

10.  An engagement letter will be of assistance in planning the compilation work. The scope 
of a compilation engagement would, normally, be defined by the instructions of the client, 
though in certain cases, for example, in case of compilation of financial statements of a 
company, the form and content of such financial statements might be laid down under a 
statute.  The accountant should, therefore, ensure that there is a clear understanding 
between the client and the accountant regarding the terms of the engagement by means 
of an engagement letter or such other suitable form of contract.  Thus, it is in the 
interest of both the accountant and the entity that the accountant  sends an engagement 
letter documenting the key terms of the appointment.  An engagement letter confirms 
the accountant's acceptance of the engagement and helps avoid misunderstanding 
regarding matters such as the objective and scope of the engagement and the extent of 
the accountant's responsibilities. 

11.  The engagement letter would include matters such as the following: 

(a)  Nature of the engagement, including the fact that neither an audit nor a review will be 
carried out and accordingly no assurance will be expressed. 

(b)  Fact that the engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose frauds or defalcations or 
illegal acts that may exist but that the accountant will bring to the attention of the 
management any such matter which might come to his attention during the course of his 
engagement. 

(c)  Nature of the information to be supplied by the client. 

(d)  Fact that the management is responsible for: 

• the accuracy and completeness of the information supplied to the accountant, 
including maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls and 
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selection and application of appropriate accounting policies. 
   

• preparation and presentation of the financial statements of the entity, in accordance 
with the applicable laws and regulations, if any. 
   

• safeguarding the assets of the entity and also establishing appropriate controls 
designed to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 
   

• ensuring that the activities of the entity are carried in accordance with applicable laws 
and regulations and that it institutes appropriate controls to prevent and detect any 
non compliance. 
   

• ensuring complete disclosure of all material and relevant information to the 
accountant.  

(e)  Intended use and distribution of the information, once compiled. 

(f)  Basis of accounting on which the financial information is to be compiled and the fact that 
the basis, and any known departures therefrom, if any, will be disclosed. 

(g)  The fact that the management is responsible to the users for the information to be 
compiled by the accountant. 

(h)  Unrestricted access to whatever records, documents and other information is requested in 
connection with the compilation engagement. 

(i)  Basis on which fees would be computed and any billing arrangements. 

(j)  Request for the client to confirm the terms of engagement by acknowledging the receipt 
of the engagement letter. 

An example of an engagement letter for a compilation engagement appears in Appendix I. 

Planning  

12. The accountant should plan the work so that an effective engagement will be 
performed. 

Documentation  

13. The accountant should document matters which are important in providing 
evidence that the engagement was carried out in accordance with this Auditing and 
Assurance Standard and the terms of the engagement. 

Procedures  
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14.  The accountant should obtain a general knowledge of the business and operations 
of the entity and should be familiar with the accounting principles and practices of the 
industry in which the entity operates and with the form and content of the financial 
statements / other financial information that is appropriate in the circumstances. 

15.  To compile financial information, the accountant requires a general understanding of the 
nature of the entity's business transactions, form of its accounting records and the accounting 
basis on which the financial information is to be presented.  The accountant ordinarily 
obtains knowledge of these matters through experience with the entity or enquiry of the 
entity's personnel. 

16. Other than as noted in this Auditing and Assurance Standard, the accountant is not, 
ordinarily, required to: 

(a) Make any inquiries of management to assess the reliability and completeness of the 
information provided; 

(b) Assess internal controls; 

(c) Verify any matters; or 

(d) Verify any explanations. 

In a compilation engagement, an accountant would normally have to rely on the management 
for most of the information needed to compile the financial statements and other financial 
information, including accounting estimates as well as the fact that the information given to 
the accountant is complete and reliable.  The accountant should request management 
representation letter covering significant information or explanations given orally on 
which they consider representations are required. 

17.  If the accountant becomes aware that the information supplied by management is 
incorrect, incomplete, or otherwise unsatisfactory, the accountant should consider 
performing the procedures listed in paragraph 16 and request management to provide 
additional information. If management refuses to provide additional information, the 
accountant should withdraw from the engagement, informing the entity of the reasons 
for the withdrawal. 

18.  The accountant should read the compiled information and consider whether it 
appears to be appropriate in form and free from obvious material misstatement.  In this 
sense, material misstatements include: 

(a)  mistakes in application of the identified financial reporting framework. 

(b)  non-disclosure of the financial reporting framework and any known departures 
therefrom. 
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(c)  non-disclosure of any other significant matters of which the accountant has become 
aware. 

The identified financial reporting framework and any known material departures 
therefrom should be disclosed within the financial information, though their effects 
need not be quantified. 

Special Considerations  

Clients Having an Identified Financial Reporting Framework 

19. As far as practicable, in case of compilation of financial statements prepared within 
an identified financial reporting framework[3], the accountant should ensure that the 
financial statements or other financial information compiled comply with the 
requirements of the identified financial reporting framework, the fact should be stated 
in the Notes to the Accounts as well as in the accountant's report on the compilation. 

 Clients Having No Identified Financial Reporting Framework  

20.  In case of clients for whom compliance with an identified financial reporting framework 
is not required or the Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India are not mandatory, the client may specify that the accounts should be compiled on, 
for example, based on the requirements of the Income Tax Act, 1961.  However, since, 
accounts are normally assumed to be compliant with the generally accepted accounting 
practices, including the Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India, the different basis of compilation should be set out in the Notes to 
the Accounts as well as the report issued by the accountant on compilation.  

  

Non Compliance with the Accounting Standards 

21. In the case of a company, the financial statements compiled must comply with the 
relevant provisions of the Companies Act, 1956, including the Accounting Standards and, 
accordingly, give a true and fair view.  However, without carrying out the procedures 
necessary for an audit, the accountant cannot form any opinion on whether the accounts give 
a true and fair view, even though he has compiled these financial statements.  The 
compilation is based on the information supplied to the accountant by the client and does not 
include any verification thereof.  However, if the accountant becomes aware of material 
non-compliance with any applicable Accounting Standard(s), the same should be 
brought to the attention of the management and, if the same is not rectified by the 
management, it should be included in the Notes to the Accounts and the compilation 
report of the accountant. 
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Accounting Estimates Made by Clients 

22.  Often in the compilation engagements, it is necessary for certain items in the accounts, 
for example, work in progress, to be based on estimates by the client.  Such estimated items 
should be so described where material.  If, based on the information provided to the 
accountant, it appears that certain estimates are unreasonable, the accountant should 
draw these to the attention of the management for reconsideration. 

23. If the accountant becomes aware of material misstatements, the accountant should 
try to persuade the management to carry out necessary amendments in the financial 
statements.  If such amendments are not made and the financial statements are still 
considered to be misleading, the accountant should withdraw from the engagement. 

24. The financial statements or other financial information compiled should be 
approved by the client before the compilation report is signed by the accountant.  The 
client should be asked to sign a statement on the face of the accounts retained by the 
accountant.  The accountant should ensure that the users of the financial statements or 
other financial information so compiled are aware of the extent of his/her involvement 
with the accounts so that the users do not derive unwarranted assurance.  Accordingly, 
the word 'audit' should not be used in describing the nature of services involving 
compilation of financial statements, nor the fee for these services be described as 
"auditors' fee", or remuneration in the accounts, correspondence or any other 
document. The accountant should also take note that the financial statements or other 
financial information so compiled should not be prepared on the letter-heads or other 
stationery of the accountant, carrying his (or firm's ) name and address since it is liable 
to be misinterpreted.  

Reporting on the Compilation Engagement  

25. It is essential that the accountant clearly brings out the nature of association with 
the financial statements and the nature of the work performed by him. The report on 
compilation should, ordinarily, be in the following layout:- 

(a) Title: the title of the report should be "ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON 
UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" (and not  "AUDITOR'S REPORT"). 

(b) Addressee: the report should ordinarily be addressed to the appointing authority. 

(c)  Identification of the financial statement compiled, also noting that that it is based 
on the information provided by the management. 

(d)  When relevant, a statement that the accountant is not independent of the entity; 

(e)  A statement that the management is responsible for: 
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• completeness and accuracy of the underlying data and complete disclosure of all 
material and relevant information to the accountant; 
   

• maintaining adequate accounting and other records and internal controls and 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; 
   

• preparation and presentation of financial statements in accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations, if any. 
   

• establishing controls to safeguard the assets of the entity and preventing and 
detecting frauds or other irregularities. 
   

• establishing controls for ensuring that the activities of the entity are carried out 
in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and preventing and 
detecting any non compliance.  

(f) A statement that the compilation engagement was performed in accordance with 
this Auditing and Assurance Standard. 

(g) A statement that neither an audit nor a review has been carried out and that 
accordingly, no assurance has been expressed on the financial statements. 

(h)  A paragraph, when considered necessary, drawing attention to the disclosure of 
material departures from the identified financial reporting framework. 

(i)  Date of the report. 

(j)  Place of signature 

(k)  Accountant's signature: The report on compilation of financial information should be 
signed by the auditor in his personal name. Where a firm is appointed for the engagement, 
the report should be signed in the personal name of the accountant and in the name of the 
firm. The partner/proprietor signing the report on compilation of financial information should 
also mention membership number assigned by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. 

Appendix II to the Standard contains illustrative examples of compilation reports. 

26. The financial statements or other financial information compiled by the accountant 
should contain a reference such as "Unaudited," "Compiled without Audit or Review" 
and also "Refer to Compilation Report" on each page of the financial information or on 
the front of the complete set of financial statements . 

Effective Date  
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27. This Auditing and Assurance Standard is applicable to all compilation engagements 
beginning on or after April 1, 2004. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 930  

The standards for compilation engagements established in this Auditing and Assurance 
Standard are generally consistent in all material respects with those set out in the 
International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 930, "Engagements to Compile Financial 
Information", except for the additional section titled, "Special Considerations", as given in 
paragraphs 19 to 22 of this Auditing and Assurance Standard. 

The said section has been added to provide guidance to members in respect of certain typical 
issues which might be faced the members in carrying out compilation engagements. For 
example, duties and responsibilities of the accountant in case of clients having an identified 
financial reporting framework, such as Companies Act, 1956 and any material departures 
therefrom; clients having no identified financial reporting framework, say, where the 
financial statements are based on the requirements of the Income Tax Act, 1961. The section 
also provides guidance in respect of situations where the accountant becomes aware of a 
material non-compliance with the applicable Accounting Standards; as also duties of the 
appointment relating to accounting estimates made by the client. 

Moreover, the Auditing and Assurance Standard, in paragraph 24, unlike the International 
Standard on Auditing (ISA) 930, also requires that the financial statements should be 
approved by the client before compilation report is signed by the accountant. the AAS also 
requires the accountant to ensure that the users of the compiled financial statements are 
aware of the extent of his/her involvement with the accounts so that the users do not derive 
any unwarranted assurance. The AAS, unlike the ISA, also prohibits the accountant from 
preparing financial statements on his letter head or other stationery bearing his (or firm's) 
name or address. 

In addition, the AAS, unlike the ISA, does not require the accountant to send a form of 
expected report to the client alongwith the engagement letter. Also, the AAS requires the 
accountant to mention the place of signature in his report as compared to the ISa which 
requires the accountants to give his address. 

  

APPENDIX I 

Example Of An Engagement Letter For A Compilation Engagement 

The following letter is for use as a guide in conjunction with the considerations outlined in 
paragraph 11 of this Auditing and Assurance Standard. This example is for the compilation 
of financial statements of a company and will need to be varied according to individual 
requirements and circumstances. 
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(Date) 

To the Board of Directors (or the appropriate representatives of senior management): 

  

You have, vide your letter dated ________ requested that we compile the balance sheet of 
__________(name of the company) as at ______________(date) and the related profit and 
loss account and the (cash flow statement) [4] for the year ended on that date.  We are pleased 
to confirm our acceptance and understanding of the engagement by means of this letter. As 
no audit or review engagement procedures are carried out, no opinion on the financial 
statements will be expressed.  Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose whether 
frauds or defalcations, or illegal acts exist.  However, we will inform you of any such matters 
which might come to our attention in the course of the engagement. 

As management, you are responsible for: 

(a)  the accuracy and completeness of the information supplied to the us, including 
maintenance of adequate accounting records and internal controls and selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies. 

(b)  preparation and presentation of the financial statements of the entity, in accordance with 
the applicable laws and regulations, if any. 

(c)  safeguarding the assets of the entity and also establishing appropriate controls designed 
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. 

(d)  ensuring that the activities of the entity are carried in accordance with applicable laws 
and regulations and that it institutes appropriate controls to prevent and detect any non 
compliance. 

You will confirm that events and transactions are recorded in accordance with the applicable 
Accounting Standard(s) and other recognised accounting principles and practices and inform 
us of any departures therefrom. 

As part of our normal procedures, we may request you to provide written confirmations of 
any information or explanations given to us orally during the course of our work. 

We understand that the intended use and distribution of the information we have compiled is 
_________________ (specify). 

We look forward to your full cooperation and trust that you will make available whatever 
records, documentation and other information are requested in connection with our 
engagement. 
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Our fees will be billed as the work progresses. 

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate that it is in accordance with 
your understanding of the arrangements for our compilation of your financial statements. 

  

XYZ & Co. 

Chartered Accountants 
........... 

Signature 
(Name of the Member) 

Designation [5] 
Address: 

Date: 

For ABC & Co.  

Acknowledged on behalf of ______________(name of the company) 

---------------------------- 
Signature 
Name and Designation 
Date 
Address 
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APPENDIX II 

  

Example Of A Report Of An Engagement To Compile Financial Statements  

  

Illustration 1:  Report on Compilation of Financial Statements 

ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON COMPILED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

To... 

On the basis of the accounting records and other information and explanations provided to us 
by the management, we have compiled, the unaudited balance sheet of __________ (name of 
the entity) as at March 31, XXXX and the related profit and loss account and the cash flow 
statement [6] for the period then ended. 

The management of the _________ (name of the entity) is responsible for: 

(a)  Completeness and accuracy of the underlying data and complete disclosure of all 
material and relevant information to the accountant. 

(b)  Maintaining adequate accounting and other records and internal controls and selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; 

(c)  Preparation and presentation of financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
laws and regulations, if any. 

(d)  Establishing controls to safeguard the assets of the entity and preventing and detecting 
frauds or other irregularities. 

(e)  Establishing controls for ensuring that the activities of the entity are carried out in 
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and preventing and detecting any non-
compliance. 

The compilation engagement was carried out by us in accordance with the Auditing and 
Assurance Standard (AAS) 31, "Engagements to Compile Financial Information", issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

The balance sheet and the profit and loss account are in agreement with the books of 
account.  We have not audited or reviewed these financial statements and accordingly 
express no opinion thereon. 
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For ABC & Co. 

Chartered Accountants 
............. 

Signature 
(Name of the partner and membership number) 

Designation [7] 

Date: 
Place: 

  

Illustration 2: Report on Compiled Financial Statements Where Such Financial 
Statements do not Comply with the Generally Accepted Accounting Practices in India. 

ACCOUNTANT'S REPORT ON COMPILED UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

  

To... 

On the basis of the accounting records and other information and explanations provided to us 
by the management, we have compiled, the unaudited balance sheet of __________ (name of 
the entity) as of March 31, XXXX and the related profit and loss account and the cash flow 
statement [8] for the period then ended. 

The management of the _________ (name of the entity) is responsible for: 

(a)  Completeness and accuracy of the underlying data and complete disclosure of all 
material and relevant information to the accountant. 

(b)  Maintaining adequate accounting and other records and internal controls and selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; 

(c)  Preparation and presentation of financial statements in accordance with the applicable 
laws and regulations, if any. 

(d)  Establishing controls to safeguard the assets of the entity and preventing and detecting 
frauds or other irregularities. 
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(e)  Establishing controls for ensuring that the activities of the entity are carried out in 
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and preventing and detecting any non 
compliance. 

The compilation engagement was carried out by us in accordance with the Auditing and 
Assurance Standard (AAS) 31 on "Engagements to Compile Financial Information", issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

Since the financial statements have been compiled for the Income Tax Department and have 
been drawn up on cash basis of accounting to reflect the necessary adjustments for 
computation of the income by the Department and, accordingly, do not comply with the 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India.  

The balance sheet and the profit and loss account are in agreement with the books of 
account.  We have not audited or reviewed these financial statements and accordingly 
express no opinion thereon. 

Date: 

Place: 

For ABC & Co. 

Chartered Accountants 
............. 

Signature 
(Name of the partner and membership number) 

Designation [9] 

  

 

[1] With the issuance of this Auditing and Assurance Standard, the Guidance Note on Members' Duties regarding Engagements Involving 
Compilation of Financial Statements, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, issued in Feburary 2002, shall stand withdrawn. 

[2] For the purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standards and to distinguish between an audit and a compilation engagement, the term 
"accountant" (rather than "auditor") has been used throughout to refer to a member of the Institute in practice. 

[3] Paragraph 3 of the Framework for Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and Guidance Notes on Related Services states as follows:  
"Financial statements are ordinarily prepared and presented annually and are directed toward the common information needs of a wide range of users. 
Many of those users rely on the financial statements as their major source of information because they do not have the power to obtain additional 
information to meet their specific information needs. Thus, financial statements need to be prepared in accordance with one, or a combination of : 
(a) relevant statutory requirements, e.g., the Companies Act, 1956, for companies; 
(b) accounting standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India; and 
(c) other recognised accounting principles and practices, e.g., those recommended in the Guidance Notes issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India." 

[4]  Only in cases where relevant. 
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[5]  Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 

[6]  Where applicable. 

[7]  Partner or Proprietor. 

[8]  Where applicable. 

[9] Partner or Proprietor. 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 209 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 32 

Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures regarding Financial Information [1] 

  

The following is the text of the proposed Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 32, 
"Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures regarding  Financial Information", issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  This Standard should be read in 
conjunction with the "Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices", issued by 
the Institute.  

Introduction 

1.  The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards and 
provide guidance on the auditor's [2] professional responsibilities when an engagement to 
perform agreed-upon procedures regarding financial information is undertaken and on the 
form and content of the report that the auditor issues in connection with such an engagement. 

2.  In an engagement to perform agreed-upon procedures, the auditor is engaged by the client 
to issue a report of factual findings, based on specified procedures performed on specified 
subject matter of specified elements, accounts or items of a financial statement.  For 
example, an engagement to perform agreed-upon procedures may require the auditor to 
perform certain procedures concerning individual items of financial data, say, accounts 
payable, accounts receivable, purchases from related parties and sales and profits of a 
segment of an entity, or a financial statement, say, a balance sheet or even a complete set of 
financial statements. 

3.  This AAS is directed towards engagements regarding financial information.  However, it 
may provide useful guidance for engagements to perform agreed-upon procedures regarding 
non-financial information, provided the auditor has adequate knowledge of the subject matter 
in question and reasonable criteria exist on which to base his findings.  This AAS is to be 
read in conjunction with  the Framework of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and 
Guidance Notes on Related Services.  The principles laid down in the other AASs, issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, may be used by the auditor, to the extent 
practicable, in applying this AAS. 

Objective of an Agreed-upon Procedures Engagement  

4.  The objective of an agreed-upon procedures engagement is for the auditor to carry 
out procedures of an audit nature to which the auditor and the entity and any 
appropriate third parties have agreed and to report on factual findings. 

5.  As the auditor simply provides a report of the factual findings of agreed-upon procedures, 
no assurance is expressed by him in his report.  Instead, users of the report assess for 
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themselves the procedures and the findings reported by the auditor and draw their own 
conclusions from the work done by the auditor.  

6.  The report is restricted to those parties that have agreed to the procedures to be performed 
since others, unaware of the reasons for the procedures, may misinterpret the results.  
However, it is possible in certain circumstances that the report of the engagement may not be 
restricted only to those parties that have agreed to the procedures to be performed, but made 
available to a wider range of entities or individuals, e.g., in case of government organisations. 

General Principles of an Agreed-upon Procedures Engagement  

7.  The auditor should comply with the Code of Ethics, issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India.  Ethical principles governing the auditor's professional 
responsibilities for this type of engagement are: 

(a)  Integrity; 

(b)  Objectivity; 

(c)  Professional competence and due care; 

(d)  Confidentiality; 

(e)  Professional conduct; and 

(f)  Technical standards 

Independence is not a requirement for agreed-upon procedures engagement, however, the 
terms or objective of the engagement may require the auditor to comply with the 
independence requirements of the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India.  Where the auditor is not independent, a statement to that effect 
should be made in the report of factual findings. 

8.  The auditor should conduct an agreed-upon procedures engagement in accordance 
with this AAS and the terms of the engagement. 

Defining the Terms of the Engagement  

9.  The auditor should ensure with representatives of the entity and, ordinarily, other 
specified parties who will receive copies of the report of factual findings, that there is a 
clear understanding regarding the agreed procedures and the conditions of the 
engagement.  Matters to be agreed include the: 

(a)  Nature of the engagement including the fact that the procedures performed will not 
constitute an audit or a review and that accordingly no assurance will be expressed. 

(b)  Stated purpose for the engagement. 
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(c)  Identification of the financial information to which the agreed-upon procedures will be 
applied. 

(d)  Nature, timing and extent of the specific procedures to be applied.  
(e)  Limitations on distribution of the report of factual findings.  When such limitation would 

be in conflict with the legal requirements, if any, the auditor would not accept the 
engagement.  

10.  In certain circumstances, for example, when the procedures have been agreed to between 
the regulator, industry representatives and representatives of the accounting profession, the 
auditor may not be able to discuss the procedures with all the parties who will receive the 
report.  In such cases, the auditor may consider, for example, discussing the procedures to be 
applied with appropriate representatives of the parties involved, reviewing relevant 
correspondence from such parties. 

11. It is in the interests of both the client and the auditor that the auditor sends an engagement 
letter documenting the key terms of the appointment.  An engagement letter confirms the 
auditor's acceptance of the appointment and helps avoid misunderstanding regarding such 
matters as the objectives and scope of the engagement, the extent of the auditor's 
responsibilities and the form of reports to be issued. 

12. Matters that would be included in the engagement letter include: 

.  A listing of the procedures to be performed as agreed-upon between the parties. 

.  A statement that the distribution of the report of factual findings would be restricted 
to the specified parties who have agreed to the procedures to be performed. 

An example of an engagement letter appears in Appendix I to this AAS. 

   

Planning  

13. The auditor should plan the work so that an effective engagement will be 
performed. 

Documentation  

14. The auditor should document matters which are important in providing evidence to 
support the report of factual findings, and evidence that the engagement was carried 
out in accordance with this AAS and the terms of the engagement. 

Procedures and Evidence  

15.  The auditor should carry out the procedures agreed-upon and use the evidence 
obtained as the basis for the report of factual findings.  
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16. The procedures applied in an engagement to perform agreed-upon procedures may 
include: 

.  Inquiry and analysis. 

.  Recomputation, comparison and other clerical accuracy checks. 

.  Observation. 

.  Inspection. 

.  Obtaining confirmations. 

Appendix II to this AAS is an example report which contains an illustrative list of procedures 
which may be used as one part of a typical agreed-upon procedures engagement. 

Reporting  

17.  The report on an agreed-upon procedures engagement needs to describe the 
purpose and the agreed-upon procedures of the engagement in sufficient detail to 
enable the reader to understand the nature and the extent of the work performed.  The 
report should also clearly mention that no audit or review has been performed. 

18.  The report of factual findings should contain: 

(a)  Title; 

(b)  Addressee (ordinarily, the appointing authority ); 

(c)  Identification of specific financial or non-financial information to which the 
agreed-upon procedures have been applied; 

(d)  A statement that the procedures performed were those agreed-upon with the 
recipient; 

(e)  A statement that the engagement was performed in accordance with the Auditing 
and Assurance Standard applicable to agreed-upon procedures engagements; 

(g)  Identification of the purpose for which the agreed-upon procedures were 
performed; 

(h)  A listing of the specific procedures performed; 

(i)  A description of the auditor's factual findings including sufficient details of errors 
and exceptions found; 
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(j)  A statement that the procedures performed do not constitute either an audit or a 
review and, as such, no assurance is expressed; 

(k)  A statement that had the auditor performed additional procedures, an audit or a 
review, other matters might have come to light that would have been reported; 

(l)  A statement that the report is restricted to those parties that have agreed to the 
procedures to be performed; 

(m)  A statement (when applicable) that the report relates only to the elements, 
accounts, items or financial and non-financial information specified and that it does not 
extend to the entity's financial statements taken as a whole; 

(n)  Date of the report; 

(o)  Place of signature ; and 

(p)  Auditor's signature. 

The report should be signed by the accountant in his personal name. Where the firm is 
appointed, the report should be signed in the personal name of the accountant and in 
the name of the firm. The partner / proprietor signing the report on agreed-upon 
procedures should also mention the membership number assigned by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. 

Appendix II to this AAS contains an example of a report of factual findings issued in 
connection with an engagement to perform agreed-upon procedures regarding financial 
information. 

Effective Date 

19.  The Auditing and Assurance Standard is applicable to all agreed-upon procedures 
engagements beginning on or after April 1, 2004. 

Compatibility with the International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 920 

The standards established in this Auditing and Assurance Standards are generally consistent 
in all material respects with those set out in the International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 
920, "Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures regarding Financial Information". 

   

Appendix I  

Example of an Engagement Letter for an Agreed-upon Procedures Engagement 
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The following letter is for use as a guide in conjunction with paragraph 12 of this Auditing 
and Assurance Standard and is not intended to be a standard letter.  The engagement letter 
will need to be varied according to individual requirements and circumstances. 

Date 

To the Board of Directors (or other appropriate representatives of the client who engaged 
the auditor). 

This is in reference to your letter dated ________, appointing us to perform agreed-upon 
procedures in respect of _______________ (identify the items, e.g., sales, profit of a segment, 
accounts receivables, etc., of the entity). 

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and 
the nature and limitations of the services that we will provide.  

Our engagement will be conducted in accordance with the Auditing and Assurance Standard 
on Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures regarding Financial Information, issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India and we will indicate so in our report. 

We have agreed to perform the following procedures and report to you the factual findings 
resulting from our work: 

(Describe the nature, timing and extent of the procedures to be performed, including specific 
reference, where applicable, to the identity of documents and records to be read, individuals 
to be contacted and parties from whom confirmations will be obtained.) 

The procedures that we will perform are solely to assist you in ______________________ 
(state purpose).  Our report is not to be used for any other purpose and is solely for your 
information, and/ or for use by _________________ (in case the terms of reference so 
require). 

The procedures that we will perform will not constitute an audit or a review made in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing standards in India and, consequently, no 
assurance will be expressed. 

We look forward to your full cooperation and trust that you will make available to us 
whatever records, documentation and other information requested in connection with our 
engagement.  

Our fees will be billed as work progresses. 

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate that it is in accordance with 
your understanding of the terms of the engagement including the specific procedures which 
we have agreed will be performed. 
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For XYZ & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

......... 
Signature 

(Name of the Member) 
Designation [3] 

Date: 
Address: 

Acknowledged on behalf of 
ABC Company by 
( signed ) 
................... 
Name and Title 
Date 
Address 

  

Appendix II 

Example of a Report of Factual Findings in Connection with Accounts Receivable 

 CONFIDENTIAL 

Report Of Factual Findings In Connection With 
Agreed-upon Procedures Assignment Related To Accounts Receivable 

To (those who engaged the auditor) 

We have performed the procedures agreed with you and enumerated below with respect to 
the accounts receivable of ABC Company as at _______(date), set forth in the accompanying 
schedules (not shown in this example).  Our engagement was undertaken in accordance with 
the Auditing and Assurance Standard on Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures 
regarding Financial Information, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  
The procedures were performed solely to assist you in evaluating the validity of the accounts 
receivable and are summarized as follows: 

1.  We obtained and checked the addition of the trial balance of accounts receivable as at 
__________ (date), prepared by ABC Company, and we compared the total to the balance in 
the related general ledger account. 

2.  We compared the attached list (not shown in this example) of major customers and the 
amounts outstanding at ____________ (date) to the related names and amounts in the trial 
balance. 
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3.  We obtained customers' statements or confirmations from customers to confirm balances 
outstanding at ________________ (date). 

4.  We compared such statements or confirmations to the amounts referred to in 2 above.  For 
amounts which did not agree, we obtained reconciliations from ABC Company.  For 
reconciliations obtained, we identified and listed outstanding invoices, debit notes and 
outstanding cheques, each of which was greater than Rs. XXX.  We located and examined 
such invoices and debit notes subsequently raised and cheques subsequently received and we 
ascertained that they have been rightly listed as outstanding on the reconciliations. 

We report our findings below: 

(a) With respect to item 1, we found the addition to be correct and the total amount to be in 
agreement. 

(b) With respect to item 2, we found the amounts compared to be in agreement. 

(c) With respect to item 3, we found there were suppliers' statements for all such customers.  

(d) With respect to item 4, we found the amounts agreed, or with respect to amounts which 
did not agree, we found the Company had prepared reconciliations and that the debit notes, 
invoices and outstanding cheques over Rs. XXX were appropriately listed as reconciling 
items with the following exceptions: 

(Detail the exceptions) 

Because the above procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review made in 
accordance with the generally accepted auditing standards in India, we do not express any 
assurance on the accounts receivable as at _______(date). 

Had we performed additional procedures or had we performed an audit or review of the 
financial statements in accordance with the generally accepted auditing standards in India, 
other matters might have come to our attention that would have been reported to you.  

Our report is solely for the purpose set forth in the first paragraph of this report and for your 
information and is not to be used for any other purpose or to be distributed to any other 
parties.  This report relates only to the accounts and items specified above and does not 
extend to any financial statements of ABC Company, taken as a whole. 

Date: 

Place: 

For XYZ & Co 
Chartered Accountants 

......... 
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Signature 
(Name of the Member and membership number) 

Designation [4] 

  

 

[1]  With the issuance of this Auditing and Assurance Standard, the Guidance Note on Engagements to Perform Agreed-upon Procedures regarding 
Financial Information, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India in July 2001, shall stand withdrawn. 

[2]  The term "auditor" is used throughout this AAS when describing services involving performance of agreed-upon procedures..  Such reference is 
not intended to imply that a person performing related services need necessarily be the auditor of the entity's financial statements. 

[3]  Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 

[4]  Partner or proprietor. 
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Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 33 

Engagements to Review Financial Statements[1] 
  

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 33, "Engagements to 
Review Financial Statements ", issued by the Council of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. This Standard should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the 
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute.  

Introduction 

1.  The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards 
and provide guidance on the auditor's[2] professional responsibilities when an engagement to 
review financial statements is undertaken and on the form and content of the report that the 
auditor issues in connection with such a review. 

2.  This AAS is directed towards the review of financial statements. However, it is to be 
applied to the extent practicable to engagements to review financial or other related 
information, for example, interim financial statements prepared by an entity pursuant to 
Accounting Standard (AS) 25, Interim Financial Reporting. This AAS is to be read in 
conjunction with the "Framework of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and 
Guidance Notes on Related Services" issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India.  

Objective of a Review Engagement 

3.  The objective of a review of financial statements is to enable an auditor to state whether, 
on the basis of procedures which do not provide all the evidence that would be required in an 
audit, anything has come to the auditor's attention that causes the auditor to believe that the 
financial statements are not prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 
financial reporting framework used for the preparation and presentation of the financial 
statements[3] (negative assurance). 

General Principles of a Review Engagement 

4.  The auditor should comply with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. Ethical principles governing the auditor's professional 
responsibilities are: 

(a) Independence; 
(b) Integrity; 
(c) Objectivity; 
(d) Professional competence and due care; 
(e) Confidentiality; 
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(f) Professional conduct; and 
(g) Technical standards. 

5.  The auditor should conduct a review in accordance with this AAS. 

6.  The auditor should plan and perform the review with an attitude of professional 
skepticism recognising that circumstances may exist which cause the financial statements to 
be materially misstated. 

7.  For the purpose of expressing negative assurance in the review report, the auditor 
should obtain sufficient appropriate evidence primarily through inquiry and analytical 
procedures to be able to draw conclusions.  

Scope of a Review 

8.  The term "scope of a review" refers to the review procedures deemed necessary in the 
circumstances to achieve the objective of the review. The procedures required to conduct 
a review of financial statements should be determined by the auditor having regard to 
the requirements of this AAS, relevant legislation, regulation and, where appropriate, 
the terms of the review engagement and reporting requirements. The scope of a review 
is substantially narrower as compared to an audit in accordance with the generally accepted 
auditing standards for the expression of an opinion on the financial statements. Accordingly, 
while a review involves the application of audit skills and techniques, it does not usually 
involve a study and evaluation of internal accounting controls, tests of accounting records 
and of responses to inquiries by obtaining corroborating evidential matter through inspection, 
observation or confirmation and certain other procedures ordinarily performed during an 
audit. 

Moderate Assurance 

9.  A review engagement provides a moderate level of assurance that the information 
subject to review is free of material misstatement; this is expressed in the form of negative 
assurance. Although the auditor attempts to become aware of all significant matters, the 
limited procedures of a review make the achievement of this objective less likely than in an 
audit engagement, thus the level of assurance provided is correspondingly less than that 
given in an audit. 

Terms of Engagement 

10.  The auditor and the client should agree on the terms of the engagement. The 
agreed terms would be recorded in an engagement letter or other suitable form such as a 
contract. 

11.  An engagement letter will be of assistance in planning the review work. It is in the 
interests of both the auditor and the client that the auditor sends an engagement letter 
documenting the key terms of the appointment. An engagement letter confirms the auditor's 
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acceptance of the appointment and helps avoid misunderstanding regarding such matters as 
the objectives and scope of the engagement and the extent of the auditor's responsibilities.  

12.  Matters that would be included in the engagement letter include: 

• The objective of the service being performed.  
• Management's responsibility for the financial statements.  
• The scope of the review, including reference to this AAS.  
• Unrestricted access to whatever records, documentation and other information 

requested in connection with the review.  
• The fact that the engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, violation of 

laws or other irregularities, for example, fraud or defalcations that may exist.  
• A statement that an audit is not being performed and that an audit opinion will not be 

expressed. To emphasise this point and to avoid confusion, the auditor may also 
consider pointing out that a review engagement will not satisfy any statutory or third 
party requirements for an audit.  

An example of an engagement letter for a review of financial statements appears in Appendix 
1 to this AAS. 

Planning 

13.  The auditor should plan the work so that an effective engagement will be 
performed. 

14.  In planning a review of financial statements, the auditor should obtain or update 
the knowledge of the business including consideration of the entity's organization, 
accounting systems, operating characteristics and the nature of its assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses. 

15.  The auditor needs to possess an understanding of such matters and other matters 
relevant to the financial statements, for example, knowledge of the entity's production and 
distribution methods, product lines, operating locations and related parties. The auditor 
requires this understanding to be able to make relevant inquiries and to design appropriate 
procedures, as well as to assess the responses and other information obtained. 

Work Performed by Others 

16.  When using work performed by another auditor or an expert, the auditor should 
be satisfied that such work is adequate for the purposes of the review. 

Documentation 

17.  The auditor should document matters which are important in providing evidence 
to support the review report, and evidence that the review was carried out in 
accordance with this AAS. 
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Procedures and Evidence 

18.  The auditor should apply judgment in determining the specific nature, timing and 
extent of review procedures. The auditor will be guided by such matters as: 

• Any knowledge acquired by carrying out audits or reviews of the financial statements 
for prior periods.  

• The auditor's knowledge of the business including knowledge of the accounting 
principles and practices of the industry in which the entity operates.  

• The entity's accounting systems.   
• The extent to which a particular item is affected by management judgment.  
• The materiality of transactions and account balances.  

19.  The auditor should apply the same materiality considerations as would be applied 
if an audit opinion on the financial statements were being given. Although there is a 
greater risk that misstatements will not be detected in a review than in an audit, the judgment 
as to what is material is made by reference to the information on which the auditor is 
reporting and the needs of those relying on that information, not to the level of assurance 
provided. 

20.  Procedures for the review of financial statements will ordinarily include: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the entity's business and the industry in which it 
operates.   

• Inquiries concerning the entity's accounting principles, policies and practices.   
• Inquiries concerning the entity's procedures for recording, classifying and 

summarising transactions, accumulating information for disclosure in the financial 
statements and preparing financial statements.   

• Inquiries concerning all material assertions in the financial statements.   
• Analytical procedures designed to identify relationships and individual items that 

appear unusual. Such procedures would include:  
o Comparison of the financial statements with statements for prior periods.  
o Comparison of the financial statements with anticipated results and financial 

position.  
o Study of the relationships of the elements of the financial statements that 

would be expected to conform to a predictable pattern based on the entity's 
experience or industry norm.  

In applying these procedures, the auditor would consider the types of matters that required 
accounting adjustments in prior periods. 

• Inquiries concerning actions taken at meetings of shareholders, the board of directors, 
committees of the board of directors and other meetings that may affect the financial 
statements.  
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• Reading the financial statements to consider, on the basis of information coming to 
the auditor's attention, whether the financial statements appear to conform to the basis 
of accounting indicated.  

• Obtaining reports from other auditors, if any and if considered necessary, who have 
been engaged to audit or review the financial statements of components of the entity.  

• Inquiries of persons having responsibility for financial and accounting matters 
concerning, for example: 
   

o Whether all transactions have been recorded.   
o Whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 

basis of accounting policies indicated.  
o Changes in the entity's business activities and accounting principles policies 

and practices.  
o Matters as to which questions have arisen in the course of applying the 

foregoing procedures.  
o Obtaining written representations from management when considered 

appropriate.  

Appendix 2 to this AAS provides an illustrative list of procedures which are often used in an 
engagement to review financial statements. The list is not exhaustive, nor is it intended that 
all the procedures suggested apply to every review engagement. 

21.  The auditor should inquire about events subsequent to the balance sheet date that 
may require adjustment of, or disclosure in the financial statements. The auditor does 
not have any responsibility to perform procedures to identify events occurring after the date 
of the review report. 

22.  If the auditor has reason to believe that the information subject to review may be 
materially misstated, the auditor should carry out additional or more extensive 
procedures as are necessary to be able to express negative assurance or to confirm that 
a modified report is required. 

Conclusions and Reporting 

23.  The review report should contain a clear written expression of negative assurance. 
The auditor should review and assess the conclusions drawn from the evidence obtained 
as the basis for the expression of negative assurance. 

24.  Based on the work performed, the auditor should assess whether any information 
obtained during the review indicates that the financial statements do not give a true and 
fair view (or 'are not presented fairly, in all material respects') in accordance the 
framework used for the preparation and presentation of financial statements and 
relevant statutory requirements, if any. 

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 223 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

25.  The report on a review of financial statements describes the scope of the engagement to 
enable the reader to understand the nature of the work performed and make it clear that an 
audit was not performed and, therefore, that an audit opinion is not expressed. 

26.  The report on a review of financial statements should contain the following basic 
elements, ordinarily in the following layout: 

  (a)  Title[4];  

  (b)  Addressee; 
 
  (c) Opening or introductory paragraph including: 
 
  (i) Identification of the financial statements on which the review has been 
performed; and 
 
  (ii) A statement of the responsibility of the entity's management and the 
responsibility of the auditor; 
 
  (d) Scope paragraph, describing the nature of a review, including: 
 
  (i) A reference to this AAS applicable to review engagements, or to relevant laws 
or regulations; 
 
  (ii) A statement that a review is limited primarily to inquiries and analytical 
procedures; and 

  (iii) A statement that an audit has not been performed, that the procedures 
undertaken provide less assurance than an audit and that an audit opinion is not 
expressed;  
 
  (e) Statement of negative assurance; 
 
  (f) Date of the report; 
 
  (g) Place; and 
 
  (h) Auditor's signature and membership number assigned by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. 

Appendices 3 and 4 to this AAS contain illustrations of review reports. 

27.  The review report should: 

a. State that nothing has come to the auditor's attention based on the review that 
causes the auditor to believe the financial statements do not give a true and fair 
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view (or 'are not presented fairly, in all material respects') in accordance with 
the framework used for the preparation and presentation of financial statements 
(negative assurance)[6]; or  
   

b. If matters have come to the auditor's attention, describe those matters that 
impair a true and fair view (or a fair presentation, in all material respects) in 
accordance with the framework used for the preparation and presentation of 
financial statements including, unless impracticable, a quantification of the 
possible effect(s) on the financial statements, and either: 
  
(i) Express a qualification of the negative assurance provided; or 
 
(ii) When the effect of the matter is so material and pervasive to the financial 
statements that the auditor concludes that a qualification is not adequate to 
disclose the misleading or incomplete nature of the financial statements, give an 
adverse statement that the financial statements do not give a true and fair view 
(or 'are not presented fairly, in all material respects') in accordance with the 
framework used for the preparation and presentation of financial statements; 
or  
   

c. If there has been a material scope limitation, describe the limitation and either: 
 
(i) Express a qualification of the negative assurance provided regarding the 
possible adjustments to the financial statements that might have been 
determined to be necessary had the limitation not existed; or 
 
(ii) When the possible effect of the limitation is so significant and pervasive that 
the auditor concludes that no level of assurance can be provided, not provide 
any assurance.  

28.  The auditor should date the review report as of the date the review is completed, 
which is the due date on which the auditor signs the review report. The date of report 
informs the reader that the auditor has considered the effect on the financial statements and 
on the report of the events and transactions of which the auditor became aware and that 
occurred up to that date. Therefore, the review should include performing procedures 
relating to events occurring up to the date of the report. 

29.  Since the auditor's responsibility is to report on the financial statements as 
prepared and presented by the management, the auditor should not date the report 
earlier than the date on which the financial statements are signed or approved by the 
management. 

30. The auditor should not agree to a change of engagement where there is no 
reasonable justification for doing so. If the auditor is unable to agree to a change of the 
engagement and is not permitted to continue the original engagement, the auditor 
should withdraw and consider whether there is any obligation, either contractual or 
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otherwise, to report the circumstances necessitating the withdraw to other parties, such 
as the board of directors or shareholders. 

Effective Date 

31.  This Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) becomes operative for all review 
engagements relating to accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April 2005. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Review Engagement (ISRE) 2400 

The auditing standards established in this Auditing and Assurance Standard are generally 
consistent in all material respects with those set out in International Standard on Review 
Engagements (ISREs) 2400 on Engagements to Review Financial Statements except the 
following: 

a. The AAS does not require the engagement letter to include form of report to be issued 
pursuant to the engagement since the format of report, in some cases, is prescribed by 
the laws or regulations pursuant to which the financial statements are required to be 
reviewed. 
   

b. Due to the practices prevailing in India, the AAS requires the auditor to mention the 
"Place" instead of the "Auditor's Address" [see paragraph 26] in the report on a 
review of financial statements. The place of signature is the name of specific location, 
which is ordinarily the city where the review report is signed. According to ISA 700 
(which defines the term), the expression "Auditor's Address" means the name of a 
specific location, which is ordinarily the city where the auditor maintains the office 
that has the responsibility for the audit. 
   

c. The AAS requires the auditor to mention the membership number assigned by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India [see paragraph 26]. ISRE 2400, however, 
does not contain any corresponding requirement.  
   

d. Paragraph 29 of the AAS requires that the auditor should not agree to a change of 
engagement where there is no reasonable justification for doing so. If the auditor is 
unable to agree to a change of the engagement and is not permitted to continue the 
original engagement, the auditor should withdraw and consider whether there is any 
obligation, either contractual or otherwise, to report the circumstances necessitating 
the withdraw to other parties, such as the board of directors or shareholders, There is 
no corresponding requirement in ISRE 2400.  
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APPENDIX 1 

Example of an Engagement Letter for a Review of Financial Statements  

The following letter is for use as a guide in conjunction with the consideration outlined in 
paragraph 12 of this AAS and will need to be varied according to individual requirements 
and circumstances. 

To the Board of Directors (or the appropriate representative of senior management): 

This is with reference to your letter dated_______, appointing us to review the financial 
statements for the period ended_______. 

This letter is to confirm our understanding of the terms and objectives of our engagement and 
the nature and limitations of the services we will provide. 

We will perform the following services: 

We will review the balance sheet of ABC Company as of March 31, 20XX, and the related 
statement of profit and loss and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the 
Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 33, Engagements to Review Financial Statements 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. We will not perform an audit of 
such financial statements and, accordingly, we will not express an audit opinion on them. 
Accordingly, we are expected to provide a negative assurance on the financial statements 
reviewed by us. 

Responsibility for the financial statements, including adequate disclosure, is that of the 
management of the company. This includes the maintenance of adequate accounting records 
and internal controls and the selection and application of accounting policies. As part of our 
review process, we will request written representations from management concerning 
assertions made in connection with the review.  

This letter will be effective for future years unless it is terminated, amended or superseded 
(applicable only in a continuing engagement). 

Our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose whether fraud or errors, or violation of 
laws and regulations exist. However, we will inform you of any material matters that come to 
our attention. 

We also wish to invite your attention to the fact that our audit process is subject to 'peer 
review' under the Chartered Accountants Act, 1949. The reviewer may examine our working 
papers during the course of the peer review. 

Please sign and return the attached copy of this letter to indicate that it is accordance with 
your understanding of the arrangements for our review of the financial statements. 
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XYZ & Co. 
Chartered Accountants 

.......... 
(Signature) 

(Name of the Member) 
(Designation5) 

Acknowledged on behalf of 
ABC Company by 
.......... 
(Signature) 
Name and Designation 
Date 

  

APPENDIX 2 

Illustrative Detailed Procedures that may be performed in an Engagement to Review 
Financial Statements 

1. The inquiry and analytical review procedures carried out in a review of financial 
statements are determined by the auditor's judgment. When the auditor performs the 
inquiry and analytical review procedures, the auditor should use his professional 
judgement and experience in evaluating the results of such procedures to be 
performed in connection with the review engagement. The procedures listed below 
are for illustrative purposes only. It is not intended that all the procedures suggested 
apply to every review engagement. This Appendix is not intended to serve as a 
program or checklist in the conduct of a review. 
   

General 

2. Discuss terms and scope of the engagement with the client and the engagement team.  
3. Prepare an engagement letter setting forth the terms and scope of the engagement.  
4. Obtain an understanding of the entity's business activities and the system for 

recording financial information and preparing financial statements.  
5. Inquire whether all financial information is recorded: 

(a) Completely; 
(b) Promptly; and 
(c) After the necessary authorisation.  

6. Obtain the trial balance and determine whether it agrees with the general ledger and 
the financial statements.  

7. Consider the results of previous audits and review engagements, including accounting 
adjustments made.  
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8. Inquire whether there have been any significant changes in the entity from the 
previous year (e.g., changes in ownership or changes in capital structure).  

9. Inquire about the accounting policies and consider whether: 
(a) They comply with accounting standards; 
(b) They have been applied appropriately; and 
(c) They have been applied consistently and, if not, consider whether disclosure has 
been made of any changes in the accounting policies.  

10. Read the minutes of meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and other 
appropriate committees in order to identify matters that could be important to the 
review.  

11. Inquire if actions taken at shareholder, board of directors or comparable meetings that 
affect the financial statements have been appropriately reflected therein.  

12. Inquire about the existence of transactions with related parties, how such transactions 
have been accounted for and whether related parties have been properly disclosed.  

13. Inquire about contingencies and commitments.  
14. Inquire about plans to dispose of major assets or business segments.  
15. Obtain the financial statements and discuss them with management.  
16. Consider the adequacy of disclosure in the financial statements and their suitability as 

to classification and presentation.  
17. Compare the results shown in the current period financial statements with those 

shown in financial statements for comparable prior periods and, if available, with 
budgets and forecasts.  

18. Obtain explanations from management for any unusual fluctuations or inconsistencies 
in the financial statements.  

19. Consider the effect of any unadjusted errors-individually and in aggregate. Bring the 
errors to the attention of management and determine how the unadjusted errors will 
influence the report on the review.  

20. Consider obtaining a representation letter from management. 
   

Analytical Procedures and Inquiry  

21. Obtain interim financial information and make the following comparisons for 
individual items appearing in the financial statements: 
   
§ Current period to budgets and forecasts  
§ Current period to immediately preceding period  
§ Current period to same period in preceding year  
§ Current year-to-date to preceding year-to-date  
§ Current period to last audited period, wherever appropriate. 

   
22. Inquire about significant changes since the last audited balance sheet in various items 

such as: 
   
§ Capital and reserves  
§ Loans  
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§ Current liabilities and provisions  
§ Fixed assets  
§ Investments  
§ Inventories  
§ Current assets  
§ Loans and advances  
§ Deferred revenue expenditure, etc. 

   
23. Obtain or calculate selected ratios on a comparative basis. These ratios could be: 

   
§ Current  
§ Quick  
§ Debtors turnover  
§ Inventory turnover  
§ Depreciation to fixed assets  
§ Debt to equity  
§ Gross profit  
§ Net profit  
§ Input output 

   
24. Inquire about the relationship between related items in the statement of profit and loss 

account as well as the quantitative data relating to production, purchases, sales, etc. 
and assess the reasonableness thereof, in the context of similar relationships for prior 
periods and other information available to the auditor.  

25. In respect of comparison made in 21 through 24 above, obtain reasons for significant 
variances and discuss with management.  

Cash and Bank 

26. Obtain the bank reconciliation. Inquire about any old or unusual reconciling items 
with client personnel.  

27. Inquire about transfers between cash accounts for the period before and after the 
review date.  

28. Inquire whether there are any restrictions on cash accounts.  

Receivables 

29. Inquire about the accounting policies for initially recording trade receivables and 
determine whether any allowances or discounts are given on such transactions.  

30. Obtain a schedule of receivables and determine whether the total agrees with the trial 
balance.  

31. Obtain and consider explanations of significant variations in account balances from 
previous periods or from those anticipated.   

32. Obtain an aged analysis of the trade receivables. Inquire about the reason for 
unusually large accounts, credit balances on accounts or any other unusual balances 
and inquire about the collectibility of receivables.  

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 230 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

33. Discuss with management the classification of receivables, including net credit 
balances and amounts due from directors and other related parties in the financial 
statements.  

34. Inquire about the method for identifying "slow payment" accounts and setting 
allowances for doubtful accounts and consider it for reasonableness.  

35. Inquire whether receivables have been pledged, factored or discounted.  
36. Inquire about procedures applied to ensure that a proper cutoff of sales transactions 

and sales returns has been achieved.  
37. Inquire whether receivables attributable to goods sent on consignment account have 

not been included in revenue and such goods have been included in inventories.   
38. Inquire whether any large credits relating to revenue recorded have been issued after 

the balance sheet date and whether provision has been made for such amounts.  

Inventories 

39. Obtain the inventory list and determine whether the total agrees with the balance in 
the trial balance or other relevant records.  

40. Inquire the procedures followed for recording inventory and determine the necessity 
of physical count of inventory. For example, a physical count may not be carried out, 
in case  
   
§ A perpetual inventory system is used and periodic comparisons are made with 

actual quantities on hand.  
§ An integrated cost system is used and it has produced reliable information in 

the past. 
   

41. In case of physical count, inquire about the method for counting inventory and agree 
the inventory list with the physical count.  

42. Discuss adjustments made resulting from the last physical inventory count.  
43. Inquire about procedures applied to control cutoff and any inventory movements at 

the end of the period.  
44. Inquire about the basis used in valuing each category of the inventory and, in 

particular, regarding the elimination of inter-branch profits. Inquire whether inventory 
is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  

45. Consider the consistency with which inventory valuation methods have been applied, 
including factors such as material, labor and overhead.  

46. Compare amounts of major inventory categories with those of prior periods and with 
those anticipated for the current period. Inquire about major fluctuations and 
differences.  

47. Inquire about the method used for identifying slow moving and obsolete inventory 
and whether such inventory has been accounted for at net realizable value.  

48. Inquire whether any inventory has been consigned to the entity and, if so, whether 
adjustments have been made to exclude such goods from inventory.  

49. Inquire whether any inventory is pledged, stored at other locations or on consignment 
to others and consider whether such transactions have been accounted for 
appropriately.  
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Investments 

50. Obtain a schedule of the investments at the balance sheet date and determine whether 
it agrees with the trial balance.  

51. Inquire about the accounting policy applied to investments.  
52. Inquire about the classification of long-term and current short-term investments.  
53. Consider whether there has been proper accounting for gains and losses and 

investment income.  
54. Inquire from management about the carrying values of investments. Consider whether 

there is any permanent diminution in value thereof.  

Fixed Assets and Depreciation 

55. Obtain a schedule of the fixed assets property indicating the cost and accumulated 
depreciation and determine whether it agrees with the trial balance.  

56. Inquire about the accounting policy applied regarding the provision for depreciation 
and distinguishing between capital and maintenance items.  

57. Discuss with management the additions and deletions to fixed assets property 
accounts and accounting for gains and losses on sales or retirements. Inquire whether 
all such transactions have been accounted for.  

58. Inquire about the consistency with which the depreciation method and rates have been 
applied and compare depreciation provisions with prior years.  

59. Obtain schedule of repairs and maintenance and inquire about significant amounts.  
60. Consider whether the fixed assets property has suffered a material, permanent 

impairment in value and adequate provision has been made in respect thereof.  
61. Inquire whether there are any liens on the fixed assets property.  
62. Consider whether the lease agreements have been properly dealt with in the financial 

statements in confirmity with accounting pronouncements.  

Prepaid Expenses 

63. Obtain schedules identifying the nature of these accounts and discuss with 
management the recoverability thereof wherever appropriate.   

64. Inquire about the basis for recording these accounts and the amortization methods 
used.  

65. Compare balances of related expense accounts with those of prior periods and discuss 
significant variations with management.  

Intangibles and Other Assets 

66. Obtain schedules of intangible and other assets accounts, determine the nature of 
these accounts and discuss with management the recoverability of intangible and 
other assets, wherever appropriate.  

67. Inquire about the basis of recognition of such assets and the methods of amortisation 
used for such accounts.  

68. Inquire about the consistency with which the amortisation provisions with prior years.  
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Capital and Reserves  

69. Obtain and consider a schedule of the transactions in the capital and reserves equity 
accounts, including new issues, retirements and dividends.  

70. Inquire whether there are any restrictions on reserves and surpluses.   

Loans Payable 

71. Obtain from management a schedule of loans payable and determine whether the total 
agrees with the trial balance.  

72. Inquire whether there are any loans where management has not complied with the 
provisions of the loan agreement and, if so, inquire as to management's actions and 
whether appropriate adjustments have been made in the financial statements.  

73. Consider the reasonableness of interest expense in relation to loan balances.  
74. Inquire whether loans payable are secured.  
75. Inquire whether loans payable have been appropriately classified between long-term 

and short-term.  

Trade Payables 

76. Obtain a schedule of trade payables and determine whether the total agrees with the 
trial balance.  

77. Inquire about the accounting policies for initially recording trade payables and 
whether the entity is entitled to any allowances or discounts given on such 
transactions.  

78. Obtain and consider explanations of significant variations in account balances from 
previous periods or from those anticipated.  

79. Inquire whether balances are reconciled with the creditors' statements and compare 
with prior period balances. Compare turnover with prior periods.  

80. Consider whether there could be material unrecorded liabilities.  

Accrued and Contingent Liabilities 

81. Obtain a schedule of the accrued liabilities and determine whether the total agrees 
with the trial balance. Inquire about the methos of determining accrued liabilities.  

82. Compare major balances of related expense accounts with similar accounts for prior 
periods.  

83. Determine whether the recognition of major expenses have taken place in the 
appropriate periods.  

84. Inquire about approvals for such accruals, terms of payment, compliance with terms  
85. Inquire as to the nature of amounts included in contingent liabilities and 

commitments. Inquire whether any actual or contingent liabilities exist which have 
not been appropriately dealt with in the financial statements. If so, discuss with 
management whether provisions need to be made in the accounts or whether 
disclosure should be made in the notes to the financial statements.  
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Litigation 

86. Inquire from management whether the entity is the subject of any legal actions-
threatened, pending or in process. Consider the effect thereof on the financial 
statements.  

Income and Other Taxes 

87. Inquire from management if there were any events, including disputes with taxation 
authorities (both direct and indirect taxes), which could have a significant effect on 
the taxes payable by the entity. If yes, determine whether any provision is required.  

88. Consider the tax expense (both current and deferred) in relation to the entity's income 
for the period.  

89. Inquire from management as to the adequacy of the recorded deferred and current tax 
liabilities including provisions in respect of prior periods.  

Subsequent Events 

90. Obtain from management the latest interim financial statements and compare them 
with the financial statements being reviewed or with those for comparable periods 
from the preceding year.  

91. Inquire about events after the balance sheet date that would have a material effect on 
the financial statements under review and, in particular, inquire whether: 
  
(a) Any substantial commitments or uncertainties have arisen subsequent to the 
balance sheet date; 
(b) Any significant changes in the share capital, long-term debt or working capital 
have occurred up to the date of inquiry; and 
(c) Any unusual adjustments have been made during the period between the balance 
sheet date and the date of inquiry. 
   

92. Obtain and read the minutes of meetings of shareholders, directors and appropriate 
committees subsequent to the balance sheet date.   

93. Consider the need for adjustments or disclosure in the financial statements.  

Extraordinary Items 

94. Inquire and determine whether there are any extraordinary and unusual items and if 
so, whether these have been appropriately disclosed.  

Operations 

95. Compare results with those of prior periods and those expected for the current period. 
Discuss significant variations with management.  

96. Discuss whether the recognition of major sales and expenses have taken place in the 
appropriate periods.  
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97. Consider and discuss with management the relationship between related items in the 
statement of profit and loss and assess the reasonableness thereof in the context of 
similar relationships for prior periods and other information available to the auditor.  

Other Procedures 

98. Inquire about:  
   
§ Changes in key management personnel.  
§ Major interruptions of operations due to strike, casualty, such as fire, etc.  
§ Significant contracts and agreements entered into/committed during the 

period.  
§ Wage settlements, if any.  
§ Changes in legislations that are likely to have material affect on the entity.  

  

APPENDIX 3 

Form of Unqualified Review Report 

REVIEW REPORT TO... 

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company at March 31, 20XX, 
and the related statements of profit and loss and cash flows for the year then ended. These 
financial statements have been approved by the board of directors of the company and are the 
responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to issue a report on these 
financial statements based on our review. 

We conducted our review in accordance with the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 
33, Engagements to Review Financial Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. This Standard requires that we plan and perform the review to obtain 
moderate assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures 
applied to financial data and thus provide less assurance than an audit. We have not 
performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying financial statements do not give a true and fair view (or 'are not presented 
fairly, in all material respects') in accordance with Accounting Standards issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  

For ABC and Co., 
Chartered Accountants 

 
Auditor's Signature 
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(Name of Member signing the Audit Report) 
(Designation)6 

(Membership Number) 

Place  
Date 

  

APPENDIX 5 

Examples of Review Reports other than Unqualified 

Qualification For a Departure From an Accounting Standard 

REVIEW REPORT TO... 

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company at March 31, 20XX, 
and the related statements of profit and loss and cash flows for the year then ended. These 
financial statements have been approved by the board of directors of the company and are the 
responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to issue a report on these 
financial statements based on our review. 

We conducted our review in accordance with the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 
33, Engagements to Review Financial Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. This Standard requires that we plan and perform the review to obtain 
moderate assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures 
applied to financial data and thus provide less assurance than an audit. We have not 
performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 

Management has informed us that inventory has been stated at its cost, which is in excess of 
its net realisable value. Management's computation, which we have reviewed, shows that 
inventory, if valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value as required by Accounting 
Standard (AS) 2, "Valuation of Inventories" issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India, would have been decreased by Rs. X, and net profit and reserves would have been 
decreased by Rs. X. 

Based on our review, except for the effects of the overstatement of inventory described in the 
previous paragraph, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the 
accompanying financial statements do not give a true and fair view (or 'are not presented 
fairly, in all material respects') in accordance with the Accounting Standards issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

For ABC and Co., 
Chartered Accountants 
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Auditor's Signature 

(Name of Member signing the Audit Report) 
(Designation)7 

(Membership Number) 

Place 
Date 

  

Adverse Report For a Departure From Accounting Standards 

REVIEW REPORT TO... 

We have reviewed the accompanying balance sheet of ABC Company at March 31, 20XX, 
and the related statements of profit and loss and cash flows for the year then ended. These 
financial statements have been approved by the board of directors of the company and are the 
responsibility of the company's management. Our responsibility is to issue a report on these 
financial statements based on our review. 
 
We conducted our review in accordance with the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 
33, Engagements to Review Financial Statements issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India.  This Standard requires that we plan and perform the review to obtain 
moderate assurance as to whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company personnel and analytical procedures 
applied to financial data and thus provide less assurance than an audit. We have not 
performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 

As noted in note X, the Company has adopted the method of taking entire profits on 
construction contracts to the statement of profit and loss on entering into the contract. This 
has resulted in anticipating the profit in cases where the contracts have not even been 
commenced or where only a very minor part of the expenditure has been incurred. This 
method of accounting is contrary to the requirements of Accounting Standard (AS) 7, 
"Accounting for Construction Contracts", issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
India. 

Based on our review, because of the pervasive effect on the financial statements of the matter 
discussed in the preceding paragraph, the accompanying financial statements do not give a 
true and fair view (or 'are not presented fairly, in all material respects') in accordance with the 
Accounting Standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

For ABC and Co., 
Chartered Accountants 

 
Auditor's Signature 
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(Name of Member signing the Audit Report) 
(Designation)8 

(Membership Number) 

Place 
Date 

 

[1] With the issuance of this Auditing and Assurance Standard, the Guidance Note on Engagements to Review Financial Statements 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India in May 2000 shall stand withdrawn. 

[2] As explained in the Framework of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and Guidance Notes on Related Services, the SAPs 
(now AASs) and Guidance Notes use the term "auditor" when describing both auditing and related services which may be performed. 
Such reference is not intended to imply that a person performing related services need be the auditor of the entity's financial statements. 

[3] Paragraph 3 of Framework of Statements on Standard Auditing Practices and Guidance Notes on Related Services, issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, discusses the financial reporting framework. The paragraph reads as under: 
"Financial Reporting Framework 
Financial statements are ordinarily prepared and presented annually and are directed towards the common information needs of a wide 
range of users. Many of those users rely on financial statements as their major source of information because they do not have the power 
to obtain additional information to meet their specific information needs. Thus, financial statements need to be prepared in accordance 
with one, or a combination of: 
(a) relevant statutory requirements, e.g., the Companies Act, 1956, for companies; 
(b) accounting standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India; and 
(c) other recognised accounting principles and practices, e.g., those recommended in the Guidance Notes issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India." 

[4] It may be appropriate to use the term "independent" in the title to distinguish the auditor's report from reports that might be issued by 
others, such as officers of the entity, or from the reports of other auditors who are not required to abide by the ethical requirements laid 
down by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  

[5] Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 

[6] Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 

[7] Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 

[8] Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 
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AAS 34 

Audit Evidence - Additional Considerations for Specific Items 
  

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 34, "Audit Evidence - 
Additional Considerations for Specific Items", issued by the Council of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India. This Standard should be read in conjunction with the 
"Preface to the Statements on Standard Auditing Practices", issued by the Institute.  

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard is to establish standards on the 
auditor's responsibilities, audit procedures and provide additional guidance to that 
contained in Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 5, "Audit Evidence", with 
respect to certain specific financial statement amounts and other disclosures. 
Application of the standards and guidance provided in the AAS will assist the auditor 
in obtaining audit evidence with respect to the specific financial statement amounts 
and other disclosures. This AAS comprises the following parts: 
  Part A: Attendance at Physical Inventory Counting 
  Part B: Inquiry Regarding Litigation and Claims 
  Part C: Valuation and Disclosure of Long-term Investments 
  Part D: Segment Information  

Part A: Attendance at Physical Inventory Counting 

2. The auditor should perform audit procedures designed to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence during his attendance at physical inventory 
counting.   

Definitions 

3. Definitions regarding "Inventory" are given in Accounting Standard (AS) 2,Valuation 
of Inventories, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, and are 
adopted for the purposes of this AAS1. 
   

4. Physical verification of inventories is the responsibility of the management of the 
entity. Management ordinarily establishes procedures under which inventory is 
physically counted at least once in a year (end of the year, generally, or as near the 
end of the year as possible) to serve as a basis for preparation of the financial 
statements or to ascertain the reliability of the perpetual inventory system. 
   

5. When inventory is material to the financial statements, the auditor should obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding its existence and condition by 
attendance at physical inventory counting unless impracticable, due to factors 
such as the nature and location of the inventory. The attendance at such physical 
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inventory counting will enable the auditor to inspect the inventory, to observe 
compliance with the operation of management's procedures for recording and 
controlling the results of the count and to provide evidence as to the reliability of 
management's procedures. 
   

6. If unable to attend the physical inventory count on the date planned due to 
unforeseen circumstances, the auditor should take or observe some physical 
counts on an alternative date and where necessary, perform alternative audit 
procedures to assess whether the changes in inventory between the date of 
physical count and the period end date are correctly recorded. 
   

7. Where attendance at the physical inventory counting is impracticable, the 
auditor should consider whether alternative procedures provide sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence of existence and condition of inventory to conclude 
that the auditor need not make reference to a scope limitation. For example, the 
auditor should examine a sample of documents evidencing the movement of 
inventory into and out of stores shortly before and after the cut-off date, and verify 
whether the inventory represented by those documents were included or excluded, as 
appropriate during the inventory count.  
   

8. In planning attendance at the physical inventory count or the alternative procedures, 
the auditor would consider the following: 
   

• The nature of the accounting and internal control systems used regarding 
inventory.  

• Inherent, control and detection risks, and materiality related to inventory.   
• Whether adequate procedures are established and proper instructions issued 

for physical inventory counting.  
• The timing of the count.  
• The locations at which inventory is held and its nature   
• Whether an expert's assistance is needed.  

When inventory is situated in several locations, the auditor would consider at which 
locations attendance is appropriate, taking into account the materiality of the 
inventory and the risk of material misstatement and the assessment of inherent and 
control risk at different locations. 
   

9. The auditor would review management's instructions regarding: 
   

a. The application of control procedures, for example, collection of used stock-
sheets, accounting for unused stock-sheets and count and re-count procedures;  

b. Accurate identification of the stage of completion of work in progress of slow 
moving, obsolete, damaged or rejected items of inventory owned by a third 
party, for example, on consignment and inventory in transit; and   
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c. Appropriate arrangements made regarding the movement of inventory 
between areas and the shipping and receipt of inventory before and after the 
cut-off date. 
   

10. The auditor would also consider cut-off procedures including details of the movement 
of inventory just prior to, during and after the count to ensure that such movements 
are appropriately included and/or excluded, as applicable from such inventory. For 
example, 
   

 . goods purchased but not received are included in the inventories: and   
a. goods sold but not despatched are excluded from the inventories. 

   
11. When the quantities are to be determined by a physical inventory count and the 

auditor attends such a count, or when the entity operates a perpetual inventory system 
and the auditor attends a count one or more times during the year, the auditor would 
ordinarily observe count procedures and perform test counts.  
   

12. If the entity uses procedures to estimate the physical quantity, such as estimating a 
coal pile, the auditor would need to be satisfied regarding the reasonableness of those 
procedures. 
   

13. To obtain assurance that management's procedures are adequately implemented, the 
auditor would observe physical verification procedures performed by the employees 
and perform test counts. When performing counts, the auditor would test both the 
completeness and the accuracy of the count records by tracing items selected from 
those records to the physical inventory sheets and items selected from the physical 
inventory to the count records. Where tagging method of physical count of inventory 
is used, the auditor should verify the tag reconciliation prior to the counting or before 
finalizing the count. The auditor would consider the extent to which copies of such 
count records need to be retained for subsequent audit procedures testing and 
comparison. 
   

14. For practical reasons, the physical inventory count may be conducted at a date other 
than period end. This will ordinarily be adequate for audit purposes only when the 
control risk is assessed at less than high. The auditor would assess whether, through 
the performance of appropriate audit procedures, changes in inventory between the 
count date and period end are correctly recorded.  
   

15. When the entity operates a perpetual inventory system, which is used to determine the 
period end balance, the auditor would assess whether, through the performance of 
additional procedures, the reasons for any significant differences between the 
physical count and the perpetual inventory records are understood and the records are 
properly adjusted. 
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16. The auditor performs audit procedures over the final inventory listing to assess 
whether it accurately reflects actual inventory counts.  
   

17. When inventory is under the custody and control of a third party, the auditor would 
ordinarily obtain direct confirmation from the third party/arrange with the entity for 
sending requests for such confirmation as to the quantities and condition of inventory 
held on behalf of the entity. Further, depending on materiality of this inventory the 
auditor would also consider the following: 
   

• The conduct of the third party in the past with the entity and independence of 
the third party.  

• Observing, or arranging for another auditor to observe, the physical inventory 
count.  

• Obtaining another auditor's report on the adequacy of the third party's 
accounting and internal control systems for ensuring that the inventory is 
correctly counted and adequately safeguarded.  

• Inspecting documentation regarding inventory held by third parties, for 
example, warehouse receipts.  

• Subsequent receipt of goods from third parties.  

Management Representations 

18. The auditor should obtain a written representation from management 
concerning : 
(a) the completeness of information provided regarding the inventory; and 
(b) assurance with regard to adherence to laid down procedures for physical 
inventory count.  

Audit Conclusions and Reporting 

19. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
concerning the existence of inventory or adequacy of procedures adopted by the 
management in respect of physical inventory count the auditor should make a 
reference to a scope limitation in his audit report. If the inventory is not 
disclosed appropriately in the financial statements, the auditor should issue a 
qualified opinion.  

Part B: Inquiry Regarding Litigation And Claims 

Definitions 

20. (a) "Litigation" means a lawsuit or legal action including all proceedings therein. 
(b) "Claims" means a right to payment or right to an equitable remedy for breach of 
performance. 
   

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 242 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

21. Litigation and claims involving an entity may have a material effect on the financial 
statements and thus may be required to be disclosed and/or provided for in the 
financial statements.  
   

22. The auditor should carry out audit procedures in order to become aware of any 
litigation and claims involving the entity which may have a material effect on the 
financial statements. Such procedures would include the following: 
   
§ Make appropriate inquiries of management including obtaining 

representations.  
§ Review board /committee minutes and correspondence with the entity's 

lawyer.  
§ Examine legal and other relevant expense accounts.  
§ Use any information obtained regarding the entity's business including 

information obtained from discussions with in-house legal department, if any. 
   

23. When litigation or claims have been identified by the management or when the 
auditor believes they may exist, and are likely to be material, the auditor should seek 
direct communication with the entity's lawyers and such other professionals to whom 
the entity engages for litigation and claims. Such communication will assist in 
obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to whether potentially material 
litigation and claims are known and management's estimates of the financial 
implications, including costs, are reliable. 
   

24. The letter seeking direct communication with the entity's lawyers and such other 
professionals to whom the entity engages for litigation and claims should be 
should be prepared by management. The auditor should maintain control over 
the process of preparation and sending of the letter. The letter should request 
the entity's lawyers and such other professionals to whom the entity engages for 
litigation and claims to communicate directly with the auditor. The letter would 
ordinarily specify the following: 
   
§ A list of litigation and claims.  
§ Management's assessment of the outcome of the litigation or claim and its 

estimate of the financial implications, including costs involved.  
§ A request that the entity's lawyer confirm: 

(i) the reasonableness of management's assessments; 
(ii) provide the auditor with further information if the list is considered to be 
incomplete or incorrect;  
(iii) provide updated information as and when requested by the auditor upto 
the date of the audit report; and 
(iv) provide updates information as and when requested by the auditor upto 
the date of the audit report. 
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25. The auditor considers the status of legal matters up to the date of the audit report. In 
some instances, the auditor may need to obtain updated information from lawyers. 
   

26. In certain circumstances, for example, where the matter is complex or there is 
disagreement between management and the entity's lawyers and such other 
professionals to whom the entity engages for litigation and claims, it may be 
necessary for the auditor to meet with the entity's lawyers and such other 
professionals to whom the entity engages for litigation and claims to discuss the 
likely outcome of litigation and claims. Such meetings would take place with 
management's permission and, preferably, with a representative of management in 
attendance. 
   

27. If management refuses to give the auditor permission to communicate with the 
entity's lawyers, this would constitute a limitation on the scope of the auditor's 
work that requires expression of a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion as 
the case may be. Where a lawyer or a professional refuses to respond in an 
appropriate manner and the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence by applying alternative procedures, the auditor would consider whether 
there is a scope limitation which may lead to a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of 
opinion.  

Management Representations 

27. The auditor should obtain a written representation from management 
concerning the completeness and adequacy of information provided regarding 
the identification of litigation and claims, estimates of financial implications, 
including costs, etc.  

Part C: Valuation And Disclosure Of Long Term Investments 

29. The auditor should perform audit procedures designed to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence for valuation and disclosure of long term 
investments.  

Definitions 

30. Definition regarding "Long Term Investments" is given in Accounting Standard 
(AS)13, Accounting for Investments, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India and is adopted for the purposes of this AAS.2 

   
31. When long-term investments are material to the financial statements, the 

auditor should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding their 
valuation and disclosure. 
   

32. Audit procedures regarding long-term investments ordinarily include obtaining audit 
evidence with respect to their ownership and existence as to whether the entity has the 
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ability to continue to hold the investments on a long term basis and discussing with 
management whether the entity will continue to hold the investments as long-term 
investments and obtaining written representations to that effect. 
   

33. Other procedures would ordinarily include:  
(a) In the case of quoted securities, considering related financial statements and other 
information, such as market quotations, which provide an indication of value and 
comparing such values to the carrying amount of the investments up to the date of the 
auditor's report. 
 
(b) In case of unquoted securities, ascertaining the method adopted by the entity for 
determining the value of such securities as at the year end. The auditor should 
examine whether the method adopted by the entity is one of the recognised methods 
of valuation of securities such as Profit Earning Capacity Value method, break-up 
value method, capitalization of yield method, yield to maturity method, etc. 
 
(c) In the case of investments other than in the form of securities, ensuring that the 
market value has been ascertained on the basis of authentic market reports, and /or 
based on expert's opinion, if warranted.  
   

34. If such values do not exceed the carrying amounts, the auditor would consider 
whether a write-down is required. If there is an uncertainty as to whether the carrying 
amount will be recovered, the auditor would consider whether appropriate 
adjustments and/or disclosures have been made.  

Management Representations 

35. The auditor should obtain a written representation from management 
concerning: 
 
(a) The completeness of information provided regarding valuation and 
disclosure of long term investments. 
 
(b) The valuation of long term investments in the financial statements including 
adequacy of provision for diminution in such values, wherever required; and 
 
(c) The intention of the management to continue to hold long-term investments 
as long-term investments. 
   

Audit Conclusions and Reporting 

36. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
concerning the existence, valuation of long term investments or concludes that 
their disclosure in the financial statements is not adequate, the auditor should 
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express a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion in the audit report, as may 
be appropriate.  

Part D: Segment Information 

37. The auditor should perform audit procedures designed to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence for appropriate disclosure of segment information.  

Definitions 

38. "Segment Information" means the information to be disclosed in respect of reportable 
segments as given in Accounting Standard (AS)17, "Segment Reporting", issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India or as defined in the financial reporting 
framework applicable to the entity. 
   

39. When segment information is material to the financial statements, the auditor 
should obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding its disclosure in 
accordance with the applicable identified financial reporting framework.  
   

40. The auditor considers segment information in relation to the financial statements 
taken as a whole, and is not required to apply auditing procedures that would be 
necessary to express an opinion on the segment information standing alone. Audit 
procedures regarding segment information ordinarily consist of analytical procedures 
and other audit tests appropriate in the circumstances.  
   

41. The auditor would discuss with management the methods used in determining 
segment information, and consider whether such methods are likely to result in 
disclosure in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework and test 
the application of such methods. The auditor would consider sales, transfers and 
charges between segments, elimination of inter-segment amounts, comparisons with 
budgets and other expected results, for example, operating profits as a percentage of 
sales, and the allocation of assets and costs among segments including consistency 
with prior periods and the adequacy of the disclosures with respect to inconsistencies.  

Management Representations 

42. The auditor should obtain a written representation from management 
concerning: 
 
a) the completeness of information regarding segments and disclosure thereof; 
and 
 
b) appropriateness of the selected segments based on risks and returns; and 
 
c) the organizational structure of an enterprise and its internal financial 
reporting system and any deviations therefrom.  

http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com


Page 246 of 260 Downloaded from http://shubhamconsultants.wordpress.com  

Audit Conclusions and Reporting 

43. If the auditor is unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence concerning 
segment information or concludes that their disclosure in the financial statements is 
not adequate, the auditor should express a qualified opinion or a disclaimer of opinion 
in the audit report, as may be appropriate.  

Effective Date 

44. This Auditing and Assurance Standard becomes operative for all audits related to 
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st April, 2005.  

  

Compatibility with the International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 501 

The auditing standards established in this AAS are generally consistent in all material 
respects with those set out in ISA 501, "Audit Evidence - Additional Considerations for 
Specific Items" except the following: 

a. Due to practical reasons, paragraph 23 of the AAS requires that when litigation or 
claims have been identified by the management or when the auditor believes they 
may exist, and are likely to be material, the auditor may seek direst communication 
with the entity's lawyers. The auditor need not necessarily communicate with the 
entity's lawyers and such other professionals to whom the entity engages for litigation 
and claims involving the entity which may have a material effect on the financial 
statements. The ISA on the other hand requires that the auditor should communicate 
with the entity's lawyers to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as to whether 
potentially material litigation and claims are known and management's estimates of 
the financial implications, including costs, are reliable. 
   

b. Each part of the AAS contains the requirements related to obtaining the management 
representations [see paragraphs 18, 28, 35 and 42]. There is, however, no such 
requirement in the ISA. 
   

 

[1] Paragraph 3 of the Accounting Standard (AS) 2, Valuation of Inventories, states as follows: 
"3. The following terms are used in this Statement with the meanings specified: 
Inventories are assets: 
(a) held for sale in the ordinary course of business; 
(b) in the process of production for such sale; or 
(c) in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the production process or in the rendering of services." 

[2] Paragraph 3 of Accounting Standard (AS) 13, Accounting for Investments, states as follows: 
"3. The following terms are used in this Statement with the meanings assigned: 
A Current Investment is an investment that is by its nature readily realizable and is intended to be held for not more than one year from the date on 
which such investment is made. 
A long term investment is an investment other than a current investment." 
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AAS 35 

The Examination Of Prospective Financial Information1 

The following is the text of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 35, "The 
Examination of Prospective Financial Information", issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. This Standard should be read in conjunction with the "Preface to the 
Statements on Standard Auditing Practices"  issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India. 

Introduction 

1. The purpose of this Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) is to establish standards and 
provide guidance on engagements to examine and report on prospective financial information 
including examination procedures for best-estimate and hypothetical assumptions. This AAS 
does not apply to the examination of prospective financial information expressed in general 
or narrative terms, such as that found in management's discussion and analysis in an entity's 
annual report, though many of the procedures outlined herein may be suitable for such an 
examination2. Further, the principles laid down in the other Auditing and Assurance 
Standards (AASs), issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, should be used 
by the auditor, to the extent practicable, in applying this AAS. 

2. In an engagement to examine prospective financial information, the auditor3 should 
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence as to whether: 

(a)  management's best-estimate assumptions on which the prospective financial 
information is based are not unreasonable and, in the case of hypothetical assumptions, 
such assumptions are consistent with the purpose of the information; 

(b)  the prospective financial information is properly prepared on the basis of the 
assumptions; 

(c)  the prospective financial information is properly presented and all material 
assumptions are adequately disclosed, including a clear indication as to whether they 
are best-estimate assumptions or hypothetical assumptions; and 

(d)  the prospective financial information is prepared on a consistent basis with 
historical financial statements, using appropriate accounting principles. 

 3. "Prospective financial information" means financial information based on assumptions 
about events that may occur in the future and possible actions by an entity. It is highly 
subjective in nature and its preparation requires the exercise of considerable judgment. 
Prospective financial information can be in the form of a forecast, a projection, or a 
combination of both, for example, a one year forecast plus a five year projection. 
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4. A "forecast" means prospective financial information prepared on the basis of assumptions 
as to future events which management expects to take place and the actions management ex-
pects to take as of the date the information is prepared (best-estimate assumptions). 

5. A "projection" means prospective financial information prepared on the basis of: 

(a)  hypothetical assumptions about future events and management actions which are not 
necessarily expected to take place, such as when some entities are in a start-up phase or are 
considering a major change in the nature of operations; or 

(b)  a mixture of best-estimate and hypothetical assumptions. 

Such information illustrates the possible consequences as of the date the information is 
prepared if the events and actions were to occur (a "what-if" scenario). 

6. Prospective financial information can include financial statements or one or more elements 
of financial statements and may be prepared: 

(a)  as an internal management tool, for example, to assist in evaluating a possible capital 
investment; or 

(b)  for the distribution/submission to third parties in, for example: 

• a prospectus to provide potential investors with information about future 
expectations. 
   

• an annual report to provide information to shareholders, regulatory bodies and other 
interested parties. 
   

• a document, for example, cash flow forecasts, for the information of lenders.  

7. Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the prospective 
financial information, including the identification and disclosure of the sources of 
information, the basis of forecasts and the underlying assumptions. The auditor may be asked 
to examine and report on the prospective financial information to enhance its credibility, 
whether it is intended for use by third parties or for internal purposes. 

The Auditor's Assurance Regarding Prospective Financial Information 

8. Prospective financial information relates to events and actions that have not yet occurred 
and might not occur. While evidence may be available to support the assumptions on which 
the prospective financial information is based, such evidence is itself generally future- 
oriented and, therefore, speculative in nature, as distinct from the evidence ordinarily 
available in the examination of historical financial information. The auditor is, therefore, not 
in a position to express an opinion as to whether the results shown in the prospective 
financial information will be achieved. 
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9. Further, given the types of evidence available in assessing the assumptions on which the 
prospective financial information is based, it may be difficult for the auditor to obtain a level 
of satisfaction sufficient to provide a positive expression of opinion that the assumptions are 
free of material misstatement. Consequently, in this AAS, when reporting on the 
reasonableness of management's assumptions, the auditor provides only a moderate level of 
assurance. 

Acceptance of Engagement 

10 : Before accepting an engagement to examine prospective financial information, the 
auditor would consider, amongst other things: 

• the intended use of the information;  
• whether the information will be for general or limited distribution;  
• the nature of the assumptions, that is, whether they are best-estimates or hypothetical 

assumptions;  
• the elements to be included in the information; and  
• the period covered by the information.  

11. The auditor should not accept, or should withdraw from, an engagement when the 
assumptions are clearly unrealistic or when the auditor believes that the prospective 
financial information will be inappropriate for its intended use. 

12. In accordance with AAS 26, "Terms of Audit Engagement", it is necessary that the 
auditor and the client should agree on the terms of the engagement. It is in the interest of 
both client and auditor that the auditor sends an engagement letter to help in avoiding 
misunderstandings regarding the engagement. An engagement letter would address the 
matters in paragraph 10 and set out the management's responsibilities for the assumptions 
and for providing the auditor with all relevant information and source data used in 
developing the assumptions. 

Knowledge of the Business 

13. The auditor should obtain a sufficient level of knowledge of the business to be able 
to evaluate whether all significant assumptions required for the preparation of the 
prospective financial information have been identified. The auditor would also need to 
become familiar with the entity's process for preparing prospective financial information, for 
example, by considering: 

(a)  The internal controls over the system used to prepare prospective financial information 
and the expertise and experience of those persons preparing the prospective financial 
information. 

(b)  The nature of the documentation prepared by the entity supporting management's 
assumptions. 
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(c)  The extent to which statistical, mathematical and computer-assisted techniques are used. 

(d)  The methods used to develop and apply assumptions. 

(e)  The accuracy of prospective financial information prepared in prior periods, if any, and 
the reasons for any significant variances therein. 

14. The auditor should consider the extent to which reliance on the entity's historical 
financial information is justified. The auditor requires knowledge of the entity's historical 
financial information to assess whether the prospective financial information has been 
prepared on a basis consistent with the historical financial information and to provide a 
historical yardstick for considering management's assumptions. The auditor will need to 
establish, for example, whether relevant historical information was audited or reviewed and 
whether acceptable accounting principles were used in its preparation. 

15. If the audit or review report on prior period historical financial information was other 
than a clean report4 or if the entity is in a start-up/ expansion phase, the auditor would 
consider the relevant facts and the effect on the examination of the prospective financial 
information. 

Period Covered 

16. The auditor should consider the period of time covered by the prospective financial 
information. Since assumptions become more speculative as the length of the period 
covered increases, as that period lengthens, the ability of management to make best-estimate 
assumptions decreases. The period would not extend beyond the time for which management 
has a reasonable basis for the assumptions. The following are some of the factors that are 
relevant to the auditor's consideration of the period of time covered by the prospective 
financial information: 

(a)  The operating cycle, for example, in the case of a major construction project undertaken 
by a construction company the time required to complete the project may dictate the period 
covered. 

(b)  The degree of reliability of assumptions, for example, if the entity is introducing a new 
product, the prospective period covered could be short and broken into small segments, such 
as weeks or months. Alternatively, if for example, the entity's sole business is owning a 
property under long term lease, a relatively long prospective period might be reasonable. 

(c)  The needs of users, for example, prospective financial information may be prepared in 
connection with an application for a loan for the period of time required to generate sufficient 
funds for repayment. Alternatively, the information may be prepared for investors in 
connection with the issue of securities to illustrate the intended use of the proceeds in the 
subsequent period. 

Examination Procedures 
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17. When determining the nature, timing and extent of examination procedures, the 
auditor should consider matters such as: 

(a)  the knowledge obtained during any previous engagements; 

(b)  management's competence regarding the preparation of prospective financial 
information; 

(c)  the likelihood of material misstatement;  

(d)  the extent to which the prospective financial information is affected by the 
management's judgment,   

(e)  the sources of information considered by the management for the purpose, their 
adequacy, reliability of the underlying data, including data derived from third parties, 
such as industry statistics, to   support the assumptions; 

(f)  the stability of entity's business, and 

(g)   the engagement team's experience with the business and the industry in which the 
entity operates and with reporting on prospective financial information. 

18. The auditor would assess the source and reliability of the evidence supporting 
management's best-estimate assumptions. Sufficient appropriate evidence supporting such 
assumptions would be obtained from internal and external sources including consideration of 
the assumptions in the light of historical information and an evaluation of whether they are 
based on plans that are within the entity's capacity. Examples of external sources are 
government publications, industry publications, economic forecast, existing or proposed 
legislation, and reports of changing technology. Examples of internal sources are budgets, the 
economic substance and viability of the entity and/or transaction or project of the entity, 
reputation of management responsible for assumptions underlying the prospective financial 
information, wage agreements, patents, royalty agreements and records, sales backlog 
records, debt agreements, and actions of the board of directors involving entity plans, etc. 

19. The auditor would consider whether, when hypothetical assumptions are used, all 
significant implications of such assumptions have been taken into consideration. For 
example, if sales are assumed to grow beyond the entity's current plant capacity, the 
prospective financial information will need to include the necessary investment in the 
additional plant capacity or the costs of alternative means of meeting the anticipated sales, 
such as subcontracting production. 

20. The auditor would need to be satisfied that the hypothetical assumptions are consistent 
with the purpose of the prospective financial information and that there is no reason to 
believe they are clearly unrealistic. 
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21. The auditor will need to be satisfied that the prospective financial information is properly 
prepared from management's assumptions by for example, making checks such as 
recomputation and reviewing internal consistency, that is, the actions management intends to 
take are compatible with each other and there are no inconsistencies in the determination of 
the amounts that are based on common variables such as interest rates. 

22. The auditor would focus on the extent to which those areas that are particularly sensitive 
to variation will have a material effect on the results shown in the prospective financial 
information. This will influence the extent to which the auditor will seek appropriate 
evidence. It will also influence the auditor's evaluation of the appropriateness and adequacy 
of disclosure. 

23. When engaged to examine one or more elements of prospective financial information, 
such as an individual financial statement, it is important that the auditor considers the 
interrelationship of other components in the financial statements. 

24. When any elapsed portion of the current period is included in the prospective financial 
information, the auditor would consider the extent to which procedures need to be applied to 
the historical information. Procedures will vary depending on the circumstances, for 
example, how much of the prospective period has elapsed. 

25. The auditor should obtain written representations from management regarding the 
intended use of the prospective financial information, the completeness of significant 
management assumptions and (f) management's acceptance of its responsibility for the 
prospective financial information. The management is also responsible for identification 
and disclosure of uncontrollable factors, outstanding litigations, commitments, or any other 
material factors that are likely to affect the prospective financial information. 

Presentation and Disclosure 

26. When assessing the presentation and disclosure of the prospective financial information 
and the underlying assumptions, in addition to the specific requirements of any relevant 
statutes, regulations as well as the relevant professional pronouncements, the auditor will 
need to consider whether: 

(a)  the presentation of prospective financial information is informative and not misleading; 

(b)  the accounting policies are clearly disclosed in the notes to the prospective financial 
information; 

(c)  the assumptions are adequately disclosed in the notes to the prospective financial in-
formation. It needs to be clear whether assumptions represent management's best-estimates 
or are hypothetical and, when assumptions are made in areas that are material and are subject 
to a high degree of uncertainty, this uncertainty and the resulting sensitivity of results needs 
to be adequately disclosed; 
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(d)  the date as of which the prospective financial information was prepared is disclosed. 
Management needs to confirm that the assumptions are appropriate as of this date, even 
though the underlying information may have been accumulated over a period of time; 

(e)  the basis of establishing points in a range is clearly indicated and the range is not 
selected in a biased or misleading manner when results shown in the prospective financial 
information are expressed in terms of a range; and 

there is any change in the accounting policy of the entity from that disclosed in the most 
recent historical financial statements and whether reason for the change and the effect of such 
change on the prospective financial information has been adequately disclosed. 

Documentation 

27. The auditor should document matters, which are important in providing evidence to 
support his report on examination of prospective financial information, and evidence 
that such examination was carried out in accordance with this AAS. The working 
papers will include the sources of information, basis of forecasts and the assumptions 
made in arriving the forecasts, hypothetical assumptions, evidence supporting the 
assumptions, management representations regarding the intended use and distribution 
of the information, completeness of material assumptions, management's acceptance of 
its responsibility for the information, audit plan, the nature, timing and extent of 
examination procedures performed, and, in case the auditor expresses a modified 
opinion or withdraws from the engagement, the reasons forming the basis of such 
decision. 

Report on Examination of Prospective Financial Information 

28. The report by an auditor on an examination of prospective financial information 
should contain the following: 

(a) Title;  

(b) Addressee;  

(c)  Identification of the prospective financial information; 

(d)  Reference to the Auditing and Assurance Standard applicable to the examination 
of prospective financial information; 

(e)  Statement that management is responsible for the prospective financial information 
including the underlying assumptions; 

(f)  When applicable, a reference to the purpose and for restricted distribution of the 
prospective financial information; 
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(g)  Statement that the examination procedures included examination, on a test basis, of 
evidence supporting the assumptions, amounts and other disclosures in the forecast or 
projection; 

(h)  Statement of negative assurance as to whether the assumptions provide a 
reasonable basis for the prospective financial information; 
   

(i)  Opinion as to whether the prospective financial information is properly prepared 
on the basis of the assumptions and is presented in accordance with the relevant 
financial reporting framework, 

(j)  Appropriate caveats concerning the achievability of the results indicated by the 
prospective financial information; 
  

(k)  Date of report (which should be the date procedures have been completed); 

(l)  Place of signature; and  

(m)   Signature. 

29.  Such a report would: 

• State whether, based on the examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, 
anything has come to the auditor's attention, which causes the auditor to believe that 
the assumptions do not provide a reasonable basis for the prospective financial 
information. 
   

• Express an opinion as to whether the prospective financial information is properly 
prepared on the basis of the assumptions and is presented in accordance with the 
relevant financial reporting framework. 
   

• State that:  
• Actual results are likely to be different from the prospective financial informa-

tion since anticipated events frequently do not occur as expected and the 
variation could be material. Likewise, when the prospective financial 
information is expressed as a range, it would be stated that there can be no 
assurance that actual results will fall within the range; and 
   

• In the case of a projection, the prospective financial information has been pre-
pared for (intended use), using a set of assumptions that include hypothetical 
assumptions about future events and management's actions that are not nec-
essarily expected to occur. Consequently, readers are cautioned that the pro-
spective financial information should not be used for purposes other than the 
abovementioned intended use.  
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30. The following is an example of an extract from an unmodified report on a projection: 

We have examined the projection of ________________ (project) _______________ (name 
of the entity) for the period from __________ to __________ as given in5 ____________ to 
the Prospective Financial Information from page ___ to ___ in accordance with Auditing and 
Assurance Standard 35, The Examination of Prospective Financial Information, issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The preparation and presentation of the 
projection including the underlying assumptions, set out in note _____ to _____ to the 
prospective financial information, is the responsibility of the Management and has been 
approved by the Board of Directors6 of the company. Our responsibility is to examine the 
evidence supporting the assumptions (excluding the hypothetical assumption) and other 
information in the prospective financial information. Our responsibility does not include 
verification of the accuracy of the projections. Therefore, we do not vouch for the accuracy 
of the same. 

This projection has been prepared for (describe purpose). As the entity is in a start-up phase 
the projection has been prepared using a set of assumptions that include hypothetical 
assumptions about future events and management's actions that are not necessarily expected 
to occur. Consequently, readers are cautioned that this projection may not be appropriate for 
purposes other than that described above. 

We have carried out our examination of the prospective financial information on a test basis. 
Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to 
our attention which causes us to believe that these assumptions do not provide a reasonable 
basis for the projection, assuming that _______________ (state or refer to the hypothetical 
assumptions). 

Further, in our opinion the projection is properly prepared on the basis of the assumptions as 
set out in Note _____ to the Prospective Financial Information and on a consistent basis in 
accordance with the historical financial statements, using appropriate accounting principles. 
Even if the events anticipated under the hypothetical assumptions described above occur, 
actual results are still likely to be different from the projection since other anticipated events 
frequently do not occur as expected and the variation may be material. 

A complete illustrative format of an unmodified report on a projection is given in Appendix 
1. 

31. The following is an example of an extract from an unmodified report on a forecast: 

 We have examined the forecast of ____________ (project) of the ____________ (name of 
the entity) for the period from _____ to _____ in accordance with the Auditing and 
Assurance Standard (AAS) 35, The Examination of Prospective Financial Information, 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The preparation and presentation of 
the forecast including the underlying assumptions, set out in Note _____ to the Prospective 
Financial Information is the responsibility of the management and has been approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Company. The sources of information are set out in Annexure  
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_______ to the prospective financial information. Our responsibility is to examine the 
evidence supporting the forecast. Our  responsibility does not include verification of the 
accuracy of the forecasts. Therefore, we do not vouch for the accuracy of the same. 

Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has 
come to our attention which causes us to believe that these assumptions do not provide 
a reasonable basis for the forecast. Further, in our opinion the forecast is properly 
prepared on the basis of the assumptions as set out in Note and on consistent basis with 
historical financial statements, using appropriate accounting principles. 

Actual results are likely to be different from the forecast since anticipated events frequently 
do not occur as expected and the variation may be material. 

A complete illustrative format of an unmodified report on a forecast is given in Appendix 2. 

32. When the auditor believes that the presentation and disclosure of the prospective 
financial information is not adequate, the auditor should express a qualified or adverse 
opinion in the report on the prospective financial information, or withdraw from the 
engagement as appropriate. An example would be where financial information fails to 
disclose adequately the consequences of any assumptions, which are highly sensitive. 

33. When the auditor believes that one or more significant assumptions do not provide a 
reasonable basis for the prospective financial information prepared on the basis of 
best-estimate assumptions or that one or more significant assumptions do not provide a 
reasonable basis for the prospective financial information given the hypothetical 
assumptions, the auditor should (c) either express an adverse opinion setting out the 
reasons in the report on the prospective financial information, or withdraw from the 
engagement. 

34. When the examination is affected by conditions that preclude application of one or 
more procedures considered necessary in the circumstances, the auditor should either 
withdraw from the engagement or disclaim the opinion and describe the scope 
limitation in the report on the prospective financial information. 

Effective Date 

35. This AAS is effective in relation to reports on projections/forecasts, issued on or after 
April 1, 2007. However, earlier application of the Standard is encouraged. 

Compatibility with International Standard on Assurance Engagement (ISAE) 3400 

Except for the matters noted below, the basic principles and essential procedures of this AAS 
and International Standard on Assurance Engagement (ISAE) 3400 "The Examination of 
Prospective Financial Information", are consistent in all material respects: 
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(a)  AAS precludes the auditor from expressing positive assurance regarding the 
assumptions as it may tantamount to vouching for the accuracy of the forecast/projection/ 
hypothetical assumptions. Whereas, the ISAE 3400 permits the auditor to express positive 
assurance when in his judgment an appropriate level of satisfaction has been obtained.  
  

(b)  The sub points in paragraph ' 17 (corresponding to paragraph 17 of the ISAE 
3400) have been rearranged. Sub point (e) has been elucidated for the sake of better 
understanding of the readers. The sub points (f) and (g) have been added in the AAS as 
additional factors to be considered by the auditor. 
  

(c)  In paragraph 20 of the AAS, the phrase "although evidence supporting 
hypothetical assumptions need not be obtained" has been deleted since it is felt that such a 
phrase is inconsistent with the necessity for the auditor to obtain evidence to support his 
conclusions. 
  

(d)  In paragraph 26 (corresponding to paragraph 26 of the ISAE 3400), the term 
"professional standards" has been changed to "professional pronouncements" since 
pronouncements would include standards as well as other relevant documents, such as 
Guidance Notes, announcement(s), issued by the ICAI. 
   

(e)  In line with requirement of AAS 28, "The Auditor's Report on Financial 
Statements"this AAS requires the auditor to include a scope section in the examination report 
to explain the nature and extent of the auditor's work. ISAE 3400 does not contain an 
equivalent requirement. 
   

(f)  AAS specifically provides for the documentation required to be done by the 
auditor in regard to any engagement of examination of prospective financial information. 
However, ISAE 3400 does not contain such explicit provision. 

  

Appendix 1 

Illustrative Format of 
an Unmodified Report on a Projection 

Report on Examination of Prospective Financial Information 

To the ... (addressee) ............. 
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  We have examined the projection of  _________________________ (project) 
_______________ (name of the entity) for the period from __________ to __________ as 
given in7 __________ to the Prospective Financial Information from page _____ to _____ in 
accordance with Auditing and Assurance Standard 35, The Examination of Prospective 
Financial Information, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The 
preparation and presentation of the projection including the underlying assumptions, set out 
in note - to to the prospective financial information, is the responsibility of the Management 
and has been approved by the Board of Directors8 of the company. Our responsibility is to 
examine the evidence supporting the assumptions (excluding the hypothetical assumption) 
and other information in the prospective financial information. Our responsibility does not 
include verification of projections. Therefore, we do not vouch for the accuracy of the same. 
  

This projection has been prepared for _______________ (intended use). The projection has 
been prepared using a set of assumptions that include hypothetical assumptions about future 
events and management's actions that are not necessarily expected to occur. Consequently, 
users are cautioned that this projection may not be appropriate for purposes other than that 
described above. 

We have carried out our examination of the prospective financial information on a test basis. 
Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to 
our attention which causes us to believe that these assumptions do not provide a reasonable 
basis for the projection, assuming that  _______________ (state or refer to the hypothetical 
assumptions). 

Further, in our opinion the projection is properly prepared on the basis of the assumptions as 
set out in Note _____ to the Prospective Financial Information and on a consistent basis with 
the historical financial statements, using appropriate accounting principles. Even if the events 
anticipated under the hypothetical assumptions described above occur, actual results are still 
likely to be different from the projection since other anticipated events frequently do not 
occur as expected and the variation may be material. 

   For ABC 
& Co., 

Chartered Accountants 
Signature 

(Name of the member signing the report) 
Date 

(Designation)9 

Place of Signature: 
Membership Number 

   
Appendix 2 
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Illustrative Format of  
an Unmodified Report on a Forecast 

Report on Examination of Prospective Financial Information 

To the ...... (addressee) ........ 

We have examined the forecast of__________ (project) __________ of the 
_______________ (name of the entity) for the period from __________ to __________ as 
given10 in _____ to _____ of the prospective financial information in accordance with 
Auditing and Assurance Standard ___,The Examination of Prospective Financial 
Information, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. The 
  preparation and presentation of the forecast including the underlying 
assumptions, set out in Note _____ to the Prospective Financial Information, is the 
responsibility of the management and has been approved by the Board of Directors of the 
company11. The sources of information are set out in Annexure _____ to the prospective 
financial information, Our responsibility is to examine the evidence supporting the forecast. 
Our responsibility does not include verification of the forecasts. Therefore, we do not vouch 
for the accuracy of the same. 

This forecast has been prepared for __________ (intended use). The forecast has been 
prepared using a set of assumptions as set out in Note _____ to the prospective financial 
information. 

We have carried out our examination of the prospective financial information on a test basis. 

Based on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to 
our attention, which causes us to believe that assumptions do not provide a reasonable basis 
for the forecast. Further, in our opinion the forecast, read with the notes thereon, is properly 
prepared on the basis of the assumptions as set out in Note and on a consistent basis with the 
historical financial statements, using appropriate accounting principles. 

Actual results are likely to be different from the forecast since anticipated events might not 
occur 

as expected and the variation might be material. 

  For ABC 
& Co., 

Chartered Accountants 
Signature 

(Name of the member signing the report) 
Date 

(Designation)12 

Place of Signature: 
Membership Number 
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1 The date this Auditing and Assurance Standard comes into effect, the Guidance Note on Accountant's Report on Profit Forecasts and/or Financial 
Forecasts, issued in September, 1982 shall stand withdrawn. 

2 The guidance provided in this Standard is in line with the provisions of clause (3) of Part 1 of the Second Schedule to the Chartered Accountants 
Act, 1949 [as amended by the Chartered Accountants (Amendment) Act, 2006].This clause provides that a chartered accountant in practice shall be 
deemed to be guilty of professional misconduct if he permits his name or the name of his firm to be used in connection with an estimate of earnings 
contingent upon future transactions in a manner which may lead to the belief that he vouches for the accuracy of the forecast" As per the opinion of 
the Council while finalising the Guidance Note on Accountant's Report on Profit Forecasts and/or Financial Forecasts at its 1 0Otl meeting held on 
22nd through 24th July 1982, a chartered accountant can participate in the preparation of profit or financial forecasts and can review them, provided 
he indicates clearly in his report the sources of information, the basis of forecasts and also the major assumptions made in arriving at the 
forecasts and so long as he does not vouch for the accuracy of the forecasts. The Council has further opined that the same opinion would also apply to 
projections made on the basis of hypothetical assumptions about future events and management actions which are not necessarily expected to take 
place so long as the auditor does not vouch for the accuracy of the projection. (emphasis added) 

3 The term "auditor" is used throughout this AAS when describing services involving examination of prospective financial information. Such 
reference is not intended to imply that a member performing such services need necessarily be the statutory auditor of the entity's financial 
statements. 

4 Alternatively known as the unmodified report in terms of the Auditing and Assurance Standard (AAS) 28, The Auditor's Report on Financial 
Statements. 

5 Provide suitable identification, such as by reference to page numbers or by identifying the individual schedule. 

6 Other corresponding approving authority in the case of entities other than companies. 

7 Provide suitable identification, such as by reference to page numbers or by identifying the individual schedule.  

8 Other corresponding approving authority in the case of entities other than companies.  

9 Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 

10 Provide suitable identification, such as by reference to page numbers or by identifying the individual schedule.  

11 Other corresponding approving authority in the case of entities other than companies.  

12 Partner or proprietor, as the case may be. 
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